



The Journal has been accreditated, on occasion of the 17^{ch} December 2004 Meeting of the Executive and Sciencific STCI Councils, by the Italian Society of Dyglede, Preventive Medicine and Public Dealth



journal OF PREVENCIVE medicine and hygiene

http://www.jpmh.org

Editor

Pietro Crovari, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy

Co-Editors

- Roberto Gasparini, Department of Health Sciences and Interuniversity
- Research Centre on Influenza and other infections, University of Genoa, Italy

Giancarlo Icardi, Department of Health Sciences and Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and other infections, University of Genoa, Italy

International Editorial Board

- Gabriella Agazzotti, Department of Diagnostic, Clinical and Public Health Medicine, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy
- Daniela Amicizia, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy
- Roy Anderson, FRS FMedSci, London Centre for Neglected Tropical Disease Research, Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, School of Public Health Faculty of Medicine, United Kingdom
- Italo Francesco Angelillo, Department of Experimental Medicine, Second University of Naples, Italy
- Filippo Ansaldi, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italv
- Paolo Bonanni, Department of Health Sciences, University of Florence, Italy
- Rosa Cristina Coppola, Department of Public Health, University of Cagliari, Italy
- Maria Luisa Cristina, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy
- Francesco D'Agostini, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy
- Silvio De Flora, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italv
- Àngela Dominguez, Department de Salut Pública Facultat de Medicina, University of Barcelona, Spain
- Paolo Durando, Department of Health Sciences, Postgraduate School in Occupational Medicine, University of Genoa and Occupational Medicine Unit, IRCCS AOU San Martino IST, Genoa, Italy
- Giovanni Gabutti, Department of Medical Sciences, University of Ferrara, Italy
- Alberto Izzotti, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy
- Nicola Nante, Department of Molecular and Developmental Medicine, University of Siena, Italy
- Paolo Orlando, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy
- Donatella Panatto, Department of Health Sciences and Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections, University of Genoa, Italy
- Vana Papaevangelou, Pediatric Infectious Diseases Third Department of Pediatrics General University Hospital Attikon, Athens, Greece
- Gabriele Pelissero, Department of Preventive, Occupational and Community Medicine, University of Pavia, Italy
- Mario Ramirez, Instituto de Microbiologia Faculdade de Medicina, University of Lisboa, Portugal

Rino Rappuoli, GlaxoSmithKline, Siena Italy

Laura Sticchi, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy

- Fiona Timmins, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Trinity College, Dublin, Ireland
- Pierre Van Damme, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Centre for the Evaluation of Vaccination Vaccine & Infectious Disease Institute, University of Antwerp, Belgium
- Alessandro Remo Zanetti, Department of Biomedical Sciences for Health, University of Milan, Italy

Editorial Staff

- Daniela Amicizia, Department of Health Sciences and Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections, University of Genoa, Italy
- Piero Luigi Lai, Department of Health Sciences and Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections, University of Genoa, Italy
- Donatella Panatto, Department of Health Sciences and Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections, University of Genoa, Italy

Section Editors

e-Health: Alexander Domnich

- Environmental Hygiene: Maria Luisa Cristina
- Health Care Management: Giancarlo Icardi

Health Promotion: Donatella Panatto, Giacomo Lazzeri

Health Technology Assessment: Roberto Gasparini

- History of Medicine and Ethics: Mariano Martini
- Hospital Hygiene: Maria Luisa Cristina
- Infectious Diseases: Daniela Amicizia, Cecilia Trucchi
- Molecular Epidemiology: Nicola Luigi Bragazzi

Non Comunicable Diseases: Alberto Izzotti

Nosocomial Infections: Filippo Ansaldi

Nursing: Loredana Sasso, Annamaria Bagnasco

- Occupational Medicine and Hygiene: Paolo Durando, Guglielmo Dini
- Pharmacoeconomics: Donatella Panatto

Prevention by Antivirals and Antibiotics: Claudio Viscoli

Public Health Laboratory Methods: Laura Sticchi

The International Board is under revision.

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

Managing Editor: Patrizia Alma Pacini Publisher: Pacini Editore Srl, Via Gherardesca 1, 56121 Pisa, Italy

Published online March 2018

Authorization Tribunal of Genoa, Italy n. 507 - 10/6/1960

Journal registered at "Registro pubblico degli Operatori della Comunicazione" (Pacini Editore srl reg-istration n. 6269 - 29/8/2001).

CONTENTS

Original articles

Impact of erythrocyte species on assays for influenza serology C.M. Trombetta, C. Ulivieri, R.J. Cox, E.J. Remarque, C. Centi, D. Perini, G. Piccini, S. Rossi, S. Marchi, E. Montomoli	E1
Measles outbreak from February to August 2017 in Messina, Italy M.A. Palamara, G. Visalli, I. Picerno, A. Di Pietro, G. Puglisi, F. Marano, G. D'Andrea, A. Facciolà	E8
"PErCEIVE in Umbria": evaluation of anti-influenza vaccination's perception among Umbrian pharmacists V. Gianfredi, D. Nucci, T. Salvatori, F. Orlacchio, M. Villarini, M. Moretti, PErCEIVE in Umbria Study Group	E14
Perceived barriers to breast cancer screening among Saudi women at primary care setting S.B. Abdel-Aziz, T. Tawfik Amin, M. Baqir Al-Gadeeb, A.I. Alhassar, A. Al-Ramadan, M. Al-Helal, M. Bu-Mejdad, L. Abdulaziz Al-Hamad, E. Hussain Alkhalaf	E20
Awareness and knowledge about cervical cancer prevention methods among Tunisian women <i>R. Gamaoun</i>	E30
Current data in Greek children indicate decreasing trends of obesity in the transition from childhood to adolescence; results from the National Action for Children's Health (EYZHN) program <i>K.D. Tambalis, D.B. Panagiotakos, G. Psarra, L.S. Sidossis</i>	E36
A screening focusing on aftereffects of alcohol consumption in a student population. A National cross-sectional survey J. Hazart, M. Blanquet, A. Debost-Legrand, A. Perreve, S. Leger, V. Martoia, S. Maurice, G. Brousse, L. Gerbaud	E48
Energy drink and ginseng consumption by Italian university students: a cross-sectional study S. Majori, S. Pilati, D. Gazzani, J. Paiano, S. Ferrari, A. Sannino, E. Checchin	E63
Energy drink consumption: a survey in high school students and associated psychological effects <i>S. Scuri, F. Petrelli, M. Tesauro, F. Carrozzo, L. Kracmarova, I. Grappasonni</i>	E75
Mental and physical effects of energy drinks consumption in an Italian young people group: a pilot study <i>F. Petrelli, I. Grappasonni, D. Evangelista, P. Pompei, G. Broglia, P. Cioffi, L. Kracmarova, S. Scuri</i>	E80
Effects of anticoagulation therapy with vitamin K antagonists on hospitalizations and emergency room accesses in Grosseto (Italy) <i>F. Nisticò, G. Troiano, N. Nante, S. Dei, P. Piacentini</i>	E88
Knowledge, attitude and practice about leptospirosis prevention among town service workers in northeastern Malaysia: a cross sectional study	
Z. Mohamad Azfar, S. Mohd Nazri, A. Mohamed Rusli, O. Maizurah, W.M. Zahiruddin, Y.N. Azwany, I. Nabilah, H. Siti Asma, B.D. Aziah	E92
Overview of Japanese encephalitis disease and its prevention. Focus on IC51 vaccine (IXIARO [®]) <i>D. Amicizia, F. Zangrillo, P.L. Lai, M. Iovine, D. Panatto</i>	E99

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Impact of erythrocyte species on assays for influenza serology

C.M. TROMBETTA¹, C. ULIVIERI², R.J. COX³⁴⁵, E.J. REMARQUE⁶, C. CENTI⁷, D. PERINI⁷, G. PICCINI⁷, S. ROSSI¹, S. MARCHI¹, E. MONTOMOLI¹⁷

¹ Department of Molecular and Developmental Medicine, University of Siena, via Aldo Moro, 53100 Siena, Italy; ² Department of Life Sciences, University of Siena, via Aldo Moro, Siena, Italy; ³ The Influenza Centre, Department of Clinical Sciences, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway; ⁴ Jebsen Centre for Influenza Vaccine Research, University of Bergen, Norway; ⁵ Department of Research and Development, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, Norway; ⁶ Biomedical Primate Research Centre, Rijswijk, The Netherlands; ⁷ VisMederi srl, Siena, Italy

Keywords

Avian and mammalian erythrocytes • Sialic acid receptors • Haemagglutination assay • Haemagglutination inhibition assay

Summary

The influenza viruses have the ability to agglutinate erythrocytes by binding to sialic acid receptors on the host cell. Human influenza viruses preferentially bind to sialic acid linked to galactose by α 2.6 linkage, while avian influenza viruses preferentially bind to sialic acid linked to Gal by α 2.3 linkage. There is a close correlation between the ability of influenza A viruses to agglutinate erythrocytes from different animal species and their receptor specificity. The haemagglutination and haemagglutination inhibition assays are influenced by the species of erythrocytes. To provide an overview of the expression of sialic acid receptors on different erythrocytes, avian (turkey, chicken, pigeon) and mammalian (sheep, horse, human) species have been analysed by flow cytometry. Chicken, turkey and human erythrocytes display both types of linkages. Horse and

Introduction

The influenza viruses have the ability to agglutinate erythrocytes by binding to sialic acid (SA) receptors on the host cell [1, 2]. Human influenza viruses preferentially bind to SA linked to galactose (Gal) by α 2.6 linkage, while avian influenza viruses preferentially bind to SA linked to Gal by α 2.3 linkage [3].

There is a close correlation between the ability of influenza A viruses to agglutinate erythrocytes from different animal species and their receptor specificity. The agglutination of cells by viruses with specific linkage preferences depends on the amount of SA α 2.3 and α 2.6 Gal linkages on the erythrocytes surface [4]. Several studies have shown that human, chicken, pig and guinea pig erythrocytes express both linkages; pig erythrocytes present a high proportion of SA α 2.6 Gal linkage, while chicken erythrocytes display greater SA α 2.3 Gal linkage than those of guinea pigs and humans. Sheep, mouse erythrocytes display SA α 2.3 Gal linkage only; horse and cow mainly exhibit this linkage, while rabbit shows low amounts of SA α 2.6 Gal linkage [1, 4-6].

The haemagglutination assay (HA) and haemagglutination inhibition assay (HI) are influenced by the species of erythrocytes. The HI assay is currently the most sheep erythrocytes show almost exclusively α 2.3 Gal linkages, while pigeon erythrocytes express almost exclusively α 2.6 Gal linkages. The erythrocytes from the same avian and mammalian species have been evaluated by haemagglutination and haemagglutination inhibition assays with seasonal and avian strains. Chicken and turkey erythrocytes seem to be the most appropriate for both assays with seasonal influenza strains, in addition to pigeon erythrocytes, particularly for the B strains. In the case of the avian strain, chicken erythrocytes are suitable for haemagglutination assay and horse erythrocytes for haemagglutination inhibition assay. The choice of erythrocytes has a significant impact on the titres measured by both assays.

widely used to measure immune responses to influenza vaccines, and is considered the gold standard as a correlate of protection [7]. However, the assay has limitations including differences in the sensitivity of erythrocytes from individual animals of the same species, a high degree of variability among laboratories owing to many factors (including the source of erythrocytes) and low sensitivity to B strains [8-10]. Traditionally the assay is performed with turkey erythrocytes, which are small, nucleated cells, displaying rapid sedimentation [11]. However, these erythrocytes could significantly underestimate antibody responses to avian viruses, as they express a mixture of SA α 2.3 and α 2.6 Gal linkages, while avian viruses prefer the SA α 2.3 Gal linkage [6, 11, 12]. The use of horse erythrocytes has improved the detection of H5 antibody responses, owing to their higher proportion of SA α 2.3 Gal linkage [6, 11, 13, 14] and are routinely used to measure HI responses to avian viruses. Furthermore, goose and guinea pig erythrocytes can enhance the sensitivity of the assay for avian strains [8]. The aim of this study was to provide an overview of the expression of SA receptors on avian (turkey, chicken, pigeon) and mammalian (sheep, horse, human) species and possible intra-species variation for chicken and horse erythrocytes. The erythrocytes from the same avi-

E1

an and mammalian species have been analysed by HA and HI assays with seasonal and avian strains.

Methods

INFLUENZA VIRUSES, SERUM SAMPLES AND ERYTHROCYTES

The influenza viruses were the live, seasonal and pandemic, strains from NIBSC and CBER: A/California/07/2009 (H1N1, 15/252), A/Victoria/361/2011 (H3N2, 11/226) B/ Wisconsin/01/2010 (Yamagata lineage) (B, 12/198) and A/Indonesia/05/2005 (H5N1, H5-Ag-0904). The live viruses were propagated in 10-days-old embryonated chicken eggs and stored at - 80°C until use.

The human serum samples from the serum bank of the University of Siena had been drawn from adults aged 17-59 years, in compliance with Italian ethics law.

All serum samples were pre-treated with receptor destroying enzyme (RDE) from Vibrio Cholerae at 1:5 ratio (Sigma Aldrich, Italy) for 18 h at 37°C in a water bath and then heat-inactivated for 1 h at 56°C in a water bath with 8% sodium citrate at 1:4 ratio before testing in the HI assay.

The sources of erythrocytes for HA and HI assays and flow cytometry were: turkey, chickens (different batches), sheep, horses (different breeds: Italian (IT), Argentinian (AG), German Mecklenburger Kaltblut (GM), French Trait Percheron (TP F) and French Cheval de Trait (CT F), pigeon (Emozoo S.N.C., Italy) and humans (group 0) (Tab. I).

HAEMAGGLUTINATION ASSAY

Erythrocytes were used at a 0.35% (for chicken, pigeon and turkey - seasonal strains), 0.50% (for humans, horses, sheep - seasonal strains and turkey - avian strain), 0.75% (sheep - avian strain) concentrations suspended in saline solution (0.9%).

The HA assay was performed as previously described [15].

The HA titre was expressed as the reciprocal of the highest influenza virus dilution showing complete agglutination [15].

Tab. I. The erythrocytes used for the HA, HI assays and flow cytometry (FC). Argentinian horse (AG), French horse (Cheval de Trait (CT F), German horse (Mecklenburger Kaltblut GM), Italian Horse (IT), French horse (Trait Percheron (TP F).

Erythrocytes	HA assay	HI assay	FC analysis
Chicken	Х	Х	Х
AG horse	Х	Х	Х
CT F horse			Х
GM horse			Х
IT horse	Х	Х	Х
TP F horse			Х
Human	Х	Х	Х
Sheep	Х	Х	Х
Pigeon	Х	Х	Х
Turkey	Х	Х	Х

.....

The HA assay was performed in triplicate. Geometric mean titres (GMTs) of seasonal and avian strains were calculated in order to compare the different erythrocytes analyzed.

.....

HAEMAGGLUTINATION INHIBITION ASSAY

Erythrocytes were used at the same concentration of the HA assay.

The HI assay was performed as previously described [15].

The antibody titre was expressed as the reciprocal of the highest serum dilution showing complete inhibition of agglutination. Since the starting dilution was 1:10, the lower limit of detectable antibody titre was 10. When the titre was below the detectable threshold, the results were conventionally expressed as 5 for calculation purposes, half the lowest detection threshold.

The HI assay was performed in triplicate with human serum samples. GMTs of seasonal and avian strains were calculated in order to compare the different erythrocytes analyzed.

FLOW CYTOMETRY

The expression pattern of SA α 2.3 and 2.6 Gal linkages on erythrocytes was evaluated by flow cytometry using digoxigenin-conjugated specific lectins Sambucus nigra (SNA) and Maackia amurensis (MAA), which recognize the α 2.6 and the α 2.3 Gal linkages, respectively (Digoxigenin Glycan Differentiation Kit, Roche) as previously described [5]. Sheep anti-digoxigenin fluorescein antibody was used to detect the lectins. Negative controls without lectins were evaluated. Flow cytometry was carried out on a GUAVA EasyCyte 6-2L flow cytometer (Millipore) and the data were analyzed and plotted by means of FlowJo software (TreeStar Inc).

STATISTICS

Geometric Coefficient of Variation was calculated from the SD per sample across erythrocytes species. $GCV = 100 \times Sqrt$ (2SDlog2-1). Ratio's between HI titres for different erythrocytes combinations were calculated per sample. The geometric mean ratio with 95% CI is presented in the ratio graphs.

Results

The expression of SA α 2.3 and α 2.6 Gal linkages was investigated by flow cytometry in avian species (chicken, turkey, pigeon) and mammalian species (sheep, horse and human). Chicken, turkey and human erythrocytes displayed both types of linkages. Notably, chicken erythrocytes expressed higher amounts of SA α 2.3 Gal linkage, and turkeys higher amounts of SA α 2.6 Gal linkage; human erythrocytes expressed both linkages in similar proportions. Horses showed almost exclusively SA α 2.3 Gal linkage, while pigeon displayed almost exclusively SA α 2.6 Gal linkage. Sheep erythrocytes expressed only α 2.3 Gal linkage (Fig. 1). **Fig. 1.** Expression of SA α 2,3 and α 2,6 Gal linkages in erythrocytes from avian (turkey, chicken, pigeon) and mammalian (sheep, horse, humans) species. Data originated from replicates of the same samples. a) Erythrocytes were incubated with DIG-labeled SNA (α 2,6 Gal linkage), DIG-labeled MAA (α 2,3 Gal linkage) or without lectins (-) and subsequently incubated with anti-digoxigenin antibody conjugated with fluorescein. Cells were analysed by flow cytometry and the results were expressed as the log10 relative fluorescence versus number of cells. The graphs show the Mean Fluorescence Intensity (MFI). Data are presented as mean \pm SD ($n \ge 2$). Representative histograms are shown. **b**) Distribution of α 2,3 and α 2,6 Gal linkages among animal species. The graphs show the MFI. Data are presented as mean \pm SD ($n \ge 2$).



Fig. 2. Variation of SA α 2,3 (MAA) and α 2,6 (SNA) Gal linkages within different chickens and horses (Mean MFI with 95% confidence intervals). Data are presented as mean SD ($n \ge 4$). Different symbols indicate chickens (4 individuals) and horses (circle = Cheval de Trait – French –; square = Mecklenburger Kaltblut (German); diamond = Percheron (French); up triangle = Italian horse and down triangle = Argentinian horse).



To assess intra-species variation, erythrocytes from different batches of chickens and different breeds of horses – Italian, Argentinian, French (two breeds) and German – were tested (Fig. 2).

Chicken and horses erythrocytes showed much higher α 2.3 Gal linkage than α 2.6 Gal linkage with variation in the expression among the same species.

In addition to the flow cytometry, the HA and HI assays were performed with erythrocytes from chicken, turkey, sheep, pigeon, humans and horses for both, seasonal (A/ California/07/2009 H1N1, A/Victoria/361/2011 H3N2, B/Wisconsin/01/2010 - Yamagata lineage) and avian (A/ Indonesia/05/2005 H5N1) strains to investigate the influence of different erythrocytes on seasonal and avian titres. Seasonal viruses did not agglutinate horse and sheep erythrocytes. Regarding the A/California/07/2009 H1N1 strain, the highest geometric mean (GM) HA titre was displayed by chicken erythrocytes (2016), followed by turkey (1600) and pigeon (1270). Turkey erythrocytes (1600) were more sensitive to the A/Victoria/361/2011

H3N2 strain than those from pigeons (1008), chickens (800) and humans (716). In the case of the B/Wisconsin/01/2010 strain, turkey erythrocytes (716) yielded the highest HA titre, whereas other erythrocytes species displayed much lower HA titres. Human erythrocytes showed relatively low HA titres for all three seasonal strains (Tab. II).

The avian H5N1 strain elicited the highest HA titres in chicken erythrocytes (12800) (Tab. II).

Considerable variations in HI titres were detected when using different sources of erythrocytes for seasonal and avian strains. Overall, chicken erythrocytes displayed the highest titres for all the seasonal strains. Horse and sheep erythrocytes added much variation for H5N1 strain and horse erythrocytes yielded the highest titres (Fig. 3).

Regarding the H1N1 and H3N2 strains, the highest HI titres were displayed by chicken erythrocytes followed by pigeon and turkey erythrocytes showing the same titres. The only statistically significant difference is between chicken and human erythrocytes for H1N1 strain. For the H3N2 strain, turkey and human yield lower HI titres than chicken and human gives lower titres than turkey (Fig. 4). Human erythrocytes showed low HI titres for both strains (Fig. 4). For the B strain turkey yields lower titres than chicken.

Samples 1-4 yielded positive titres with chicken erythrocytes while all other erythrocytes were negative.

The avian strain showed the highest HI titres when horses erythrocytes were used. In particular, Italian horse gave significantly higher titres than Argentinian horse. Turkey and chicken displayed similar HI titres but lower than the other species. The HI titres with sheep erythrocytes were lower than human and horse and higher than chicken, turkey and pigeon (Fig. 5).

Discussion

The agglutination of cells by viruses with specific linkage preferences depends on the amount of SA α 2.3 and α 2.6 Gal linkages on the erythrocytes surface. The human influenza viruses preferentially bind to SA linked to Gal by α 2.6 linkage, while avian influenza viruses prefer SA linked to Gal by α 2.3 linkage [13].

The HA and HI assays are based on the ability of influenza viruses to agglutinate erythrocytes and are influenced by the erythrocytes used, resulting in different HA and HI titres; these may explain some of the variation observed in the titres of both assays between different laboratories [8, 16-18].

Tab. II. HA GMTs of influenza seasonal and avian strains with different erythrocytes.

Influenza strain		Erythrocytes							
A/California/07/2009	Chicken	Turkey	Sheep	Pigeon	Human	IT horse	AG horse		
H1N1	2016	1600	no HA titer	1270	800	no HA titer	no HA titer		
A/Victoria/361/2011	Chicken	Turkey	Sheep	Pigeon	Human	IT horse	AG horse		
H3N2	800	1600	no ha titer	1008	/16	no ha titer	no ha titer		
B/Wisconsin/01/2010	Chicken 358	Turkey 716	Sheep no HA titer	Pigeon 179	Human 89	IT horse no HA titer	AG horse no HA titer		
A/Indonesia/05/2005 H5N1	Chicken 12800	Turkey 8063	Sheep 800	Pigeon 6400	Human 1600	IT horse 6400	AG horse 4032		







This study provides a comprehensive investigation of avian (turkey, chicken, pigeon) and mammalian (sheep, horse, humans) erythrocytes analysed by flow cytometry in order to investigate the expression of SA receptors. Moreover, the HA and HI titres with seasonal and avian strains have been evaluated to investigate the influence of different erythrocytes on both assays.

As reported in previous studies [1, 4-6], the results confirm that chicken erythrocytes showed higher amounts of SA α 2.3 Gal linkage, while turkey SA α 2.6 Gal linkage, sheep SA α 2.3 Gal linkage only and humans both linkages. In addition, a deeper investigation has been performed with the analysis of different batches of chickens' erythrocytes. The results provide evidence of the variability in the expression of SA α 2.3 Gal linkages. This finding is of relevance as chicken with turkey erythrocytes are the most commonly used in HA and HI assays. It would therefore be interesting to analyse different batches of chicken in both assays and different batches of turkey by flow cytometry and HA/ HI assays in order to evaluate possible intra-species variability. The data seem to support that chicken and turkey erythrocytes, which are characterized by both linkages, are suitable for use in the HA assays with seasonal strains. For the avian strain, the chicken erythrocytes seem to be the best choice. The results are in good agreement with those of other studies, which have demonstrated the advantage of goose, guinea pig and turkey erythrocytes for avian strain in both assays and turkey erythrocytes for the HI assay with the human pandemic virus H1N1 [8, 16, 18, 19].

As expected, sheep erythrocytes were not agglutinated by seasonal influenza strains due to the lack of SA α 2.6 Gal linkage. This is the only species analysed in this study that expresses exclusively SA α 2.3 Gal linkage.

.....

Nevertheless, they did not show high HA and HI titres for the avian strain.

Human erythrocytes seem not to be very useful for both assays with seasonal and avian strains despite expressing both linkages.

The novelty of the study is the characterization of pigeon erythrocytes displaying almost exclusively SA α 2.6 Gal linkage. As for the chicken and turkey, which show appreciable expression level of SA α 2.6 Gal linkage, pigeon erythrocytes yielded good HA titres with seasonal strains. Unexpected results were obtained with the avian strain where an appreciable HA titre has been observed. The HA data from sheep and pigeon erythrocytes may suggest that other mechanisms, in addition to a preference for SA α 2.3 or 2.6 Gal linkages, could be involved in the assay and need to be further investigated. The pigeon erythrocytes resulted in appreciable HI titres with H1N1 and H3N2 strains, comparable to those of turkey, and a high titre with influenza B strain. These data suggest that this animal species may constitute an interesting alternative, particularly for the B strains, and additional data should be gathered on pigeon erythrocytes.

Horse erythrocytes showed almost exclusively SA α 2.3 Gal linkages and therefore were not agglutinated by seasonal strains. A deeper investigation has been performed analysing different breeds of horse' erythrocytes. The data displayed diverse expression of SA α 2.3 Gal linkages among the breeds. It would be interesting to perform the HA and HI assays with different breeds of horses in order to evaluate possible differences in the titres.

The HA titre of the horses was lower than that seen in erythrocytes from other species with the avian strain. These results are in line with those of a previous study, in which horse erythrocytes were the least sensitive with the HA assay but provided the highest antibody titre in the HI assay [17]. The use of horse erythrocytes significantly improved the sensitivity of the HI assay for the detection of antibodies against avian H5N1 virus, thus overcoming the initial drawback of using avian strains and supporting the HI assay as an effective means of evaluating pandemic vaccines [11, 13, 14, 20, 21].

Conclusions

The data from the present study provide evidence that the choice of erythrocytes has large impact on the HI titres for seasonal and avian strains. Collectively, chicken and turkey erythrocytes seem to be the most appropriate for both assays with seasonal influenza strains, in addition to pigeon erythrocytes, particularly for the B strains. In the case of the avian strain, chicken erythrocytes are suitable for HA assay and horse erythrocytes for HI assay. Especially the horse erythrocytes showed a deep impact for the HI titres. However, the differences in HA and HI titres highlight the need to harmonize the choice of erythrocytes for both assays, in order to define the most suitable species and conditions for assays involving seasonal and avian strains. The choice of erythrocytes has a significant

......

impact on the titres measured by both assays. The selection and standardization of appropriate erythrocytes could significantly increase the sensitivity and reproducibility of the assays. The cooperation among regulatory authorities, academia, public health institutions and manufacturers is aimed at standardizing assays such as HI [22].

Acknowledgments

We thank Ilaria Manini, Alessandro Manenti, Elisa Llorente Pastor and Otfried Kistner for their technical support.

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

EM and CMT conceived and designed the experiments; CMT, CU, CC, DP, GP, SM performed the experiments; CMT, EJR and SR analysed the data; CMT wrote the paper; RJC and EJR revised the paper.

References

- [1] Medeiros R, Escriou N, Naffakh N, Manuguerra JC, van der Werf S. Hemagglutinin residues of recent human A(H3N2) influenza viruses that contribute to the inability to agglutinate chicken erythrocytes. Virology 2001;289(1):74-85.
- [2] WHO. Manual for the laboratory diagnosis and virological surveillance of influenza. 2011:1-137.
- WHO. WHO recommendation on influenza A(H7N9) vaccine [3] virus. 2013: p. 1-2.
- Ito T, Suzuki Y, Mitnaul L, Vines A, Kida H, Kawaoka Y. Recep-[4] tor specificity of influenza A viruses correlates with the agglutination of erythrocytes from different animal species. Virology 1997;227(2):493-9.
- Takemae N, Ruttanapumma R, Parchariyanon S, Yoneyama S, Hayashi T, Hiramatsu H, Sriwilaijaroen N, Uchida Y, Kondo S, Yagi H, Kato K, Suzuki Y, Saito T. Alterations in receptor-binding properties of swine influenza viruses of the H1 subtype after isolation in embryonated chicken eggs. J Gen Virol 2010;91(Pt 4): 938-48.
- [6] Jia N, Wang SX, Liu YX, Zhang PH, Zuo SQ, Lin Z, Dang RL, MaYH, Zhang C, Zhang L, Lu S, Cao WC. Increased sensitivity for detecting avian influenza-specific antibodies by a modified hemagglutination inhibition assay using horse erythrocytes. J Virol Methods 2008;153(1):43-8.
- Trombetta CM, Montomol E. Influenza immunology evaluation [7] and correlates of protection: a focus on vaccines. Expert Rev Vaccines 2016.
- [8] Pawar SD, Parkhi SS, Koratkar SS, Mishra AC. Receptor specificity and erythrocyte binding preferences of avian influenza viruses isolated from India. Virol J 2012;9: 251.
- Montomoli E, Capecchi B, Hoschler K. Correlates of Protection [9] Against Influenza, in Influenza Vaccines for the Future, S.B. AG, Editor. 2011, Springer.
- [10] Wood JM, Montomoli E, Newman RW, Daas A, Buchheit KH, Terao E. Collaborative study on influenza vaccine clinical trial serology - part 2: reproducibility study. Pharmeur Bio Sci Notes 2011;2011(1):36-54.
- [11] Stephenson I, Wood JM, Nicholson KG, Charlett A, Zambon MC. Detection of anti-H5 responses in human sera by HI using horse erythrocytes following MF59-adjuvanted influenza A/ Duck/Singapore/97 vaccine. Virus Res 2004;103(1-2):91-5.

- [12] Stephenson I, Wood JM, Nicholson KG, Zambon MC. Sialic acid receptor specificity on erythrocytes affects detection of antibody to avian influenza haemagglutinin. J Med Virol 2003;70(3):391-8.
- [13] WHO. Serological detection of avian influenza A(H7N9) virus infections by modified horde red blood cells haemagglutination-inhibition assay. 2013:1-11.
- [14] Kayali G, Setterquist SF, Capuano AW, Myers KP, Gill JS, Gray GC. Testing human sera for antibodies against avian influenza viruses: horse RBC hemagglutination inhibition vs. microneutralization assays. J Clin Virol 2008;43(1):73-8.
- [15] WHO. WHO Manual on Animal Influenza Diagnosis and Surveillance. 2002.
- [16] Wiriyarat W, Lerdsamran H, Pooruk P, Webster RG, Louisirirotchanakul S, Ratanakorn P, Chaichoune K, Nateerom K, Puthavathana P. Erythrocyte binding preference of 16 subtypes of low pathogenic avian influenza and 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1) viruses. Vet Microbiol 2010;146(3-4):346-9.
- [17] Louisirirotchanakul S, Lerdsamran H, Wiriyarat W, Sangsiriwut K, Chaichoune K, Pooruk P, Songserm T, Kitphati R, Sawanpanyalert P, Komoltri C, Auewarakul P, Puthavathana P. Eryth-

rocyte binding preference of avian influenza H5N1 viruses. J Clin Microbiol 2007;45(7):2284-6.

- [18] Ovsyannikova IG, White SJ, Albrecht RA, Garcia-Sastre A, Poland GA. Turkey versus guinea pig red blood cells: hemagglutination differences alter hemagglutination inhibition responses against influenza A/H1N1. Viral Immunol 2014;27(4):174-8.
- [19] Makkoch J, Prachayangprecha S, Payungporn S, Chieochansin T, Songserm T, Amonsin A, Poovorawan Y. Erythrocyte binding preference of human pandemic influenza virus a and its effect on antibody response detection. Ann Lab Med 2012;32(4):276-82.
- [20] Wibawa H, Henning J, Waluyati DE, Usman TB, Lowther S, Bingham J, Junaidi A, Meers J. Comparison of serological assays for detecting antibodies in ducks exposed to H5 subtype avian influenza virus. BMC Vet Res 2012;8:117.
- [21] Noah DL, Hill H, Hines D, White EL, Wolff MC.Qualification of the hemagglutination inhibition assay in support of pandemic influenza vaccine licensure. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2009;16(4):558-66.

.....

[22] FLUCOP. in http://www.flucop.eu/.

Received on November 29, 2017. Accepted on February 16, 2018.

Correspondence: Claudia M. Trombetta, University of Siena, 53100 Siena, Italy. Tel. +39 0577 234096 - E-mail: trombetta@ unisi.it

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Measles outbreak from February to August 2017 in Messina, Italy

M.A. PALAMARA¹, G. VISALLI¹, I. PICERNO¹, A. DI PIETRO¹, G. PUGLISI², F. MARANO², G. D'ANDREA², A. FACCIOLÀ¹ ¹ Department of Biomedical and Dental Sciences and Morphofunctional Imaging, University of Messina, Italy; ² Department of Prevention, Sanitary Provincial Authority, Messina, Italy

Keywords

Measles • Outbreak • Vaccination coverage

Summary

Introduction. Measles continues to be a major public health issue worldwide, with high morbidity and mortality rates. The disease remains endemic in 14 European countries, including Italy where, from 2013 to 2016, over 5,000 cases have been reported. In 2017, many Italian regions, including Sicily, have reported many cases of measles. In this study, we described the latest measles outbreak in the city of Messina, from 1st February to 31st August 2017.

Methods. We considered all reported measles cases that came to the "Public Health, Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine" Operative Unit of the Messina Provincial Health Agency Prevention Department, which receives all reported cases of measles in the Messina province.

Results. From 1st February to 31st August 2017, a total of 59 measles cases were reported, of which 44 were confirmed, nine were

Introduction

Measles continues to be a major public health issue causing substantial outbreaks worldwide, with high morbidity and mortality rates. In 2015, there were 134,200 measles deaths globally – about 367 deaths every day or 15 deaths every hour –. In the same year, approximately 85% of children worldwide received primary vaccines before they are a year old (79% in 2000). Thanks to vaccinations, from 2000 to 2015, the incidence of measles in the world declined by 75%, from 146 to 36 cases per million inhabitants. However, the goal was to reduce, by 2015, the mortality of 95% but this goal has not been achieved [1].

Since the beginning of 2017 and up to 10 September, the Italian Ministry of Health has reported 4,487 cases of measles and three deaths [2]. In this period, measles outbreaks have also been reported in other European countries, such as in Romania, which reported over 7,000 cases and 31 deaths from January 2016 to June 2017, most of them in small children [3]. In Romania, more than half of the cases occurred in children under five years of age, among unvaccinated or incompletely vaccinated individuals; in Italy, the majority of cases occurred among unvaccinated adolescents and young adults. This can be explained by the fact that Romania had very high levels of vaccine uptake (> 95%) up to

......

classified as possible, four were probable and two cases were discarded. Of the 57 possible, probable and confirmed cases, 31 (54%) were males and 26 (46%) were females. Moreover, 54 (95%) had not been previously vaccinated while the remaining cases had documented evidence of one (two cases) or two doses (one case). Genotype B3 was identified in 39/44 cases (88,6%) by the regional reference laboratory in Palermo.

Conclusions. Despite the development of an effective vaccination, unfortunately measles continues to threaten the lives of millions of children worldwide each year. The suboptimal immunization level in Italy has led to an increase in the transmission of measles with detrimental effects on both public health and ongoing measles elimination efforts.

2010, so many adults are protected; on the contrary, in Italy, the suboptimal vaccination coverage (< 95%), in particular among young adults born in the 1990s and 2000s, has determined that these were more vulnerable and therefore were more affected by measles [4].

Eliminating measles and rubella is one of the top immunization priorities of the European region, as outlined in the European Vaccine Action Plan 2015-2020, by defining priority action areas, indicators and targets, taking into account the specific needs and challenges of Member States in the European Region [5].

Today, in the WHO European Region, 42 of 53 countries have interrupted endemic transmission of measles [6]. In Italy, measles has been reported since 1934 and an improved surveillance system was introduced in 2007 [7]. From the 1970s to the end of the 1990s, measles showed the typical cyclical trend with very high epidemic peaks. With the increase in vaccine cover since the beginning of the 2000s, the extent of the spikes has decreased considerably, and since 1997 the epidemic period has lengthened. However, from 2013 to 2016, over 5,000 cases of measles have been reported. In January 2017, there was an increase in measles cases compared to previous months and January 2016 [8]. From the beginning of 2017, a measles outbreak occurred in Messina (a city in eastern Sicily) and the surrounding areas. This outbreak was part of the wider epidemic in Italy that started in January 2017 and affected 20 of the 21 Italian administrative regions [9]. Most cases occurred in Piedmont and Lombardy (northern Italy), Tuscany, Lazio and Abruzzo (central Italy) and Sicily (southern Italy). From January to the beginning of September 2017, Lazio region reported the highest number of cases (n = 1589); Sicily, with 257 reported cases, is the sixth Italian region for number of cases. Measles outbreaks involved family, school and nosocomial spheres [10].

Even though it is a vaccine-preventable disease, measles vaccination coverage is suboptimal in Italy and especially in Sicily, with 87.3% and 81.1%, respectively, about the first dose for those born in 2014 [7]. Smaller coverage was reached for the second dose: 82.2% in Italy and 64,7% in Sicily for those born in 2010 [11]. As a result, the pockets of vulnerable populations have increased. There is an even lower vaccine coverage about MMR vaccine in the city of Messina: 73% about the first dose for those born in 2014 and 45.4% about the first dose for those born in 2010 (data collected from the vaccine center in Messina, Department of Prevention Sanitary Provincial Hospital, Messina, Italy). As a result of the high transmissibility of the measles virus, the herd immunity threshold is very high, and consequently very high coverage ($\geq 95\%$) is necessary to interrupt virus transmission.

The aim of this study was to describe the measles outbreak that affected the city of Messina this year, to conduct a complete and rapid characterization of wild-type measles virus strains circulating and to implement appropriate control measures to limit the spread of cases.

Methods

We analysed the measles outbreak of Messina that occurred from the 1st February to the 31st August 2017. We considered all measles cases reported to the "Public Health, Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine" (SPEM) Operative Unit of the Messina Provincial Health Agency Prevention Department, which covers all measles cases in the Messina province.

The measles case definition used during this outbreak was based on the European Commission case definition [12].

Measles cases were defined as possible, probable or confirmed, depending on clinical, epidemiological and laboratory criteria. A possible case was any person who met clinical criteria, i.e., fever, maculopapular rash and cough/coryza/conjunctivitis; a probable case was any person who met clinical criteria and had an epidemiological link to a confirmed case; a confirmed case was any possible case with laboratory evidence of infection with the measles virus, i.e., detection of viral RNA in a biological sample and/or a positive IgM result in serum, under the indications of the National Plan of Elimination of Measles and Congenital Rubella [13]. Following the WHO criteria, cases were discarded when clinical, epidemiological or laboratory criteria were not met, taking into account vaccination history and risk of measles infection in the community or abroad [14].

Immediately after the notification, our Public Health team started an epidemiological investigation to understand the retrospective identification of each reported case. Then, the case was included in the digital platform "Integrated measles and rubella surveillance" and was notified to health authorities.

Tests for confirmation included: specific IgM antibodies detection by enzyme-linked immunosorbent (ELISA) assay from a capillary or venous blood sample and a sample of saliva collected between 4 and 28 days after the appearance of skin rash (this test was conducted by local laboratories of Messina city); molecular detection and genetic characterization of Morbillivirus (MV) by PCR assay on urine and/or oral fluid samples within 3 days of the appearance of the exanthema and no later than 7 days (carried out by the regional reference laboratory in Palermo, Sicily).

Total RNA was extracted using QIAmp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen) for saliva samples and RNeasy mini Kit (Qiagen) for urine samples, as per the manufacturer's protocols. Nucleic acid was tested by RT-PCR using a hemi-nested protocol directed to a highly conserved part of the MV RNA, which is located on the N gene (the carboxyl terminus of the nucleoprotein, N-450).

Kit SuperScript One-Step RT-PCR kit with Platinum Taq (Invitrogen) was used for RT-PCR reaction. The sequences were genotyped by comparing the fragment coding for N-450 with that one of the WHO reference strains.

Results

From the 1st February to the 31st August 2017, 59 measles cases were notified in Messina, Sicily. 44 cases were laboratory-confirmed, nine were classified as possible, four were probable and two cases were discarded.

The earliest case was reported on 2^{nd} February, although the symptoms began at the end of January. Of the 57 possible, probable and confirmed cases, 31 (54%) were males and 26 (46%) were females. Concerning the age, the most involved groups were 15-39 years (37%), children between one and four years were 20 (35%); only 2 cases occurred in children under one year. The percentage of all age groups are shown in Figure 1. Two of these cases were doctors and acquired measles in a healthcare setting.

We defined a cluster as having a minimum of three people with measles, for whom an epidemiological link to an identified index case, either directly or by secondary infection, was established. We recorded seven clusters, two clusters in Messina and the others in the rest of the province. The largest cluster involved 7 children who participated in a birthday party of a child with measles at the incubation stage; the other clusters were familiar clusters and involved 4 or 5 people maximum. In a family cluster of Messina city our Public Health team has given measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccine to two close contacts within 72 hours of exposure.

.....



Of the 57 cases, 54 (95%) had not been previously vaccinated while the remaining cases had documented evidence of one (two cases) or two doses (one case). Among the unvaccinated cases, three were infants under a year old and thus too young to be vaccinated; the remaining cases were in adolescents and adults.

Considering the trend of reported cases (Fig. 2), the peak was reached in April with 17 reported cases.

In addition, 37 subjects (65%) were hospitalized; of which two infants (5%) were less than a year old, 11 (30%) were between one and four years, five (13%) were 5-14 years old, 18 (49%) were 15-39 and one (3%) was more than 39 years of age. Of the total cases, nine subjects (16%) had at least one complication; diarrhea was the most frequent complication (n = 5), followed by kerato-conjunctivitis (n = 4), pneumonia (n = 2), stoma-

......

titis (n = 2), convulsion (n = 1) and otitis (n = 1) (Fig. 3). More complications were present simultaneously in the same subject.

Finally, genotype B3 was identified in 39 cases (88.6%) by the regional reference laboratory in Palermo; the other 5 confirmed cases remained not-typed.

Discussion and conclusions

Despite the development of an effective vaccination, measles unfortunately continues to threaten the lives of millions of children worldwide each year. Indeed, immunity gaps persist and the accumulation of measlessusceptible population pockets in the context of an increasing number of outbreaks in European countries





since 2016 could have contributed to this outbreak in our country [15, 16].

The decreased uptake of the measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccine in Italy in recent years is also the result of vaccine hesitancy [17]. The immunization level in Italy for MMR is suboptimal with 87% of vaccination coverage rate for the first dose carried out by those born in 2014 and 79% for the second dose carried out by born in 2000 [7]. In Messina city, immunization level is very low with 73% of vaccination coverage rate for the first dose carried out by born in 2014 and 64% for the second dose carried out by born in 2000 (Department of Prevention Sanitary Provincial Hospital, Messina, Italy). This situation has led to an increase in the transmission of measles with detrimental effects on both Public Health and ongoing measles elimination efforts.

Although the collective picture for European countries in 2016 reflects that the most affected age groups in Romania were infants and young children, more than 50% of cases in Italy and 45% of cases in the United Kingdom were \geq 20 years of age. On the other hand, a high number of infections continues to be observed in unvaccinated one to four year olds in several countries across Europe [3].

From January 2009 to May 2010, 522 cases of measles occurred in Catania, Sicily, and all but one patients had not been vaccinated. This outbreak has shown that the practice of immunization was and continues to be inadequate in Sicily [18].

In our outbreak, all reported suspected measles cases were investigated and control measures were promptly implemented in order to contain transmission. Our public health team undertook extensive contact tracing for all measles cases. Furthermore, surveillance and control measures included the immediate isolation of suspected cases and administration of measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccine. Epidemiological investigations were complemented with broader Public Health measures that included raising public awareness about the importance of vaccinations, especially in children < 18 years and in healthcare workers, according to the National Vaccine Prevention Plan (PNPV 2017-19).

In our study, only two healthcare workers were involved, but a recent outbreak in Pisa (northern Italy) has involved many healthcare workers and their families [19].

Moreover, our data show all cases of B3 MV strains were spread across Italy and caused several autochthonous cases and clusters. From November 2015 to April 2016, an outbreak of measles B3 variant in the Roma/Sinti population with transmission occurred in the no-socomial setting. Therefore, in addition to healthcare workers, Roma also represent one of several undervaccinated population groups for whom stronger vaccination efforts are needed [20].

Genotype B3 was detected in some cases in the Milan (northern Italy) outbreak occurred from 1st March to 30th June 2017, even if the most common genotype detected was genotype D8 [21]. Genotype B3 was the same as the genotype detected in other outbreaks in Europe in 2017, e.g., in Romania, Belgium, Portugal and the United Kingdom [22-25].

It is also important to remember that, for the most part, hospitalised patients was in the 15-39 age group. This result confirms that at most advanced age there is a higher hospitalization rate [26]. Moreover, we recorded 16% of complications, which were largely diarrhea, pneumonia and kerato-conjunctivitis, according to Italian cases (as detailed in the Measles in Italy weekly bulletin); however, measles can cause more serious complications and sometimes death. Not long ago, a case of fulminant subacute sclerosing panencephalitis has occurred, which led to the death of a five-year-old Italian child [27]. From January to end August 2017, in Italy, three deaths due to respiratory insufficiency occurred among children aged 16 months, 6 years and 9 years respectively. All were unvaccinated and one child was immunocompromised due

.....

to ongoing chemotherapy for a malignancy [9]. In September 2017, the fourth death for measles was recorded: a Sicilian 42-year-old man that was not vaccinated and immunocompromised [10].

The only positive side has been that the outbreak made physicians more aware of the measles diagnosis and subsequent cases were quickly reported. So the problem of underreporting that has existed for many years, at least as far as measles is concerned, has been slightly reduced. Considering the current low coverage of the eligible population of Messina, an Extraordinary Plan for the Improvement of Vaccine Coverage for MMR was launched in accordance with the objectives set by the National Vaccine Prevention Plan (PNPV 2017-2019) and the Regional Prevention Plan [28]. This plan involves pediatricians, general practitioners and other healthcare professionals in Sicily; it aims to make vaccinations more accessible and to raise awareness in order to overcome the widespread distrust of those against vaccinations.

As already stated by the WHO, the elimination of measles and rubella will depend largely on obtaining political commitment, achieving high coverage, closing immunity gaps and implementing high quality, case-based surveillance.

Acknowledgments

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

AD and IP designed the study; GDA, FM and GP provided the data; MAP, GV and AF analyzed and interpreted the data; MAP wrote the paper. All authors have read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

References

- [1] WHO. World Health Organization. Available at: http://www. who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs286/en/. Updated July 2017.
- [2] National Integrated Measles Rubella Surveillance System. Measles in Italy: weekly bulletin. (Week: 4-10 September 2017) Rome: Istituto Superiore di Sanità. Available at: http://www.epicentro.iss.it/problemi/morbillo/bollettino/Measles_WeeklyReport_N25.pdf and (Week 18-24 September 2017). Available at: http://www.epicentro.iss.it/problemi/morbillo/bollettino/Measles_WeeklyReport_N27.pdf
- [3] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Epidemiological update: Measles – monitoring European outbreaks, 7 July 2017. Stockholm: ECDC. Available at: https:// ecdc.europa.eu/en/news-events/epidemiological-update-measles-monitoring-europeanoutbreaks-7-july-2017. Accessed 31 Aug 2017.
- [4] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Ongoing outbreak of measles in Romania, risk of spread and epidemiological situation in EU/EEA countries – 3 March 2017. Stockholm: ECDC; Mar 2017. Available at: https://ecdc.europa. eu/sites/portal/files/media/en/publications/Publications/27-02-2017-RRA-Measles-Romania%2C%20European%20Union%20countries.pdf
- [5] WHO. Regional Office for Europe, 64th session, Copenhagen,

.....

Denmark, September 2014, European Vaccine Action Plan 2015–2020 Available at: http://www.euro.who.int/_data/assets/pdf_file/0020/253730/64wd15e_EVAP_140459.pdf

- [6] WHO. Regional Office for Europe. Media center. September 2017. Available at: http://www.euro.who.int/en/media-centre/ sections/press-releases/2017/measles-no-longer-endemic-in-79-of-the-who-european-region
- [7] Ministry of Health, Italy. 2016. Vaccination coverage in adolescents. (Accessed: Sep 2017). Italy. Available from: http://www. salute.gov.it/imgs/C_17_tavole_20_allegati_iitemAllegati_3_ fileAllegati_itemFile_5_file.pdf. Accessed: September 2017.
- [8] Epicentro. Morbillo, aspetti epidemiologici. 2017. Available at: http://www.epicentro.iss.it/problemi/morbillo/epidItalia.asp
- [9] Filia A, Bella A, Del Manso M, Baggieri M, Magurano F, Rota MC. Ongoing outbreak with well over 4,000 measles cases in Italy from January to end August 2017 – what is making elimination so difficult? Euro Surveill 2017 Sep 14;22(37):30614. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.37.30614.
- [10] Epicentro. Morbillo in Italia: bollettino settimanale. Aggiornamento del 26 settembre 2017. Available at: http://www.epicentro.iss.it/problemi/morbillo/bollettino/Measles_WeeklyReport_ N27.pdf
- [11] Epicentro. Le vaccinazioni in Italia, copertura vaccinale Morbillo – età pediatrica. 2017. Available from: http://www.epicentro. iss.it/temi/vaccinazioni/dati_Ita.asp#morbillo
- [12] European Commission. Commission Implementing Decision of 8 August 2012 amending Decision 2002/253/EC laying down case definitions for reporting communicable diseases to the Community network under Decision No 2119/98/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. L262 Sep 27, 2012. Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=OJ %3AL%3A2012%3A262%3ATOC
- [13] Ministry of Health, Italy. Piano nazionale per l'eliminazione del morbillo e della rosolia congenita (PNEMoRc) 2010-2015 (PNEMoRc). 2011. Available at: http://www.salute.gov.it/ imgs/C_17_pubblicazioni_1519_allegato.pdf
- [14] WHO. World Health Organization. Eliminating Measles and rubella – Framework for the verification process in the WHO European Region 2014. Copenhagen: WHO; 2014. Available at: http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/247356/ Eliminating-measles-and-rubella- Framework-for-the-verification-process-in-the-WHO-European-Region.pdf
- [15] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Communicable Disease Threats Report. Week 36 (3-9 Sep 2017). Stockholm: ECDC. Available at: https://ecdc.europa. eu/sites/portal/files/documents/Communicable-disease-threatsreport-09-sep-2017.pdf
- [16] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Measles and rubella monitoring, January 2017 – Disease surveillance data: 1 January 2016 – 31 December 2016. Stockholm: ECDC; 2017. Available at: http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/measles%20-rubellamonitoring-170424. pdf
- [17] Veneto Region. Italy. ULSS20 Verona. Indagine sui determinanti del rifiuto dell'offerta vaccinale nella Regione Veneto. [Final report. Survey to identify determinants of vaccine refusal in the Veneto region, Italy]. Verona: Veneto Region Department of Health; June 2011. Available at: https://prevenzione.ulss20. verona.it/docs/RicercheScelteVaccinali/Indagine-Determinanti-Scelta-Vaccinale-Report.pdf. Accessed September 2017.
- [18] Celesia BM, Fontana R, Pinzone MR, Cuccia M, Bellissimo F, Rapisarda L, Rinnone S, Rapisarda V, Pavone P, Cacopardo B, Nunnari G. A measles outbreak in Catania, Sicily: the importance of high vaccination coverage and early notification of cases for health and economic reasons. Infez Med 2014 Sep;22(3):222-6.
- [19] Porretta A, Quattrone F, Aquino F, Pieve G, Bruni B, Gemignani G, Vatteroni ML, Pistello M, Privitera GP, Lopalco PL. A no-

socomial measles outbreak in Italy, February-April 2017. Euro Surveill 2017 Aug 17;22(33). pii: 30597. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.33.30597.

- [20] Filia A, Amendola A, Faccini M, Del Manso M, Senatore S, Bianchi S, Borrini BM, Ciampelli A, Tanzi E, Filipponi MT, Piccirilli G, Lazzarotto T, Pascucci MG, Baggieri M, Magurano F. Outbreak of a new measles B3 variant in the Roma/Sinti population with transmission in the nosocomial setting, Italy, November 2015 to April 2016. Euro Surveill 2016 May 19;21(20). doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2016.21.20.30235.
- [21] Amendola A, Bianchi S, Frati ER, Ciceri G, Faccini M, Senatore S, Colzani D, Lamberti A, Baggieri M, Cereda D, Gramegna M, Nicoletti L, Magurano F, Tanzi E. Ongoing large measles outbreak with nosocomial transmission in Milan, northern Italy, March-August 2017. Euro Surveill 2017 Aug 17;22(33). pii: 30596. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.33.30596.
- [22] Grammens T, Schirvel C, Leenen S, Shodu N, Hutse V, Mendes da Costa E, Sabbe M. Ongoing measles outbreak in Wallonia, Belgium, December 2016 to March 2017: characteristics and challenges. Euro Surveill 2017 Apr 27;22(17). pii:30524. doi:10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.17.30524.
- [23] WHO. World Health Organization. Measles Nucleotide Surveillance (MeaNS) Database. Geneva 2017. Available at: http:// www.hpa-bioinformatics.org.uk/Measles/Public/Web_Front/ main.php

- [24] George F, Valente J, Augusto GF, Silva AJ, Pereira N, Fernandes T, Palminha P, Aguiar BA, Martins A, Santos E, Valente P, Calé E, Leça A, Nogueira PJ. Measles outbreak after 12 years without endemic transmission, Portugal, February to May 2017. Euro Surveill 2017 Jun;22(23). pii: 30548. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.23.30548.
- [25] Nic Lochlainn L, Mandal S, de Sousa R, Paranthaman K, van Binnendijk R, Ramsay M, Hahné S, Brown KE. A unique measles B3 cluster in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands linked to air travel and transit at a large international airport, February to April 2014. Euro Surveill 2016; 21(13). doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2016.21.13.30177.
- [26] Bassetti M, Schenone E, Calzi A, Camera M, Valle L, Ansaldi F, Pagano G, Viscoli C. Measles outbreak in adults in Italy. Infez Med 2011 Mar;19(1):16-9.
- [27] Magurano F, Marella GL, Marchi A, Filia A, Marsella LT, Potenza S, Massa R, Bucci P, Baggieri M, Nicoletti L. A case of fulminant subacute sclerosing panencephalitis presenting with acute myoclonic-astatic epilepsy. Ann Ist Super Sanità 2017 Apr-Jun;53(2):167-9. doi: 10.4415/ANN_17_02_15.
- [28] Sicily Region. Regional Health Department. October 2017. Available at: http://pti.regione.sicilia.it/portal/ page/portal/PIR_PORTALE/PIR_LaStrutturaRegionale/ PIR_AssessoratoSalute/PIR_DecretiAssessratoSalute/ PIR_DecretiAssessoriali/PIR_DecretiAssessorialianno2017/ D.A._n%B0_1965%5B1%5D%20-%20serv.4.pdf.

.....

Received on January 17, 2018. Accepted on January 29, 2018.

Correspondence: Maria Angela Palamara, Department of Biomedical and Dental Sciences and Morphofunctional Imaging, University of Messina, Italy. E-mail: maripalamara@hotmail.it **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

"PErCEIVE in Umbria": evaluation of anti-influenza vaccination's perception among Umbrian pharmacists

V. GIANFREDI¹, D. NUCCI², T. SALVATORI³, F. ORLACCHIO⁴, M. VILLARINI³, M. MORETTI³, PErCEIVE IN UMBRIA STUDY GROUP

¹ Graduate School of Hygiene and Preventive Medicine, Department of Experimental Medicine, University of Perugia, Italy;
² Digestive Endoscopy Unit, Veneto Institute of Oncology IOV - IRCCS, Padua, Italy;
³ Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences (Public Health Unit), University of Perugia, Italy;
⁴ Agifar Umbria, Associazione Giovani Farmacisti Umbri, Perugia, Italy

Keywords

Anti-flu vaccine • Pharmacist • Vaccine • Knowledge • Vaccine attitude • Italy • Cross sectional study

Summary

Vaccines recommendations are available for both healthcare professionals and the general public, but although the vaccination is the most effective method to prevent infectious diseases, the coverage is still behind the recommended rate. In Italy, according to a recent study, the anti-flu vaccination rate among healthcare worker range between 9% to 30%. The aim of our study was to identify knowledge, attitude and behaviours regarding influenza vaccination among community pharmacists in order to increase the coverage rate among healthcare professional. "PErCEIVE (Pharmacist Perception on Influenza Vaccine) in Umbria" was a cross sectional survey among community pharmacists in Umbria conducted between 16th November 2015 to 29th February 2016. The questionnaire was anonymous, on-line self-administered survey.

Introduction

Seasonal influenza is an airborne acute viral infection caused by influenza virus [1]. It is highly contagious, and despite the fact that, in the majority of the case, the progress is mild, influenza is responsible for about 3 to 5 million cases of severe illness worldwide [1], and about 5,000-70,000 death in Europe [2]. In particular, in industrialized countries most deaths occur among people age 65 or older [3]. Vaccines recommendations are available for both healthcare professionals and the general public, but although the vaccination is the most effective method to prevent the disease, also in the high risk group, the coverage is still behind the recommended rate. In Italy, the vaccination coverage for the Anti-flu, has fallen from 68.3 per 100 inhabitants during the 2005-2006 vaccination campaign, to 49.9 per 100 inhabitants in 2015-2016 [4]. It is extremely below the minimum established target (75%), set by the National Immunisation Plan. Thanks to the last National Immunisation Plan (2017-2019), the immunisation schedules are recommended for children, adolescents and adults with the regular update (through life approach), and vaccines are included in the basic levels of care (LEA-Livelli Essenziali di Assistenza) [5]. For example, in Italy, the Anti-flu vaccine is recommended for: i) general popula-

Statistical analysis were performed using STATA/SE 12 software. The response rate was 28.91% (n = 72/249). Among the studied population 76.39% (n = 55) had never performed influenza vaccine during the previous 5 years. Regarding source of information, only 15.28% of the subjects (n = 11) consulted the scientific publications, vs 52.78% (n = 38) who did not show any kind of interest upon the influenza vaccine. Our results show a low attitude to be vaccinated among pharmacists together with a low grade of awareness regarding the important role that pharmacists might play in order to reduce influenza burden, to promote health literacy among their patients and to decrease the risk of patients infection. Pharmacists might be crucial healthcare workers involved in health promotion, in vaccines' uptake and practices progression.

tion with some specified chronic diseases, responsible for severe complication or death; ii) people aged 65 or more; iii) pregnant women who are in the second or third trimester during the beginning of influenza season; iv) professionals who are exposed to animals responsible for infection; v) professionals of public security interest; vi) family members of at high risk people; and last but not least vii) healthcare professionals [5]. Actually, anti-flu vaccines among healthcare workers is strongly encourage because it can prevent potential flu spread to patients, with unstable health status that can rapidly deteriorate, or to other professionals reducing the work absenteeism [6]. Moreover, the healthcare vaccination might serves as a positive model and promoter in influenza vaccination campaigns.

However, despite the recommendation, the vaccine coverage among healthcare workers is still low. The minimum objectives established in the US by Healthy People 2020 is 90% of influenza vaccination coverage among healthcare personnel [7]. In Italy there are two levels of vaccination coverage: 75% established as minimum rate to reach, and 95% as optimal goal [5]. Although the Anti-flu vaccine coverage rate is high heterogeneous among Europeans Countries, it is significantly under the recommended rate, ranging from 10% to 50% [8]. In Italy, according to a recent study conducted by Alicino et al., the anti-flu vaccination rate among healthcare worker was around 30% among physicians, 11% among nurses and 9% among other clinical personnel during the vaccine campaign 2013/14 [9].

This significant low vaccine coverage seems to have serious consequences both individually and collectively. Even more serious is also the low perception of the importance of influenza vaccination among health care workers. Actually, Verger et al. in a recent National Cross-sectional Survey in Frances evidenced that only 54.5% of General Practices were "very confident" with vaccine utility, and only 26.2% of them were "very confident" with vaccine safety [10].

The aim of our study is to understand the determinants related to influenza vaccination uptake among community pharmacists. Pharmacists' role is not only to dispense drugs, but also they play a key role to provide appropriate consultations to the patients, to address patients' doubts among medications or vaccines [11]. However, community pharmacies are not always included in the vaccine campaign despite many patients receiving their medications and tips. Identification of knowledge, attitude and behaviours regarding influenza vaccination among community pharmacists is important to regulate the efforts need to increase the coverage rate among healthcare professionals and among general population. Moreover, understanding the reasons of vaccine hesitancy among pharmacists could identify the underlying reasons of vaccination campaigns' failure, other than to tailor public health strategies designed to increase the healthcare worker vaccinations' attitude.

Methods

"PErCEIVE (Pharmacist perception on Influenza VaccinE) in Umbria" was a cross sectional survey among community pharmacists in Umbria. The survey was conducted between 16th November 2015 to 29th February 2016 on community pharmacists working in Umbria. The questionnaire was anonymous, on-line self-administered survey. We used the validated questionnaire previously developed by the Medical Residents in Hygiene and Preventive Medicine of the Italian Society of Hygiene, Preventive Medicine and Public Health (S.It.I.-Società Italiana di Igiene, Medicina Preventiva e Sanità Pubblica) [12]. The questionnaire was first designed aimed to investigate the knowledge and attitude of the Italian Medical Residents in Hygiene. We decided to use the same questionnaire because of the similarity of the aims, and due to the correspondence of target groups' characteristics. Actually, both medical residents and pharmacists were Italian, with not cultural and language differences, moreover both this two professions categories are healthcare workers with a trustworthy relationship with the patients. We just replaced the term "medical residency" with "pharmacist" in the questionnaire. We invited the community pharmacists by sending them an email. The enrolment was voluntary base. Data were

collected by an electronic survey, administered on-line (Google Moduli[®]).

The survey, with lasted no more than 20 minutes, contained 21 questions soliciting information about: demographics characteristics; personal experience of influenza; personal influenza immunization history; reasons for getting vaccination and for recommending it to the patients; potential barrier or reasons to refuse influenza vaccination; their recommendation for patients regarding influenza vaccine; main sources of information on anti-flu vaccine; readiness in vaccination campaign participation. The questionnaire had mainly multiplechoice questions. Box for comments was also provided for some section.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Statistical analysis were performed using STATA/SE 12 software. Chi-square test (for categorical variables) and Student's t test (for continuous variables) were used for examining statistical significance. Pearson's correlation coefficient was also used to assess linear dependences between variables. We used the two-tailed version of all tests, and the p-value ≤ 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

ETHICAL APPROVAL

All data collected was recorded on a computerized database in an anonymous way; the file was protected by password, known only to researchers. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants. The "PEr-CEIVE in Umbria" study received ethical approval from the local ethics committee of the University of Perugia (Comitato Universitario di Bioetica), Reference Number: 2015-013.

Results

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE POPULATION

The population constituted of 249 community pharmacists who received the invitation mail, 72 of which agreed to fill the questionnaire, with a response rate of 28.91%. Out of 72 participants, 40 were female (55.56 %) and 32 were male (44.44 %), with a mean age of 45 ± 12.99 years. The 45.83% of the subjects self-reported a good or discreet knowledge related to influenza vaccine (Tab. I). In the majority of the case, the respondents (n = 46, 63.89%) had contracted the Influenza Like Illness (ILI) at least once during the past 5 years. However, 43.06% (n = 31) did not perceive themselves as a risk subjects, despite the professional exposure. Among the studied population 76.39% (n = 55) had never performed influenza vaccine during the previous 5 years. Among the only 5 pharmacists who performed anti-flu vaccination during the last year, the reason was the awareness to be a risk subject, due to the professional exposure. Inversely, among the subjects who had not performed the vaccination, the main reasons were: they believe that the low risk asso-

Gender	Male	Female
	32/72 (44.44)	40/72 (55.56)
Anti-flu knowledge	Good-discrete	Not sufficient
	33/72 (45.83)	39/72 (54.17)
ILI in the previous 5 years	Yes	No
	46/72 (63.89)	26/72 (63.89)
Get a vaccine last year	Yes	No
	5/72 (6.94)	67/72 (93.06)
Get a vaccine during last 5 years	Yes	No
	17/72 (23.61)	55/72 (76.39)
Perception to be a risk subject	Yes	No
	38/72 (52.78)	34/72 (47.22)
Search information on anti-flu vaccine	Yes	No
	23/72 (31.94)	49/72 (68.06)
Institutional source of information	Yes	No
	15/23 (65 22)	8/23 (34 78)

Tab. I. Characteristic of studied population. Number and percentage in parenthesis n (%).

ciated to the disease do not justify the vaccine need and because they did not consider themselves as a relevant element in the chain contagion both for relatives and for patients. Thirdly, they did not consider vaccination because of their age (younger than 65 years). Regarding source of information, 52.78% (n = 38) who did not show any kind of interest upon the influenza vaccine. Among them who search information (n = 23), 65.22% (15/23) of the subjects consulted institutional sources (scientific publication or institutional reports/ web pages). Only 19.44% (n = 14) are intended to update their influenza vaccination during the following campaign. Among them in 50% (n = 7) of the cases, the reason was the awareness to be a high-risk subject, the remaining 50% (n = 7) recognize their responsiveness in contagion chain. Regarding the possibility to recommend the vaccination 25.00% (n = 18) of the subject did not invited people to get influenza vaccine, however the percentage decrease to 18.06% (n = 13) considering the intention to promote vaccine during the next campaign.

.....

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Had been performed influenza vaccine, during the last 5 years, is statistical significant associated with consider themselves as risk subjects rho di Spearman = 0.33(p = 0.005). This data was also confirmed considering who performed vaccination during the previous year (rho di Spearman = 0.26 (p = 0.028). At the same time, the awareness to be a risk subjects is statistical associated with the intention to get a vaccine during the following influenza campaign, rho di Spearman = 0.39 (p = 0.0006). The degree of self-reported knowledges, regarding influenza and influenza vaccine, is statistical associated with the source of information. Moreover, the intention to be vaccinated next year is also statistical associated with had performed influenza vaccine during the last 5 years and previous year. Interestingly, who have the intention to be vaccinated next year is also associated with the propensity to recommend vaccine to their patients. Actually, who consult scientific publication or institutional documents/web sites reported a higher degree of knowledges in a statistical significant manner, rho di Spearman = 0.52 (p = 0.012). Furthermore, the high self-reported degree of knowledge is also associated with having received the request for information from general population, rho di Spearman = 0.29 (p = 0.014). Having received the request for information is also associated with the attitude to recommend vaccination, rho di Spearman = 0.39 (p = 0.0006); and to be incline to suggest vaccination for the next campaign, rho di Spearman = 0.25 (p = 0.035). The duration of years of work is statistical associated with the vaccination performed last year, actually who get vaccine the previous year had 33.2 ± 9.73 years (mean \pm standard deviation) of work (p = 0.0056) (Tab. II).

Discussion

In Umbria, during the 2011/14 season, influenza vaccine coverage rate in the population aged between 18 and 64 years with at least 1 risk factor was 19.4%. Among individuals over 65 years, the coverage rate was 62.8 per 100 inhabitants in 2015/16 season, the highest rate among the Italian regions. However, the national coverage rate is still 20-points percentage less compared to the 2005/06 season (2005/06 season was the period with the highest coverage rate since the flu-vaccine introduction in Italy, with a coverage rate of 68.3% among people over 65

Tab. II. Correlation between consider themselves as risk subjects and vaccine behaviour and between had received request of information regarding anti-flu vaccination and attitude.

	Be vaccinated last 5 years	Be vaccinated last year	Intention to be vaccinated next year
Consider themselves as risk	Rho = 0.33	Rho = 0.26	Rho = 0.39
subjects	p = 0.005	p = 0.028	p = 0.0006
Had received request of information	Degree of influenza knowledges	Attitude to recommend vaccination	Be incline to suggest vaccination next campaign
	Rho = 0.29	Rho = 0.39	Rho = 0.25
	p = 0.014	p = 0.0006	p = 0.035

years) [13]. Actually, Ministry of health, in collaboration with Istituto Superiore di Sanità, set up several activities in order to ensure influenza control. In particular the development of InfluNet (National sentinel influenza surveillance system), InfluWeb (community based participatory surveillance system) and Flunews (a report combining information from different sources) [14]. However, despite the high efforts, the low influenza vaccine coverage is probably due to a lack of influenza vaccine confidence after the 2009 pandemic [15]. Our survey confirmed that many healthcare workers, specifically pharmacists, do not consider anti-flu vaccination relevant to prevent patients/relatives' infection.

This is not the first study evaluating the vaccine hesitancy among healthcare professionals; however, the originalities of the present study are the ability to investigate the knowledge and the attitude such as the selection of the studied population. Although the questionnaire was already described in literature, it is for the first time used to assess the behaviour and willingness on influenza vaccine among Italian pharmacists. One of the most important result of "PErCEIVE in Umbria" study is that among pharmacists there is the wrong assumption that pharmacists are not professionals at high risk. Actually 5.56% of the subjects (n = 4) refuse the influenza vaccine, because younger than 65 years. These statements confirm the lack of appropriate knowledge regarding the definition of groups for whom the influenza vaccine is recommended. Previous studies has been demonstrated that people failed to be vaccinated because of the lack of healthcare workers' recommendations [16]. Although 59%-81% of adults in USA used internet to acquire health information [17, 18], healthcare professionals is the most important information source among patients [19]. Moreover, Johnson and colleagues in a recent survey conducted among general population and GPs found that both groups are more likely to discuss about vaccinations during well-care visits [20]. It seems likely that it might be the same also in pharmacies, during drugs' dispensation for mild diseases [21].

Moreover, Johnson et al. also indicated that influenza vaccine is less recommended compared to tetanus and pneumococcal [20]. This may indicate the absence of routinely vaccines' recommendations system that might reduce the missed opportunities to educate patients on immunizations or to update their immunization status. The missed opportunities for flu vaccine is particularly high (confirmed by the low coverage rate reached in every season), and a reminder/recall system for physician can increase GPs awareness on both their patient's vaccination status and vaccine indications.

Although anti-flu vaccination is universally recognized as an essential element of disease prevention, our results show a low propensity to be vaccinated among pharmacists. The consequences of these results are basically the urgent need to identifying the reasons responsible for low vaccine coverage, even in healthcare workers. Furthermore, it is crucial to identify strategies to increase awareness of the risk for general population, high-risk group such as healthcare workers. The results also show

the need to propose new training courses for the future, such as our sample suggested (58.33%, n = 42). However, Johnson previously described the healthcare professionals' lack of knowledge that we confirm in our sample. In particular only 2.78% (n = 2) of the subjects consulted the institutional web pages, 6.94% (n = 5) referred to ministerial disposal, and 11.11% (n = 8) read scientific articles. Recently, due to the low influenza coverage rate among Italian healthcare professionals, Alicino et al. conducted an educational project. The study was aimed to increase knowledge on influenza burden, risk of patients' infection from healthcare workers, and the immunization benefits [9]. The intervention was carried on for eight consecutives influenza seasons and was based on several courses, informative materials, and easier access for healthcare workers' immunization. Although during the whole period, the coverage rate had had a discontinuous trend, however the multicomponent intervention resulted in a significant increase of the influenza coverage rate. Recent evidences show as continuing education, incentives after immunization, easier access to vaccination are key strategies in increasing vaccination coverage among health care workers [22-24].

However, the study has some limitations. Firstly the small sample, although we obtained a good response rate compare to previous study, where the respondents were around 3% among general practitioners [20]. Secondly, the questionnaire was a self-administered, and suffer for the classical limitations of the survey such as social desirability bias and recall bias. However, we conducted an on-line survey that is associated with a lower social desirability bias compared with traditional version [25]. Thirdly, the vaccination history was self-reported and we did not check the pharmacists' vaccination status, due to the anonymous version of the survey. Nevertheless, there are indisputable advantages in the use of the questionnaire. It is a cheaper and easy tool, such as manageable for both respondents and researchers. Nonetheless, our study has also some strengths such as the use of previously validated questionnaire and the use of web-based questionnaire. Further, to the best of our knowledge it is the first study aimed to understand knowledge, attitude and behaviour on influenza vaccine among Italian pharmacists.

Conclusions

The aim of our study was to verify the knowledge and attitude of pharmacists on influenza vaccination. The results shown a low grade of awareness regarding the important role that pharmacists might play in order to reduce influenza burden, to promote health literacy among their patients, to decrease the risk of patients infection. In our opinion, pharmacists might be crucial healthcare workers involved in health promotion, in vaccines' uptake and practices progression. However, it is essential to plan a training courses tailored for healthcare workers.

.....

Acknowledgments

The Authors would like to thanks all the pharmacists who voluntary answered to the survey and all the participants in "FarmacistaPiù Professione, innovazione scientifica e politiche della salute tra Stato e mercato" conference, 17-19 March 2017, Milan, for their valuable comments and suggestions. Moreover, we would like to thanks the Umbrian Section of the Italian Society of Hygiene, Preventive Medicine and Public Health that scientifically supported the project, and the entire "PErCEIVE in Umbria" study group. Members of "PEr-CEIVE in Umbria" were Orlacchio Filiberto president of Agifarm (Associazione Giovani Farmacisti), dr. Emma Menconi for Ordine dei Farmacisti della Provincia di Perugia, dr. Stefamo Mustica for AssoFarm, dr. Augusto Luciani for FederFarma Umbria. No economical funding was assumed to conduct the study.

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

TS, VG, OF and the "PErCEIVE in Umbria" study group collaborated with data collection. VG, DN and MV have contributed in study conception and design, data management and statistical analysis. VG in interpretation of results and preparation of the article, and MM for reviewing the last version of the present manuscript.

References

- World Health Organization. Influenza Seasonal, Fact sheet. 2016 Available at: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/ fs211/en/ Accessed on 06/06/2017.
- [2] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Seasonal Influenza, Factsheet for the general public. 2017 Available at: http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/seasonal_influenza/basic_facts/Pages/factsheet_general_public.aspx.
- [3] Thompson WW, Weintraub E, Dhankhar P, Cheng PY, Brammer L, Meltzer MI, Bresee JS, Shay DK. Estimates of US influenzaassociated deaths made using four different methods. Influenza and other respiratory viruses. 2009 Jan;3(1):37-49.
- [4] Centro nazionale per la prevenzione delle malattie e la promozione della salute (EPICENTRO). Coperture della vaccinazione antinfluenzale in Italia. 2016 21 June 2016 Available at: http:// www.epicentro.iss.it/problemi/influenza/coperturevaccinali.asp Accessed on 4 February 2017.
- [5] Ministry of Health. Piano Nazionale Prevenzione Vaccinale, PNPV 2017-2019; 2017.
- [6] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Influenza Vaccination Information for Health Care Workers. 2016 November 2016 Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/healthcareworkers. htm Accessed on February 2017.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Immunization and Infectious Diseases. 2014 Available at: www.healthypeople. gov.
- [8] Mereckiene J, Cotter S, Nicoll A, Lopalco P, Noori T, Weber J, D'Ancona F, Levy-Bruhl D, Dematte L, Giambi C, Valentiner-Branth P, Stankiewicz I, Appelgren E, D OF, group Vpg. Seasonal influenza immunisation in Europe. Overview of recommendations and vaccination coverage for three seasons: pre-pandemic (2008/09), pandemic (2009/10) and post-pandemic (2010/11). Euro Surveil-

.....

lance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin. 2014 Apr 24;19(16):20780.

[9] Alicino C, Iudici R, Barberis I, Paganino C, Cacciani R, Zacconi M, Battistini A, Bellina D, Di Bella AM, Talamini A, Sticchi L, Morando A, Ansaldi F, Durando P. Influenza vaccination among healthcare workers in Italy. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2015;11(1):95-100.

- [10] Verger P, Fressard L, Collange F, Gautier A, Jestin C, Launay O, Raude J, Pulcini C, Peretti-Watel P. Vaccine Hesitancy Among General Practitioners and Its Determinants During Controversies: A National Cross-sectional Survey in France. EBioMedicine 2015 Aug;2(8):891-7.
- [11] Kennelty KA, Chewning B, Wise M, Kind A, Roberts T, Kreling D. Barriers and facilitators of medication reconciliation processes for recently discharged patients from community pharmacists' perspectives. Research in Social & Administrative Pharmacy: RSAP. 2015 Jul-Aug;11(4):517-30.
- [12] Costantino C, Ricciardi A, Pennacchietti L, Guaccero A, Di Gregori V, Marcantoni C, Battaglia A, D'asta M, Micò R, Biafore A, Capasso L, Russo MR, Pasqua C, Mallamace NR, Nobile M, Ferretti V, La Maestra G, Shilpi S, Romani G, Licitra G, Palladino R, Passaro M, Pelullo P, Boemo D, Montante A, Parisi S, Manotti P, Odone A, Campanella F, Rossi L, Bernardini I, De Simone B, Poscia A, Sanasi S, Rinaldi A, Gilardi F, Azzolini E, D'Ippolito E, Baldini C, Gobbo S. Percezione della importanza della vaccinazione antinfluenzale tra gli specializzandi in Igiene e Medicina Preventiva Italiani. Studio conoscitivo della Consulta dei Medici in Formazione Specialistica della S.It.I. Ann Ig 2013;25 (Suppl. 1):421-7.
- [13] Ministero della Salute. Vaccinazione antinfluenzale in Italia: coperture vaccinali negli anziani (età >= 65 anni) (per 100 abitanti) Stagioni 2000-2001/2015-2016; 2016.
- [14] Istituto Superiore di Sanità. InfluNet. 2013 Available at: http:// www.iss.it/iflu.
- [15] Pariani E, Amendola A, Piatti A, Anselmi G, Ranghiero A, Bubba L, Rosa AM, Pellegrinelli L, Binda S, Coppola L, Gramegna M, Zanetti A. Ten years (2004-2014) of influenza surveillance in Northern Italy. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2015;11(1):198-205.
- [16] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Influenza vaccination and self-reported reasons for not receiving influenza vaccination among Medicare beneficiaries aged > or =65 years--United States, 1991-2002. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2004 Nov 05;53(43):1012-5.
- [17] HarrisInteractive. Number of 'cyberchondriacs' adults going online for health information - has plateaued or declined. Available at: http://www.harrisinteractive.com/news/newsletters/ healthnews/HI_HealthCareNews2008Vol8_Iss8.pdf Accessed on 30 March 2010.
- [18] Fox Susannah. The Social Life of Health Information, 2011. Washington, D.C.; 2011 May 12, 2011.
- [19] Hesse BW, Nelson DE, Kreps GL, Croyle RT, Arora NK, Rimer BK, Viswanath K. Trust and sources of health information: the impact of the Internet and its implications for health care providers: findings from the first Health Information National Trends Survey. Arch Intern Med. 2005 Dec 12-26;165(22):2618-24.
- [20] Johnson DR, Nichol KL, Lipczynski K. Barriers to adult immunization. The American journal of medicine. 2008 Jul;121(7 Suppl 2):S28-35.
- [21] Szilagyi PG, Shone LP, Barth R, Kouides RW, Long C, Humiston SG, Jennings J, Bennett NM. Physician practices and attitudes regarding adult immunizations. Preve Med 2005 Feb;40(2):152-61.
- [22] Hakim H, Gaur AH, McCullers JA. Motivating factors for high rates of influenza vaccination among healthcare workers. Vaccine 2011 Aug 11;29(35):5963-9.
- [23] Hollmeyer H, Hayden F, Mounts A, Buchholz U. Review: interventions to increase influenza vaccination among healthcare

workers in hospitals. Influenza and other respiratory viruses. 2013 Jul;7(4):604-21.

- [24] McCullers JA, Speck KM, Williams BF, Liang H, Mirro J, Jr. Increased influenza vaccination of healthcare workers at a pediatric cancer hospital: results of a comprehensive influenza vaccination campaign. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2006 Jan;27(1):77-9.
- [25] Kesse-Guyot E, Assmann K, Andreeva V, Castetbon K, Mejean C, Touvier M, Salanave B, Deschamps V, Peneau S, Fezeu L, Julia C, Alles B, Galan P, Hercberg S. Lessons learned from methodological validation research in E-Epidemiology. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2016 Oct 18;2(2):e160.

- Received on July 8, 2017. Accepted on December 15, 2017.
- Correspondence: Vincenza Gianfredi, Graduate School of Hygiene and Preventive Medicine, Department of Experimental Medicine, University of Perugia, via del Giochetto, 06122 Perugia, Italy. E-mail: vincenza.gianfredi@studenti.unipg.it

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Perceived barriers to breast cancer screening among Saudi women at primary care setting

S.B. ABDEL-AZIZ¹, T. TAWFIK AMIN¹, M. BAQIR AL-GADEEB², A.I. ALHASSAR², A. AL-RAMADAN², M. AL-HELAL², M. BU-MEJDAD², L. ABDULAZIZ AL-HAMAD³, E. HUSSAIN ALKHALAF³

¹ Public Health and Community Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Cairo University, Egypt; ² College of Medicine, King Faisal University, Saudi Arabia; ³ Health Directorate, Saudi Arabia

Keywords

Breast cancer • Cancer screening • Perceived barriers • Primary Care • Saudi Arabia

Summary

Introduction. Screening for breast cancer (BC) is of low rate in Saudi Arabia; although it is provided in the country free of charge to the population. This cross-sectional study aimed at investigating the perceived barriers towards BC screening in Al Hassa, Saudi Arabia. **Participants and methods**. A total of 816 adult Saudi women aged \geq 30 years attending for routine primary health services or accompanying patients at the selected primary health care centers (PHCs) were randomly selected from 12 PHCs (8 urban and four rural) using multi-stage sampling method. Participants were invited to personal interview using semi-structured data collection instrument including inquiries about socio-demographics, reproductive history, previous histories of diagnosed breast lesions and breast cancer. The perceived individual barriers towards screening, their attitudes, the reasons for not attending previously held screening campaigns in Al Hassa, were also included.

Introduction

Breast cancer (BC) is a public health problem globally, and it became the most common cancer among women contributing to a substantial death toll among them worldwide [1].

BC is the most common type of cancer among Saudi females and accounted for more than 25% of all newly diagnosed cancer [2]. It has been estimated that BC is the ninth leading cause of death among females in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (KSA) year 2010 [3]. The incidence of BC is expected to increase over the coming decades in Saudi Arabia due to the population's growth and aging [4].

In KSA mammography has been introduced prior to 2002 [5]. In 2007, a nationwide BC screening center was constructed in Riyadh, and 1,215 were screened in the first year [6]. Another regional mammography screening program, targeted women 35-60 years old, was conducted in 2007 in Al Qasim, and preceded by an awareness campaign [7]. Although mammography has been available in all regions of KSA since 2005, the national Saudi Health Interview Survey (SHIS) 2015, had reported a very low rate of breast cancer screening (BCS) where out of 10,735 participants, 1,135 were 50

Results. Low utilization of BC screening being significantly positively associated with woman's age, higher educational status, higher family income, using hormonal contraception and positive history of previous breast as shown by the results of the logistic regression model. Exploratory factor analysis showed that personal fears (especially fear of doctors/examiners, fear of hospitals and health facilities and fear of consequences/results) were the major factors that hinder women from utilizing the free of charge BC screening with high loading eigenvalue of 3.335, explaining 30.4% of the barriers.

Conclusions. Educational interventions aim at improving breast cancer knowledge and addressing barriers should be incorporated as core component of the screening program in Saudi Arabia.

years or older women, 89% of them reported not having a clinical breast examination (CBE) and 92% never had mammogram in the past year [8].

Early detection of BC plays a crucial role in reducing both its morbidity and mortality. Both mammography and CBE are screening methods for early detection of BC [9]. It has been reported that mammographic screening reduces BC mortality by 23% (Wang et al., 2014). Despite the effectiveness of BCS in reducing mortality, low uptake rates have been reported among Arab women [10].

Many barriers to BCS with the underutilization of services have been studied worldwide [11]. Factors affecting screening compliance can be grouped into patient, health care system, provider, and policy factors [12]. Barriers to access to health services, incomplete information, difficulties in infrastructure, socioeconomic, ethnic and geographical conditions are some of the factors affecting behavior toward screening [13].

In Saudi Arabia, a significant number of women were presented with the advanced stages of disease due to lack of information, knowledge and awareness of early detection measures [14]. It is still unclear with scarcity of literature about the possible predictors responsible for the late presentation of BC among Saudi women despite the availability of free of charge screening program. Barriers and facilitators that influence women's BCS practices need to be examined in order to effectively promoting BCS programs [5].

Needless to mention the pivotal role of health care providers posted at primary health care centers (PHCs) in promoting the screening programs [15] as they have a major role in screening practice due to their frequent encounter with large population groups.

The objective of this study was to define the perceived personal barriers to BCS among Saudi women aged 30 years or more years and attending the primary care facilities (PHCs) in Al Hassa, Saudi Arabia. Findings from this study can help in formulating and tailoring culturally sensitive educational and other relevant interventions for women in Saudi Arabia in order to promote the uptake of breast cancer screening.

Subjects and methods

SETTING AND DESIGN

A cross-sectional study that was carried out in Al Hassa Governorate, located in Eastern Province of Saudi Arabia; 50 km from the Arabian Gulf, 450 km from the capital Riyadh, and populated by about 1.5 million. Al Hassa is comprised of three regions; urban, populated by about 60% of the total population, rural consisting of 23 villages (35% of the population) and "Hegar" Bedouin scattered communities making up the remaining 5%. The Ministry of Health provides primary care through 54 PHCs, while the rest of the population are provided with similar services through other sectors e.g., National Guard, ARAMCO (oil company), military and others.

PARTICIPANTS AND METHODS

Population and sampling

Adult Saudi women aged ≥ 30 years attending primary health care centers in both urban and rural areas in Al Hassa were targeted for inclusion and they were constituted around 350,000 registered at the PHCs for year 2013 as reported by the local health directorate.

Sample size

Epi-Info TM version 3.5.3, year 2008 (CDC, Atlanta, GA, U.S.A) [16] was used to calculate the sample size. Assuming the percentage with perceived barriers towards screening among Saudi women (aged \geq 30 years) of 50%, with a precision of \pm 5%, employing a 95% confidence interval, 80% power, and with a design effect of 2.0, the minimal sample size required was accounted for 768 participants. Adding 20% to compensate for potential non-response, the final total sample size was estimated to be 925 women.

Sampling method

An updated list of all primary care centers in Al Hassa distributed by districts from which eight primary health care centers were randomly selected from urban areas (Hofuf and Mubaraz four for each) and four from rural areas (from 15 centers serving the major villages), (PHCs at Hegar 'Bedouin' were excluded due to transportation problem). All Saudis women aged \geq 30 years or more, attending for routine services at the selected PHCs during the period from January 13th 2015 to July 2nd 2015 were invited to participate through personal approach after receiving proper orientation. Of 1013 women personally approached, 923 agreed to participate.

Data collection

Women agreed to participate were invited to personal interview using semi-structured data collection instrument, the interviews were conducted by trained investigators with medical bachelor degrees. Each woman was interviewed on solicited base in a separate room or clinic within each PHC at the conclusion of their visits. The following information was gathered during the interview:

Socio-demographic and reproductive history: age in years, residence, educational and employment status, marital status, age at marriage, age at first birth, number of living children, intake and duration of hormonal contraception, age at menarche, and age at menopause (if any).

History of previous breast lesions: personal and family history of any breast lesions, their nature and age at diagnosis.

Previous history of breast cancer screening: methods, reasons, who recommended, age at screening and the results (if any).

Ever heard about the previously held breast cancer campaigns in Al Hassa, year 2010, and 2012 respectively, reasons of attendance and reasons for non-attending such campaigns.

Attitudes towards breast cancer screening: three close ended questions (responses ranged from strongly agree, agree, not sure, disagree and strongly disagree) were used to assess their attitudes towards breast cancer screening including:

Early detection of breast cancer is necessary for prevention of complications and mortality.

I am seriously planning to go for breast cancer screening in the near future.

I will go for mammography if it is free, available and comfortable and in the presence of female providers.

Perceived personal barriers to breast cancer screening: possible barriers to breast cancer screening including both clinical breast examination and mammography were evolved from the available literature [8, 17], expert opinions and the results of pilot study. For each barrier multiple options were provided in the form of yes, no and not sure with instructions to the participants to choose all the possible barriers they perceived. Openended questions were provided to include the other possible barriers beyond the previously mentioned.

Pilot testing

The provisional data collection form was tested on 41 Saudi women attended for primary health services at a nearby primary center beyond the sample size with the following objectives:

Training on conducting personal interview.

Clarity and Comprehension of the terms and questions. Absence of ambiguity (if any).

The perceived barriers were initially formulated and listed from the available literature and expert opinions; further addition of the possible barriers was considered after pilot testing.

Data analysis

Of the 923 Saudi women agreed to participate, 56 refused to give responses on items related to their screening history, and another 51 women did not complete the interview, 816 interview sessions were eligible for final analysis with a response rate of 88.4%. There were no difference in relation to the socio-demographics and other characteristics between those responded and the non-respondents. Data analysis was carried out using SPSS 21.0 (SPSS Inc, IBM, U.S.A). For categorical data, frequency, proportions and percentage were used for reporting, Chi square and Fisher Exact were used for comparison. For continuous data; mean, standard deviation, and median were used, ttest, and Mann Whitney tests were used for comparison. Logistic regression model was generated to determine possible predictors for the uptake of breast cancer screening (dependent variable) by inclusion of significant independent variables revealed at univariate analysis reporting Odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals. P value of \leq 0.05 was considered significant.

Exploratory factor analysis

Principal components analysis with an orthogonal (Varimax) rotation was used to identify the factors underlying the different perceived barriers to the uptake of breast cancer screening among the sampled Saudi women. Eigenvalue of 1 was used for factor inclusion with examination of scree plots to confirm appropriate number of possible factors. The criteria used for item elimination to maintain simple structure included were the primary factor loading below 0.4 and/ or the presence of cross-loading [18]. Following the process of items elimination, the remaining items were included in the factor analysis with examination of their loadings. The retained factors were assessed for reliability using Cronbach's alpha as a measure of internal consistency [19]. The factorability of the included barriers (n = 24) was examined at the outset of the analysis. Criteria [20] employed to determine the factorability of the correlation included: the result of the intercorrelation matrix which showed that 16 (out of 24 items) were correlated (correlation coefficient r = 0.35 with at least one item) suggested reasonable factorability. In addition to the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin measure of sampling adequacy (0.763) which was above the commonly recommended value of 0.6, with significant the Bartlett's test of Sphericity (Chi square = 855.35, P = 0.001), confirming that each item

shared some common variance with other items. Based on the above indicators, principal component analysis was warranted suitable for these 16 items.

.....

The encountered barriers were categorized into the following types:

Personal including: fears of hospitals and health facilities, fears of screening consequences, feeling uneasy (distressed when come close to health providers, breast cancer is not a serious disease, previous bad experience with screening, fears of physicians and health care providers, screening for breast cancer is painful, and lack of time).

Cultural-social barriers including: it is unacceptable touching my breasts, embarrassing to tell people (family and relatives) about it, bad impression about what others might think about it, stigma following the diagnosis, breast examination is considered a taboo by the community and I might feel ashamed to uncover my breasts for examination or mammography.

Health facilities-service barriers including: breast cancer awareness program is deficient, lack of trust in health providers, physician and providers conducting screening are not adequately trained, health facilities offer screening are far with transportation problems, health providers can't conduct clinical breast examination properly, lack of specialized clinics, cost of screening, and it is not right to be examined by male physician or provider.

ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Permissions were obtained from the local Health Authorities and our institution. Participants were provided with full explanation of the study with the emphasis on their right of not to participate. Informed consent forms were obtained and data confidentiality was maintained all though

Results

Socio-demographic characteristics and previous history of breast cancer screening of the study participants were shown in Table I. Mean age of the study sample was 43.8 ± 6.6 years, nearly half of them (52.3%) were of the age category between 40 - < 50 years, 63.6% were urban. Almost sixty percent had secondary school education or more, 56.1% were housewives, 82.4% were married, out of those having children (n = 558), 48% had more than 4 children, 47.2% had family income ranged from 6000- < 10000 (monthly in Saudi Riyals). Only 7.4% had a previous history of benign breast lesions, 18.9% mentioned having relatives with breast cancer. Out of the total (n = 816), only 16.2% (n = 132) had been ever screened for breast cancer. Among those previously screened (n = 132), methods used for screening was both Mammography and CBE, 46% out of them mentioned that they were advised by the health care providers for screening. The results of univariate analysis to define the independent variables associated with women's screening status showed that living in the urban region (Odds ratio 'OR' = 1.51; 95% confidence intervals 'CI' = 1.01-2.71; P = 0.047), those aged ≥ 50 years (OR = 2.55; 95% CI = 1.71-3.83; P = 0.0001), having college education or more (OR = 2.98; 95% CI = 2.05-4.34; P = 0.0001), with monthly family income ≥10000 Saudi Riyals (OR = 1.96; 95% CI = 1.31-2.93; P = 0.009), ever used hormonal contraception (OR = 1.46; 95% CI = 0.99-2.13; P = 0.050) and women previously complained of benign breast lesions (OR = 12.16; 95% CI = 6.89-21.46; P =†0.0001) had higher likelihood of being screened for BC. Whereas working, marital status and history of breast cancer among relatives/family members were not significantly associated with BCS (Tab. I).

The logistic regression model showed that women's age (≥ 50 years), having college education or more, with monthly family income ≥ 10000 Saudi Riyals and having a previous benign breast lesions were the significant positive predictors for the uptake of screening among the included women (Tab. II).

Perceived barriers towards BCS are demonstrated in Table III. Barriers mentioned by women who never screened included efficiency of the health care providers due to lack of training (HCPs), their ability to conduct CBE, they aren't trusted and use scary tools and painful maneuvers.

.....

Tab. I. Socio-demographics, previous screening for breast cancer of the included participants (N = 816).

Characteristics	Number	%
Age in years (mean ± SD)	43.8 ± 6.6	
Age groups categories		
30 < 40	216	26.5
40 < 50	427	52.3
≥ 50	173	21.2
Residence		
Urban	519	63.6
Rural	297	36.4
Educational status		
Illiterate/read & write	54	6.6
Primary/preparatory	194	23.8
Secondary	262	32.1
College or higher	306	37.5
Working status		
Employed	178	21.8
Unemployed but able to work	120	14.7
Housewives	458	56.1
Students	48	5.9
Retired	12	1.5
Marital status		
Married	672	82.4
Single	126	15.4
Divorced/widowed	18	2.2
Number of children: (n = 558)		
< 4	290	52.0
≥ 4	268	48.0
Family income: (monthly in Saudi Riyals)		
< 6000	243	29.8
6000-< 10000	385	47.2
≥ 10000	188	23.0
Had a benign breast lesions	60	7.4
History of breast cancer among relatives/family	154	18.9
Ever screened for breast cancer	132	16.2
Methods used for screening	18/132	2.2
Mammography	18/132	2.2
Clinical Breast examination	54/132	6.6
Both	56/132	6.9
Screening advised by		
Self	52/132	6.4
Family/friends/relatives	34/132	4.2
Health care providers	46/132	5.6
SD = standard deviation.		

Tab. II. Predictors of breast canc	er screening a	imong the inc	luded women (N = 816)			
	Ever had b	reast cance	r screening (clinical l	oreast exa	mination and mar	nmography): no. (%)
Independent variables		Univa	raite analysis	Multivariate logistic regression analysis		
	Yes (N = 132)	Yes Never Odds ratio P va (N = 132) (N = 684) (95% C.I)		P value	Odd ratio (95% C.I)	P value
Residence						
Rural	38 (28.8)	259 (37.9)	Reference		Reference	
Urban	94 (71.2)	425 (62.1)	1.51 (1.01-2.71)	0.047	1.12 (0.73-1.71)	0.606
Age groups in years						
30-< 40	25 (18.9)	191 (27.9)	Reference		Reference	
40-< 50	59 (44.7)	368 (53.8)	0.69 (0.47-1.01)	0.055	0.67 (0.44-1.01)	0.812
> 50	48 (36.4)	125 (18.3)	2.55 (1.71-3.83)	0.0001	2.82 (1.77-4.51)	0.009
Educational status						
≤ Secondary	58 (43.9)	452 (66.1)	Reference		Reference	
College or higher	74 (56.1)	232 (33.9)	2.98 (2.05-4.34)	0.0001	2.81 (1.99-3.97)	0.001
Working status						
Yes	30 (22.7)	148 (21.6)	1.06 (0.68-1.67)	0.781		
No	102 (77.3)	536 (78.4)	Reference			
Marital status						
Single	20 (15.2)	106 (15.5)	Reference			
Married	106 (80.3)	566 (82.7)	0.85 (0.53-1.36)	0.499		
Divorced/widowed	6 (4.5)	12 (1.8)	2.66(0.80-7.83)	0.093		
Family income is Riyals						
< 6000	21 (15.9)	222 (32.5)	Reference		Reference	
6000-< 10,000	66 (50.0)	319 (46.6)	1.14 (0.79-1.66)	0.478	1.03 (0.70-1.53)	0.661
≥ 10000	45 (34.1)	143 (20.9)	1.96 (1.31-2.93)	0.009	1.79 (1.28-2.50)	0.023
Use hormonal contraception						
Yes	56 (42.4)	228 (33.3)	1.46(0.99-2.13)	0.050		
Never	76 (57.6)	452 (66.7)	Reference			
Previous benign breast lesions						
Yes	38 (28.8)	22 (3.2)	12.16 (6.89-21.46)	0.0001	15.90 (8.57-29.52)	0.0001
Never	94 (71.2)	662 (96.8)	Reference		Reference	
Breast cancer family and relatives						
Yes	32 (24.2)	122 (17.8)	1.47 (0.94-2.29)	0.852		
No	100 (75.8)	562 (82.2)	Reference			

C.I. = Confidence Intervals; % predicted for the logistic regression model was 82.8%, Hosmer-Lemeshow Chi-Square test = 7.225, P = 0.513.

Barriers mentioned also difficulty to communicate with foreign physicians and it is not right to be examined by male physician or provider. Of those women never screened 29.2% considered people's thoughts, 28.9% complained of transportation problems and 21.1% with perceived fears from hospitals and health care facilities. Significantly encountered barriers perceived by those never screened were stigma following the diagnosis of cancer (P = 0.010), shyness (P = 0.020), lack of specialized clinics (P = 0.002), being busy with lack of time for screening (P = 0.001) and being an expensive procedure (P = 0.013). Fear of consequences (P = 0.050) and previous bad experience with HCPs (P = 0.009) were significant perceived barriers among those ever screened. Lack of awareness program was mentioned as a possible barrier more by women who ever screened compared to those never screened (36.4% vs. 30.7%), BC isn't dangerous (6.1% vs. 0.9%), breast screening (mammogram) and ex-

amination are painful (33.3% vs. 1.5%) and being a taboo as viewed by the community (6.1% vs. 2.3%) (Tab. III). Exploratory factor analysis: The three components model explained 75.7% of the variation in the perceived barriers towards BCS among the included Saudi women. A predefined barrier was considered as being loaded on a specific component when its absolute factor loading was < 4. Exploratory factor analysis with three factors solution showed that personal fears (especially fear of consequences/results and fear of hospitals and health facilities) was the major factor that hinder BCS with high loading eigenvalue of 3.335, explaining 30.4% of the barriers of the included sample toward utilization of BCS. The second factor with high eigenvalue of 2.778, and explaining 25.3% of the barriers to BCS was related to cultural and community barriers, including items related to shyness from been uncovered or touched by others, embarrassing from telling people about their disease or to be examined by male physician, the third factor included health care related barriers mainly difficult in communication with foreign providers, deficiency in awareness programs and lack of specialized clinics (Tab. IV).

The stated reasons for not attending the previously held BCS campaigns included that screening is only for those aged ≥ 50 years (41.7%), not interested (26%), transportation problems (20.1%) and fear of diagnosis results (17.6%) (Tab. V). Attitudes towards breast cancer screening among the participants in relation to their screening status showed that the majority of those not screened before (99.4 %) agreed that early breast can-

cer detection is the cornerstone for its prevention, 86.5% 10(7.6) were seriously planning to have breast cancer screening in the near future, and 80.4% of them willing to go for mammography if it is free, painless, and the examiner is a female provider (Tab. VI).

Discussion

The results of this study showed that women in Saudi Arabia perceived several types of barriers toward BCS, only 16.2% of the studied participants were ever

.....

Tab. III. Barriers towards breast cancer screening as perceived by participants according to their screening status (N = 816).

Barriers *	Total (N = 816)	Ever screened (N = 132)	Never screened (N = 684)	P value **
	N. (%)	N. (%)	N. (%)	
1. Unacceptable touching to my body	116(14.2)	14(10.6)	102(14.9)	0.194
2. Embarrassing to tell people about	92(11.3)	14(10.6)	78(11.4)	0.790
3. No idea about what other people think	224(27.5)	24(18.2)	200(29.2)	0.791
4. Stigma following the diagnosis of cancer	22(2.7)	2(1.5)	20(2.9)	0.010 [!]
5. Taboo as viewed by the community	24(2.9)	8(6.1)	16(2.3)	0.563
6. Ashamed-shy to uncover my breasts	112(13.7)	14(10.6)	98(14.3)	0.020
7. Fear of hospitals and health facilities	162(19.9)	18(13.6)	144(21.1)	0.256
8. Fear of consequences	276(33.8)	54(40.9)	222(32.5)	0.050
9. Felt uneasy-distressed when come close to HCPs	46(5.6)	8(6.1)	38(5.6)	0.060
10. Breast cancer is not dangerous	14(1.7)	8(6.1)	6(0.9)	0.947
11. Previous bad experience with HCPs	14(1.7)	3(2.3)	11(1.6)	0.009 [!]
12. Fear of physicians and examiners	92(11.3)	10(7.6)	82(12.0)	0.154
13. Breast screening (mammogram) and examination are painful	54(6.6)	44(33.3)	10(1.5)	0.590
14. Busy, no time to do it	220(27.0)	30(22.7)	190(27.8)	0.001
15. Awareness program are deficient	258(31.6)	48(36.4)	210(30.7)	0.231
HCPs = health care providers: * Not mutually exclusive: ** Chi-square test for ind	enendence [,] ! Fishe	Pr Exact		

HCPs = health care providers; * Not mutually exclusive; ** Chi-square test for independence; ! Fisher Exact.

Tab. IV. Summary of items and factor loadings for three Factor solution for the perceived barriers to breast cancer screening among the included Saudi women

	Factor loadings **								
	1	2	3	Communality					
Barriers to breast cancer screening*	Personal fears	Cultural and	Health care						
		community	related barriers						
		barriers							
Fear of doctors/examiners	0.787			0.738					
Fear of hospitals and health facilities	0.855			0.656					
Fear of consequences/results	0.868			0.686					
Ashamed/shay to uncover your breast		0.745		0.795					
Unacceptable touching to my body		0.793		0.775					
Embarrassing to tell people about		0.656		0.528					
It is not right to be examined by male physician		0.653		0.627					
HCPs are not trustworthy			0.486	0.551					
Not easy to communicate with foreign providers			0.713	0.727					
Awareness programs are deficient			0.685	0.551					
Lack of specialized clinics			0.662	0.598					
HCPs are not competent			0.455	0.603					
Cronbach's alpha	0.731	0.651	0.503						
Eigenvalue	3.335	2.778	1.911						
% variance explained	30.39	25.25	20.06						

* Not mutually exclusive; ** Principal Component Analysis, Varimax with Kaiser Normalization, Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin for sample adequacy = 0.763, Bartlett's test for sphericity; Chi = 855.35, P = 0.001.

screened for BC in a country where health services are provided free of charge to the population.

Despite the effectiveness of BCS behaviors in reducing mortality [10], finding of this study and others that have been published on BCS practices in Saudi Arabia [5, 6, 8, 21] reported that the pattern of utilization of BCS was low compared to other studies in both developing and developed countries [23, 24].

Findings from the current study as well as Patel et al. [25] indicated the associations between socio-demographic characteristics and BCS behavior. Average age at presentation of BC in Arab countries is 48 years, which is a decade earlier than in the Western countries [26]. The role of age is controversial, finding of the present study coincided with those reported from Villanueva et al., where old age was a significant predictor for BCS [23], in contrast Abolfotouh et al., reported a negative association between age and screening behavior in their study [17].

In the current study, the educational level of women emerged as a significant determining factor for screening uptake. This finding was in agreement with other studies [24, 27] but inconsistent with Agboola et al. [28]. The results of this study as well others [25, 29] found that study participants with low annual household incomes were less likely to have a mammogram compared to those with higher incomes. Our study also showed that women with previous history of breast lesion are more likely to perform screening more frequently, and this was in agreement with other studies from both developed and developing countries [17, 30].

In the present study, personal fears were the main barriers for not practicing BCS; fear of doctors/physicians, fear of consequences/results, fear of hospitals and health facilities are explaining 30.4% of the barriers among the included women towards utilizing screening services as depicted by the results of exploratory factor analysis. These findings are in agreement with the results of previous studies [17, 31]. Of the included women in this study, the significant screening barriers perceived on the part of providers were lack of trust, perceived inadequacy of their training, their ability to conduct CBE and being foreign/male physicians as mentioned by participants, consistently Engelman, Filippi and Khazaeepoo [32-34] reported the similar findings.

Tab. V. Stated reasons for not attending the last breast cancer screening campaign (N = 816).

Reasons *	Number	%
Busy with no time to attend	122	15.0
Not interested	212	26.0
Crowded places for the campaign	52	6.4
Distance-transportation problems	164	20.1
Not needed for my age (it is for those aged 50 or above)	340	41.7
Inconvenient time/place	24	2.9
Fear of the results	144	17.6
Personal/family issues	64	7.8
Do not know where about	48	5.9
Already screened	132	16.2
Sickness/pregnancy	24	2.9

Tab. VI. Attitudes towards breast cancer screening among th	ne participants in relat	tion to their screening	status (N = 816).	
Items	Total Screening for breast cance N (%) N (%)		breast cancer: (%)	P value *
		Yes (N = 132)	None (N = 684)]
Early breast cancer detection is the cornerstone for its prevention:				
Agree	812 (99.5)	132 (100.0)	680 (99.4)	0.378
Disagree	4 (0.5)	0	4 (0.6)	
I am seriously planning to have breast cancer screening in the near future:				
Agree	714 (87.5)	122 (92.4)	592 (86.5)	0.227
Disagree	84 (12.5)	10 (7.6)	74 (13.5)	
I will go for mammography if it is free, painless, and the examiner is a female provider				
Agree	644 (81.1)	94 (71.2)	550 (80.4)	0.005
Disagree	150 (18.9)	36 (28.8	114 (19.6)	

* Chi square for independent samples.

Saudi women are more likely to shy away from preventive medical exams resembling breast examination. All clinics in Saudi Arabia have a female section that is operated by female physicians; however the uptake of screening services showed low rates, El Bcheraoui et al. [8], Amin et al. [21] and Tavafian et al. [35] foundthat traditions, mainly shyness and not wanting to be examined by a male physician were some of the barriers for not seeking CBE. Preparing environmental conditions and proper messages about the availability of screening carried out by female physicians may ease the women's embarrassment and overcome the shyness issue during breast screening for better program uptake.

Saudi women in this study reported that cultural beliefs and the social stigma of cancer limit their participation in BCS. Similar findings have been revealed by several investigators in different cultures [36, 37]. The social stigma of cancer revolved around a misunderstanding of cancer, a fear that BC screening practice would lead to getting the disease, and bring shame to the family [38]. Clinicians should be aware of the culture, traditions, beliefs and practices in different communities and the influence of these factors on their conclusion to contribute in BCS. The health care related barriers reported by participants in the current study included the lack of awareness program, lack of specialized clinics and incompetency of the health care providers, all should be considered both by managers and health professionals in the planning and organization of primary health care education programs. These barriers create not only delays in diagnosis but also in the treatment implementation [39, 40].

Women empowerment is a crucial and necessary component for improving woman's health. Unfortunately, most information on breast screening comes from screening campaigns. Although these campaigns are currently widespread in Saudi Arabia, the knowledge about the disease and the existence of this campaigns is still very low among women [41]. Advances in technology and messaging should be used to reach women everywhere. Moreover, awareness campaigns based solely on marketing are not enough to produce mass screening and increase mammography in other Middle Eastern countries [42]. Women should be involved and given a voice to gather other around health and society issues to reduce the burden of disease.

It has been reported that breast carcinoma occurs in relatively younger age groups among Saudi patients than in Western patients [26, 43]. This could be due to the demographic characteristic of the Saudi population, which is characterized by a dominance of a younger population (more than 60% of the population is under 18 years) [44]. Despite of this fact, being young and aged less than 50 years was one of the reasons mentioned by the study participants for not attending the last breast cancer screening campaigns in Al Hassa, year 2010, and *2012* respectively [45], this was also mentioned by Elobaid et al. in their study [24]. The American Cancer Society recommends that women get a mammogram and CBE yearly after the age of 40 years [46].

Many women in this study and others [25, 34] did not perceive that BC screening as a health priority, 15% of the studied women mentioned that they were too busy to attend the last breast cancer screening campaign [45] and 26% were not interested. This can be partially explained by their lower perception for being at risk for BC, the daily life norms, high responsibilities towards their families and lack of time to attend BCS campaigns. It has been reported that the multi-responsibilities of working women and shortage of time forced the working women to postpone their own affairs for the sake of other family members [47], although this was not similar to our case as the majority of the studied women were not working. The results of our study are consistent to those reported by Patel et al. [25] who found that women reported several reasons for not attending BCS campaigns; some issues related to transportation, lack of information about where to go for screening, and fear of having the diagnosis of cancer. However promising attitude toward screening have been noticed among studied participants, they agreed that, early breast cancer detection is the cornerstone for its prevention, seriously planning to have breast cancer screening in the near future and willing for mammography if it is free, painless, and the examiner is a female provider.

In conclusion, the screening rate for breast cancer among women in Al Hassa, Saudi Arabia is low, the most commonly perceived barriers to BC screening included personal fears, the main barriers for not practicing BCS; fear of doctors/physicians, fear of consequences/results, fear of hospitals and health facilities. Such fears should be addressed during launching and implementing BC screening programs, community based awareness plans and intensive educational campaign for women based on socio-cultural contexts and culturally sensitive educational materials targeting their influences and stressing the importance of early detection benefits needed to be developed in Saudi Arabia to promote breast cancer screening.

Study limitations

The results of this study can viewed in the presence of the following limitations: Results of the study cannot be generalized as the study included women from Al Hassa, not from all Saudi Arabia regions. The design is a cross-sectional study design with the possibilities of recall-bias, social desirability and interviewer bias. Lack of qualitative component with more in depth elaboration of personally perceived barriers especially the psychological and socio-cultural.

Acknowledgments

The study was supported by the Ministry of Health, PHC centers in Al Hassa Governorate. There are no conflicts of interest or support from granting agencies for this project.

Authors' contributions

TTA conceived, designed and coordinated the research, MBA-G and AIA collected data, AA-R performed the data quality control, MA-H and MB-M optimized the informatics database, LBA-H and EHA performed the statistical analyses, SBA-A evaluated the results and wrote the manuscript. All Authors revised the manuscript and gave their contribution to improve the paper. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

References

- Radi SM. Breast cancer awareness among Saudi females in Jeddah. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2013;14:4307-12.
- [2] Al-Eid H. Cancer Incidence Report, in Saudi Cancer Registry, Bazarbashi S, Editor. Ministry of Health: Kingdom Saudi Arabia (2014). Accessed at http://www.chs.gov.sa/Ar/ mediacenter/ NewsLetter/2010,Report(1).pdf
- [3] Mokdad AH, Jaber S, Aziz MIA, AlBuhairan F, AlGhaithi A, AlHamad NM. The state of health in the Arab world, 1990 2010: An analysis of the burden of diseases, injuries, and risk factors. Lancet 2014;383:309-20.
- [4] Ibrahim EM, Zeeneldin AA, Sadiq BB, Ezzat AA. The present and the future of breast cancer burden in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Med Oncol 2008;25:387-93.
- [5] Alkhenizan A, Hussain A, Alsayed A. The sensitivity and specificity of screening mammography in primary care setting in Saudi Arabia. J Clin Oncol 2013;(15):31. Available at: http://meetinglibrary.asco.org/ content/117368-132. [Accessed 08/08/2016].
- [6] Abulkhair OA, Al tahan FM, Young Se, Musaad SM, Jazieh A-RM. The first national public breast cancer screening program in Saudi Arabia. Ann Saudi Med 2010;30:350-7.
- [7] Akhtar SS, nadrah HM, Al-Habdan MA, El Gabbani SA, El Farouk GMK, Abdelgadir MH. First organized screening mammography programme in Saudi Arabia: preliminary analysis of pilot round. East Mediterr Health J 2010;16:1025-31.
- [8] El Bcheraoui C, Basulaiman M, Wilson S, Daoud F, Tuffaha M, AlMazroa MA, Memish ZA, Al Saeedi M, Mokdad AH. Breast Cancer Screening in Saudi Arabia: Free but Almost No Takers. PLoS One 2015;10:e0119051.
- [9] Allen TL, Van Groningen BJ, Barksdale DJ, McCarthy R. The breast self-examination controversy: what providers and patients should know. J Nurse Pract 2010;6:444-51.
- [10] Keten HS, Yıldırım F, Ölmez S, Üçer H and Çelik M. Knowledge, attitudes and behavior about breast cancer in women presenting to Early Cancer Diagnosis, Screening and Education Centre in Kahramanmaraş, Turkey. Gaziantep Medical Journal 2014;20:212-6.
- [11] World Health Statistics. Available at: http:// www.who.int/whosis/whostat/EN_WHS08_Full.pdf Accessed [15/02/2016].
- [12] Gimeno Garcia AZ. Factors influencing colorectal cancer screening participation. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2012;483417.
- [13] Nigenda G, Caballero M and González-Robledo ML. Access barriers in early diagnosis of breast cancer in the Federal District and Oaxaca. Salud Pública Méx 2009;51:254-62.
- [14] Mahfouz AA, Hassanein MH, Nahar S, Farheen A, Gaballah II, Mohamed A, Rabie FA and Aftab R. Breast cancer knowledge and related behaviors among women in Abha city, southwestern Saudi Arabia. J Cancer Educ 2013;28:516-20.
- [15] Demyati E. Knowledge, attitude, practice, and perceived barriers of colorectal cancer screening among family physicians in National Guard Health Affairs, Riyadh. Int J Family Med 2014;457354.
- [16] CDC Epi Info About Epi Info. CDC. Retrieved 2009-02-02.

......

[17] Abolfotouh MA, BaniMustafa AA, Mahfouz AA, Al-Assiri MH, Al-Juhani AF, Alaskar AS. Using the health belief model to predict breast self examination among Saudi women. BMC Public Health 2015;15:1163.

- [18] Kim J, Mueller C. Factor analysis: statistical methods and practical issues. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications;1978.
- [19] Cronbach LJ. Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. Psychometrika 1951;16,297-334.
- [20] Hair JFJ, Anderson RE, Tatham RL, Black WC. Multivariate data analysis. 5th ed. Prentice Hall: Upper Saddle River, NJ 1998.
- [21] Amin TT, Al Mulhim ARS, Al Meqihwi A. Breast cancer knowledge, risk factors and screening among adult Saudi women in a primary health care setting. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2009;AP-JCP,10:133-8.
- [22] Parsa P, Kandiah M, Mohd Zulkefli NA, Abdul Rahman H. Knowledge and behavior regarding breast cancer screening among female teachers in Selangor Malaysia. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2008;9:221-7.
- [23] Villanueva EV, Jones S, Nehill C, Favelle S, Steel D, Iverson D, Zorbas H. The 2003 Australian Breast Health Survey: survey design and preliminary results. BMC Public Health 2008;8:13.
- [24] Elobaid YE, Ching Aw T, Grivna M, Nagelkerke N. Breast Cancer Screening Awareness, Knowledge, and Practice among Arab Women in the United Arab Emirates: A Cross-Sectional Survey. PLoS One 2014;9:e105783.
- [25] Patel K, Kanu M, Liu J, Bond B, Brown E, Williams E, Theriot R, Bailey S, Sanderson M, Hargreaves M. Factors influencing Breast Cancer Screening in Low-Income African Americans in Tennessee. J Community Health 2014;39:943-50.
- [26] Ajjar H, Easson A. Age at diagnosis of breast cancer in Arab nations. Int J Surg 2010;8:448-52.
- [27] Gürdal SO, Saraçoğlu GV, Oran ES, Yankol Y, Soybir GR. The Effects of Educational Level on Breast Cancer Awareness: A Cross-Sectional Study in Turkey. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2012;13:295-300.
- [28] Agboola A, Deji-Agboola A, Oritogun K, Musa AA, Oyebadejo TY, Ayoade BA. Knowledge, attitude and practice of breast self examination in female health workers in Olabisi Onabanjo University Teaching Hospital, Sagamu, Nigeria. The International Medical Journal 2009;8:5-10.
- [29] Vona-Davis L, Rose DP. The influence of socioeconomic disparities on breast cancer tumormbiology and prognosis: A review. Journal of Women's Health 2009;18:883-93.
- [30] Cavdar Y, Akyolcu N, Ozbaş A, Oztekin D, Ayoğu T, Akyüz N. Determining female physicians' and nurses' practices and attitudes toward breast self-examination in Istanbul, Turkey. Oncol Nurs Forum 2007;34:1218-21.
- [31] Demirkiran F, Balkaya NA, Memis S. How do nurses and teachers perform breast self-examination: are they reliable sources of information? BMC Public Health 2007;7:9.
- [32] Engelman KK, Cizik AM, Ellerbeck EF, Rempusheski VF. Perceptions of the screening mammography experience by Hispanic and non-Hispanic white women. Womens Health Issues 2012;22,395-401.
- [33] Filippi MK, Ndikum-Moffor F, Braiuca SL, Goodman T, Hammer TL, James AS, Choi WS, Greiner KL, Daley CM. Breast cancer screening perceptions among American Indian women under age 40. J Cancer Educ 2013;28,535-40.
- [34] Khazaee-pool M, Majlessi F, Foroushani AR, Montazeri A, Nedjat S, Shojaeizadeh D, Tol A, Salimzadeh H. Perception of Breast Cancer Screening among Iranian Women without Experience of Mammography: A Qualitative Study. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2014;15:3965-71.
- [35] Tavafian SS, Hasani L, Aghamolaei T, Zare S, Gregory D. Prediction of breast self-examination in a sample of Iranian women: an application of the Health Belief Model. BMC Womens Health 2009;9:37.
- [36] Doumit, M, Abu-Saad Huijer H, Kelley J. The lived experience

of Lebanese oncology patients receiving palliative care. Eur J of Oncol Nurs 2007;11,309-19.

- [37] Arevian M, Noureddine S, Abboud S. Beliefs related to breast cancer and breast cancer screening among Lebanese Armenian Women. Health Care Women Int 2011;32:972-89.
- [38] Kawar LN. Barriers to breast cancer screening participation among Jordanian and Palestinian American women. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2013;17:88-94.
- [39] Sharma K, Costas A, Shulman LN, Meara JGA. A Systematic review of barriers to breast cancer care in developing countries resulting in delayed patient presentation. J Oncol, 2013. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3432397/
- [40] Conceição Gonçalves LL, Travassos GL, Maria de Almeida A. Barriers in health care to breast cancer: perception of women. Rev Esc Enferm USP 2014;48:394-400 Available at: www. ee.usp.br/reeusp/
- [41] Hagi SK, Khafiji MA. Do women in Saudi Arabia "Think-Pink"?. Am J Resear Communic 2013;7:43-58.
- [42] Adib SM, Sabbah MA, Hlais S, Hanna P. Research in action:

mammography utilization following breast cancer awareness campaigns in Lebanon 2002-05. East Mediterr Health J 2009;15:6-18.

- [43] Westlake S, Cooper N. Cancer incidence and mortality trend in the united Kingdom and constituent countries 1993 to 2004. Health Stat Q 2008;(38):33-46.
- [44] Saudi cancer Registry, Saudi oncology Society. Available at: http://www.scr.org.sa/reports/ ScR 2005.pdf. [Accessed 14/05/2016].
- [45] The Health Care Network, Royal Embassy of Saudi Arabia (n.d.). Available at: http://www.saudiembassy.net/about/countryinformation/health_and_social_services/the_health_care_ network.asp [Accessed 07/11/2014].
- [46] American cancer Society breast cancer (2012). Available at: http:// www.cancer.org/acs/groups/content/@nho/documents/ document/f86109/final90809.pdf [Accessed 14/05/2016].
- [47] Sharaa HM. Beliefs and reported practices related to breast self-examination among sample of egyptian women. Academic Journal of Cancer Research 2013;6:99-110.

.....

Received on November 19, 2016. Accepted on July 18, 2017.

[■] Correspondence: Shaimaa Adel Aziz, Department of Public Health and Community Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Cairo University. Tel. +20 (0)12 6742424 - Fax +20 2 23644383 - Email: shaimaabaher@yahoo.com

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Awareness and knowledge about cervical cancer prevention methods among Tunisian women

R. GAMAOUN

Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Monastir, rue Ibn Sina, Monastir, Tunisia; Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine Department, Fattouma Bourguiba Hospital, Monastir, Tunisia

Keywords

Cervical cancer prevention• Anti-HPV vaccine • Women • Tunisia

Summary

Introduction. Epidemiological and biological arguments put papillomavirus infection (HPV) as a determining factor in the etiology of cervical cancer. The main objective of this study is to assess the knowledge, attitudes and practices related to HPV prevention and cervical cancer screening among women living in the city of Sousse, Tunisia.

Methods. Five hundred Tunisian women were interviewed face to face between May and June 2016. The questionnaire consisted in 14 questions relating participants' socio-demographic information, their awareness level, attitudes and practices regarding HPV and cervical cancer, including their understanding of the underlying cervical cancer etiology and preventive actions such as the Pap Smear test, and finally their acceptability and willingness to receive the anti-HPV vaccine under certain circumstances. Multivariate analyses were conducted to identify predictive factors of good acceptability of cervical cancer prevention methods.

Introduction

Given the conservative cultural context of the Middle East - North Africa (MENA), the prevalence of sexually transmitted infections (including human papillomavirus [HPV]) has previously been reported to be low in this specific region compared to the rest of the world [1]. Knowing this context, and given the rapid changes in the lifestyle induced by globalization, sexual behavior, especially among younger generations, is changing towards more liberal practices compared to the previous decades. These changes may induce an increase of the prevalence of sexually transmitted diseases among youth population of the MENA region [2].

Knowing the scientifically proved etiologic link between HPV infection and cervical cancer, similar findings were reported regarding the cervical cancer incidence in this area [3, 4].

However, despite the current relatively low incidence rates, cervical cancer is considered a public health issue in the MENA region [5]. This fact may be explained by the lack of governmental willing to establish a national cervical cancer prevention program in the MENA region and to include the anti-HPV vaccine within national vaccination programs [5]. This position has often been justified by cultural and religious sensitivities that may limit

......

Results. Four hundred fifty-two questionnaires were completed and included in the analysis. The awareness of a sexually transmitted infection as an etiological agent for cervical cancer was expressed by 175 (38.7%) participants, the correct finality of the Pap Smear test by 308 (68%) and its recommended frequency by 176 (38.9%) respondents. Among all participants, 125 (27.7%) had undertaken the Pap Smear test at least once in their lifetime, 363 (80.3%) were interested in receiving the anti-HPV vaccine for themselves, 387 (86%) for their daughters and 405 (90%) approved the introduction of the anti-HPV vaccine in the Tunisian national program of vaccination.

Conclusions. The knowledge and awareness of HPV infection and cervical cancer among Tunisian women was found to be moderate (around 40%) and the acceptability of the anti-HPV vaccine was found to be high (over 80%). These results are concordant with the results of other studies conducted in other MENA countries.

the success of sexually behavior related vaccination such as the anti-HPV vaccine [6].

That said, several studies investigated the acceptability of the anti-HPV vaccine in various MENA countries (Lebanon, Iran, Morocco, Saudi Arabia, Turkey, etc). These studies showed that despite the low level of HPV and cervical cancer knowledge among women in this area [7-10], all findings revealed moderate to high acceptability of the anti-HPV vaccine [11-14]. Since no study has been yet focusing on the specific case of Tunisia, we conducted the current study to assess whether trends reported for the rest of the region were also valid in the Tunisian context. These results would be useful for the design of an efficient and effective Tunisian national anti-HPV vaccination program.

Methods

This cross-sectional study involved the administration of 500 questionnaires to randomly selected women from different age groups in the general population of the city of Sousse, Tunisia. The questionnaires were administered through direct interview of patients visiting outpatient clinics in "Farhat Hached Hospital" or visiting the waiting area of the National Health Insurance Fund - CNAM (la Caisse Nationale de l'Assurance Maladie) between May and June 2016. Participants answered a questionnaire that assessed their knowledge, attitudes and practices regarding HPV and cervical cancer screening.

The designed questionnaire is semi-structured and composed of 14 questions. The first 4 questions gather sociodemographic information of the participants (age, professional activity, marital status, health sector). The next 6 questions assess participants' knowledge, attitudes and practices regarding HPV and cervical cancer, including their understanding of the underlying cervical cancer etiology and preventive actions such as the Pap smear test. Finally, the last 4 questions assess the acceptability and willingness of participants to receive the anti-HPV vaccine under certain circumstances.

All respondents were informed of the voluntary and anonymous nature of the study. A research assistant assisted each of the participants when filling the questionnaire to make sure that all the questions were well-understood. Fully completed questionnaires were obtained from 452 respondents, representing a final participating rate of 90.4% of our conventional sample.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Data was entered to the computer software Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL., USA) version 20 for the purpose of analysis.

Descriptive statistics were reported using mean \pm standard deviation (SD) for participants' age, frequency and percentage for all the rest categorical variables.

In addition to the descriptive analysis, multivariate analyzes were conducted to assess the association between participants' demographics (age, work status, marital status, and health sector) and the Pap Smear test history, then second the acceptability of the anti-HPV vaccine. The acceptability of the vaccine was assessed through several proxies such as the willingness to receive the vaccine, the willingness to get daughter vaccinated and being favourable to the inclusion of the anti-HPV vaccine in the Tunisian national vaccination program. Multivariate logistic regression analyses were performed for the following associations:

- the association between main participants' demographics [age (continuous), marital status (categorical: single/married/divorced or widow), professional status (categorical: none/employee/student) and health sector (categorical: private/public/private and public)] as independent variables and the Pap Smear test history as the dependent variable (categorical: yes/no);
- the associations between Pap Smear test history (categorical: yes/no) and main participants' demographics [age (continuous), marital status (categorical: single/married/divorced or widow), professional status (categorical: none/employee/student) and health sector (categorical: private/public/private and public)] as independent variables and a) the awareness of the existence of an anti-HPV vaccine, b) the interest in receiving the vaccine, c) the interest in giving the anti-HPV vaccine to daughters and d) the accept-

ability of including the anti-HPV vaccine within the national vaccination program as dependent variables (categorical: yes / no);

• logistic analyses results are presented in Table I and all association with statistical p-values of less than 0.05 were considered as significant.

Results

The results are grouped under first socio-demographic data, second the participants' knowledge and awareness level, third the acceptability of cervical cancer prevention methods and finally the associations between participants sociodemographic determinants and proxies of the acceptability of cervical cancer prevention methods.

PARTICIPANTS' SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE

452 completed questionnaires were suitable for analysis. The respondents consisted in Tunisian women with an overall mean age of 30.8 years old (\pm SD 6.9 years), ranging between 18 and 62 years old.

Among the 452 participants, 193 (43%) were single, 242 (53%) married and 17 (4%) divorced or widow. Two hundred and sixty-three (58%) respondents were professionally active, 115 (25%) students and 74 (16%) house-wives. Three hundred and thirty-one (73%) participants usually consulted in the private sector, 99 (22%) in the public sector and the remaining 22 (5%) participants declared consulting in both sectors. The demographic information is shown in Table II.

PARTICIPANTS' KNOWLEDGE AND AWARENESS REGARDING CERVICAL CANCER PREVENTION METHODS

The awareness of the Pap Smear test recommended frequency, cervical cancer risk factors, HPV infection spread ways and the awareness of the existence of an anti-HPV vaccine are shown in Table III.

Only 125 (28%) respondents had already received the Pap Smear test at least once in their lifetime and 188 (42%) were aware of existence of the anti-HPV vaccine. Regarding the recommended frequency of Pap smear test, 176 (39%) women were aware that the correct frequency is 3 to 5 years.

With regards to the Pap smear test finality, 109 (24%) participants declared knowing or assuming that it is for sexually transmitted infections screening, 308 (68%) for cervical cancer screening, 7 (2%) for cervical cancer treatment and 93 (21%) women declared having no idea. Concerning the cervical cancer risk factors, the "genetic dimension" was selected by 227 (50%), "sexually transmitted infection" by 175 (39%), "multiple partners" by 146 (35%), "partner having multiples partners" by 107 (24%), "immunity issues" by 153 (34%), "smoking" by 125 (28%), "no idea" by 69 (15%) women among all the participants.

Regarding the HPV spread ways, the correct options are: "unprotected sex" selected by 242 (54%), "protected sex" selected by 5 (1%) participants. Regarding incor-

.....

	Age		Work status		Health sector		Marital status		Pap Smear test history	
	OR-IC (95%)	P-value	OR-IC (95%)	P-value	OR-IC (95%)	P-value	OR-IC (95%)	P-value	OR-IC (95%)	P-value
Pap Smear test history	1.10 (1.06-1.15)	0.00	0.63 (0.40-0.98)	0.04	1.93 (1.10-3.40)	0.22	4.37 (2.43-7.86)	0.00	-	-
Aware of the existence of the anti-HPV vaccine	0.96 (0.89-1.03)	0.25	0.69 (0.35-1.34)	0.27	2.30 (1.02-5.20)	0.04	0.94 (0.40-2.20)	0.89	0.58 (0.24-1.42)	0.24
Interested in receiving the anti-HPV vaccine	0.99 (0.95- 1.03)	0.54	1.03 (0.68-1.57)	0.89	0.97 (0.60- 1.56)	0.89	0.94 (0.56-1.60)	0.83	0.67 (0.36-1.25)	0.21
Interested in giving the anti- HPV vaccine to their daughters	0.99 (0.94-1.03)	0.62	0.83 (0.51-1.34)	0.44	1.40 (0.81-2.41)	0.23	0.85 (0.46-1.56)	0.60	1.04 (0.53-2.04)	0.91
Interested in including the anti-HPV vaccine within the vaccination national program	0.98 (0.93-1.04)	0.51	1.01 (0.59-1.75)	0.96	0.94 (0.51-1.73)	0.84	1.22 (0.61-2.46)	0.57	0.49 (0.20-1.19)	0.12

Tab. I. Analysis of association between demographics and acceptability of Pap Smear test and anti-HPV vaccine.

rect options, "blood" was selected by 71 (16%), "public toilets" by 69 (15%) women and 157 (35%) participants reporting having no idea.

PARTICIPANTS' ACCEPTABILITY OF CERVICAL CANCER PREVENTION METHODS

Concerning the willingness to receive the anti-HPV vaccine, the results are presented in Table III: 363 (80%) participants were or would be interested in receiving the anti-HPV vaccine if recommended by their doctors, 387 (86%) were or would be interested in giving their (future) girl the anti-HPV vaccine if recommended by their doctors, and finally 405 (90%) were favourable to the inclusion of the anti-HPV vaccine in the national vaccine program as it would be free and systematic for all Tunisian girls.

	Total sample (452)	%
Profession		
None	74	16,4%
Employee	263	58,2%
Student	115	25,4%
Health sector		
Private	331	73,2%
Public	99	21,9%
Private and public	22	4,9%
Marital status		
Single	193	42,7%
Married	242	53,5%
Divorced/Widow	17	3,8%

.....

ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN PARTICIPANTS SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHIC DETERMINANTS AND PROXIES OF THE ACCEPTABILITY OF CERVICAL CANCER PREVENTION METHODS

Multivariate logistic regression analyses results presented in Table I are showing statistically significant associations between Pap Smear test history and the four considered demographics: age 1.10 CI (1.06-1.15), working status 0.63 CI (0.40-0.98), marital status 4.37 CI (2.43-7.86) and the health sector 1.93 CI (1.10-3.41). However, a unique statistically significant association was found between the awareness of the existence of an anti-HPV vaccine and the health sector 2.30 CI (1.02-5.20). No further statistically significant associations were found between participants' demographics and the interest in receiving the vaccine, giving it to daughters or including the anti-HPV vaccine within the national vaccination program.

Discussion

Cervical cancer is a preventable disease and one of the key aspects of its prevention is the early detection of the premalignant lesion through the cervical screening or by the anti-HPV vaccine prior to any sexual relationships.

Major findings of the present study showed that 28% of the respondents had already received the Pap smear test at least once during their lifetime. This result is concordant with Hammas-Hlaili study that revealed that 22.6% (17.6-27.6) of the women from east-center of Tunisia had already received the Pap smear test at least once in a lifetime [15]. However, these results are not valid for es-
Tab. III. Level of Cervical Cancer and HPV knowledge and anti-HPV vaccine acceptability among respondents.

	Total sample (452)	%
Pap Smear test history	125	27.7
Cervical cancer risk factors		
Genetics	227	50.2
Viral infection	175	38.7
Multiple sexual partners	156	34.5
Partner had multiples sexual partners	107	23.7
Immune system issues	153	33.8
Smoking	125	27.7
No idea	69	15.3
Pap Smear test finality		
Sexually transmitted infection screening (false)	109	24.1
Cervical cancer screening	308	68.1
Cervical cancer treatment (false)	7	1.5
No idea	93	20.6
Recommended Pap Smear test frequency		
Annual (false)	185	40.9
Every 3 to 5 yeas	176	38.9
Every 10 years (false)	1	0.2
No idea	90	19.9
Routes of HPV spread		
Unprotected sex	242	53.5
Protected sex	5	1.1
Blood (false)	71	15.7
Public toilets (false)	69	15.3
No idea	157	34.7
Already heard about anti-HPV vaccine	188	41.6
(Would be) interested in receiving anti-HPV vaccine if suggested by their doctor	363	80.3
Favourable to the administration of the anti-HPV vaccine to their (future) daughters if suggested by the doctor	387	85.6
Supports the introduction of anti-HPV vaccine in the national immunization program (systematic and free)	405	89.6

pecially the rural region of Tunisia where only between 11% and 13% had received the Pap smear test [15].

This study also revealed some concerning findings: first, regarding cervical cancer risk factors, less than the half of all participants identified sexually transmitted infections as a risk factor for cervical cancer. Second, regarding HPV spread ways, participants were not properly aware especially of the possibility of HPV spread through unprotected as much as through protected sex. Third, regarding the recommended frequency of the screening, we notice that 20% of participants reported having no idea about the recommended periodicity. All these results represent real opportunities for improving HPV and cervical cancer awareness among Tunisian women and confirm findings reported in other studies regarding the low to moderate knowledge level about HPV infection and prevention from the cervical cancer. Regarding the acceptability of the anti-HPV vaccine, participants were highly willing to receive the anti-HPV vaccine if it was relevant for them and to agree that their daughters or future daughters receive it. They were also extremely favourable (> 90%) to the inclusion of the anti-HPV vaccine in the national vaccination program in order to make it systematic and free for all Tunisian girls. This finding also confirms the trend reported throughout the region of moderate to high acceptability of the HPV vaccine among women in the region despite the low level of knowledge about HPV and cervical cancer [16].

Regarding the assessment of the association between participants demographics and the acceptability of cervical cancer prevention methods, results showed that history of Pap Smear test is statistically associated to participants' working status, health sector in which participants are used to consult and their marital status.

However, these associations were not valid for the acceptability of anti-HPV vaccine. These results can be explained by the fact the anti-HPV vaccine is relatively new in comparison to the Pap Smear; therefore, women from all ranges of demographics are still much less informed and sensitive to this primary prevention method. This situation may explain the absence of trends or statistically associations between participants demographics and the proxy variables of the acceptability of the anti-HPV vaccination.

LIMITATIONS

This study is the first in Tunisia to analyze the awareness and acceptability of Tunisian women of two prevention methods of cervical cancer. Among the main limitations of this study, we first mention the potential recall bias: women may not accurately recall if yes or no they undertook a Pap Smear test. The second limitation of the study is the potential selection bias associated to the participants' selection that included women only from care centers or healthcare administrative services; this selection of a non-representative conventional sample may limit the external validity of the study and the generalizability of our findings to the rest of Tunisian women. Finally, a final limitation of this study is the potential bias of social desirability since women responses may not reflect the reality of their opinions and may be formulated in a way to not be judged by the interviewer.

Conclusions

In conclusion, the knowledge and awareness levels of cervical cancer prevention methods through screening and anti-HPV vaccination among Tunisian women are similar to the trend found in other MENA countries. However, these levels are considered low compared to developed countries. Therefore, a national cervical cancer prevention program is still needed to be implemented in Tunisia. In this sense, regional cervical screening and inclusion of the anti-HPV vaccine in the national vaccination program should be encouraged. All involved health care professionals (gynaecologists, nurses, midwives etc.) should benefit from educational initiatives in order to contribute to the enhancement of the usage of cervical cancer prevention methods available for Tunisian women.

In addition to that, it is important to promote awareness among women with risk factors of cervical cancer, to emphasize the importance of Pap smear test on a regular basis and to guarantee them adequate follow-up and emotional support when needed. It is also important to sensitize parents about the advantages the anti-HPV vaccine would give to their daughters and to reassure them about the vaccination safety. These are all urgent measures essential to undertake in order to reduce morbidity and mortality associated to cervical cancer in Tunisia.

Acknowledgments

This paper is dedicated to the memory of my supervisor for whom I will always be thankful, Pr. Soltani, who recently passed away and who inspired and supervised this project. Without his contribution, support and guidance this would never had been possible.

The author declares that there is no conflict of interest.

......

Author's contributions

RG was responsible of all the phases of this study: study design, data collection, descriptive analysis and manuscript writing. She was supervised by Pr Soltani who unfortunately passed away in 2016 and was not able to give his explicit approval on the final draft of this study.

References

- [1] Khodakarami N, Clifford GM, Yavari P, Farzaneh F, Salehpour S, Broutet N, Bathija H, Heideman DA, van Kemenade FJ, Meijer CJ, Hosseini SJ, Franceschi S. Human papillomavirus infection in women with and without cervical cancer in Tehran, Iran. Int J Cancer 2012;131(2):E156-161. doi:10.1002/ ijc.26488.
- [2] El-Kak F. Sexuality and sexual health: constructs and expressions in the extended Middle East and North Africa. Vaccine 2013;31 Suppl 6. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.10.120.
- [3] Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBO-CAN 2008. - PubMed - NCBI. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/21351269. Accessed June 4, 2015.
- [4] Global cancer statistics. PubMed NCBI. http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21296855. Accessed June 4, 2015.
- [5] Vaccarella S, Bruni L, Seoud M. Burden of human papillomavirus infections and related diseases in the extended Middle East and North Africa region. Vaccine 2013;31 Suppl 6. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.06.098.
- [6] Seoud M, Vaccarella S, El-Kak F, Sancho-Garnier H, Jumaan AO, Kim JJ, Garland SM, Stern PL, LaMontagne DS, Albero G, Bosch FX. Extended Middle East and North Africa: Summary Recommendations for the Prevention of Human Papillomavirus Infections and Related Cancers Including Cervical Cancer. Compr Control HPV Infect Relat Dis Ext Middle East North Africa Reg 2013;31, Supple(0):G78-G79. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.11.078.
- [7] Mouallif M, Bowyer HL, Festali S, Albert A, Filali-Zegzouti Y, Guenin S, Delvenne P, Waller J, Ennaji MM. Cervical cancer and HPV: Awareness and vaccine acceptability among parents in Morocco. Vaccine 2014;32(3):409-416. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.10.069.
- [8] Selmouni F, Zidouh A, Nejjari C, Bekkali R. Acceptability of the human papilloma virus vaccine among Moroccan parents: a population-based crosssectional study. East Mediterr Health J 2015;21(8):555-563.
- [9] Zouheir Y, Daouam S, Hamdi S, Alaoui A, Fechtali T. Knowledge of Human Papillomavirus and Acceptability to Vaccinate in Adolescents and Young Adults of the Moroccan Population. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol November 2015. doi:10.1016/j. jpag.2015.11.002.
- [10] Alsaad MA, Shamsuddin K, Fadzil F. Knowledge towards HPV infection and HPV vaccines among Syrian mothers. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2012;13(3):879-883.
- [11] Moosa K, Alsayyad AS, Quint W, Gopala K, DeAntonio R. An epidemiological study assessing the prevalence of human papillomavirus types in women in the Kingdom of Bahrain. BMC Cancer 2014;14. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-14-905.
- [12] Shaltout MF, Sallam HN, AbouSeeda M, Moiety F, Hemeda H, Ibrahim A, Sherbini ME, Rady H, Gopala K, DeAntonio R. Prevalence and type distribution of human papillomavirus among women older than 18 years in Egypt: a multicenter, observational study. Int J Infect Dis 2014;29:226-231. doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2014.07.029.
- [13] Al-Nuaimi NS, Al-Ghas YS, Al-Owais AH, Grivna M, Schneider J, Nagelkerke NJ, Bernsen RM. Human papillomavirus vaccination uptake and factors related to uptake in a tradi-

tional desert city in the United Arab Emirates. Int J STD AIDS 2011;22(7):400-404. doi:10.1258/ijsa.2009.009380.

[14] AlObaid A, Al-Badawi IA, Al-Kadri H, Gopala K, Kandeil W, Quint W, Al-Aker M, DeAntonio R. Human papillomavirus prevalence and type distribution among women attending routine gynecological examinations in Saudi Arabia. BMC Infect Dis 2014;14. doi:10.1186/s12879-014-0643-8.

[15] Hammas-Hlaili W, Marzouk-Aissi W, Fadhlaoui A, Bougatef

S, Ben Alaya-Bouafif N, Ben Romdhane H. Dépistage du cancer du col de l'utérus en Tunisie: connaissances et pratiques. Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique 2012;60:S104. doi:10.1016/j. respe.2012.06.223.

[16] Tonguc E, Gungor T, Var T, Kavak E, Yucel M, Uzunlar O. Knowledge about HPV, relation between HPV and cervix cancer and acceptance of HPV vaccine in women in eastern region of Turkey. J Gynecol Oncol 2013;24(1). doi:10.3802/ jgo.2013.24.1.7.

Received on October 3, 2017. Accepted on November 28, 2017.

[■] Correspondence: Rihab Gamaoun, via Ibn SINA 5000, Monastir, Tunisia. Tel. +216 98 58 12 00 - Fax +216 73 461 830 - E-mail: rihab.gamaoun@outlook.com

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Current data in Greek children indicate decreasing trends of obesity in the transition from childhood to adolescence; results from the National Action for Children's Health (EYZHN) program

K.D. TAMBALIS¹, D.B. PANAGIOTAKOS¹, G. PSARRA¹, L.S. SIDOSSIS¹²

¹ Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Harokopio University, Athens, Greece; ² Department of Kinesiology and Health, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, USA

Keywords

Obesity • Total • Central • Children • Adolescents

Summary

Introduction. *The aim of the study is to present the most recent estimates of obesity (total and central) prevalence in Greek children and associated risk factors.*

Methods. Population data are derived from a yearly, schoolbased health survey polled in 2015 on 336,014 (51% boys) children aged 4 to 17 years old from almost 40% of all schools of primary and secondary education in Greece. Anthropometric and physical fitness measurements were obtained by trained investigators. Dietary habits, physical activity status, sedentary activities and sleeping hours were assessed through self-completed questionnaires. The gender and age-specific Body Mass Index (BMI) cut-off points were used in order to define BMI groups.

Results. The prevalence of overweight and obesity in the whole population was 22.2% and 9.0% in boys and 21.6% and 7.5%

Introduction

In today's society the prevalence of obesity in children and adolescents has been recognized as a global epidemic [1]. In the European Union the number of overweight children is expected to rise by 1.3 million per year, with more than 300.000 of them becoming obese each year [2]. Greece is among the European countries with the highest levels of childhood obesity [3]. It is estimated that the prevalence of overweight and obesity is markedly different among children and adolescents in Greece and elsewhere [4, 5]. Childhood obesity has been associated with the development of cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, metabolic syndrome, and excess weight status in adult life [6], and moreover, it influences social and psychological functioning of children [7]. Central obesity (i.e., abdominal subcutaneous and visceral adiposity) is an important risk factor for insulin resistance and an identifier of cardio-metabolic disorders and cardiovascular disease in later life [8]. Waist Circumference (WC) and Waist-to-Height Ratio (WtHR) are measurement methods for evaluation of central obesity. It is estimated that they predict better than Body Mass

......

in girls, respectively. Obesity presented decreasing trends in the transition from childhood to adolescence. Central obesity was diagnosed in 95.3% and 93.5% of the simple obese boys and girls, respectively, in almost two to three of overweight children (68.6% of boys and 64.3% of girls), and in 12% of normal weight children. Age, physical fitness, low adherence to Mediterranean diet, insufficient sleeping hours, inadequate physical activity levels and increased screen time were all associated with higher odds of total and central obesity.

Conclusions. Serious and urgent actions need to be taken from public health policy makers in order not only to prevent a further increase in obesity rates but, more important, to treat obesity and/ or the obesity associated co-morbidities.

Index (BMI) cardio-metabolic risks [9]. The causes of childhood obesity are multi-factorial, including genetic predisposition, perinatal factors, and lifestyle, environmental and socioeconomic variables [6]. In the last decade, the Greek government in collaboration with several independent authorities has significantly forced public health efforts aiming to reduce childhood obesity. EYZHN (National Action for Children's Health) is an intertemporal program aiming to record health- and lifestyle-related parameters of the total student population of Greece.

To our knowledge, only a few studies [4, 10-12] have currently estimated the prevalence of total or abdominal obesity in Greek children and adolescents based on a national representative sample; most of them have drawn conclusions from selected geographic areas or from a deteriorated age range [10-12]. Accordingly, the aim of the present study is: (a) to examine the prevalence of total and central obesity groups among 4- to 17-y-old children and adolescents as a basis for effective prevention strategies and (b) to investigate whether there is an association between several anthropometric and lifestyle factors and total/central obesity.

.....

Methods

PARTICIPANTS

Population-based, representative data were derived from a nation-wide, school-based survey under the auspices of the Ministry of Education. Specifically, anthropometric, physical activity, sedentary habits, nutrition, and physical fitness data along with information on age and sex were collected from March 2015 to May 2015. In total, 336,014 (51% boys and 49% girls) children aged 4 to 17 years old from pre-elementary (4- to 5-y-old), elementary (6- to 11-y-old) and middle (12- to 17-y-old) public and private schools agreed to participate in the study (participation rate was almost 40% of the total population). The working sample was representative of the entire Greek population (chi-square p-value as compared to the current sample with the age-sex distribution of all Greek areas = 0.93). The participation rates assured the proportional enrollment of children based on the urban/ rural areas student population distribution.

Assessment of demographic and anthropometric measurements

Demographic information of students (e.g., school, class, gender and date of birth) was obtained from each school headmaster. Children's height, weight and waist circumference were measured in the morning, using a standardized procedure. Data collection activity in each school was completed in one working day. Children wear little clothing and stand with feet close together, arms at the side and body weight evenly distributed. The exact ages of the participants were calculated from birth and examination dates. Weight was measured in the standing upright position with electronic scales with a precision of 100 g. Standing height was determined to the nearest 0.5 cm with the child's weight being equally distributed on the two feet, head back and buttocks on the vertical land of the height gauge. BMI was calculated as the ratio of body weight to the square of height (kg/m²). Waist circumference was measured at the midpoint between the lower margin of the least palpable rib and the top of the iliac crest, using a flexible measure to the nearest 0.1 cm. Underweight (3 grades), normal weight, overweight and obese children were classified using the International Obesity Taskforce age- and gender-specific BMI cut-off criteria [13, 14], as the most proper for epidemiologic studies [15]. Central obesity was defined as waist circumference (cm) to height (cm) ratio (WtHR) ≥ 0.5 , given that this specific cut-off point has been established suitable for the prediction of obesity-related cardiometabolic abnormalities in children and adolescents [16].

All measurements were repeated; if the measurements were within 1 cm of one another, the average was calculated. All anthropometric measurements were performed by trained professionals (teachers of physical education). Specifically, measurements were performed by one teacher of physical education in each class. All physical education professionals were instructed through a detailed and extended manual of operations and followed a standardized procedure of measurements in order to minimize the potential inter-rate variability among schools. The physical education teachers were first trained by school advisor of physical education for accurate anatomical landmarks, subject positioning and measurement techniques. Verbal informed consent for the child to participate in the measurements was taken from physical education teachers. As the measurements were included in an obligatory school program, verbal informed consent was considered sufficient.

Assessment of physical fitness levels

The Euro-fit PF test battery was used to evaluate children's PF levels [17], initially proposed by the Council of Europe and used systematically from many European countries during the last decades. The battery consists of five tests: (a) a multi-stage 20 m shuttle run test (20 m SRT), to estimate aerobic performance; (b) a maximum 10×5 m shuttle run test (10×5 m SRT) from a standing start to evaluate speed and agility; (c) a sit-ups test in 30 seconds (SUs), in which the student lies on the mat with the knees bent at right angles, feet flat on the floor and held down by a partner, to measure the endurance of the abdominal and hip-flexor muscles; (d) a standing long jump (SLJ), where the children are asked to bend their knees with their arms in front of them, parallel to the ground, then swing both arms and push off vigorously and jump as far as possible, trying to land with their feet together and stay upright, to evaluate lower body explosive power; and (e) a sit and reach (SR) test that involves sitting on the floor with legs stretched out straight ahead without shoes to measure flexibility. Two trials were allowed for the SLJ, SR, SUs, and 10×5 m SRT, with the best performance of each recorded. All five fitness tests were administered during the physical education class by physical education professionals, who were instructed through a detailed manual of operations and followed a standardized procedure of measurements in order to minimize the inter-rate variability among schools.

Assessment of dietary habits

Participating children's dietary, physical activity and sedentary habits were recorded via the use of an electronic questionnaire. It was completed at school with the presence and assistance of their teachers and/or information technology professors, all previously provided with specific written guidelines for its proper completion. This was done in order to provide an accurate reflection of their habits and for a standardized evaluation protocol to be implemented among all participating schools. Regarding students' dietary habits, these were assessed through the KIDMED (Mediterranean Diet Quality Index for children and adolescents), developed by Serra-Majem et al. (2004) [18]. The KIDMED index was developed in an attempt to combine the MD guidelines for adults with the general dietary guidelines for children in a single index. The index comprises 16 yes or no questions, including dietary habits that are in accordance with

the principles of the Mediterranean dietary pattern and the general dietary guidelines for youth (e.g. consumption of at least one fruit at a daily basis, consumption of fish 2-3 per week, use of olive oil as the main culinary fat in salad and cooking etc.) and other habits that undermine them (e.g. breakfast skipping, daily consumption of sweets, frequent consumption of fast food etc.). Questions denoting a negative connotation with respect to a high-quality diet are assigned a value of -1, while those with a positive aspect are assigned a value of +1. Thus, the total KIDMED score ranges from -4 to 12 and is classified into three levels: ≥ 8 , suggesting an optimal adherence to the MD; 4-7, suggesting an average adherence to the MD and an improvement needed to adjust dietary intake to guidelines; and ≤ 3 , suggesting a low adherence to the MD and generally a low diet quality.

Assessment of self-reported physical activity AND SEDENTARY TIME

With regard to physical activity habits, patterns of physical activity were also self-reported. The questionnaire has been previously used in children in other large-scale epidemiological studies [19], and included simple closedtype questions regarding children's frequency, time and intensity of participation in (i) school-related physical activity (including activity during physical education classes; (ii) organized sports activities and (iii) physical activities during leisure time. For the current analysis, a student's weekly frequency of participation in organized sports activities, physical activities during leisure time and school-related physical activity (range 0-7, i.e. from rare to daily participation), had an average duration (in minutes) per bout of engaging in the above physical activities. The average duration per bout of engaging, if it caused them "to breathe hard or feel tired", (providing a subjective estimation of moderate to vigorous intensity) was calculated. The frequency of all reported activities was multiplied by the minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activities (MVPA) and then divided by seven to obtain the mean daily time children engaged in MVPA. Children who participated in MVPA at least for 60 minutes per day were considered as meeting the recommendation for physical activity [20].

Daily time (in hours) spent in sedentary activities (e.g. television viewing, use of Internet for non-study reasons, playing with computer or/and console games) was also calculated for each student (via multiplying the weekly frequency of participation with the duration per bout of participation in sedentary activities, and then dividing by 7). Using the threshold of two hours per day proposed by current scientific evidence and guidelines [21, 22], students were classified as sedentary or not, i.e., exceeding (> 2 hours per day) or not (≤ 2 hours per day) the recommended daily time spent in sedentary activities.

Moreover, daily time in sleeping hours was assessed through self reported recordings. Based on the Consensus Statement of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine, we classified as meeting the recommendations of sufficient sleep those children (aged 6 to 12-y-old) who were sleeping at least nine hours daily and those adoles-

cents (aged 13 to 17-y-old) who were sleeping at least eight hours per day. Children and adolescents that were sleeping daily fewer than the number of recommended hours were classified as having insufficient sleep [23].

ETHICAL APPROVAL

Ethical approval for the health survey was graded by the Ethical Review Board of the Ministry of Education and the Ethical Committee of Harokopio University.

DATA ANALYSIS

Normality of the distributions regarding continuous variables was verified through the Shapiro-Wilk test, despite the fact that the large sample allows for the assumption of normality of the data. Descriptive statistics of anthropometric measurements were expressed as means ± standard deviations. Prevalence of thinness, normal weight, overweight and obesity was calculated as the ratio of those children belonging in the corresponding class, based on the proposed cut-off points for BMI by IOTF [13, 14] and divided by the total number of children. Comparisons of the prevalence between genders were performed using the Pearson's chi-square test. Furthermore, simple regression analysis was used to evaluate the trends of each anthropometric variable (with lag 0). The independent variable was the year of birth. Serial dependency was evaluated using the partial autocorrelation function; no autocorrelation was observed for various lags tested. Results are presented as b-coefficient \pm SE. In order to assess the potential effect of several demographic and lifestyle factors (e.g. age, physical fitness measurements, adherence to Mediterranean diet, sleeping hours, physical activity levels and sedentary activities levels) on the total and central obesity status, binary logistic regression analysis was implemented and odds ratios (OR) with the corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated. The Hosmer and Lemeshow's goodness-of-fit test was calculated in order to evaluate the model's goodness-of-fit and residual analysis was implicated using the dbeta, the leverage, and Cook's distance D statistics in order to identify outliers and influential observations. All other statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS version 23.0 software for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, II, USA). Statistical significance level from two-sided hypotheses was set at p < 0.05.

Results

ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASUREMENTS AND WEIGHT STATUS

Mean values for anthropometric measurements of children and adolescents by age and gender are presented in Table I. Statistically significant differences were incorporated in all anthropometric measurements with boys having higher mean values than their girl peers (all pvalues < 0.01), with the exception of WtHR where this was not a stable finding across all age groups. Weight,

Tab. I. Anthrop	Tab. I. Anthropometric indices (means ± standard deviation) of population by gender and age.											
			BC	ys			Girls					
Age †	N	Height (cm)	Weight (kg)	BMI (kg/m²)	WC (cm)	WHtR	N	Height (cm)	Weight (kg)	BMI (kg/m²)	WC (cm)	WHtR
4	3157	107.9 (5.0)*	18.7 (2.8)*	16.0 (1.9)	54.8 (4.7)	0.58 (0.49)	3091	106.6 (5.1)	18.3 (2.8)	16.0 (1.9)	54.5 (4.6)	0.60 (0.49)
5	4550	113.1 (5.4)*	20.8 (3.8)*	16.3 (2.1)*	56.6 (5.3)*	0.48 (0.50)	4477	111.8 (5.3)	20.2 (3.7)	16.1 (2.2)	56.0 (5.4)	0.49 (0.50)
6	11361	120.0 (5.6)*	24.0 (3.7)*	16.4 (2.4)*	58.4 (6.3)*	0.34 (0.47)	11139	118.8 (5.5)	23.3 (4.6)	16.4 (2.4)	57.7 (6.4)	0.35 (0.48)
7	21034	125.1 (5.8)*	26.6 (5.5)*	16.9 (2.6)*	59.9 (7.1)*	0.29 (0.45)*	21165	124.1 (5.8)	26.0 (5.3)	16.8 (2.6)	59.2 (7.2)	0.30 (0.46)
8	21159	131.4 (6.0)*	30.4 (6.7)*	17.6 (3.0)*	62.9 (8.2)*	0.30 (0.46)	20140	130.0 (6.1)	29.7 (6.5)	17.4 (3.0)	62.0 (8.0)	0.31 (0.46)
9	21387	136.9 (6.4)*	34.5 (8.0)*	18.3 (3.3)*	65.8 (9.0)*	0.33 (0.47)	20524	135.6 (6.5)	33.7 (7.7)	18.1 (3.2)	64.7 (8.9)	0.32 (0.47)
10	21162	142.1 (6.8)*	38.5 (9.0)*	18.9 (3.5)*	68.6 (9.7)*	0.35 (0.48)*	20424	141.8 (7.7)	38.0 (8.9)	18.7 (3.4)	67.2 (9.5)	0.31 (0.46)
11	19875	147.3 (7.1)*	43.2 (10.2)*	19.6 (3.6)*	71.3 (10.2)*	0.36 (0.48)*	18910	148.4 (7.6)	43.0 (9.9)	19.3 (3.6)	70.0 (9.8)	0.30 (0.46)
12	16349	153.7 (7.9)*	47.5 (11.3)*	20.1 (3.8)*	73.4 (10.5)*	0.34 (0.47)*	15465	154.8 (7.4)	47.9 (10.6)	19.9 (3.6)	71.5 (10.0)	0.26 (0.44)
13	8515	160.5 (8.7)*	54.0 (12.9)*	20.7 (3.9)*	75.5 (10.9)*	0.28 (0.45)*	7819	159.2 (6.7)	52.1 (10.8)	20.5 (3.7)	72.2 (9.9)	0.21 (0.41)
14	7635	167.4 (8.5)*	60.5 (13.6)*	21.4 (3.9)*	77.9 (10.9)*	0.25 (0.43)*	6734	162.0 (6.2)	55.6 (10.5)	21.2 (3.6)	73.5 (9.8)	0.20 (0.40)
15	6273	172.5 (7.5)*	65.2 (13.1)*	21.8 (3.8)*	79.0 (10.7)*	0.22 (0.41)	5425	163.2 (6.1)	57.5 (10.2)	21.6 (3.5)	74.2 (9.8)	0.21 (0.40)
16	3695	175.5 (7.0)*	69.3 (13.0)*	22.5 (3.8)*	80.3 (10.3)*	0.20 (0.40)*	3413	164.2 (6.3)	58.9 (10.4)	21.8 (3.5)	74.0 (9.3)	0.20 (0.38)
17	2358	177.0 (7.1)*	72.0 (13.2)*	22.9 (3.7)*	81.4 (10.8)*	0.22 (0.41)	2228	164.7 (6.3)	60.1 (10.8)	22.1 (3.6)	74.8 (10.4)	0.21 (0.40)
P for trend	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001			< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	

+ = completed age, e.g., 4 years = 4.00-4.99 years; * = p-value < 0.01 between boys and girls; BMI = body mass index; WC = waist circumference; WHtR = waist to height ratio.

height, BMI and waist circumference increased with age in both genders (all p-values for trend < 0.001). In opposite, WtHR presented a relatively decreasing rate with age in boys and girls (p-values for trend < 0.001).

Prevalence of underweight (three grades), normal weight, overweight, and obesity by age and gender, based on IOTF criteria, is incorporated in Table II. In the whole population (4 to 17-y-old), proportions of underweight decreased with age, in both genders (p-values for trend < 0.001). Normal weight boys ranged between 64.3% in 10-y-old and 79.1% in 4-y-old (p-value for trend = 0.137).In girls, the lower proportion (64.4%) incorporated in 9-y-old and the highest in 16-y-old (pvalue for trend = 0.031). Overweight boys showed an increasing trend among 4-y and 17-y-old (p = 0.007), while obese girls decreased between the above age range (p-value for trend < 0.001) and presented their lower proportion at the age of 17-y-old. Overweight (including obesity) in boys ranged from 16.2% in 4-y-old to 34.7% in 10-y-old, (p-value for trend = 0.06) while in girls it varied between 19.3% in 17-y-old and 34.0% in 9-y-old (p-value for trend = 0.12). Given that a significant interaction was observed between BMI categories and age (p = 0.01) and additionally individual previous findings in Greece showed that the prevalence of over-

weight is significantly lower in adolescence in comparison with childhood [3, 10-11, 24], we decided to stratify the analysis in two groups: childhood and adolescent. Analytically, further analysis was performed, splitting the prevalence of BMI categories in two age periods; early/middle childhood (4- to 11-y-old) and adolescence (12- to 17-y-old). Findings regarding the trend of BMI groups by gender during childhood and adolescence are presenting in Table II. During childhood, rates of overweight (including obesity) increased from 16.2% in boys 4-y-old to 34.7% in 11-y-old (p < 0.001) with an increasing trend per $2.7 \pm 0.3\%$ (p < 0.001) per year of birth. For girls, an increase in overweight (including obesity) rates from 21.2% in 4-y-old to 34.0% in 9-y-old and 30% in 11-y-old was evident (p < 0.001), with an annual increasing trend equal to $1.58 \pm 0.4\%$ (p = 0.005). In opposite, adolescent boys who belong to the overweight (including obesity) group decreased from 33.5% in 12-y-old to 27.9% in 17-y-old (annual rate: $-1.23 \pm 0.14\%$, p = 0.001). Similarly, for adolescent girls, a decrease in overweight (including obesity) rates from 29.6% to 19.3% was evident between 12-y-old and 17-y-old (p = 0.008), with an annual decreasing trend equal to $2.03 \pm 0.42\%$ (p = 0.008). In childhood, normal weight and thinness rates were decreasing with age,

Iab. II. Prevalence of BMI categories according to IUTF definitions, by gender and age, in 4 to 17- y-old							ia Greek chilare	en.		
		Bo	bys		Girls					
Age †	Thinness	Normal	Overweight	Obesity	Thinness	Normal	Overweight	Obesity		
	(%)	weight (%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	weight (%)	(%)	(%)		
Children										
4	13,8*	70,0*	10,4*	5,8	10,9	67,9	15,5	5,7		
5	12,6*	65,7	13,2*	8,5	10,9	65,0	15,8	8,3		
6	9,9	65,4*	15,8*	8,9	9,8	62,5	18,3	9,4		
7	8,4*	64,5*	18,0*	9,2	9,3	61,6	19,9	9,2		
8	7,0*	62,1*	20,7*	10,2	8,4	59,7	22,2	9,7		
9	6,1*	59,8*	23,5*	10,7*	7,6	58,5	25,0	9,0		
10	5,4*	59,9	25,7	9,0*	7,8	59,4	25,0	7,8		
11	5,5*	60,0*	25,8*	8,8*	8,0	61,4	24,2	6,4		
B ± SE per year change	– 1.3 ± 0.15	- 1.4 ± 0.20	2.3 ± 0.13	0.36 ± 0.19	- 0.52 ± 0.08	- 1.0 ± 0.31	1.5 ± 0.19	0.02 ± 0.24		
P for trend < 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	= 0.116	= 0.001	= 0.014	< 0.001	= 0.937	-		
Adolescents										
12	5,3*	61,3*	25,2*	8,2*	8,4	64,0	22,4	5,2		
13	5,6*	62,0*	24,4*	8,1*	8,3	67,4	19,9	4,3		
14	5,0*	63,2*	23,5*	8,1*	6,7	70,9	18,2	4,3		
15	4,4*	66,6*	22,2*	6,8*	7,4	72,2	16,5	3,9		
16	4,8*	66,9*	21,6*	6,7*	7,5	74,1	14,7	3,7		
17	5,1*	67,0*	21,4*	6,5*	8,7	71,4	15,0	4,3		
B ± SE per year change	-0.11 ± 0.09	1.3 ± 0.23	-0.82 ± 0.08	-0.40 ± 0.08	- 0.01 ± 0.20	1.7 ± 0.51	- 1.6 ± 0.20	- 0.19 ± 0.10		
P for trend	= 0.293	= 0.004	< 0.001	= 0.008	= 0.979	= 0.031	= 0.001	= 0.012		
All										
B ± SE per year change	- 0.62 ± 0.11	- 0.05 ± 0.22	0.78 ± 0.24	-0.22 ± 0.09	-0.23 ± 0.06	0.78 ± 0.22	- 0.15± 0.26	-0.42 ± 0.10		
P for trend	< 0.001	= 0.137	= 0.007	= 0.05	< 0.001	= 0.017	= 0.577	= 0.001		

+ = completed age, e.g., 4 years = 4.00-4.99 years; * = p-value < 0.05 for differences between boys and girls from the same BMI category.

while rates of normal weight were increasing, in both genders (all p-values for trend < 0.05). In adolescence, normal weight boys and girls were increasing with age, while overweight and obese rates were decreasing, in both genders (all p-values for trend <0.05).

The last the particular

6 84.4

Prevalence of central and total obesity (WtHR ≥ 0.5), by gender and age, are presented in Figures 1, 2. The prevalence of central obesity across age groups follows parallel rates with total obesity (defined according to BMI), with the exception of children aged 4- and 5-y-old. In the whole study population, central obesity was diagnosed in 95.3% and 93.5% of the simple obese boys and girls, respectively (p < 0.001). Additionally, in almost two to three of overweight children (68.6% of boys and 64.3% of girls) coincides with central obesity; while a proportion of 12% of normal weight children were classified as centrally obese. Prevalence of central obesity in the different BMI categories (IOTF definitions) by age and gender is shown in Table III, as well as the secular trends of its development across childhood and adolescence. Moreover, exploring the distribution of total and central obesity by prefecture, we found some extensive areas of high rates, located primarily in the Aegean Sea, Crete and Ionian Sea for both genders.

HEALTH BEHAVIORS OF CHILDREN/ADOLESCENTS ON TOTAL/CENTRAL OBESITY

4 7

....

1 1 1

Further data analysis was conducted to assess the potential effect of demographic and proximal health behaviors (e.g. age, anthropometric and physical fitness measurements, adherence to the Mediterranean diet, physical and sedentary activity levels, and sleeping hours) on total and central obesity incidence in the whole sample, and in children and adolescents, separately. The initial logistic regression analysis in the whole sample (Table IV) revealed that for every one-year increase in the age the risk of total and central obesity was significantly decreased, while better performances in physical fitness measurements were associated with lower odds of being totally or centrally obese, in both genders. Moreover, compliance with current recommendations in lifestyle factors such as Mediterranean diet, physical activity levels, sleeping hours and sedentary activities seems to decrease odds of being totally or centrally obese, in both genders, with the exception of sleeping hours on centrally obese girls (p = 0.818).

Further analysis (Tab. V) by age groups (e.g. children, adolescents) showed some discrimination in the influence of lifestyle factors on total and central obesity, compared with the whole sample. Specifically, it appears that adequate levels of physical activity did not





have favorable influence on the incidence of total obesity, in children from both sexes. Also, in adolescents of both sexes, increased screen time did not associate with total obesity, while physical activity status and adherence to the Mediterranean diet had not significant effect in total obesity in adolescent boys and girls, respectively. Sleeping hours and physical activity levels of girls aged 4- to 11-y-old did not influence central obesity status. Moreover, in adolescence, physical activity levels in both sexes, screen time in boys and sleeping hours in girls, did not associated with central obesity.

Discussion

The major findings of our study, based on a epidemiologic, population-based survey indicate that: (a) boys and girls transitioned from childhood to adolescence at more favorable levels of adiposity, (b) central obesity exists in a significant proportion of overweight and normal weight (according to IOTF criteria) children and adolescents and (c) compliance with recommendations in Mediterranean diet, physical activity levels, sleeping hours and sedentary activities decrease the risk of total and central obesity, in both genders.

		Bo	oys *			Girls				
Age †	Total	Normal weight	Overweight	Obesity	Total	Normal weight	Overweight	Obesity		
Children		κ	κ							
4	58.2	53.1	90.6	100	60.2	52.9	93.8	97.8		
5	48.1	38.1	83.5	97.0	48.8	37.5	84.2	98.3		
6	33.7	19.8	68.6	92.7	34.7	19.1	68.0	93.9		
7	28.6	12.0	62.7	94.2	29.7	13.0	61.0	92.5		
8	30.3	10.1	66.2	94.9	30.9	11.2	65.2	92.1		
9	33.1	10.0	69.7	95.8	32.4	11.6	66.3	94.7		
10	35.0	11.1	74.1	96.2	31.4	11.0	67.2	94.8		
11	36.5	12.4	77.5	96.5	29.4	11.1	65.3	93.6		
B ± SE per year change	- 2.6 ± 1.3	- 5.4 ± 1.5	- 1.6 ± 1.4	- 0.22 ± 0.35	- 3.7 ± 1.1	– 5.4 ± 1.5	- 3.4 ± 1.3	- 0.54 ± 0.30		
P for trend	= 0.095	= 0.013	= 0.312	= 0.551	= 0.017	= 0.011	= 0.039	= 0.134		
Adolescents										
12	33.7	11.3	73.7	95.7	25.7	9.7	62.0	92.8		
13	28.4	8.0	63.0	94.5	21.1	8.0	55.4	92.8		
14	24.9	5.9	55.9	95.3	20.4	8.5	55.0	90.6		
15	21.5	5.3	51.2	93.8	20.6	9.6	56.6	93.3		
16	20.2	4.7	48.9	94.6	17.9	8.2	53.2	92.9		
17	21.9	5.7	53.3	96.6	21.1	9.9	58.6	90.0		
B ± SE per year change	- 2.5 ± 0.6	- 1.1 ± 0.4	- 4.3 ± 1.2	0.09 ± 0.26	- 0.93 ± 0.5	0.08 ± 0.22	- 0.63 ± 0.77	- 0.31 ± 0.34		
P for trend	= 0.013	= 0.039	= 0.027	= 0.360	= 0.135	= 0.746	= 0.46	= 0.40		

Tab. III. Central obesity (%) by BMI categories (IOTF definitions), gender and age, in 4 to 17-y-old Greek children.

t = completed age, e.g., 4 years = 4.00–4.99 years; * = p-value < 0.05 for differences between boys and girls from the same BMI category; the prevalence of abdominal obesity differs significantly between categories of BMI categories in both genders.

To update country data on childhood obesity and evaluate public health interventions, the EYZHN (National Action for Children's Health) program analyzed anthropometric, physical fitness measurements and several lifestyle factors for public and private schoolchildren in pre-elementary to middle school (4- to 17-y-old), using data from about 360,000 boys and girls.

Our study has several strengths. It was conducted in a wide age-range group and examined several anthropometric and lifestyle factors. Moreover, childhood is doubtless an advantageous period to apply effective obesity prevention strategies. At adolescence, physiological (e.g. pubertal stage) and behavioral (e.g. eating disorders, established dietary habits) factors may hold back prevention efforts. A second advantage of the presented data is that it is derived using the same standardized procedure of measurements and are based on almost all the child and adolescent population of Greece. Furthermore, the use of the IOTF cut-off points for BMI classification for thinness, normal-weight [13], overweight, and the obese [14], are the most proper for large epidemiological studies [15] and allow for direct comparisons of our results with those from other countries. Finally, primary and secondary education is compulsory in Greece and, therefore, we were able to study a great proportion of 4- to 17-y-old children and adolescents. The later overcomes the methodological flaws of previous studies performed in Greece that were heterogeneous in terms of design, target- population, quality, theoretical underpin-

.....

ning and outcome measures [9-12, 24], making impractical to compare study findings with the data from other similar projects.

Data from our representative sample of 4- to 17-y-old Greek children and adolescents indicate that the overall prevalence of obesity was higher in boys (9.0%) than in girls (7.5%), (p < 0.001). The overall rate of overweight was 22.2% in boys and 21.6% in girls. The prevalence of overweight children was higher in girls younger than 9-y-old, compared to boys, while the proportion of obese girls was elevated in comparison with boys only in 6-y-old and decreasing thereafter. Our findings regarding prevalence of overweight and obesity are consistent with previous data from different regions of Greece [4, 10-12, 24-25]. According to the WHO European Region, prevalence of childhood overweight (including obesity) varied significantly among European countries, ranged from 11% to 33%, with highest rates in Southern European countries (i.e. Greece 33%). In adolescence, prevalence of overweight (including obesity) ranged from 10% (i.e. the Russian Federation) to 23% (Greece) [26]. This study confirms the above notion and suggests that additional actions should be adopted for the treatment of obesity in our country. Boys and girls transitioned from childhood to adolescence had more favorable levels of overweight and obesity (total and central). Nevertheless, the reductions are less pronounced with girls compared with all children. Probably, dieting with advanced age, especially in girls,

Predictors	Total obesity OR (95% CI)	P-value	Central obesity OR (95% CI)	P-value
Boys	1			1
Age (per 1 year)	0.972 (0.966-0.978)	< 0.001	0.958 (0.955-0.962)	< 0.001
Waist circumference (per 1 cm)	1.136 (1.134-1.038)	< 0.001	-	-
Weight (per 1 kg)	-	-	1.036 (1.036-1.037)	< 0.001
Sit and reach test (per 1cm)	0.918 (0.915-0.920)	< 0.001	0.976 (0.974-0.977)	< 0.001
20 meters shuttle run test (per 1 stage)	0.931 (0.929-0.933)	< 0.001	0.955 (0.955-0.956)	< 0.001
10 x 5 meters shuttle run test (per 1 sec)	1.099 (1.094-1.103)	< 0.001	1.097 (1.094-1.101)	< 0.001
Sit-ups in 30 seconds (per 1 sit-up)	0.918 (0.915-0.920)	< 0.001	0.941 (0.940-0.943)	< 0.001
Standing long jump (per 1 cm)	0.995 (0.995-0.995)	< 0.001	0.996 (0.996-0.996)	< 0.001
Adherence to the Mediterranean diet (moderate/high vs low)	1.152 (1.087-1.212)	< 0.001	1.050 (1.002-1.092)	= 0.044
Sleeping hours (sufficient vs insufficient)	1.225 (1.168-1.286)	< 0.001	1.143 (1.109-1.177)	< 0.001
Screen time (acceptable vs increased time)	1.184 (1.123-1.247)	< 0.001	1.054 (1.020-1.099)	= 0.002
Physical activity levels (adequate vs inadequate)	1.037 (1.004-1.066)	= 0.034	1.035 (1.005-1.067)	= 0.023
Girls				
Age (per 1 year)	0.908 (0.901-0.914)	< 0.001	0.920 (0.917-0.924)	<0.001
Waist circumference (per 1 cm)	1.136 (1.133-1.038)	< 0.001	-	-
Weight (per 1 kg)	-	-	1.035 (1.034-1.036)	< 0.001
Sit and reach test (per 1 cm)	0.907 (0.904-0.910)	< 0.001	0.975 (0.973-0.977)	< 0.001
20 meters shuttle run test (per 1 stage)	0.902 (0.899-0.905)	< 0.001	0.945 (0.943-0.946)	< 0.001
10 x 5 meters shuttle run test (per 1 sec)	1.098 (1.093-1.103)	< 0.001	1.096 (1.092-1.100)	< 0.001
Sit-ups in 30 seconds (per 1 sit up)	0.907 (0.904-0.920)	< 0.001	0.939 (0.937-0.940)	< 0.001
Standing long jump (per 1 cm)	0.995 (0.995-0.996)	< 0.001	0.996 (0.996-0.996)	< 0.001
Adherence to the Mediterranean diet (moderate/high vs low)	1.120 (1.039-1.199)	= 0.006	1.069 (1.020-1.116)	= 0.008
Sleeping hours (sufficient vs insufficient)	1.102 (1.064-1.167)	= 0.001	0.996 (0.964-1.029)	0.818
Screen time (acceptable vs increased time)	1.155 (1.081-1.233)	< 0.001	1.086 (1.046-1.128)	< 0.001
Physical activity levels (adequate vs inadequate)	1.104 (1.046-1.166)	< 0.001	1.066 (1.034-1.098)	< 0.001

Tab. IV. Associations between demographic and health behaviours and unadjusted odds of total and central obesity, by gender.

could be an explanation for the reduction in overweight and obesity after 11 years of age. In fact, study from Yiannakoulia et al., (2004) found that the proportion of Greek girls reporting to be on a diet to lose weight was rising with age (from 11.5- to 15.5-y-old) [27]. The finding that overweight and obesity in boys and girls are declining across age has been reported in Greece and elsewhere [4, 5]. The fact that overweight and obesity were higher in the younger ages reveals that further targeted actions should be focused in these age groups.

Regarding thinness, there is little information in European children and no data from Greece. The prevalence of thinness in the present study is quite similar to that reported from other European countries. Specifical-

.....

	Total obesity OR (95% CI)				Central obesity OR (95% CI)				
	Childr	en	Adolesc	ents	Childr	en	Adolesce	Adolescents	
Boys									
Age (per 1 year)	0.977 (0.968-0.987)	< 0.001	0.936 (0.905-0.968)	< 0.001	1.044 (1.038-1.051)	< 0.001	0.898 (0.879-0.917)	< 0.001	
Waist circumference (per 1 cm)	1.177 (1.175-1.180)	< 0.001	1.248 (1.239-1.258)	< 0.001	-	-	-	-	
Weight (per 1 kg)	-	-	-	-	1.103 (1.102-1.105)	< 0.001	1.248 (1.239-1.258)	< 0.001	
Sit and reach test (per 1cm)	0.980 (0.977-0.993)	< 0.001	0.982 (0.977-0.985)	< 0.001	0.976 (0.975-0.978)	< 0.001	0.978 (0.974-0.981)	< 0.001	
20 meters shuttle run test (per 1 stage)	0.924 (0.922-0.926)	< 0.001	0.941 (0.937-0.945)	< 0.001	0.954 (0.953-0.955)	< 0.001	0.956 (0.954-0.958)	< 0.001	
10 x 5 meters shuttle run test (per 1 sec)	1.097 (1.092-1.102)	< 0.001	1.109 (1.097-1.120)	< 0.001	1.087 (1.084-1.091)	< 0.001	1.123 (1.113-1.133)	< 0.001	
Sit-ups in 30 seconds (per 1 sit-up)	0.919 (0.916-0.922)	< 0.001	0.877 (0.870-0.884)	< 0.001	0.950 (0.948-0.952)	< 0.001	0.895 (0.890-0.900)	< 0.001	
Standing long jump (per 1 cm)	0.995 (0.994-0.995)	< 0.001	0.996 (0.996-0.997)	< 0.001	0.996 (0.996-0.996)	< 0.001	0.997 (0.996-0.997)	< 0.001	
Adherence to Mediterranean diet (moderate/high vs low)	1.166 (1.089-1.237)	< 0.001	1.186 (1.067-1.290)	= 0.003	1.089 (1.036-1.139)	= 0.001	1.100 (1.018-1.176)	= 0.018	
Sleeping hours (sufficient vs insufficient)	1.191 (1.128-1.258)	< 0.001	1.315 (1.186-1.457)	< 0.001	1.136 (1.098-1.175)	< 0.001	1.090 (1.061-1.124)	= 0.010	
Screen time (acceptable vs increased time)	1.263 (1.188-1.343)	< 0.001	1.103 (0.994-1.224)	= 0.064	1.151 (1.107-1.196)	< 0.001	1.040 (0.975-1.110)	= 0.229	
Physical activity levels (adequate vs inadequate)	1.049 (0.991-1.109)	= 0.097	0.982 (0.886-1.088)	= 0.728	1.043 (1.008-1.080)	= 0.016	0.970 (0.911-1.034)	= 0.354	
Girls									
Age (per 1 year)	0.903 (0.893-0.913)	< 0.001	0.994 (0.949-1.040)	= 0.783	0.961 (0.955-0.968)	< 0.001	0.988 (0.966-1.011)	= 0.315	
Waist circumference (per 1 cm)	1.163 (1.160-1.166)	< 0.001	1.230 (1.219-1.241)	< 0.001	-	-	-	-	
Weight (per 1 kg)	-	-	-	-	1.030 (1.023-1.037)	< 0.001	1.073 (1.072-1.074)	< 0.001	
Sit and reach test (per 1 cm)	0.983 (0.980-0.985)	< 0.001	0.980 (0.973-0.987)	< 0.001	0.977 (0.975-0.979)	< 0.001	0.978 (0.974-0.981)	< 0.001	
20 meters shuttle run test (per 1 stage)	0.903 (0.900-0.907)	< 0.001	0.905 (0.894-0.915)	< 0.001	0.943 (0.942-0.945)	< 0.001	0.961 (0.957-0.964)	< 0.001	
10 x 5 meters shuttle run test (per 1 sec)	1.092 (1.087-1.098)	< 0.001	1.099 (1.086-1.113)	< 0.001	1.088 (1.084-1.092)	< 0.001	1.099 (1.089-1.110)	< 0.001	
Sit-ups in 30 seconds (per 1 sit up)	0.913 (0.910-0.917)	< 0.001	0.884 (0.873-0.895)	< 0.001	0.945 (0.943-0.947)	< 0.001	0.922 (0.916-0.928)	< 0.001	
Standing long jump (per 1 cm)	0.994 (0.994-0.995)	< 0.001	0.996 (0.996-0.997)	< 0.001	0.995 (0.995-0.996)	< 0.001	0.997 (0.997-0.998)	< 0.001	
Adherence to Mediterranean diet (low vs moderate/high)	1.229 (1.143-1.306)	< 0.001	1.095 (0.923-1.247)	= 0.284	1.159 (1.103-1.211)	< 0.001	1.124 (1.039-1.202)	= 0.005	
Sleeping hours (sufficient vs insufficient)	1.114 (1.045-1.187)	< 0.001	1.241 (1.082-1.223)	= 0.002	1.022 (0.985-1.060)	= 0.250	1.030 (0.960-1.105)	= 0.405	
Screen time (acceptable vs increased time)	1.319 (1.223-1.422)	< 0.001	1.125 (0.975-1.428)	= 0.108	1.224 (1.169-1.280)	< 0.001	1.134 (1.055-1.129)	= 0.001	
Physical activity levels (adequate vs inadequate)	1.038 (0.988-1.102)	= 0.220	1.157 (1.009-1.326)	= 0.036	1.012 (0.977-1.047)	= 0.487	1.059 (0.988-1.134)	= 0.106	

.....

ly, Boddy et al., 2008 [28], Martinez-Vizcaino et al., 2015 [29], and Lazzeri et al., 2008 [30] have reported overall prevalence of thinness ranging from 6.2% to 9.5% and found significantly higher prevalence in girls, a finding similar to ours. Furthermore, results in children and adolescents from 10 European countries and the USA are in accordance with our findings and proposed that girls and younger children presented higher prevalence of thinness compared to boys and older ones, respectively [31].

Waist to Height ratio has emerged as a central adiposity parameter and significant predictor of risk factors for cardiovascular disease in children and adolescents [9]. We assessed the prevalence of central obesity throughout childhood and adolescence and we specifically focused on its presence in normal weight and overweight children. Our findings proposed that boys were more likely to be centrally obese than girls (31.9% vs 29.5%, p < 0.001), and in line with current evidences from nationwide Greek survey of children and adolescents, based on WHtR measurements [19, 32]. On the contrary, a review of 29 studies by de Moraes et al., (2011) incorporate that is not clear what gender has a higher proportion [33]. In the total study population, 30% of children were centrally obese while almost two to three of overweight children and 12% of normal weight were classified as centrally obese. Central obesity rates in Greek children and adolescents are higher than those have reported in Swedish, English and Spanish children and adolescents [34-36], but quite similar to that incorporated from the USA [37] and Greece [11, 19]. In our study, prevalence of central obesity in children 4- to 5-yold was remarkably high (48 to 60%). Although, a value of 0.5 in WtHR indicates high sensitivity and specificity to detect obesity in individuals aged 6-18 years, results from a study of 5,725 Norwegian children and adolescents recommended that in younger children, this cutoff was not appropriate due to low specificity [38]. Moreover, according to Taylor et al., (2011), due to the residual correlation between WtHR and stature in children, the division of WC by height may be insufficient to properly adjust the height during growth [39]. Evidences from the Bogolusa Heart Study highlighted that normal weight and overweight children with central obesity had increased cardio-metabolic risk in comparison with overweight children without excessive abdominal fat [40]. Those findings, especially in Greece, are of particular concern because the simultaneous presentation of total and central obesity may demand specific intervention programs against abdominal fat accumulation.

To our knowledge this study is the first to examine the association of obesity with several modifiable lifestyle factors simultaneously, in a representative sample of 6-to 17-y-old boys and girls. Adherence to the Mediterranean diet, physical and sedentary activity levels, and physical fitness measurements associated with the risk of being obese (total or/and central) among Greek children and adolescents. The present study reveals that excess body weight was negatively associated with physical fitness in children and adolescents, a finding that is in

line with other studies supporting that obese children are not physically fit [41, 42]. The most obvious explanation is that excess weight is a disadvantageous parameter for performance, particularly for weight-bearing activities like running and jumping.

Nationally representative European studies collecting data with the use of a common data protocol on physical activity and nutrition habits, are limited. Specifically, the HBSC study targeting 11-, 13- and 15-y-old [43], the ENERGY study targeting 10/12-y-old [44] and the WHO European COSI study in 6 to 9-y-old children [45]. Our findings in the whole study group support the notion that adherence to Mediterranean diet, adequate physical activity levels, sufficient sleeping hours and acceptable screen time decrease the risk of total and central obesity, in both genders. In line with us, the HBSC study supported a strong and consistent negative association of overweight with dietary habits and physical activity, while the ENERGY study concluded that appropriate dietary behaviors, lack of physical activity and sedentary behaviors are regarded as potential risk factors for becoming overweight/obese [43, 44]. Furthermore, the COSI study in 6- to 9-y-old children from five countries speculated that unhealthy eating behaviors and spending screen time ≥ 2 h/d were positively associated with obesity [45]. In our study, no consistent relations (in children and adolescents) between adequate physical activity levels and total and/or central obesity were noted. Nevertheless, we did not find related studies to compare with for the associations of adequate physical activity with total and central obesity, in children and adolescents, separately.

Limitations of the present study include some methodological issues, and the fact that potential confounding factors, such as sexual maturation, genetic predisposition to obesity etc., have not been evaluated. Dietary habits, physical activity and sedentary time status are based on self-reported data that could be subject to socially desirable reporting bias. However, children responses were anonymous; therefore, participants had no reason to dissemble or misreport their answers. Moreover, although a standard protocol was used to measure anthropometric data, the large number of professionals that have participated as evaluators, may have introduced inter-observer measurement error. Finally, because of the large sample size, statistical significance can easily be achieved.

Conclusions

Despite the aforementioned limitations, this is the first study that reports on the most recent total and central obesity prevalence trends in Greek children and adolescents 4- to 17-y-old. Results revealed that total obesity and overweight rates of both sexes are alarmingly elevated while central obesity coexists in the most overweight and obese children and adolescents. An encouraging finding of our data was that obesity presented decreasing trends in the transition from childhood to adolescence. Finally, it seems that low physical fitness, low adherence

to Mediterranean diet, insufficient sleeping hours, inadequate physical activity levels and increased screen time constitute risk factors of obesity since all are associated with higher odds of total and central obesity. Serious and urgent actions need to be taken from public health policy makers affecting both social and market environment in order not only to prevent a further increase in overweight and obesity rates but, more importantly, to treat obesity and/or the obesity associated co-morbidities.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the Hellenic Ministry of Education and Religious Affairs, Secretariat General of Sports, OPAP S.A., Nestlé Hellas S.A., and the Department of Nutrition and Dietetics Graduate Program, Harokopio University of Athens. We thank Mr Art Berke for language editing, and proofreading.

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

KDT designed the study, performed the data collection and analysis and wrote the paper. DBP and GP participated in the design of the study and critically reviewed the paper. LSS was involved in the study design, manuscript writing and in overall supervision of the study.

References

- [1] James WP. The epidemiology of obesity: the size of the problem. J Intern Med 2008;263(6):336-52. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2008.247.
- [2] Kosti RI, Panagiotakos DB. The epidemic of obesity in children and adolescents in the world. Cent Eur J Public Health 2006; 14(4):151-9.
- [3] Tambalis KD, Panagiotakos DB, Kavouras SA, Kallistratos AA, Moraiti IP, Douvis SJ, Toutouzas PK, Sidossis LS. Elevenyear prevalence trends of obesity in Greek children: first evidence that prevalence of obesity is leveling off. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2010; 18(1):161-6. doi: 10.1038/oby.2009.188.
- [4] Kleanthous K, Dermitzaki E, Papadimitriou DT, Papaevangelou V, Papadimitriou A. Overweight and obesity decreased in Greek schoolchildren from 2009 to 2012 during the early phase of the economic crisis. Acta Paediatr 2016;105(2):200-5. doi: 10.1111/apa.13143.
- [5] Koebnick C, Mohan YD, Li X, Young DR. Secular trends of overweight and obesity in young Southern Californians 2008-2013. J Pediatr 2015;167(6):1264-71. doi: 10.1016/j. jpeds.2015.08.039.
- [6] Williams J, Wake M, Hesketh K, Maher E, Waters E. Healthrelated quality of life of overweight and obese children. JAMA 2005;293(1):70-6. doi: 10.1001/jama.293.1.70
- [7] Reilly JJ, Methven E, McDowell ZC, Hacking B, Alexander D, Stewart L, Kelnar CJ. Health consequences of obesity. Arch Dis Child 2003;88(9):748-52. doi: 10.1136/adc.88.9.748.
- [8] Després JP, Lemieux I, Bergeron J, Pibarot P, Mathieu P, Larose E, Rodés-Cabau J, Bertrand OF, Poirier P. Abdominal obesity and the metabolic syndrome: Contribution to global cardiometabolic risk. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2008(6);28:1039-49. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.159228.
- [9] Savva SC, Tornaritis M, Savva ME, Kourides Y, Panagi A, Si-

.....

likiotou N, Georgiou C, Kafatos A. Waist circumference and waist-to-height ratio are better predictors of cardiovascular disease risk factors in children than body mass index. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2000;24(11):1453-8.

[10] Grammatikopoulou MG, Poulimeneas D, Gounitsioti IS, Gerothanasi K, Tsigga M, Kiranas E; ADONUT Study Group. Prevalence of simple and abdominal obesity in Greek adolescents: the ADONUT study. Clin Obes 2014;4(6):303-8. doi: 10.1111/cob.12070.

- [11] Hassapidou M, Tzotzas T, Makri E, Pagkalos I, Kaklamanos I, Kapantais E, Abrahamian A, Polymeris A, Tziomalos K. Prevalence and geographic variation of abdominal obesity in 7and 9-year-old children in Greece; World Health Organization Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative 2010. BMC Public Health 2017;17(1):126. doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4061-x.
- [12] Hassapidou M, Daskalou E, Tsofliou F, Tziomalos K, Paschaleri A, Pagkalos I, Tzotzas T. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in preschool children in Thessaloniki, Greece. Hormones (Athens) 2015;14(4):615-22. doi: 10.14310/horm.2002.1601.
- [13] Cole T, Flegal K, Nicholls D, Jackson A. "Body mass index cut offs to define thinness in children and adolescents: international survey." BMJ 2007;335(7612):194--8. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.39238.399444.55.
- [14] Cole T, Bellizzi M, Flegal K, Dietz W. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. BMJ 2000;320(7244):1240-3.
- [15] World Health Organization (WHO). Physical Status: the use and interpretation of anthropometry: Tech Rep Series 854, 1995. Geneva: WHO.
- [16] Browning LM, Hsieh SD, Ashwell M. A systematic review of waist-to-height ratio as a screening tool for the prediction of cardiovascular disease and diabetes: 0.5 could be a suitable global boundary value. Nutr Res Rev 2010; 23(2):247-69. doi: 10.1017/S0954422410000144.
- [17] Council of Europe Committee of Experts on Sports Research (1993) Eurofit: handbook for the Eurofit tests of Physical fitness. 1-75.
- [18] Serra-Majem L, Ribas L, Ngo J, Ortega RM, García A, Pérez-Rodrigo C, Aranceta J. Food, youth and the Mediterranean diet in Spain. Development of KIDMED, Mediterranean Diet Quality Index in children and adolescents. Public Health Nutrition 2004;7(7):931-5. doi: 10.1079/PHN2004556.
- [19] Grigorakis DA, Georgoulis M, Psarra G, Tambalis KD, Panagiotakos DB, Sidossis LS. Prevalence and lifestyle determinants of central obesity in children. Eur J Nutr 2016;55(5):1923-31. doi: 10.1007/s00394-015-1008-9.
- [20] World Health Organization (WHO). Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2010.http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2010/9789241599979_eng.pdf. Accessed on 10/05/2017.
- [21] Colley RC, Janssen I, Tremblay MS. Daily step target to measure adherence to physical activity guidelines in children. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2012;44(5):977-82. doi: 10.1249/ MSS.0b013e31823f23b1.
- [22] Tremblay MS, Leblanc AG, Janssen I, Kho ME, Hicks A, Murumets K, Colley RC, Duggan M. Canadian sedentary behaviour guidelines for children and youth. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2011;36(1):59-64. doi: 10.1139/H11-012.
- [23] Paruthi S, Brooks LJ, D'Ambrosio C, Hall WA, Kotagal S, Lloyd RM, Malow BA, Maski K, Nichols C, Quan SF, Rosen CL, Troester MM, Wise MS. Consensus Statement of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine on the Recommended Amount of Sleep for Healthy Children: Methodology and Discussion. J Clin Sleep Med. 2016; 12(11):1549-1561. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.6288.
- [24] Patsopoulou A, Tsimtsiou Z, Katsioulis A, Rachiotis G, Malissiova E, Hadjichristodoulou C. Prevalence and risk factors of overweight and obesity among adolescents and their parents in Central Greece (FETA Project). Int J Environ Res Public Health 2015;13(1):83. doi: 10.3390/ijerph13010083.

[25] Georgiadis G, Nassis GP. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in a national representative sample of Greek children and adolescents. Eur J Clin Nutr 2007;61(9):1072-4. doi: 10.1038/ sj.ejcn.1602619.

- [26] http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/243337/ Summary-document-53-MS-country-profile.pdf?ua=1. Assessed on 11/06/2017.
- [27] Yannakoulia M, Karayiannis D, Terzidou M, Kokkevi A, Sidossis LS. Nutrition-related habits of Greek adolescents. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2004;58(4):580-6. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601849.
- [28] Boddy LM, Hackett AF, Stratton G. The prevalence of underweight in 9- and 10-year-old schoolchildren in Liverpool: 1998-2006. Public Health Nutr 2009;12(7):953-6. doi: 10.1017/ S136898000800311X.
- [29] Martínez-Vizcaíno V, Solera-Martínez M, Cavero-Redondo I, García-Prieto JC, Arias-Palencia N, Notario-Pacheco B, Martínez-Andrés M, Mota J, Sánchez-López M; Cuenca Study Group. Association between parental socioeconomic status with underweight and obesity in children from two Spanish birth cohorts: a changing relationship. BMC Public Health 2015;15:1276.doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2569-5.
- [30] Lazzeri G, Rossi S, Pammolli A, Pilato V, Pozzi T, Giacchi MV. Underweight and overweight among children and adolescents in Tuscany (Italy). Prevalence and short-term trends. J Prev Med Hyg. 2008; 49(1):13-21.
- [31] Lazzeri G, Rossi S, Kelly C, Vereecken C, Ahluwalia N, Giacchi MV. Trends in thinness prevalence among adolescents in ten European countries and the USA (1998-2006): a cross-sectional survey. Public Health Nutr 2014;17(10):2207-15. doi: 10.1017/ S1368980013002541.
- [32] Tzotzas T, Kapantais E, Tziomalos K, Ioannidis I, Mortoglou A, Bakatselos S, Kaklamanou M, Lanaras L, Kaklamanou D. Prevalence of overweight and abdominal obesity in Greek children 6-12 years old: Results from the National Epidemiological Survey. Hippokratia 2011; 15(1): 48–53.
- [33] de Moraes AC, Fadoni RP, Ricardi LM, Souza TC, Rosaneli CF, Nakashima AT, Falcão MC. Prevalence of abdominal obesity in adolescents: a systematic review. Obes Rev 2011;12(2):69-77. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00753.x.
- [34] McCarthy HD, Ashwell M. A study of central fatness using waist-to-height ratios in UK children and adolescents over two decades supports the simple message–'keep your waist circumference to less than half your height'. Int J Obes (Lond) 2004; 30(6):988-92. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803226.
- [35] Ortega FB, Ruiz JR, Vicente-Rodríguez G, Sjöström M. Central adiposity in 9- and 15-year-old Swedish children from the European Youth Heart Study. Int J Pediatr Obes 2008;3(4):212-6. doi: 10.1080/17477160802068965.
- [36] Schröder H, Ribas L, Koebnick C, Funtikova A, Gomez SF, Fíto M, Perez-Rodrigo C, Serra-Majem L. Prevalence of abdominal obesity in Spanish children and adolescents. Do we Need Waist

Circumference Measurements in Pediatric Practice? PLoS One 2014;27;9(1):e87549. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0087549.

- [37] Li C, Ford ES, Mokdad AH, Cook S. Recent trends in waist circumference and waist-height ratio among US children and adolescents. Pediatrics 2006;118(5):e1390-8. doi: 10.1542/ peds.2006-1062.
- [38] Brannsether B, Roelants M, Bjerknes R, Júlíusson PB. Waist circumference and waist-to-height ratio in Norwegian children 4-18 years of age: reference values and cut-off levels. Acta Paediatr 2011;100(12):1576-82. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2011.02370.x.
- [39] Taylor RW, Williams SM, Grant AM, Taylor BJ, Goulding A. Predictive ability of waist-to-height in relation to adiposity in children is not improved with age and sex-specific values. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2011;19(5):1062-8. doi: 10.1038/ oby.2010.217.
- [40] Mokha JS, Srinivasan SR, Dasmahapatra P, Fernandez C, Chen W, Xu J, Berenson GS. Utility of waist-to-height ratio in assessing the status of central obesity and related cardiometabolic risk profile among normal weight and overweight/obese children: the Bogalusa Heart Study. BMC Pediatr 2010;10:73. doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-10-73.
- [41] Sacchetti R, Ceciliani A, Garulli A, Masotti A, Poletti G, Beltrami P, Leoni E. Physical fitness of primary school children in relation to overweight prevalence and physical activity habits. J Sports Sci 2012;30(7):633-40. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2012.661070.
- [42] Tambalis KD, Panagiotakos DB, Arnaoutis G, Sidossis LS. Endurance, explosive power and muscle strength in relation to Body Mass Index and physical fitness in Greek children aged 7 to 10-y-old. Pediatric Exercise Science 2013;25(3):394-406.
- [43] Dupuy M, Godeau E, Vignes C, Ahluwalia N. Socio-demographic and lifestyle factors associated with overweight in a representative sample of 11 to 15-year-old in France: results from the WHO-Collaborative Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health 2011;11:442. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-442.
- [44] Brug J, van Stralen MM, teVelde SJ, Chinapaw MJ, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Lien N, Bere E, Maskini V, Singh AS, Maes L, Moreno L, Jan N, Kovacs E, Lobstein T, Manios Y. Differences in weight status and energy-balance related behaviours among schoolchildren across Europe: the ENERGYproject. PLoS One 2012;7:e34742. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0034742.
- [45] Wijnhoven TM, van Raaij JM, Yngve A, Sjöberg A, Kunešová M, Duleva V, Petrauskiene A, Rito AI, Breda J. WHO European Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative: health-risk behaviours on nutrition and physical activity in 6-9-year-old schoolchildren. Public Health Nutr 2015;18(17):3108-24. doi: 10.1017/S1368980015001937.

.....

Received on June 24, 2017. Accepted on January 29, 2018.

Correspondence: Labros S. Sidossis, Department of Kinesiology and Health, 70 Lipman Drive, New Brunswick, NJ 08901-8525. Tel. 848-932-9512 - E-mail: lsidossis@kines.rutgers.edu **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

A screening focusing on aftereffects of alcohol consumption in a student population. A National cross-sectional survey

J. HAZART¹, M. BLANQUET^{1, 2}, A. DEBOST-LEGRAND^{2, 3}, A. PERREVE⁴, S. LEGER^{5, 6}, V. MARTOIA⁷, S. MAURICE⁸, G. BROUSSE^{9, 10}, L. GERBAUD^{1, 2}

¹ Service de Santé Publique, CHU de Clermont-Ferrand, 63058 Clermont-Ferrand CEDEX 1 France; ² Université Clermont Auvergne, CNRS-UMR 6602, Institut Pascal, Axe TGI, Groupe PEPRADE, 63 000 Clermont-Ferrand, France; 3 Pôle Femme Et Enfant, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Clermont-Ferrand, Clermont-Ferrand, France; ⁴ Service de Santé Universitaire, 63000 Clermont-Ferrand; ⁵ Université Clermont Auvergne, Université Blaise Pascal, Laboratoire de Mathématiques BP 10448 F-63000, Clermont-Ferrand, France; ⁶ CNRS, UMR 6620, Laboratoire de Mathématiques, F-63171 Aubière, France; ⁷ Centre de santé interuniversitaire, Université Grenoble Alpes, 38400 Saint Martin d'Hères, France; ⁸ ISPED, Université de Bordeaux, 33076 Bordeaux CEDEX; 9 Service Psychiatrie et Addictologie de l'Adulte CMP B, CHU de Clermont-Ferrand, Clermont-Ferrand, France, 10 EA 7280 UFR Médecine, Université Clermont 1, Clermont-Ferrand, France

Keywords

Alcohol drinking • College students • Prevention • Alcohol misuse • Screening tool

Summary

Introduction. Students overestimate alcohol consumption of those around them and underestimate their own, so that quantitative approach may not be the most relevant to assess students' drinking. The main objective was to provide an appropriate tool for screening for students with potential drinking problems.

Methods. A multicentre cross-sectional survey was conducted by internet between February and June, 2013 in France. Thirteen questions explored alcohol consumption, including 8 concerning after-effects of drinking episodes (4 items of the AUDIT) and alcohol behaviour (CAGE test). A multiple correspondence analysis (MCA) was conducted to identify profiles of student's alcohol consumption. Partitioning methods were used to group students by mode of alcohol use. The most relevant items included in the MCA were identified. Three questions were identified as most pertinent among the students with potential drinking problems and

Introduction

Addictive behaviour in students, especially alcohol misuse, is a subject of major concern that has been widely investigated in the literature [1-3]. The negative physical, psychological and sexual consequences associated with alcohol misuse are well known [1-3]. In their study of US college students, Hingson et al. estimated that in a student population of 8,530,318, 10.5% (599,000) were injured in 2001 due to drinking, 12.0% (696,000) were assaulted or hit, and 2.0% (97,000) experienced sexual assault or date rape by another drinking college student [1]. This team later reported that in 1998, 1440 students and in 2005 1825 students from different student populations died from alcohol-related unintentional injuries, for a 3% increase in the rate per 100,000 students per year [2]. Saewyc et al. showed that 16% of both female and male university students had been vic-

ranked by a decision tree with the Chi-square Automatic Interaction Detector method. Finally, we assessed the generalisation of the model.

Results. A total of 36,427 students participated in the survey: 25,679 were women (70.5% of respondents), sex ratio 0.42 and mean aged 21.2 (sd 3.7 years). Among those who had experimented with alcohol (N = 33,113), three consumption profiles were identified: "simple/non-use" (66.9%), "intermediate consumption" (25.9%) and "problem drinking" (7.2%). For the latter group, the three most relevant items were (Q20) "not able to stop drinking after starting", (Q21) "failed to do what was normally expected", and (Q23) "unable to remember what happened the night before".

Conclusions. These results provide healthcare professionals with a 3-item screening tool for students "problem drinking".

tims of emotional or physical violence closely related to alcohol misuse [3].

In France, the university student health services (USHS) are responsible for health promotion, surveillance and prevention for students, including screening for addiction problems.

It is difficult for individuals to quantify alcohol consumption, above a certain quantity that varies from person to person [4, 5]. The general population and most particularly young men misperceive their alcohol intake [5-7], as do students, who tend to overestimate that of those around them and underestimate their own [8-10]. In this context, it may be more relevant to identify misuse by measuring the negative consequences of drinking trough specific questionnaire items.

The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) is a self-administered questionnaire of 10 items used to screen for problem drinkers, that is, those whose alco-

hol use during the past year has been harmful or placed them at risk; it has shown good metrological properties in student populations [11, 12]. Its shorter versions, AUDIT-C, AUDIT*2, and AUDIT*3, have also been evaluated among students; like it, they include a quantitative assessment of alcohol consumption and seek to identify which version is most appropriate for screening for excessive drinking in this population [12-15]. They have shown sensitivity ranging from 80% to more than 90% and specificity from 82% to 95% or more and perform at least as effectively as AUDIT [12-14]. To our knowledge, the AUDIT questions that measure excessive consumption of alcohol by its negative effects on memory and behaviour (items 4, 5, 7 and 8) have not been compared with the complete AUDIT questionnaire to measure their screening performance.

Consequently, in order to improve screening of students with drinking problems, the association of directors of French university health centres (Association des Directeurs des Services de Santé Universitaire-ADSSU), the Interministerial mission for combatting drugs and addictive behaviour (Mission Interministérielle de Lutte contre les Drogues et les Conduites Addictives-MILDECA) and the conference of university presidents (Conférence des Présidents d'Université-CPU) set up a project supported by the French Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research.

The principal objective of this study was to provide an appropriate tool for screening for potential student drinking problem.

Methods

A multicentre cross-sectional survey was conducted by internet between February 2 and June 30, 2013 in France. An email was sent by participating USHS to students' digital workspaces.

QUESTIONNAIRE

The questionnaire was devised by a working group from the USHS of Bordeaux, Clermont-Ferrand, and Grenoble, associated with the ADSSU. Relevant items were selected from a review of the literature, with special reference to four French and European surveys (http://www.ovenational.education.fr/; http://www.ofdt.fr/) [16-18]. The questionnaire comprised 76 items that explored sociodemographic and educational characteristics, substance use, physical, psychological, and sexual violence, physical and mental health, social deprivation, and unmet health care needs (Supplemental Table A).

Thirteen questions explored alcohol consumption (Q15-Q23 and Q28-Q31). Four assessed alcohol consumption (as a regular habit), the quantity of alcohol drunk over the past year, in the past 30 days, on a single occasion, and one question measured the number of times the individual had been drunk, according to the OFDT definitions (Q15-Q19) [19]. Eight questions analysed excess alcohol consumption. Four questions came from AUDIT, two that asked about symptoms of dependence (Q20-

Q21) and two about harmful use of alcohol (Q22-Q23). These questions were (Q20) "How often during the past year have you found that you were not able to stop drinking once you had started?", (Q21) "How often during the past year have you failed to do what was normally expected from you because of drinking?", (Q22) "How often during the last year have you had a feeling of guilt or remorse after drinking?", and (Q23) "How often during the last year have you been unable to remember what happened the night before because you had been drinking?" The following responses were available: never; less than once a month; once a month; more than once a month; once a week or more. Four questions came from the Cut-Annoyed-Guilty-Eye-opener (CAGE) test (Q28-Q31), which measures problems associated with alcohol consumption at any point in life. The responses to these questions was yes or no: (Q28) "Have you ever felt you needed to cut down on your drinking?", (Q29) "Have people annoyed you by criticising your drinking?", (Q30) "Have you ever felt guilty about drinking?", and (Q31) "Have you ever felt you needed a drink first thing in the morning (eye-opener) to steady your nerves or to get rid of a hangover?" [20].

The online version of the study questionnaire was developed by the Bordeaux School of Public Health (ISPED). Only complete questionnaires were considered. The database was anonymous, created by ISPED, and approved by the French data protection authority (CNIL).

POPULATION

All French USHS (N = 54) were invited to participate in the study. In all, 33, at universities located across France and enrolling 537,092 French students, distributed the questionnaire. Paris-area universities are underrepresented in this group. Among the USHS that did not participate, 10 conducted a different survey (I-share), and the others did not have access to student lists. All students in participating universities were asked to participate through their university e-mail address. Response was fully voluntary.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

To make the sample representative of the study population, the data were weighted for gender and university discipline with the raking ratio technique. The adjustment was based on data furnished by the French ministry of higher education and research (http://www.enseignementsup-research.gouv.fr/cid77397/les-effectifs-d-etudiantsdans-le-superieur-en-2012-2013.html). Except for the two variables used for the weighting, all results presented have been weighted.

Descriptive analysis was performed to assess overall and quantitative variables, by calculating percentages and their 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) and means with their standard deviations (sd), respectively. Bivariate analysis was performed with the Chi-square test for qualitative variables and Student's t-test for quantitative variables.

Among the 13 questions exploring alcohol use, the 10 most informative alcohol-related items were kept: the

number of glasses consumed on a single occasion and the number of episodes of drunkenness during the past year, as well as Q20-Q23 and Q28-Q31. A multiple correspondence analysis (MCA) was conducted to identify profiles of consumption by detecting its underlying patterns. We next identified the three items most relevant to characterising each homogeneous pattern cluster by calculating the Cramer's V. Then, we ranked these three questions identified as most pertinent among the students with potential drinking problems by a decision tree with the Chi-square Automatic Interaction Detection (CHAID) method (a decision tree technique, based on adjusted significance testing) [21-23].

The last step of the statistical analysis assessed the generalizability of our model. The database (33,113 students who had experimented with alcohol) was divided in two parts, a learning group (75% of the sample, 24,689 students) and a validation group (25%, 8424 students) through the measurement of a global error rate, an underestimated error rate and an overestimated error rate. Significance was defined by a threshold of 5% for all statistical tests. Statistical analysis was performed with

SAS software (V9.2. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, 2002-2003) and R-3.1.1.

Results

In all, 36,427 students responded to the survey: 25,679 young women (70.5%) and 10,748 young men (29.5%), for a sex ratio of 0.42. Their mean age was 21.2 (sd 3.7) years. The academic divisions enrolling the most respondents were science and technology, agronomics, industry, and teaching (29.0%), arts, letters, languages, and human and social science (24.6%), and health (19.2%) (Tab. I).

Overall, 91.3% of students had experimented with alcohol and 79.0% had used alcohol in the last 30 days; 59.0% reported they had been drunk at least once in the past year (Tab. II). Of students who had experimented with alcohol, 6.9% reported being unable to stop drinking once they had started, 4.9% that they had failed to do what was normally expected from them, 6.0% that they felt guilt or remorse after drinking, and 6.0% that they could not remember what happened the night before at least once in the past month. All harmful alcohol use symptoms were reported more frequently by men (Tab. III).

Among those who had experimented with alcohol (N = 33,113), three consumption profiles were identified: "simple/non-use" (22,164 students, 66.9%), "intermediate consumption" (8,553 students, 25.9%) and "problem drinking" (2,396 students, 7.2%) (Fig. 1). For the "problem drinking" group, the three most relevant items were (Q20) "not able to stop drinking after starting", (Q21) "failed to do what was normally expected", and (Q23) "unable to remember what happened the night before" (Supplemental Table B). In the decision tree, those three relevant items were ranked as follows: (Q23) (Q20), and (Q21).

......

Tab. I. Socio-demographic and higher education characteristics of overall students included in the survey.

	N ^a	% ^b (n ^c)	m ^d (sd ^e)
Gender (women)*	36427	70.5 (2,5679)	
Age	36378		21.2 (3.7)
Academic division*	36427		
Science and Technology, Agronomics, Industry, Teaching		29.0 (10,558)	
Art, Letters and Languages, Human and Social sciences		24.6 (8,967)	
Health		19.2 (6,978)	
University institute of Technology		11.1 (4,029)	
Law, Political sciences		8.2 (2,991)	
Commerce, Economic sciences, Management		5.8 (2,097)	
Sport		2.2 (807)	

a = number of individuals with information about the variable; b = percentage; c = number of individuals with that response category; d = means; e = standard deviation; * = non-weighted data.

From the learning portion of the sample (N = 24,689), the three most relevant questions for identifying students with drinking problems were ranked as follows: (Q23) " unable to remember what happened the night before", (Q20) "not able to stop drinking after starting", and (Q21) "failed to do what was normally expected". Among the students who reported that they could not remember who happened the night before (Q23) "at least once a month", 40.3% belonged to the group with drinking problems (Supplemental Material 2), while among those who reported that they were unable to stop drinking (Q20) more than once a month, 15.0% did, as did 6.7% of those who reported that they were unable to do what was normally expected (Q21) more than once a month. Overall, 84.5% of the students in the "problem drinking" group were correctly identified by using a simple decision tree. Inversely, the response "never" to those three questions correctly identified 70.0% of the students belonging to the "simple/non-use" group (Fig. 2).

Thus this model, with three simple questions (unable to remember after drinking, not able to stop drinking, failed to do what was expected due to alcohol intake), has good sensibility and enough specificity for identifying students at risk. This indicates that it might be a good tool for screening.

Discussion

The students with drinking problems can be identified during rapid screening in daily practice, by asking three probing questions, all from AUDIT.

Our results are consistent with those of the 2010 French Health Barometer concerning the annual prevalence of at least one episode of drunkenness (59.0% vs 50.9%,

	Total* N = 36427 %ª (n ^b)	Males** N = 10748 % ^a (n ^b)	Females** N = 25679 % ^a (n ^b)	р
Alcohol use				
Experimentation	91.3 (33113)	91.9 (9853)	90.9 (23260)	< 0.0001
\geq 1 use in the last 30 days	79.0 (28197)	82.9 (8858)	76.1 (19339)	< 0.0001
\geq 10 use in the last 30 days	8.8 (2615)	14.4 (1470)	4.6 (1145)	< 0.0001
≥ 1 use per day	1.9 (522)	3.3 (332)	0.8 (190)	< 0.0001
\geq 1 drunkenness in the last year	59.0 (20498)	66.6 (7095)	53.2 (13403)	< 0.0001
\geq 3 drunkenness in the last year	33.9 (11076)	43.8 (4595)	26.3 (6481)	< 0.0001
Drinks on a single occasion < 0.000	1			
≤ 4 drinks on a single occasion	70.0 (24154)	60.2 (5965)	77.6 (18189)	
5 or 6 drinks on a single occasion	16.5 (5194)	19.0 (1875)	14.6 (3319)	
7 or 9 drinks on a single occasion	7.7 (2252)	10.5 (1006)	5.5 (1246)	
\geq 10 drinks on a single occasion	5.8 (1513)	10.4 (1007)	2.3 (506)	

Tab. II. Descriptive and bivariate analyses of alcohol use among overall students included in the survey.

a = percentage; b = number of individuals with this response category; c = with at least two positive answers; * = data weighted on gender and academic division; * = data weighted on academic division.

Tab. III. Another descriptive and bivariate analyses of alcohol use characteristics among male and female students who had experimented with alcohol.

	Total* N = 33113 %ª (n ^b)	Men** N = 9853 %ª (n ^b)	Women** N = 23260 % ^a (n ^b)	р
Not able to stop drinking once you had started (Yes)				< 0.0001
< 1 time per month	9.3 (2,882)	11.0 (1,073)	8.0 (1,809)	
≥ 1 time per month	6.9 (1,851)	10.2 (931)	4.3 (920)	
Failed to do what was normally expected from you because of drinking (Yes)				< 0.0001
< 1 time per month	14.0 (4,348)	16.4 (1,580)	12.1 (2,768)	
≥ 1 time per month	4.9 (1,326)	7.3 (649)	3.2 (677)	
Had a feeling of guilt or remorse after drinking (Yes)				< 0.0001
< 1 time per month	19.9 (6,402)	21.3 (2,055)	18.9 (4,347)	
≥ 1 time per month	6.0 (1,688)	7.8 (699)	4.6 (989)	
Unable to remember what happened the night before because you had been drinking (Yes)				< 0.0001
< 1 time per month	18.5 (5,752)	22.6 (2,228)	15.3 (3,524)	
≥ 1 time per month	6.0 (1,671)	8.8 (856)	3.8 (815)	
Have you ever felt you should cut down on your drinking? (Yes)	14.7 (4,303)	18.6 (1,721)	11.6 (2,582)	< 0.0001
Have people annoyed you by criticising your drinking? (Yes)	10.7 (3,033)	15.8 (1,505)	6.8 (1,528)	< 0.0001
Have you ever felt you are drinking too much? (Yes)	17.3 (5,139)	22.7 (2,169)	13.2 (2,970)	< 0.0001
Have you ever had a drink first thing in the morning to steady your nerves or to get rid of a hangover (eye opener)? (Yes)	1.2 (309)	1.9 (164)	0.7 (145)	< 0.0001
CAGE-Alcohol positive ^c	12.8 (3,716)	17.3 (1,619)	9.4 (2,097)	< 0.0001

a = percentage; b = number of individuals with that response category; c = with at least two positive answers; * = data weighted on gender and academic division; ** = data weighted on academic division.

respectively) and those of the Eurobarometer concerning binge drinking (responding yes to "I usually consume five servings of alcohol or more on the days I drink" (27.4% vs 22%) [24]. Similar results were also observed concerning the amount drunk at one time despite a different threshold and time period (30.7% vs 27.4%) [25].

.....

E51





The 30-day prevalence of alcohol consumption among the US university students whose alcohol use was assessed by the ACHA-NCHAII (66.8%) and the Monitoring the Future (MTF) surveys (63.1%) was lower than in our study (79.0%) [26, 27]. Nonetheless, results for the percentage of students who had been drunk at least once were quite similar: The MTF survey reported that 57.9% of American university students had been drunk at least one time in the last 12 months, compared with 59.0% in our survey. Moreover, 32.3% of the American students in the ACHA-NCHAII survey admitted to having forgotten where they were or what they had done under the influence of alcohol, a percentage moderately higher than among French students (24.5%).

One of the issues underlying this study was students' misperceptions of their own alcohol consumption. Our study appears to show a recall bias associated with excessive alcohol consumption. The approaches based on the quantity of alcohol drunk appeared to be much more less discriminant for identifying groups of students at high risk than the questions about the consequences of their drinking. For students with drinking problems, the questions on negative effects on memory and behaviour are informative and contribute to identifying students at high risk. Students thus appear to underestimate the real quantity of alcohol they drank and overlook guilt feelings, but have better perception and report more accurately the consequences of drinking in terms of amnesia, loss of control, and inability to do what was expected of them [4, 5].

.....

To our knowledge, this is the first nationwide study in France intended to analyse students' practices related to addiction. The Health Barometer analyses the health of the French but not specifically that of students and the OVE conducts studies of students without specifically focusing on their health status. This multicentre crosssectional study was conducted among a very large sample of students. It is nonetheless impossible to estimate the students' participation rates, because the Ministry of Education could not provide student enrolment data by university for the year the study took place. Participation varied according to university. Some students could not be asked to participate because we did not obtain the agreement of their university's communication department. The results are nonetheless homogeneous between the participating universities.

Healthcare professionals but also public authorities now have available three questionnaire items that can be used to assess alcohol consumption and are relevant both for early, routine identification and for initiating prevention campaigns among students with problem drinking. These questions meet the needs of healthcare professionals who have wanted to be able to conduct rapid screening in their everyday practice [28, 29]. Once this screening and identification has been performed, several methods of management are possible: intervention by a healthcare professional, peers, or even self-management on the internet [30-32]. A strategy of correction of misperceptions has also proved effective [33].



The continuation of this work also leads us to approach this research field from another angle. Do the three questions we identified only allow us to identify students who are problem drinkers through the negative consequences that excessive drinking can have? Or do they further allow us to identify difficulties in controlling alcohol consumption that thus reveal vulnerability to future dependence on it? If the latter is the case, these three questions must be considered factors of vulnerability, similar to those previously identified: age at the beginning of drinking, alcohol consumption and drunkenness in middle school and high school, and the frequency of negative effects of alcohol consumption [34].

Conclusions

Questions about the inability to remember what happened the night before, inability to stop drinking, and inability to do what one is normally expected to do provide information that can be used to screen students with drinking problems, using a threshold frequency of at least once a month. These three key points may also be factors of vulnerability to alcohol. The development of management strategies incorporating them is essential.

Acknowledgements

We thank the French Ministry of Education and in particular Mr. S. Carton at the Authority for Higher Education and Integration into the Workplace (Direction Générale de l'Enseignement Supérieur et de l'Insertion Professionnelle-DGESIP). We are grateful to the Conference of University Presidents (Conférence des Présidents d'Université-CPU) and extend special thanks to Mme C. Marseault. We thank Dr Pascal Courty and Dr Michel Zorman.

The surveys were funded by the Ministerial Agency against Drug Abuse and Addictive Behaviour (Mission Interministérielle de Lutte contre les Drogues et les Conduites Addictives-MILDECA).

The author declares that there is no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

JH, AP, VM, SM and LG developed the protocol of the study. JH and SL performed the statistical analysis. All authors interpreted the results. MB, ADL, GB and LG wrote the article, the other authors read it and made revisions for significant content. All authors had full control of the content of the article.

References

- Hingson R, Heeren T, Winter M, Wechsler H. Magnitude of alcohol-related mortality and morbidity among U.S. college students ages 18-24: changes from 1998 to 2001. Annu Rev Public Health 2005;26:259-79.
- [2] Hingson RW, Zha W, Weitzman ER. Magnitude of and trends in alcohol-related mortality and morbidity among U.S. college students ages 18-24, 1998-2005. J Stud Alcohol Drugs Suppl 2009;12-20.
- [3] Saewyc EM, Brown D, Plane M, Mundt MP, Zakletskaia L, Wiegel J, Fleming MF. Gender differences in violence exposure among university students attending campus health clinics in the United States and Canada. J Adolesc Health Off Publ Soc Adolesc Med 2009;45:587-94.
- [4] Northcote J, Livingston M. Accuracy of self-reported drinking: observational verification of « last occasion » drink estimates of young adults. Alcohol Alcohol Oxf Oxfs 2011;46:709-13.
- [5] Garnett C, Crane D, West R, Michie S, Brown J, Winstock A. Normative misperceptions about alcohol use in the general population of drinkers: a cross-sectional survey. Addict Behav 2015;42:203-6.
- [6] Cunningham JA, Neighbors C, Wild TC, Humphreys K. Normative misperceptions about alcohol use in a general population sample of problem drinkers from a large metropolitan city. Alcohol Alcohol Oxf Oxfs 2012;47:63-6.
- [7] Wild TC. Personal drinking and sociocultural drinking norms: a representative population study. J Stud Alcohol 2002;63:469-75.
- [8] American College Health Association. The ACHA-National College Health Assessment II survey- Spring 2015 Reference Group Executive Summary. American College Health Association; 2015 p. 20.
- [9] Neighbors C, Dillard AJ, Lewis MA, Bergstrom RL, Neil TA. Normative misperceptions and temporal precedence of perceived norms and drinking. J Stud Alcohol 2006;67:290-9.
- [10] Kypri K, Langley JD. Perceived social norms and their relation to university student drinking. J Stud Alcohol 2003;64:829-34.
- [11] Cortés-Tomás M-T, Giménez-Costa J-A, Motos-Sellés P, Sancerni-Beitia M-D. Different versions of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) as screening instruments for underage binge drinking. Drug Alcohol Depend 2016;158:52-9.
- [12] Blank M-L, Connor J, Gray A, Tustin K. Screening for hazardous alcohol use among university students using individual questions from the alcohol use disorders identification testconsumption. Drug Alcohol Rev 2015; Apr 13. doi: 10.1111/ dar.12272. [Epub ahead of print].
- [13] Cortés-Tomás M-T, Giménez-Costa J-A, Motos-Sellés P, Sancerni-Beitia M-D. Different versions of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) as screening instruments for underage binge drinking. Drug Alcohol Depend 2016;158:52-9.
- [14] Demartini KS, Carey KB. Optimizing the use of the AUDIT for alcohol screening in college students. Psychol Assess 2012;24:954-63.
- [15] Bush K, Kivlahan DR, McDonell MB, Fihn SD, Bradley KA. The AUDIT alcohol consumption questions (AUDIT-C): an effective brief screening test for problem drinking. Ambulatory Care Quality Improvement Project (ACQUIP). Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test. Arch Intern Med 1998;158:1789-95.
- [16] Hibell B, Guttormsson U, Ahlström S, Balakireva O, Bjarnason T, Kokkevi A, Kraus L. The 2011 ESPAD Report. Substance use among students in 36 European Countries. The Swedish Council for Information on Alcohol and Other Drugs (CAN); 2011 p. 394.
- [17] La santé mentale des jeunes en insertion [Internet]. [cité 11 mars 2016]. Disponible sur: http://docplayer.fr/6496053-Lasante-mentale-des-jeunes-en-insertion.html.

.....

[18] Office Français des Drogues et Toxicomanies. Cannabis, alcool, tabac et autres drogues à la find e l'adolescence: usages et évolutions récentes ESCAPAD 2003. OFDT - Paris. 2004;4.

.....

- [19] Richard J-B, Palle C, Guignard R, Nguyen-Thanh V, Beck F, Arwidson. La consommation d'alcool en France en 2014. Evolutions. 2015;6.
- [20] Mayfield D, McLeod G, Hall P. The CAGE questionnaire: validation of a new alcoholism screening instrument. Am J Psychiatry 1974;131:1121-3.
- [21] Roux BL, Rouanet H. Geometric data analysis: from correspondence analysis to structured data analysis [Internet]. Springer Netherlands; 2005 [cité 9 févr 2018]. Disponible sur: //www.springer.com/gp/book/9781402022357.
- [22] kass80.pdf [Internet]. [cité 9 févr 2018]. Disponible sur: http:// www4.stat.ncsu.edu/~dickey/Analytics/Datamine/Reference%20Papers/kass80.pdf.
- [23] Greenacre M, Blasius J. Multiple Correspondence Analysis and Related Methods [Internet]. CRC Press. 2006 [cité 9 févr 2018]. Disponible sur: https://www.crcpress.com/Multiple-Correspondence-Analysis-and-Related-Methods/Greenacre-Blasius/p/book/9781584886280.
- [24] European Commission. EU citizens' attitudes towards alcohol [Internet]. 2010 p. 129. Report No.: 331. Disponible sur: http:// ec.europa.eu/public_opinion/archives/eb_special_339_320_ en.htm.
- [25] Richard J-B, Beck F, Spilka F. Alcohol consumption among young adults (18-25 years) in 2010 in France: specificities and trends since 2005. Bull Epidémiologique Hebd 2013;16-17.
- [26] American College Health Association. American College Health Association- National College Health Assessment Spring 2014 Reference Group Executive Summary. 2014 p. 19 pages.
- [27] Johnston LD, O'Malley PM, Bachman JG, Schulenberg JE, Miech RA. Monitoring the Future national survey results on drug use, 1975-2013: Volume II, college students and adults ages 19-55. Ann Arbor: Institute for Social Research, The University of Michigan; 2014.
- [28] Wilson GB, Lock CA, Heather N, Cassidy P, Christie MM, Kaner EFS. Intervention against excessive alcohol consumption in primary health care: a survey of GPs' attitudes and practices in England 10 years on. Alcohol Alcohol Oxf Oxfs 2011;46:570-7.
- [29] Blanquet M, Peyrol F, Morel F, Morge A, Maradeix B, Gerbaud L,Llorca PM. Prévalence du mésusage de l'alcool et attitudes des médecins libéraux. Alcoologie et Addictologie 2015;37:105-13.
- [30] Geisner IM, Varvil-Weld L, Mittmann AJ, Mallett K, Turrisi R. Brief web-based intervention for college students with comorbid risky alcohol use and depressed mood: does it work and for whom? Addict Behav 2015;42:36-43.
- [31] Georgie J M, Sean H, Deborah M C, Matthew H, Rona C. Peerled interventions to prevent tobacco, alcohol and/or drug use among young people aged 11-21 years: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Addict Abingdon Engl 2016;111:391-407.
- [32] Robertson-Boersma D, Butt P, Dell CA. Reflections on How a University Binge Drinking Prevention Initiative Supports Alcohol Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral for Student Alcohol Use. Yale J Biol Med 2015;88:339-46.
- [33] Ridout B, Campbell A. Using Facebook to deliver a social norm intervention to reduce problem drinking at university. Drug Alcohol Rev 2014;33:667-73.
- [34] Scaglione NM, Mallett KA, Turrisi R, Reavy R, Cleveland MJ, Ackerman S. Who will experience the most alcohol problems in college? The roles of middle and high school drinking tendencies. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2015;39:2039-46.

E54

SCREENING TOOL FOR STUDENT DRINKING

Supplemental Table A: survey questionnaire

SURVEY: Students' health We would like you to fill in a questionnaire for a survey on health concerns among students living in France. The present questionnaire is anonymous and takes around 20 minutes to complete. Please reply to ALL items 1. Age _____ years old 2. Sex \square Male \square Female 3. Nationality □ Other (state which) □ French 4. Residence \Box Family or relatives \square Residence hall □ Apartment rental with roommates □ Apartment rental alone \Box Other 5. a) Town of higher education b) Location of University (answered "other" if you are in school) 6. a) Type of higher education establishment: □ University □ Grandes écoles □ Preparatory courses for Grandes Ecoles □ Advanced Technician Certificate □ University Institute of Technology □ Specialised school □Engineering school □Other b) Year of study c) Academic discipline □ Agronomics □ Art □ Commerce, Economic sciences □ Law □ Teaching \Box Industry \Box Letters and Languages \Box Management \Box Health \Box Human and social sciences \Box Science and Technology \Box Political Sciences \Box Sport \Box Other 7. Year of the 1st registration in higher education 8. a) Year of high school diploma b) Where high school diploma was awarded **b)** How tall are you? [],[][] meters **9.** a) How much do you weigh? $\Box \Box \Box kg$ How many average hours do you sleep on average a night? 10. hours Do you have difficulty falling asleep, staying asleep or achieving restorative 11. sleep? □ Never \Box Rarely \Box Sometimes \Box Often \Box Most of the time \Box All the time IF YOU ANSWERED NEVER OR RARELY, GO TO ITEM 13

12. a) When did those difficulties begin?

 \Box Before the start of the academic year \Box After the start of the academic year

b) Did these difficulties and tiredness prevent you from performing your daily activities (school work, job, leisure)?

□ Never □ Rarely □ Sometimes □ Often □ Most of the time □ All the time The following items are about your feelings during <u>the past 4 weeks</u>. For each question, give the one answer that comes closest to the way you have been feeling.

13. During the past 4 weeks, how much of the time

(For each item you will be asked to fill in a bubble in each line)

	All the time	Most of the time	A good bit of the time	Some of the time	A little of the time	None of the time
a) Have you been very nervous?	1	2	3	4	5	6

.....

b) Have you felt so down in the dumps that nothing could cheer you up?	1	2	3	4	5	6			
c) Have you felt calm and peaceful?	ave you felt calm and peaceful? 1 2 3 4 5								
d) Have you felt downhearted and depressed	Have you felt downhearted and 1 2 3 4 5								
e) Have you been happy	Iave you been happy12345								
The following items are all answer. 14. Have you ever drunk alc \Box Yes \Box No <i>IF NO, GO TO ITEM 32</i> <i>IF YES:</i> 15. How often have you drun \Box Never $\Box \leq 1$ tim \Box 1 to 2 times a week $\Box \geq 3$ tim 16. How often have you drun \Box Never \Box 1 to 2 \Box 6 to 9 times (1 to 2 times a w \Box 20 to 29 times (almost every 17. How many alcoholic dri \Box 1 or 2 \Box 3 or 4 $\overrightarrow{\Box}$ 7cl of aperitif 10cl At 18° champagne at 12° <i>Be careful, the quantity of all</i> <i>equivalent to 4 units of alcoho</i> <i>glass of cocktail with fruit liqu</i> 18. Overall, you drink: $\Box < 10$ drinks of alcohol a year $\Box 5$ to 10 drinks a month	bout alcohol ohol (wine, be nk alcohol in t ne a month nes a week nk alcohol in t times \Box veek) \Box 10 to 1 day) $\Box \ge 30$ ti nks do you dr of 2.5cl whiskey at 45° cohol depends l, 1 glass of 15 eur or spirits a	consumpti er, cider, li he last yea \Box 2 tr \Box Every he last 30 c \Box 3 to 5 time \Box 9 times (3 times (\geq 1 time \Box 1 to 5 time \Box 5 or 6 of 2. y at on volume cl of liqueu and fruit juic \Box 1 to 4 drink \Box 10 drinks	on. Choose iquor, cockt: r? o 3 times a m days lays? es (about 1 tin to 5 time a w me per day) ngle occasion □ 7 to 9 5 cl of pastis 45° e drunk: 1 gl r is equivale ce is equivale ks a month s a vear	the most ap ails)? and the most ap ails)? and the mean week) eek) ar? $\square \ge 10$ $\square \ge 10$ $\square \ge 10$ $\square \ge 10$ $\square \ge 10$ $\square \ge 5^{\circ}$ and the most of the mo	propriate				
 19. a) Have you been drunk in the last year? □Never □ 1 to 2 times □ 3 to 5 times □ 6 to 9 times □ 10 to 29 times □ ≥ 30 times b) On a 1 to 10 points scale, at what point were you drunk the last time? 									
1: Felt happy 10: So d □1 □2 □ 20. How often during the l drinking once you had sta □ Never □< 1 time a month □	<i>1: Felt happy</i> <i>10: So drunk that I couldn't walk</i> <i>1 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10</i> 20. How often during the last year have you found that you were not able to stop drinking once you had started?								

SCREENING TOOL FOR STUDENT DRINKING

21. How often during the last year have you failed to do what was normally expected from you because of drinking? \square Never $\square < 1$ time a month $\square 1$ time a month $\square > 1$ time a month $\square \ge 1$ time a week 22. How often during the last year have you had a feeling of guilt or remorse after drinking? \Box Never $\Box < 1$ time a month $\Box = 1$ time a month $\Box > 1$ time a month $\Box \ge 1$ time a week 23. How often during the last year have you been unable to remember what happened the night before because you had been drinking? \square Never $\square < 1$ time a month $\square 1$ time a month $\square > 1$ time a month $\square \ge 1$ time a week 24. Have you been injured as a result of your drinking? \square Never \Box Rarely \Box Sometimes □ Often \Box Very often 25. Has someone else been injured as a result of your drinking? □ Never \Box Rarely \Box Sometimes 🗆 Often \Box Very often 26. Have you been raped or experienced sexual assault as a result of your drinking? \Box Never \Box Rarely \Box Sometimes □ Often □ Very often 27. Have you witnessed any violent incidents (fight, sexual assaults...) as a result of your drinking? □ Sometimes □ Never \Box Rarely □ Often \Box Verv often **Concerning your alcohol consumption:** 28. Have you ever felt you should cut down on your drinking? \Box Yes \square No 29. Have people annoyed you by criticising your drinking? \Box Yes \square No 30. Have you ever felt bad or guilty about your drinking? \square No \square Yes 31. Have you ever had a drink first thing in the morning to steady your nerves or to get rid of a hangover (eye opener)? \Box Yes \square No The following items are about marijuana consumption. Choose the most appropriate answer. 32. Have you ever used marijuana? \Box Yes \Box No IF NO, GO TO ITEM 42 IF YES: **33.** How old were you the first time? years old 34. Have you used marijuana in the last year? \square 2 to 3 times a week \square No $\square \le 1$ time a month \square 2 to 4 times a month $\Box > 4$ times a week 35. How often have you used marijuana during the last 30 days? \Box 1 to 2 times \Box 3 to 9 times $\Box \ge 10$ times \Box Every day $\square 0$ **Concerning your marijuana consumption:** 36. Have you ever felt you should cut down on your use of marijuana? \square No \Box Yes 37. Have people annoyed you by criticising your use of marijuana? \Box Yes \square No 38. Have you ever felt bad or guilty about your use of marijuana? \Box Yes \square No 39. Have you ever used marijuana first thing in the morning to steady your nerves or to get rid of a hangover (eye opener)? \Box Yes \square No

40. Have you smoked cannabis when you were alone? □ Rarely □ Sometimes □ Often □ Very often □ Permanently □ Never 41. Have you smoked cannabis before midday? □ Never \square Rarely □ Sometimes □ Often \Box Very often \Box Permanently The following items are about tobacco use. Choose the most appropriate answer. 42. Do you smoke currently? □ I don't smoke and I have never tried □ I have tried but did not become a smoker □ I was a smoker but I stopped \Box I smoke occasionally (< 1 cigarette a day) \Box I smoke everyday (at least 1 cigarette a day) IF YOU DON'T SMOKE CURRENTLY, GO TO ITEM 52 If you smoke, occasionally or daily: 43. How old were you the first time? vears old 44. How many cigarettes have you smoked during the last 30 days? $\Box < 1$ \Box 1 to 5 \square 6 to 10 □ 11 to 20 \square 21 to 30 $\Box > 31$ 45. How many times did you stop smoking for at least 7 days? 46. How soon after waking do you smoke your first cigarette? \square 6 - 30 minutes \square Within 5 minutes \square 31 - 60 minutes $\Box > 60$ minutes □ I don't smoke in the morning 47. Do you find it difficult to refrain from smoking in places where it is forbidden? \Box Yes 🗆 No 48. Which cigarette would you hate to give up? \Box The first in the morning \Box Those after lunch \Box The last of the day \Box An other 49. Do you smoke more frequently in the morning? \Box Yes \Box No 50. Do you smoke even when you are sick in bed? \Box Yes \Box No 51. Do you use a water pipe? \square No, never \square Yes. < 1 time a week \square Yes, 1 to 3 times a week \Box Yes, > 3 times a week

Have you used the followings substances at least one time in your life and in the last 30 days?

	a) I have used it at least 1 time in my life	b) I have used it in the last 30 days
52. Medication for nerves or sleep disturbance	\Box Yes \Box No	\Box Yes \Box No
53. Amphetamines	□ Yes □ No	□ Yes □ No
54. Cocaine	□ Yes □ No	□ Yes □ No
55. Ecstasy / MDMA	□ Yes □ No	□ Yes □ No
56. Poppers/glue/solvents	□ Yes □ No	□ Yes □ No

E58

57. Mushr	. Mushrooms / LSD			□ No	□ Yes □ No				
 58. Are you currently in paid employment? □ No □ Paid job in summer only □ Occasional paid job □ Paid job < 15 hours a week□ Paid job ≥ 15 hours a week 									
IF YOU HAVE A JOB: 59. Does this job have a relation with your studies? □ Yes □ No 60. Did you ask for your study schedule to be altered so as to continue with your job? □ Yes □ No (1 De you do sports?									
61. Do Do s Regg 62. Wl a) Mai Stud Othe b) Priv Stud Com	you do sports? port	larly or < 1 hour a w ours a week nce do you have? Parents' insuration ow nce nsurance sal health insurance	eek □ R Regularly ≥ nce Parents' pri □ Oth	egularly from 1 to 5 hours a week Insurance as a ivate health insura er INone	o 2 hours a week salaried worker nce □ Don't				
63. Attending	you seen a doctor i physician	n the last 12 month a) □ Yes □ No	s? b) If yes: □	Campus health c	entre 🗆 Office 🗆 Other				
			b) If yes: □	Campus health c	entre 🗆 Office 🗆 Other				
64. Gynecolog	 4. Gynecologist a) □ Yes □ No c) Do you use regular means of contraception? □ Yes □ No d) Have you ever taken emergency or contraception? □ Yes □ No 								
65. Psychologi	st / Psychiatrist	a) □ Yes □ No	b) If yes: □	Campus health c	entre 🗆 Office 🗆 Other				
66. Dentist		a) □ Yes □ No	b) If yes: 🗆	Campus health c	entre 🗆 Office 🗆 Other				
67. Other med	ical specialist	a) □ Yes □ No	b) If yes: 🗆	Campus health c	entre 🗆 Office 🗆 Other				

68. Did you choose an attending physician to be your family physician?

 \Box Yes \Box No \Box Don't know

Did you forgo seeing healthcare professionals in the last 12 months? (Several answers possible)

.....

69. Attending physician	a) □ Yes □ No	 b) If yes: Cost problem I didn't have any time I couldn't get an appointment when I needed one I couldn't get an appointment where I lived Other
70. Dentist	a) □ Yes □ No	 b) If yes: Cost problem I didn't have any time I couldn't get an appointment when I needed one I couldn't get an appointment where I lived Other
71. Ophthalmologist	a) □ Yes □ No	 b) If yes: □ Cost problem □ I didn't have any time □ I couldn't get an appointment when I needed one □ I couldn't get an appointment where I lived □ Other
72. Optician	a) □ Yes □ No	 b) If yes: □ Cost problem □ I didn't have any time □ I couldn't get an appointment where I lived □ Other
73. To buy medication	a) □ Yes □ No	 b) If yes: □ Cost problem □ I didn't have any time □ Other

74. Have you ever been a victim of violence? a) Psychological? □ Yes □ No

Add comments below.

b) Physical?

□ Yes □ No Add comments below.

c) Sexual?

 \Box Yes \Box No Add comments below.

75. Have y a) A	you ever beh gainst some	aved violently? one?		
□ Never	\square Rarely		□ Often	□ Very often
b) A	gainst yours	self?		•
□ Never	□ Rarely	□ Sometimes	□ Often	□ Very often
c) C	ommitting a	cts of vandalism	1?	
□ Never	Rarely	□ Sometimes	□ Often	Very often
А	dd comment	s below.		

76. Answer all the following items:

- a) Do you sometimes meet with a social worker (welfare worker, educator)? □ Yes □ No
- b) Do you have complementary health insurance (mutual insurance)? □ Yes □ No
- c) Do you live with a partner? \Box Yes \Box No
- d) Are you a homeowner or will you be one in the near future?
 □ Yes □ No
- e) Are there periods in the month when you have real financial difficulties in facing you needs (food, rent, electricity)?
 - \Box Yes \Box No
- f) Have you participated in any sports activities in the last 12 months?
 □ Yes □ No
- g) Have you gone to any shows (cinema, theatre) in the last 12 months?
- h) Have you gone on vacation during the past 12 months?
 □ Yes □ No
- i) Have you seen any family members in the past six months (other than your parents or children)?

 \Box Yes \Box No

j) If you had financial, family or health difficulties, is there anyone you could stay with for a few days?

 \Box Yes \Box No

k) If you had financial, family or health difficulties, is there anyone you could give you material aid such as lending you money?

.....

 \Box Yes \Box No

Thank you for taking the time to answer this questionnaire.

.....

Write any comments you may have in the space below.

Consult the results of the statistical analysis on our website: http://www.addictprev.fr/

Comments:

Supplemental Table B: results of the three most discriminant items for the three groups, simple use/non-use, intermediate consumption and problem drinking, identified by the multiple correspondence analysis

Items	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3
	Simple use/non-	Intermediate	Problem
	use	consumption	drinking
Number of drink on a single occasion	0.542	0.401	0.413
Annual frequency of drunkenness	0.689	0.548	0.556
Not able to stop drinking after starting	0.541	0.430	0.679
Failed to do what was normally expected	0.572	0.465	0.627
Guilt feelings	0.613	0.526	0.553
Unable to remember what happened the night before	0.652	0.551	0.645
Have you ever felt you should cut down on your drinking?	0.400	0.239	0.321
Have people annoyed you by criticising your drinking?	0.332	0.156	0.338
Have you ever felt bad or guilty about your drinking?	0.465	0.291	0.354
Have you ever had a drink first thing in the morning to steady your	0.087	0.008	0.144
nerves or to get rid of a hangover (eye opener)?			

Received on May 22, 2017. Accepted on February 9, 2018.

Correspondence: Dr Marie Blanquet, Service de Santé Publique, CHU de Clermont-Ferrand, 7, place Henri Dunant, 63058 Clermont-Ferrand CEDEX 1 France, Clermont Université, Université d'Auvergne, EA 4681, PEPRADE (Périnatalité, grossesse, Environnement, PRAtiques médicales et DEveloppement), Clermont-Ferrand, France. - E-mail: mblanquet@chu-clermontferrand.fr

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Energy drink and ginseng consumption by Italian university students: a cross-sectional study

S. MAJORI, S. PILATI, D. GAZZANI, J. PAIANO, S. FERRARI, A. SANNINO, E. CHECCHIN

Department of Diagnostics and Public Health, Section of Hygiene and Preventive, Environmental and Occupational Medicine, Verona University, Postgraduate Specialization in Hygiene and Preventive Medicine, Verona University, Italy

Keywords

Energy Drink • Ginseng • Behavior • University Students • Italys

Summary

Introduction. The consumption of energy drinks (ED) and ginseng by young people to enhance their mental and physical performance has become widespread. Reported side-effects of ED have raised doubts regarding their safety. This cross-sectional study investigates the phenomenon.

Methods. An anonymous questionnaire was administered to a representative sample of Verona university students. The resulting data were analyzed with Excel 2013, STATA 13 software.

Results. *ED* and ginseng consumption was reported by 38.6% and 37.4% of the students, respectively. More than 70% of ED and ginseng users were 18 to 22 years old. Excluding non-responders,

Introduction

Energy drinks (ED) are beverages that contain caffeine (in the range of 50 to 550 mg per can or bottle), taurine, 1-carnitine, carbohydrates, glucuronolactone, vitamins, and herbal supplements such as ginseng and guarana [1]. They are generally known to stimulate cognitive functions and alertness [2]. With the exception of the caffeine, glucose and guarana extracts, there is an overwhelming lack of evidence to support claims that any of the other ingredients in ED contribute to improving cognitive functioning (an effect attributed especially to taurine) or physical performance [3]. The introduction of a now famous ED in Austria in 1987 was followed by an aggressive marketing campaign, which laid the foundations for the more recent upward trend in ED consumption [4]. Sales of ED were estimated to be worth over 12.5 billion USD in 2012, after a 60% growth recorded from 2008 to 2012 [5].

Ginseng is a generic term commonly used to describe a number of different botanical compounds that belong to the genus Panax [6]. In Korea, China, the Himalayan region, Vietnam, Japan and Northern America (regions where it has grown in the wild for thousands of years), ginseng has always been a popular herbal remedy believed to have beneficial effects on global health. Ginseng proponents suggest that it can enhance mental and physical vigor, ease childbirth, and treat inflammatory diseases [7]. The Istituto Superiore di Sanità (Italian National Health Institute) Working Group on smoking, ED consumers were mostly males (51.8% vs 33.0%), contrary to ginseng consumers (females 40.4% vs 30.9%). Being a working student was significantly positively associated both to EDs (OR 1.5) and ginseng use (OR 1.4). The most frequently reported academic and other reasons for ED use were: "to study longer" (47.5%), and "to socialize" (29.1%). The most often used combinations were ED containing alcohol (65.6%) and ginseng-coffee beverages (71.8%).

Conclusions. The diffusion of ED and ginseng consumption warrants prevention and monitoring measures, and deserves further analysis.

alcohol consumption and drug use, ranks ginseng among the so-called smart drugs, considered as all the natural or artificial compounds not prohibited by existing laws on illicit drugs that may contain active substances with suspected or known psychoactive properties [8].

A study conducted in 2011 [9] found that 48.3% of 439 students attending a Turkish university had used ED at least once in their life, while the prevalence rate of ongoing users was 33%. At another Turkish university, the prevalence rate of ginseng use in 2005 [10] had only been about 6%. The prevalence rates of ED use among university students range from 36.4% to 70.1% in Northern America [11, 12], and are around 38% in Central-South America [13, 14]. As for ginseng consumption, an American study [15] found that 3.3% of the surveyed population had used the herb in the previous week. There are still very few data on the prevalence rates of ginseng use available in literature.

In 2011, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) commissioned a study to gather ED consumption data in 16 countries of the European Union. The survey showed that 68% of adolescents (10-18 years old), 30% of adults (18-65 years old), and 18% of children (3-10 years old) had consumed ED at least once in the previous year. The average consumption was 2 liters a month in adults, 2.1 in adolescents, and 0.49 in children [5].

Italy has far from negligible prevalence rates of ED consumption too. In 2012, 41% of 15- to 19-year-old Italian students had used ED, especially among males (54%) [16]. A multicenter survey conducted on Ital-

ian adolescents and young adults (14 to 35 years old) found that 20.1% of respondents had used ED at least once in their life [17]. According to another Italian survey, 56.9% of students attending the Faculty of Medicine in Messina used ED [18]. ED consumption is often justified as a way to stay awake, increase energy levels, boost performance during physical exercise, or remain concentrated while studying, or it is drunk together with alcohol while partying [14, 16, 19, 20]. The tendency to mix ED with alcohol, especially at parties [14, 16, 18-20], can also lead to other risk-taking behavior, such as smoking tobacco and cannabis [21].

The adverse effects of ED consumption generally relate to sympathomimetic effects due to an excessive intake of caffeine [22], i.e. irritability, anxiety, restlessness, insomnia, gastrointestinal upsets, tremors, tachycardia, psychomotor agitation and, in rare cases, death [4]. Other side effects described as being related to ED use are "jolt and crash episodes", headaches, heart palpitations [20], hypertonia (due to vasoconstriction), and bronchial dilation [23, 24]. One publication summarized the demonstrated psychological effects of ED on cognitive functions, mood, sleep, decision-making, and their overall impact on well-being and quality of life [12]. ED consumption is also thought to have a role in the epidemic of obesity and type 2 diabetes, due to the combination of sucrose and caffeine possibly altering the metabolic pathways, and to insulin resistance possibly being induced by caffeine acting as an adenosine receptor antagonist [21, 25-27].

In addition, the misguided conviction of being less subject to the effects of alcohol when it is mixed with an ED prompts individuals to drive without being fully aware of the real risk of road accidents [5]. This can also be interpreted as an adverse effect of people's inadequate knowledge about ED.

In fact, the proportion of individuals aware of the healthrelated risks of ED was far lower (57.4%) than the same individuals' perception of risks related to alcohol assumption (92.9%) [17].

The adverse effects of ginseng are due to a complex mix of numerous potentially bioactive constituents (ginsenosides) [7] and include hypertension, irritability, insomnia, and skin rash [28]. There is little evidence to support its effect in raising blood pressure [29]. Preliminary non-randomized controlled studies have suggested a possible lipid profile improving effect [29].

The aim of the present study was to investigate ED and ginseng consumption in a representative sample of students attending university in north-east Italy.

Materials and methods

This cross-sectional study was conducted during the 2014-2015 academic year and involved students on Bachelor's (three-year) and Master's (six-year) degree courses in health care at a university of Verona (Northern Italy). The Bachelor's (BSc) degree students were attending courses on: Biomedical Laboratory Tech-

......

niques, Cardiovascular Perfusion Techniques, Dental Hygiene, Imaging and Radiotherapy Techniques, Midwifery, Nursing, Physiotherapy, Psychiatric Rehabilitation Techniques, Speech and Language Therapy; the Master's degree (MSc) students sampled were studying Medicine and Dentistry.

Data were collected by means of an anonymous multiple-choice questionnaire administered to BSc and MSc students attending the 1st and 3rd years, and to MSc students attending the 5th year. No 3rd-year students of Physiotherapy, Dental Hygiene and Psychiatric Rehabilitation Techniques were sampled because these degree courses were not taking place at the time of our study.

A representative number of students was selected according to the number of students enrolled in the investigated degree courses.

The validated questionnaire obtained information on students' socio-demographic characteristics, such as age, sex, degree course, occupation (working students vs. non-working/unemployed student), nationality, Italian area of residence (Northern *vs* Central-Southern Italy). The survey also sought details on the students' parents, e.g. age, educational level (primary school, secondary school, high school, university), and occupation (self-employed, employee, unemployed, retired, other). The highest educational level achieved by at least one parent was considered as a measure of the family's level of education, and defined as "low" for primary or secondary school, or "high" for high school or university.

Students were then questioned about their university career and use of ED and ginseng. Considering the frequency of their use in the 6 months prior to the survey, possible answers were: never (0 times), rarely (1-10), sometimes (11-30), often (31-90), or very often (\geq 91 times) in order to evaluate a recent behavioral anamnesis.

Some of the reasons for using ED were related to the academic sphere (e.g. to improve alertness and study longer, concentration while studying, exam performance and attention in classroom). A positive response for at least one of the above reasons was taken as an indication that ED were used for the purpose of cognitive enhancement (CE).

Other possible reasons investigated were: to improve social skills, or performance when driving, practicing sports, or at work.

Some final questions concerned whether ED and/or ginseng were consumed alone or in combination with alcohol, tea, illicit drugs, or medicines.

The data collected from this study were processed in compliance with Italian privacy law (N. 196/2003). All students were over 18 years old (legal age in Italy) and they were assured of the confidentiality of their responses. They were adequately informed about the purposes of the survey and their participation was entirely voluntary.

To ensure a high response rate, the survey was brief, easy to complete (taking less than 15 minutes) and administered at the beginning of a lecture. All questionnaires were collected immediately and the information was entered in a database. The prevalence rates of the socio-demographic and academic characteristics of the different groups were calculated differently: on the total sample (not recalculated); on the use of ED or ginseng calculated on the total sample; and on the use of ED or ginseng by students' working status. The combined rates therefore do not always reach 100%.

STATISTICAL AND DATA ANALYSIS

The data processing and the calculation of the confidence intervals (95%) for ED and ginseng users were done with Excel 2013 and STATA 13.

The statistical analyses were conducted using Fisher's exact test or the chi-square test with Yates's correction, assuming significance for p < 0.05.

Multiple logistic regressions models (MLRM) were also performed to evaluate the following variables as possible predictors for EDs or ginseng use by students (all sample, working or not working students): male gender, being a Bachelor's degree student, age (years), coming from the North of Italy and parents' high educational level. As outcomes we tested the use of the following substances: EDs alone, EDs mixed with alcohol, ginseng alone, ginseng coffee.

Results

Analysis of the whole sample of 899 students investigated

A total of 1107 questionnaires were administered and the response rate was 89.4%. Of the 990 questionnaires completed, 899 had been compiled properly and formed the object of our analysis.

The survey showed that 38.6% (95% CI 35.4-41.9%, n = 347) and 37.4% (95% CI 34.2-40.6%, n = 336) of the total sample of 899 students had used ED and ginseng, respectively.

The age of the sample ranged between 18 and 39 years (mean 21 years). Males accounted for 30.3% (n = 272) of the sample, females for 68.8% (n = 619), and 0.9% did not specify their gender (Tabs. I and II).

The students were Italian in 90.3% of cases, while 2.7% were foreigners, and 7.0% did not state their nationality. Most of the students (84.5%) came from Northern Italy (Tabs. I and II).

As shown in Tables I and II, most of MSc students were attending Medicine (23.4%), while most of BSc students were on Nursing courses (47.3%).

Figure 1 shows the socio-demographic features of the students' 1,798 parents. Not all students completing the questionnaire provided all the required information on both parents, in which case they were referred to as "non-responders". Most parents (50.2%) were 51-60 years old, many had a high educational level (46.9%), and most were in employment (74.3%).

No statistically significant association emerged between a low family educational level and the students' use of either ED (Fisher's exact test) or ginseng (chi-square with Yates' correction).

ANALYSIS AND COMPARISON OF SAMPLED STUDENTS BY WORKING STATUS

Tables I and II shows the distribution of the sample grouped as working students (21.9%) and non-working students (75.4%) in relation to their ED and ginseng use, gender, age bracket, place of residence, and type of university course. Only 2.7% of the students did not report their employment status.

The two groups were comparable in terms of gender composition (p = ns, Fisher's exact test). The most prevalent age range in both groups was between 18 and 22 years (78.0% of the non-working students, and 66.0% of the working students). Considering the data calculated on the total sample, the non-working students were mostly from Central-Southern Italy (83.0%), while the working students were largely from Northern Italy (22.9%) and this difference was statistically significant (p < 0.05, Fisher's exact test).

The courses attended by the highest percentage of the non-working students in our sample were: Medicine (83.8%) among the MSc students, and Cardiovascular Perfusion Techniques (100.0%) among the BSc students. The highest proportions of the working students were studying Medicine for MSc (15.7%), and Psychiatric Rehabilitation Techniques for BSc (60.0%).

ANALYSIS OF ED AND GINSENG USERS

The main features of ED and ginseng users are as follows (Tabs. I and II):

- ED consumers differed by gender (33.0% of the female sample *vs* 51.8% of the male sample; p < 0.05, Fisher's exact test), and so did ginseng users (40.4% of the female sample *vs* 30.9% of the male sample; p < 0.05, Fisher's exact test).
- More than 70% of the ED and ginseng users were between 18 and 22 years old. In this age group the percentage of ED users was significantly higher than among the older students (40.6% vs 34.2%, p < 0.05, Fisher's exact test). There was no statistically significant difference in the percentage of ginseng consumers between the students aged 18-22 years (37.6%) and the older students (36.1%) (p = ns, Fisher's exact test).
- Most of the ED users were from Central-Southern Italy (43.6%), while most of the ginseng users were from Northern Italy (38.2%); for both ED and ginseng use there was no significant difference relating to their area of residence (p = ns, Fisher's exact test).
- In our sample, 25.1% of ED users and 24.7% of ginseng users were working students. Among all the working students in the sample, the prevalence rates of ED and ginseng consumption were 44.2% and 42.1%, respectively. Instead, among all non-working students, the prevalence rates of ED and ginseng consumption were 37.3% and 36.3%, respectively. According to multiple logistic regression model (MLRM), being a working student was significantly

Tab. I. Distribution of total sample by working status and ED use in relation to socio-demographic characteristics and university course (prevalence rate).

	Total sample		Non-working students			Working students		
	Pop. (899)	ED users (347)	Pop. (678)	ED users (253)		Pop. (197)	ED users (87)	
Variables	A (%)	B (%)	B (%)	B (%)	C (%)	B (%)	B (%)	C (%)
Gender								
Female	68.8	33.0°	75.4	23.6^	71.6	22.1	8.7	26.5
Male	30.3	51.8°	76.5	38.6^	74.5	22.1	12.1	23.4
Non-responders	0.9	25	37.5	25	100	0	0	0
Age (years)*								
18-22	74.9	78.7	78	81.8	81.8	66	70.1	70.1
23-27	17.7	19	16.1	16.2	16.2	23.9	26.4	26.4
≥ 28	4.8	0.9	3.9	0.4	0.4	8.1	2.3	2.3
Non-responders	2.6	1.4	2	1.6	1.6	2	1.1	1.1
Area of residence								
Northern Italy	84.5	39	75.9	27.8#	71.3	22.9§	10.5∞	27
Central-Southern Italy	10.5	43.6	83.0§	38.3#	87.8	12.8	3.2∞	7.3
Non-responders	5	21.7	52.2	13	60	23.9	8.7	40
Degree course								
Medicine	23.4	31.9	83.8	26.2	82.1	15.7	5.2	16.4
Dentistry	5.9	54.7	81.1	41.5	75.9	13.2	11.3	20.7
Nursing	47.3	40.7	70.8	27.5	67.6	24.9	12	29.5
Biomedical Laboratory Techniques	5.2	51.1	85.1	42.6	83.3	14.9	8.5	16.7
Speech and Language Therapy	4.2	23.7	73.7	13.2	55.6	23.7	10.5	44.4
Midwifery	4.2	26.3	78.9	23.7	90	21.1	2.6	10
Imaging-Radiotherapy Techniques	3.8	50	67.6	35.3	70.6	32.4	14.7	29.4
Physiotherapy	3	48.1	63	33.3	69.2	37	14.8	30.8
Cardiovascular Perfusion Techniques	1.3	0	100	0	0	0	0	0
Dental Hygiene	1.1	30	60	30	100	30	0	0
Psychiatric Rehabilitation Techniques	0.6	40	40	20	50	60	20	50

Pop.: population; A: Non-recalculated prevalence rate; B: Prevalence rate calculated on total sample; C: Prevalence rate calculated on ED users; * age reported as non-recalculated prevalence rate; $^{\circ}$; $^{\circ}$;

	Total sample		Non-working students			Working students		
	Pop. (899)	Ginseng users (336)	Pop. (678)	Ginse users (ng 246)	Pop. (197)	Gins user	seng s (83)
Variables	A (%)	B (%)	B (%)	B (%)	C (%)	B (%)	B (%)	C (%)
Gender								
Female	68.8	40.4*	75.4	28.9	71.6	22.1	29.6 ′	73.5
Male	30.3	30.9*	76.5	24.6	79.8	22.1	20.6 ′	67.5
Non-responders	0.9	25.0	37.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	25.0	100.0
Age (years)**								
18-22	74.9	75.3	78.0	75.0	75.0	66.0	78.0	78.0
23-27	17.7	19.0	16.1	18.7	18.7	23.9	20.5	20.5
≥ 28	4.8	2.7	3.9	2.8	2.8	8.1	2.4	2.4
Non-responders	2.6	3.0	2.0	3.3	3.3	2.0	0.0	0.0
Area of residence								
Northern Italy	84.5	38.2	75.9	27.9	72.4	22.9§	10.0&	26.2
Central-Southern Italy	10.5	30.9	83.0§	26.6	89.7	12.8	3.2&	10.3
Non-responders	5.0	37.0	52.2	19.6	52.9	23.9	8.7	23.5
Degree course								
Medicine	23.4	39.5	83.8	31.0	78.3	15.7	8.1	20.5
Dentistry	5.9	35.8	81.1	30.2	84.2	13.2	5.7	15.8
Nursing	47.3	34.6	70.8	23.5	68.0	24.9	9.6	27.9
Biomedical Laboratory Techniques	5.2	51.1	85.1	40.4	79.2	14.9	10.6	20.8
Speech and Language Therapy	4.2	52.6	73.7	36.8	70.0	23.7	15.8	30.0
Midwifery	4.2	47.4	78.9	34.2	72.2	21.1	13.2	27.8
Imaging-Radiotherapy Techniques	3.8	32.4	67.6	26.5	81.8	32.4	5.9	18.2
Physiotherapy	3.0	33.3	63.0	25.9	77.8	37.0	7.4	22.2
Cardiovascular Perfusion Techniques	1.3	0.0	100.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Dental Hygiene	1.1	20.0	60.0	10.0	50.0	30.0	10.0	50.0
Psychiatric Rehabilitation Techniques	0.6	60.0	40.0	40.0	66.7	60.0	20.0	33.3

Tab. II. Distribution of total sample by working status and ginseng use in relation to socio-demographic characteristics and university course (prevalence rate).

Pop.: population; A: Non-recalculated prevalence rate; B: Prevalence rate calculated on total sample; C: Prevalence rate calculated on ginseng users; ** age reported as non-recalculated prevalence rate; *, &, ', §: p < 0.05.



(p < 0.05) positively associated to EDs use (OR 1.5) and to ginseng use (OR 1.4), as shown in Table III.

• The courses attended by the highest percentage of the ED consumers were: Dentistry (54.7%) among the MSc; and Biomedical Laboratory Techniques (51.1%) among the BSc. The highest proportions of ginseng users were studying Medicine for MSc (39.5%), or Psychiatric Rehabilitation Techniques for BSc (60.0%).

No statistically significant differences emerged relating to the type of degree course attended by or ginseng users (MSc 38.8% vs BSc 36.8%; p = ns, Fisher's exact test). Instead, according to MLRM, being a Bachelor's degree student was significantly (p < 0.05) positively associated to EDs use (OR 1.4) (Tab. III).

Figure 2 shows the prevalence rates of ED and ginseng users in the various years of the different degree courses. Among the students of Medicine, ED use decreased from the first year (33.7%) to the fifth (28.3%), while ginseng consumption rose from the first year (38.5%) to the third (47.8%), then decreased by the fifth year (35.0%).

As for the students of Dentistry, ED use dropped significantly from the first year (72.0%) to the third (31.3%),

(p < 0.05, Fisher's exact test), then increased again by the fifth (50.0%). The same trend was seen for ginseng consumers, with 48.0% in the 1st year, 6.3% in the 3rd, and 50.0% in the fifth.

In the first year of BSc, ED use ranged from 52.4% (in Biomedical Laboratory Techniques) to 22.2% (in Speech and Language Therapy), while ginseng use ranged from 66.7% (in Speech and Language Therapy) to 20.0% (in Dental hygiene).

In the 3rd year of BSc, ED use ranged from 58.3% (in Imaging-Radiotherapy Techniques) to 25.0% (in Speech and Language Therapy), while ginseng consumption ranged from 57.7% (in Biomedical Laboratory Techniques) to 33.3% (in Imaging-Radiotherapy Techniques). Overall, the differences in the prevalence rates of ED and ginseng consumption by year of each degree course were never statistically significant (p = ns, Fisher's exact test), except between the 1st and 3rd years of Dentistry for both ED and ginseng alone (p < 0.05, Fisher's exact test). ED and ginseng consumption was also compared among students in the same years of different degree course.

Predictors Outcomes of the models	Male gender	Age (years)	Coming from North of Italy	Being a Bachelor's degree student	Being a working student	Parents' high educational level
EDs use by all students (n = 899) * (Pseudo-R2 = 0.0447)	OR 2.3* (1.7-3.2)	OR 0.9* (0.8-0.9)	OR 1.0 (0.6-1.6)	OR 1.4* (1.0-1.9)	OR 1.5* (1.0-2.1)	OR 0.9 (0.6-1.3)
Ginseng use by all students (n = 899) * (Pseudo-R2 = 0.0121)	OR 0.7* (0.5-0.9)	OR 1.0 (0.9-1.0)	OR 1.1 (0.7-1.8)	OR 0.8 (0.6-1.2)	OR 1.4* (1.0-2.0)	OR 1.0 (0.7-1.4)
EDs use by working students (n = 197) * (Pseudo-R2 = 0.0440)	OR 1.9* (1.0-3.7)	OR 0.9* (0.8-1.0)	OR 3.1 (0.8-12.5)	OR 1.4 (0.7-3.1)	_^	OR 1.3 (0.6-2.6)
Ginseng use by working students (n = 197) * (Pseudo-R2 = 0.0838)	OR 0.3* (0.2-0.7)	OR 0.9* (0.8-1.0)	OR 2.0 (0.5-8.1)	OR 0.6 (0.3-1.4)	_^	OR 1.2 (0.5-2.5)
EDs use by not working students (n = 678) * (Pseudo-R2 = 0.0504)	OR 2.5* (1.7-3.6)	OR 0.8* (0.8-0.9)	OR 0.8 (0.5-1.4)	OR 1.4 (1.0-2.0)	_^	OR 0.8 (0.5-1.2)
Ginseng use by not working students (n = 678) (Pseudo-R2 = 0.0025)	OR 0.8 (0.5-1.2)	OR 1.0 (1.0-1.1)	OR 1.1 (0.6-1.9)	OR 0.9 (0.6-1.3)	_^	OR 0.9 (0.6-1.5)
EDs use to improve alertness and study longer by all students (n = 899) * (Pseudo-R2 = 0.0321)	OR 2.2* (1.5-3.2)	OR 0.9* (0.8-1.0)	OR 1.2 (0.6-2.2)	OR 1.7* (1.1-2.6)	OR 1.3 (0.8-2.0)	OR 0.9 (0.8-2.0)
EDs plus alcohol use by all students (n = 899) * (Pseudo-R2 = 0.0574)	OR 2.9* (2.0-4.1)	OR 0.9* (0.8-0.9)	OR 0.8 (0.5-1.3)	OR 1.3 (0.9-1.9)	OR 1.4 (1.0-2.1)	OR 0.8 (0.5-1.2)
Ginseng-coffee use by all students (n = 899) * (Pseudo-R2 = 0.0163)	OR 0.6* (0.4-0.9)	OR 1.0 (0.9-1.0)	OR 1.2 (0.7-2.2)	OR 0.7 (0.5-1.1)	OR 1.5* (1.0-2.1)	OR 1.1 (0.7-1.7)

Tab. III. Multiple Logistic Regression Models for EDs or ginseng s use predictors.

* p < 0.05: -^ Not evaluated

ANALYSIS OF WORKING STUDENTS ENGAGING IN ED **OR GINSENG USE**

The population of working students using ED revealed no statistically significant differences by distribution between BSc (44.6%) and MSc (42.5%), (p = ns, Fisher's exact test). On the other hand, there was a statistically significant difference between working students using ED aged 18-22 years (46.9%) and those aged 23 or more (39.7%), (p < 0.05, Fisher's exact test). Male gender was significantly positively (OR 1.9, p < 0.05, MLRM) associated with EDs use by working students (Tab. III).

The population of working students using ginseng was not homogeneous by gender (29.6% females vs 20.6% males; p < 0.05, Fisher's exact test). Male gender (OR 0.3, p < 0.05, MLRM) and age (OR 0.9. p < 0.05, ML-RM) were significantly negatively associated to ginseng use by this type of students (Tab. III).

ANALYSIS OF NON-WORKING STUDENTS ENGAGING IN **ED OR GINSENG USE**

The population of non-working students using ED differed statistically by gender (23.6% females vs 38.6% males; p < 0.05, Fisher's exact test), but not by type of degree courses (35.2% MSc vs 38.3% BSc; p = ns, Fisher's exact test).

Age (OR 0.8. p < 0.05, MLRM) was significantly negatively associated to ginseng use by this type of students (Tab. III).

The population of non-working students using ginseng was homogeneous in terms of gender (28.9% females vs 24.6% males), area of residence (27.9% from Northern and 26.6% from Central-Southern Italy), and MSc (37.0%) vs BSc (36.0%), (p = ns, Fisher's exact test). The same applied to the age factor, with no statistically significant difference between ginseng users aged 18-22 years (35.0%) and those aged 23 and over (39.3%), (p = ns, Fisher's exact test).

REASONS FOR SUBSTANCE USE AND THEIR ASSOCIATIONS

Table IV shows the prevalence rates of the reasons for using ED and whether they were used alone or combined with other substances.

For the sample as a whole (n = 899), the prevalence rate of ED use for at least one 'academic' reason was 22.7%, while it was 21.2% for at least one 'other' reason; this difference was statistically significant (p < 0.01, Fisher's exact test).

The most frequently mentioned academic reason for using ED was "to improve alertness and study longer" (47.5%), while the most common other reason was "to socialize, at parties or the disco for instance" (29.1%).


Whatever the motives for using ED, the most often reported frequency of their usage was 1-10 times in the previous six months (93.1%).

ED and alcohol emerged as a very common combination (65.6%), comparable with the prevalence rate of ED used alone (65.7%). Only a minority of respondents combined ED with medicines (4.1%), or illicit drugs (5.5%). As for the prevalence rates of ginseng use, alone or combined with other substances. The most common associations were ginseng with coffee (71.8%), while it was rarely combined with drugs (2.4%). The reported frequency of ginseng usage (alone or combined with other substances) was most often "1-10 times in the previous six months" (80.7%) (Fig. 3).

Use in	previous 6 months	1-10 times	11-30 times	31-90 times	≥ 91 times	Total
	No	53.3%	9.5%	1.7%	1.2%	65.7%
	Alcohol	45.2%	12.4%	4.9%	3.1%	65.6%
Associations	Coffee	9.5%	2.6%	0.6%	0.0%	12.7%
with EDs	Теа	5.2%	1.2%	0.9%	0.0%	7.3%
	Drugs	2.6%	2.0%	0.6%	0.3%	5.5%
	Medicines	2.9%	0.9%	0.3%	0.0%	4.1%
	Alertness and study longer	38.0%	6.9%	2.6%	0.0%	47.5%
	Concentration while studying	24.2%	4.9%	1.7%	0.0%	30.8%
Dessens	Social skills (*)	21.3%	4.9%	1.7%	1.2%	29.1%
Reasons	Sports performance	19.6%	2.3%	1.4%	0.3%	23.6%
to improve	Exam performance	13.5%	1.7%	2.0%	0.3%	17.5%
	Driving performance	8.6%	2.9%	0.9%	0.0%	12.4%
	Attention in classroom	10.1%	1.2%	0.9%	0.0%	12.2%
	Working performance	7.8%	2.6%	1.4%	0.0%	11.8%

Tab. IV. ED use: reasons for use and associations with other substances (prevalence rate).

(*) To socialize (e.g. at parties, disco, bars).



Table V shows the socio-demographic characteristics and degree courses of students using ED in order to study longer, and the features of students mixing ED with alcohol or ginseng coffee.

The population of students who used ED "to improve alertness and study longer" differed by gender (15.2% of the female sample and 26.1% of the male sample; p < 0.05, Fisher's exact test), and the majority (80.0%) were 18-22 years old. There was also a statistically significant difference in the proportion of these ED consumers between the younger students 18-22 years old

(19.6%) and those aged 23 and over (15.8), (p < 0.05, Fisher's exact test). Being a Bachelor's degree student (OR 1.7, p < 0.05, MLRM) was significantly positively associated to EDs use for this reason (Tab. III). On the other hand, they were homogeneous in terms of area of residence (18.7% from Northern, 19.1% from Central-Southern Italy; p = ns, Fisher's exact test). Finally, this type of ED user was found in similar proportions among the working students (21.8%) and non-working students (17.7%) (p = ns, Fisher's exact test).

Variables	ED users (to (N	study longer) = 165)	ED+alcoh (N = 1	ol users 228)	Ginseng+coffee users (N = 241)		
	A (%)	B (%)	A (%)	B (%)	A (%)	C (%)	
Gender							
Female	15.2*	46.1	19.7°	59.8	29.6^	73.5	
Male	26.1*	50.4	38.6°	74.5	20.6^	67.5	
Non-responders	0.0	0.0	12.5	50.0	25.0	100.0	
Age (years)**							
18-22	80.0	80.0	80.7	80.7	74.7	74.7	
23-27	18.8	18.8	18.4	18.4	18.3	18.3	
≥ 28	0.6	0.6	0.0	0.0	2.9	2.9	
Non-responders	0.6	0.6	0.9	0.9	4.1	4.1	
Area of residence							
Northern Italy	18.7	48.0	25.4	65.2	27.8	73.5	
Central-Southern Italy	19.1	43.9	31.9	73.2	19.1	94.7	
Non-responders	10.9	50.0	10.9	50.0	26.1	70.6	
Degree course							
Medicine	15.2	47.8	19.0	59.7	30.5	77.1	
Dentistry	18.9	34.4	47.2	86.2	26.4	73.7	
Nursing	19.3	47.4	25.4	62.4	24.7	71.4	
Biomedical Laboratory	25.5	50.0	34.0	66.7	27.7	59.1	
Techniques							
Speech and Language	10.5	44.4	15.8	66.7	39.5	75.0	
Therapy							
Midwifery	18.4	70.0	18.4	70.0	39.5	83.3	
Imaging and	20.6	41.2	41.2	82.4	14.7	45.5	
Radiotherapy							
Techniques							
Physiotherapy	25.9	53.8	29.6	61.5	25.9	77.8	
Cardiovascular	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Perfusion Techniques							
Dental Hygiene	20.0	66.7	20.0	66.7	10.0	50.0	
Psychiatric	40.0	100.0	40.0	100.0	40.0	66.7	
Rehabilitation							
Techniques							

Tab. V. Socio-demographic features of ED and ginseng users by personal characteristics and university course, reason for usage (to improve alertness and study longer), and association with alcohol or coffee (prevalence rate).

A: Prevalence rate calculated on total sample; B = Prevalence rate calculated on ED users; C: Prevalence rate calculated on ginseng users; ** age reported as non-recalculated prevalence rate; *; °; ^ = p < 0.05.

Students mixing ED with alcohol differed significantly by gender (19.7% females *vs* 38.6% males; p<0.05, Fisher's exact test), but not by area of residence (25.4% from Northern, 31.9% from Central-Southern Italy; p = ns, Fisher's exact test). Here again, there was a statistically significant age-related difference, with 80.7% of these ED plus alcohol consumers among the 18- to 22-year-olds, as opposed to 20.8% among the older students (p < 0.05, Fisher's exact test), but no difference between MSc (24.7%) and BSc students (25.6%), (p = ns, Fisher's exact test), or between working students (29.2%) and non-working students (25.4%), (p = ns, Fisher's exact test).

In the population of ginseng-coffee users there were between students aged 18- to 22-year-olds (26.8%) and older students (25.3%), between areas of residence in Northern (27.8%) vs Central-Southern Italy (19.1%), or between students attending MSc (29.7%) vs BSc (25.6%). Ginseng-coffee users did show a statistically significant gender-related difference (29.6% females vs 20.6% males, p < 0.05, Fisher's exact test). Finally, being a working student (OR 1.5, p < 0.05, MLRM) was significantly positively associated to ginseng-coffee (Tab. III).

Discussion

To our knowledge, this is one of very few studies to have attempted to establish the prevalence of ED and ginseng use by Italian university students. In our sample of 899 students, 38.6% had used ED, and 37.4% had used ginseng in the 6 months prior to answering our questionnaire.

Considering that the age range of our sample of students was 18-28 years (not considering the only two subjects aged 30 and 39 years), the prevalence rate of their ED use is more than twice as high as the figure the EFSA found in Europe for the same age group in 2011 (38.6% vs.15.9%) [5].

Consistently with the findings of a Belgian study [30] conducted on university students aged 19-23, we found no association between families' educational level and ED or ginseng usage. This would mean that their use is not associated with any specific social patterns, but a broad social phenomenon, particularly among young people [9, 11, 12, 14].

The statistically significant age-related difference emerging in ED use in our sample (with 18- to 22-yearolds using ED far more than older students) is probably

because these drinks are readily accessible to children, adolescents, and young adults [31]. The growth in their popularity may be partly attributed to their availability in bars and clubs, where ED have been used as mixers. But nowadays consumers can find pre-mixed alcoholic energy drinks at any local supermarket or grocery store [31]. It would be desirable for the distribution and sale of these products to be regulated.

Our population of ED users confirmed a gender-related trend seen in other studies, with a larger consumption of these drinks by males [14, 16, 30, 32-34]. One possible explanation for this gender disparity comes from Miller's research [32]: a greater ED consumption among college males would be linked to "jock identity", conformity to masculine norms, and risk-taking behavior.

Although no statistically significant difference in ED use by area of residence emerged from our analysis, our population was skewed towards Central-Southern Italy (out-of-town students). As seen in another study, this might reflect a tendency to behave differently when far from home and parental control, especially as regards any predisposition towards substance use [32].

On the total sample (n = 899), we found a statistically significant difference between EDs or ginseng or ginseng-coffee use and being a working *vs* a non-working student, probably due to the higher load of stress experienced by this type of students.

ED consumption was associated with socializing by 29.1% of the users in our sample – a result in line with the findings of another Italian survey, which found a statistically significant association between ED use and going to the disco or other recreational places [17].

Our study confirms that the use of ED mixed with alcohol is becoming increasingly common among youth and young adults [35, 36] (65.7% of the ED users in our sample had mixed ED with alcohol at least once in the previous 6 months). Combining ED with alcoholic beverages would increase the sensation of pleasure, and might reduce the depressant effects and/or increase the excitatory effects of alcohol [37, 18, 38].

The potential risks of associating ED with alcohol include: underestimation of alcoholic drunkenness, excessive diuresis, dehydration, changes in heart rhythm (palpitations, arrhythmias), high blood pressure, neural symptoms (irritability, disturbed sensation, tremors, muscle twitching), gastrointestinal disorders, and worsening depression [39, 40].

Educational campaigns should be conducted on various levels to contrast the massive marketing campaigns of ED manufacturers, which insinuate that ED can improve mental performance without any side effects. It is worth noting that the most often advertised reason for using these drinks "to prolong wakefulness" is reflected in people's justification for their use, as seen in the literature [11, 41] and in the present study. In actual fact, in stark contrast with this belief, the consequences of using ED include excessive daytime drowsiness and slower reaction times, which nullify the perceived shortterm effects [1]. ED generally offer a quick fix for tem-

porary difficulties, but their prolonged use can affect an individual's quality of life. Their psychological effects may be dose-dependent [1], so heavy consumers should be warned and advised to reduce their frequency of consumption. As the adverse effects of excessive ED use are generally prompted by the high caffeine intake, there should be an evidence-based upper limit for the quantity of caffeine allowable in a single serving of any drink [42]. While the caffeine in ED can have severe implications, adverse effects have also been reported in association with other substances they contain, such as taurine, guarana, and ginseng [39, 40, 43, 44].

.....

An important strength of the present study lies in the large number of participants (899), surveyed by entering university classrooms (an approach that enabled us to provide students with all the information they needed to answer the questionnaire).

The present study also has some aspects that need to be mentioned: there were more women than men, due to the greater female presence at Italian medical schools; most of the respondents were from Northern Italy because of the university's location, so the results may not be generalizable to all Italian university students; and the data were collected only at a single point in time, whereas a longitudinal study would be more appropriate to support the study's findings.

Further research is needed, also on the possible adverse effects of ED and ginseng consumption. A multicenter study on a larger sample could also consider even younger people (of school age) and compare them with older groups.

Conclusions

Our study has shown a wide diffusion of EDs and ginseng among the sampled students, in particular among the younger ones and working students. There was a male predominance in the use of ED, and a female one for ginseng. These data point out possible risks both for dependence and acute and chronic health risks related in particular to EDs use/abuse. Therefore, health education programs are suitable: informing peopl – starting from primary school age, also involving children's parents and general practioners, through the local health services – could raise awareness of EDs health risks.

Aknowledgements

The authors declare that there is no conflicts of interest with manufacturing factories of energy drink and ginseng.

Authors' contributions

SM: design, organization and supervision of the study. Drafting of the text.

DG: data analysis, participation in the drafting of the article, statistical analysis. SP: data analysis, participation in the drafting of the article, statistical analysis.

.....

JP: data analysis, participation in the drafting of the article.

AS: preparation and validation of the questionnaire, distribution of the questionnaire, data collection and data entry in the database.

SF: preparation and validation of the questionnaire, distribution of the questionnaire, data collection and data entry in the database.

EC: preparation and validation of the questionnaire.

References

- [1] Ishak WW, Ugochukwu C, Bagot K, Khalili D, Zaky C. Energy drinks: psychological effects and impact on well-being and quality of life a literature review. Innov Clin Neurosci 2012;9(1):25-34.
- [2] Malik VS, Popkin BM, Bray GA, Després JP, Hu FB. Sugarsweetened beverages, obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular disease risk. Circulation 2010;121(11):1356-64. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.876185.
- [3] McLellan TM, Lieberman HR. Do energy drinks contain active components other than caffeine? Nutr Rev 2012;70(12):730-44. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2012.00525.x.
- [4] Reissiga CJ, Straina EC, Griffithsb RR. Caffeinated energy drinks: a growing problem. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2735818/pdf/nihms90556.pdf. Accessed in May 2017.
- [5] Zucconi S, Volpato C, Adinolfi F, Gandini E, Gentile E, Loi A, Fioriti L. Gathering consumption data on specific consumer groups of energy drinks. Parma: EFSA 2013. (External Scientific Report for European Food Safety Authority). Available at: https://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/supporting/pub/en-394. Accessed in May 2017
- [6] Cardinal BJ, Engels HJ. Ginseng does not enhance psychological well-being in healthy, young adults: Results of a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial. J Am Diet Assoc 2001;101(6):665-70. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(01)00165-1.
- [7] Kitts D, Hu C. Efficacy and safety of ginseng. Public Health Nutr 2000;3(4A):473-85. doi:10.1017/S1368980000000550.
- [8] Pichini S, Marchei E, Palmi I, Pellegrini M, Pacifici R, Zuccaro P. Smart drugs. Available at: http://www.iss.it/binary/drog/cont/ SD_COMPLETO_ridotto.pdf. Accessed in April 2017.
- [9] Attila S, Cakir B. Energy-drink consumption in college students and associated factors. Nutrition 2011;27(3):316-22. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2010.02.008.
- [10] Ayranci U, Son N, Son O. Prevalence of nonvitamin, nonmineral supplement usage among students in a Turkish university. BMC Public Health 2005;16;5:47. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-5-47.
- [11] Gallucci AR, Ryan J. Martin, Grant B. Morgan. The consumption of energy drinks among a sample of college students and college student athletes. J Community Health 2016;41:109-18. doi: 10.1007/s10900-015-0075-4.
- [12] Pettit ML, DeBarr KA. Perceived stress, energy drink consumption, and academic performance among college students. J Am Coll Health 2011;59(5):335-41. doi: 10.1080/07448481.2010.510163.
- [13] Ballistreri MC, Corradi-Webster CM. Consumption of energy drinks among physical education students. Rev Latino-am Enfermagem 2008;16(especial):558-64. doi: 10.1590/S0104-11692008000700009.
- [14] Reid SD, Ramsarran J, Brathwaite R, Lyman S, Baker A, D'Andra CC, Ganga S, Mohammed Z, Sookdeo AT, Thapelo CK. Energy drink usage among university students in a Car-

ibbean country: patterns of use and adverse effects. J. Epidemiol. Global Health 2014;5(2):103-16. doi: 10.1016/j. jegh.2014.05.004.

- [15] Kaufman DW, Kelly JP, Rosenberg L, Anderson TE, Mitchell AA. Recent patterns of medication use in the ambulatory adult population of the United States. JAMA 2002;287(3):337-44. doi: 10.1001/jama.287.3.337.
- [16] Scalese M, Simi E, Fortunato L, Chiellini P, Doveri C, Trivellini G, Siciliano V, Sbrana C, Gazzetti S, Pardini A, Taccini R, Panini R, Fortunato L, Boni A, Potente R, Luppi C, Pardini S, Bastiani L, Curzio O, Molinaro S. Ricerca sul consumo di alcol e sostanze nella popolazione scolastica. Pisa: Istituto di Fisiologia Clinica del Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche;2012 (Rapporto Espad Italia 2012).
- [17] Pacifici R, Palmi I, Vian P, Andreotti A, Mortali C, Berretta P, Mastrobattista L, Pichini S. Emerging trends in consuming behaviours for non-controlled substances by Italian urban youth: a cross sectional study. Ann Ist Super Sanità 2016;52(1):104-13. DOI: 10.4415/ANN_16_01.
- [18] Oteri A, Salvo F, Caputi AP, Calapai G. Intake of energy drinks in association with alcoholic beverages in a cohort of students of the School of Medicine of the University of Messina. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2007;31(10):1677-80. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2007.00464.x.
- [19] Attila S, Cakir B. Energy-drink consumption in college students and associated factors. Nutrition 2011;27(3),316-22. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2010.02.008.
- [20] Malinauskas BM, Aeby VG, Overton RF. A survey of energy drink consumption patterns among college students. Nutr J 2007;6:35. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-6-35.
- [21] Hamilton HA, Boak A, Ilie G, Mann RE. Energy drink consumption and associations with demographic characteristics, drug use and injury among adolescents. Can J Public Health 2013;30;104(7):496-501. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.17269/ cjph.104.3998.
- [22] Breda JJ, Whiting SH, Encarnação R, Norberg S, Jones R, Reinap M, Jewell J. Energy drink consumption in Europe: a review of the risks, adverse health effects, and policy options to respond. Front Public Health 2014;2(134):1-5. doi: 10.3389/ fpubh.2014.00134.
- [23] Benowitz NL. Clinical pharmacology of caffeine. Annu Rev Med 1990;41:277-88. doi: 10.1146/annurev. me.41.020190.001425.
- [24] Nehlig A, Daval JL, Debry G. Caffeine and the central nervous system: mechanisms of action, biochemical, metabolic and psychostimulant effects. Brain Res Rev 1992;17(2):139-70. doi: 10.1016/0165-0173(92)90012-B.
- [25] Rush E, Schulz S, Obolonkin V, Simmons D, Plank L. Are energy drinks contributing to the obesity epidemic? Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 2006;15(2):242-44.
- [26] Bray GA, Nielsen SJ, Popkin BM. Consumption of high-fructose corn syrup in beverages may play a role in the epidemic of obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;79:537-43.
- [27] Greer F, Hudson R, Ross R. Caffeine ingestion decreases glucose disposal during a hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp in sedentary humans. Diabetes 2001;50(10):2349-54. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.50.10.2349.
- [28] Siegel RK. Ginseng abuse syndrome: problems with the panacea. JAMA 1979;241(15):1614-5. doi: 10.1001/jama.1979.03290410046024.
- [29] Buettner C, Yeh GY, Phillips RS, Mittleman MA, Kaptchuk TJ. Systematic review of the effects of ginseng on cardiovascular risk factors. Ann Pharmacother 2006;40(1):83-95. doi: 10.1345/ aph.1G216.
- [30] Deliens T, Clarys P, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Deforche B. Correlates of university students' soft and energy drink consumption according to gender and residency. Nutrients 2015;7(8):6550-66. doi: 10.3390/nu7085298.

.....

E73

- [31] Goldman RD. Caffeinated energy drinks in children. Can Fam Physician 2013;59(9):947-8.
- [32] Miller KE. Wired: energy drinks, jock identity, masculine norms, and risk taking. J Am Coll Health 2008;56(5):481-9. doi: 10.3200/JACH.56.5.481-490.
- [33] Nowak D, Jasionowski A. Analysis of the consumption of caffeinated energy drinks among Polish adolescents. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2015;12(7):7910-21. doi: 10.3390/ijerph120707910.
- [34] Heckman MA, Sherry K, Gonzales De Mejia E. Energy drinks: an assessment of their market size, consumer demographics, ingredient profile, functionality, and regulations in the United States. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf 2010; 9:303-17. doi: 10.1111/j.1541-4337.2010.00111.
- [35] O'Brien M, McCoy T, Rhodes S, Wagoner A, Wolfson M. Caffeinated cocktails: energy drink consumption, high-risk drinking, and alcohol-related consequences among college students. Acad Emerg Med 2008;15(5):453-60. doi: 10.1111/j.1553-2712.2008.00085.x.
- [36] Thombs D, O'Mara R, Tsukamoto M, Rossheim M E, Weiler RM, Merves ML, Goldberger BA. Event-level analyses of energy drink consumption and alcohol intoxication in bar patrons. Addict Behav 2010;35(4):325-30. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2009.11.004.
- [37] Ferreira SE, Hartmann Quadros IM, Trindade AA, Takahashi S, Koyama RG, Souza-Formigoni ML. Can energy drinks reduce the depressor effect of ethanol? An experimental study in mice. Physiol Behav 2004(82):841-7. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.06.017.
- [38] Ferreira SE, De Mello M, Pompeia S, De Souza-Formigoni M L. Effects of energy drink ingestion on alcohol intoxication.

Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2006(30):598-605. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2006.00070.x.

[39] Rahamathulla MP. Prevalence, side effects and awareness about energy drinks among the female university students in Saudi Arabia. Pak J Med Sci (2017);33(2):347-52. doi: 10.12669/pjms.332.12084

- [40] Ministero della Salute. Comitato nazionale per la sicurezza alimentare parere n. 5 del 2012 Energy drinks e bevande alcoliche. Avaliable at: http://www.salute.gov.it/imgs/c_17_ pubblicazioni_1790_allegato.pdf. Accessed in February 2017.
- [41] Nordt SP, Claudius I, Rangan C, Armijo E, Milano P, Yanger S, Tomaszsewski C. Reasons for energy drink use and reported adverse effects among adolescent Emergency Department patients. Pediatr Emerg Care 2016. Published Ahead-of-Print, feb 2016- Last Updated: May 23, 2017. doi: 10.1097/ PEC.00000000000644.
- [42] Arria AM, Caldeira KM, Kasperski SJ, Vincent KB, Griffiths RR, O'Grady KE. Energy drink consumption and increased risk for alcohol dependence. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2011;35(2):365-75. doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.2010.01352.x.
- [43] Mattioli AV, Pennella S, Farinetti A, Manenti A. Energy drinks and atrial fibrillation in young adults. Clin Nutr 2017:S0261-5614(17):30162-0. doi: 10.1016/j. clnu.2017.05.002.
- [44] Stacey N, van Walbeek C, Maboshe M, Tugendhaft A, Hofman K. Energy drink consumption and marketing in South Africa. Prev Med 2017:S0091-7435(17):30174-3. doi: 10.1016/j. ypmed.2017.05.011.

Received on July 18, 2017. Accepted on February 14, 2018.

Correspondence: Silvia Majori, Department of Diagnostics and Public Health. Section of Hygiene and Preventive, Environmental and Occupational Medicine, Verona University, Istituti Biologici II, strada Le Grazie 8, 37134 Verona, Italy. Tel. +39 045 802 7653 (segr. +39 045 802 7652/+39 045 802 7271 - E-mail: silvia.majori@univr.it

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Energy drink consumption: a survey in high school students and associated psychological effects

S. SCURI¹, F. PETRELLI¹, M. TESAURO², F. CARROZZO¹, L. KRACMAROVA³, I. GRAPPASONNI¹ ¹ School of Medicinal and Health Products Sciences, University of Camerino, Italy; ² Department of Biomedical Surgical and Dental Sciences, Environmental Hygiene Lab, University of Milan, Italy; ³ Regional Hospital of T. Bata in Zlin, Hospital Pharmacy, Czech Republic

Keywords

Energy drinks • Abuse • Caffeine • Alcohol • Young

Summary

Introduction. Energy drinks represent an emerging health problem among young people. Energy drinks generally refer to a class of beverages containing sugars and various combinations of bioactive ingredients such as caffeine, taurine etc. Also the mix of energy drinks with alcohol is fairly frequent among young people and could be associated with dangerous effects.

Methods. In 2016-2017, a cross-sectional study was conducted in 1581 students attending eight high school in the Marche Region. Data were collected via an anonymous self-administered questionnaire.

Introduction

The first energy drink was introduced in Austria in 1987 and was launched in the United States (US) in 1997 [1]. Since then, the consumption of energy drinks has increased dramatically although they have become twice as expensive as traditional soft drinks. In 2011, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) commissioned a study to gather consumption data for energy drinks in 16 countries of the European Union. They found that the average consumption was 2 L/month in adolescents and 0.49 L/week in children [2, 3].

In the last decade the consumption of energy drinks has increased among athletes and the general public, above all in young individuals.

"Energy drinks" (EDs) generally refer to a class of beverages containing sugars and various combinations of bioactive ingredients such as caffeine, taurine, glucuronolactone, B-group vitamins, inositol, niacin, panthenol, extracts of guarana, green tea and ginger, purported to "energize" the body and the mind. Energy drinks have been found to improve attention and/or reaction times and indices of alertness in some studies; the combination of caffeine and glucose can ameliorate deficits in cognitive performance and subjective fatigue during extended periods of cognitive demand [4]. However, several ingredients may have unwanted health consequences in youngsters and should be used carefully. The health risks associated with energy drink consumption are primarily related to their caffeine content: a caffeine overdose can cause palpitations, hypertension, dieresis, central

Results. The 27.7% of students use energy drinks and the majority, corresponding with the 93.0%, are aware of the main ingredients contained in energy drinks. The main activities for which young people use these drinks are: sport, leisure, pleasure, study. Young people who admit to using alcohol mixed with energy drinks more than 4 times a month are an alarming fact.

Conclusions. This research confirms that energy drinks are used more by young males and especially by those who practice sports. Furthermore, the use these beverages to increase the concentration in the study and to be more brilliant in free time, is confirmed.

nervous system stimulation, nausea, vomiting, marked hypocalcemia, metabolic acidosis, convulsions and in rare cases, also death. Therefore, the European Union regulates the labeling of EDs by requiring that beverages characterized by "a high caffeine content", in a proportion in excess of 150 mg/l, show the following message clearly: "High caffeine content" [5]. In particular, in Italy the maximum concentration of caffeine is 32 mg/100 ml and must be specified on warning labels, such as "high caffeine content" and "not recommended for children, pregnant women or people sensitive to caffeine" [6]. Caffeine can also have a neuro-pharmacological effect, in fact it can increase the tendency to alcohol addiction. International studies have also indicated that mixing energy drinks with alcohol is fairly frequent among college students: this may be dangerous given the stimulant nature of energy drinks and depressant characteristics of the alcohol (the stimulant effect can mask how a person is intoxicated by alcohol); moreover, this mix is very dehydrating and will hinder the body's ability to metabolize alcohol, thus increasing intoxication [7, 8]. Another side effect of energy drink consumption is the increased risk of obesity due to their high sugar content [9]. The potential adverse health effects of the other ingredients of energy drinks (guarana, taurine, glucuronolactone, B vitamins) are not well known, so further studies are required [10]. Past observations have suggested that young adults can easily access energy drinks, but there is scarce evidence on the reason why they consume this kind of beverage and whether they are aware of their potential health hazards [9].

In accordance, this study examined the frequency of consumption of energy drinks in groups of high school students in the Marche Region (Italy) and investigated the factors for preferring these drinks and their eventual use with alcohol and during physical activity. It also analyzed and investigated the sensation of anxiety and depression in young people.

Methods

In 2016-2017, a cross-sectional study was conducted in students attending eight high schools in the Marche Region, and in particular in the district of Macerata, Ancona and Ascoli Piceno. This survey included 1581 students, after approval was obtained from the administrators of each faculty, and verbal consent was received from each participant. Data were collected via an anonymous selfadministered questionnaire; it consisted of 30 questions on students sociodemographic characteristics, personal habits, total caffeinated fluid intake, knowledge of energy drinks and habits (possible consumption during physical exercise and in association with alcohol). Before arriving at the final form of questionnaire we tested it on 120 people to check if the questions were interpreted as intended and to assess the extent of response, we only assigned validity to our questionnaire after the validation process was completed. Another important step in the construction of the questionnaire was our focus on reliability: results have to be reproducible; in our case, reliability was assessed by comparison with similar data obtained from other researches in PubMed.

To evaluate the consumption of caffeine we were inspired by the CCQ (Caffeine Consumption Questionnaire) [11], slightly modified according to our requirements. The data about the association of energy drinks and alcohol were collected using BAES (Biphasic Alcohol Effects Scale) [12], a self-report, unipolar adjective rating scale that is designed to measure both stimulant and sedative effects of mixing alcohol with energy drinks. It consists of fourteen items that comprise two sub-scales (stimulant and sedative). Individuals were instructed to rate the extent to which drinking alcohol produced these feelings, from 0 (not at all) to 10 (extremely).

Results

Table I shows the characteristics of the sample, uncovering some unhealthy lifestyle choices in this group, such as the habit of smoking, the use/abuse of substances and the intake of hunger sedatives. Analyzing the data showed that the majority of these students (1130 subjects), corresponding with 93.0%, are aware of the main ingredients contained in energy drinks; the most commonly reported ingredients are caffeine, taurine and sugars. The part (7.0%) who is not aware often confuses energy drinks with sport or soft drinks. On the other hand, the majority of students (64.3%) are not aware of the possible side effects caused by abusing energy drinks. However, among the side effects associated

......

with their consumption, they admit to having experienced insomnia, anxiety, tachycardia and gastrointestinal disturbances above all (Fig. 1).

.....

Students who use energy drinks are 436 (27.7%) and we have seen that men were more likely than women to make use of these beverages; their assumption happens especially during the hours when sports are being practiced, followed by consumption during hours of study and leisure. Only 215 students from the participants said they do not use energy drinks because they "think it is unhealthy", while 770, the majority, answered they do not feel as if they need to use them, and don't question themselves about their risks. The main activities during which young people use these drinks are: sport (97), free time (82), pleasure (72), study (60). During sport activities which see the largest percentage of energy drinks consumption among young people, the most popular brand was Red Bull (321) as it is most strongly associated with sport competitions.

If we ask the student sample to indicate on which occasion their choosing an energy drink is a first choice, we can say that they are strongly motivated by the need for energy (193), staying awake (145) and because they like the taste (139), finally to increase athletic performance (71). Though to a much lesser extent, the data on energy drinks consumption as first choice (32) during study (to increase concentration) and at the wheel to drive for longer periods (32) should be noted. Analyzing the consumption of energy drinks as second and third choice shows that, no less than 131 participants, turn to energy drinks to increase athletic performance as a second choice (259 as third choice), 143 to increase concentration during study (240 as third choice), 61 to aid in hangover recovery (352 as third choice) and finally 64 to stimulate their metabolism (350 as third choice).

Even if mixing energy drinks with alcohol is not frequent, and the prevailing answers are "sometimes" and "rarely", the percentage of students who consume energy drinks with a frequency of 1 to 4 is relevant. The most worrying data shows that 44 students admit to drinking cocktails of alcohol and energy drinks more than 4 times per month (Fig. 2).

Consumers of these cocktails were then asked to estimate (using numbers) sensations they experienced as shown in the BAES table, and the results showed that the stimulating effects such as "elated", "energized", "excited", "stimulated", "talkative", "up" and "vigorous" prevailed, though with very little difference between them (Fig. 3).

Discussion

As in previous researches, this study has allowed to photograph the situation of the population of young people regarding the adoption of incorrect lifestyles that expose young people to risks to their health (smoking, alcohol, drugs...) [13-15]. Most of the students in our sample who responded to the questionnaire know the main ingredients of energy drinks, but are not aware of the possible side effects that their abuse may cause. This is very seri-

ENERGY DRINK CONSUMPTION: A SURVEY IN HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS AND ASSOCIATED PSYCHOLOGICAL EFFECTS





ous because it means that today's youth are not aware of what they can face, acting without awareness of possible consequences. Previous studies also showed that abusing energy drinks may lead young people to take other illegal substances, and this is even more severe [16-18]. Therefore, education is very important, first of all by the family and then by the school, in order to warn children and adolescents of the possible risks they may incur by simply drinking a can. Education on the health hazards of various nutritional elements and/or supplements can be included in school curricula.

In our study, 436 out of 1.581 students use energy drinks. It is worrying that the students who consume energy drinks, though aware of the side-effects associated with their use such as insomnia, anxiety, tachycardia and gastrointestinal disturbances, continue to use these drinks in association with sport activities, free time, fun and study. Even more worrying is the data showing energy drink as the first choice of drink during study to increase concentration and at the wheel in order to increase concentration and feel less tired [19]. Finally, an analysis of the consumption of energy drinks as second and third choice drink show an increase in students who turn to EDs to increase athletic performance, their concentration in study, combat hangover symptoms and lastly to stimulate their metabolism [9, 20, 21].

Our study shows that young people see energy drinks as containing stimulating, helpful substances which aid them in activities such as driving, study and sports. This notion represents an unhealthy lifestyle that is dangerous to oneself and others, caused in part by the superficiality of some young people, but mostly by the image that producers of energy drinks publicize through mass media by associating successful competitive performances with their consumption.



Among our participants, the consumption of energy drinks mixed with alcohol was not high, in fact the answers which were chosen most frequently were "sometimes" and "rarely" with an average of 1 or 2 cocktails being consumed in a month.

However, it is worrying and dangerous to see that in a sample of young people of high school age, 36.3% admitted to consuming energy drinks mixed with alcohol with a frequency going from once a month to more than 4 times a month.

This data increases in relevance when confronted with the results of a study on 500 students of the University of Messina which found that 56.9% of students were using energy drinks and of that percentage, 48.6% is used to drinking EDs mixed with alcohol [22]. In our study, consumers of these cocktails were then asked to estimate (using numbers) their sensations as shown in the BAES table, and results showed that stimulating effects such as "elated", " energized", "excited", "stimulated", "talkative", "up" and "vigorous" prevailed, though with very little difference between them.

The problem deriving from perceiving these sensations is the habit of consuming these mixtures, as it can lead to a risk of alcohol dependency [23]. The energy drink market has grown exponentially over the past decade. Energy drinks marketing strategies include sporting events and athlete sponsorships, alcohol-alternative promotion, and product placement in the media (including Facebook and video games) oriented to children, adolescents, and young adults. Newer alcoholic energy drinks, the cans of which resemble their nonalcoholic counterparts, target risk-taking youth. Contrasting with brand design is the voluntary fine-print warning label on some products, which state that they may not be safe for children, those who are sensitive to caffeine, or for pregnant or nursing women [6, 24]. The use of EDs by young people does not only create problems associated with caffeine, but also sugars. The literature shows that in EDs, sugars are

......

present in amounts able to cause insomnia, nervousness, headache, tachycardia and seizures [25-27].

The absence of precise rules in many countries has resulted in the aggressive marketing of energy drinks over the world, targeted primarily at adolescents and young adults (men in particular) [28].

Producers have taken advantage of shortcomings in international and community legislation which, allow drinks in Europe to contain quantities of caffeine over 150 mg/100 ml by simply adding a warning label which is often not read, and in the US, producers are not obliged to label the amount of caffeine on the product.

Conclusions

The amount of data available allows us to illustrate a picture of the use of EDs in the younger population. Our study confirms energy drinks are used mostly by young males and people taking part in sports. The tendency to use

these drinks to help increase concentration during study and be on the ball in their free time was also confirmed. The promotion of these drinks feeds the market of illu-

sions, consolidating the opinion that any problem can be overcome with a drink, alcohol or a pill.

This illusion could determine a serious problem of public health also between the italian young people [29, 30].

Acknowledgments

The authors express their gratitude to all participant schools and declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

SS: conceived and coordinate the study, evaluated the results and wrote the manuscript. FP: coordinated and

contributed to the manuscript writing. MT: contributed to critically revised the manuscript. LK: contributed to critically revised the manuscript. FC: contributed to the recruitment of the participants, the acquisition of epidemiological data. IG: contributed to the supervision of the study and evaluated the results.

References

- [1] Fuhrman E. 2006 state of the industry. Beverage Industry 2006; 97:22-37.
- [2] Zucconi S, Volpato C, Adinolfi F, Gandini E, Gentile E, Loi A, Fioriti L. Gathering consumption data on specific consumer groups of energy drinks. Supporting Publications 2013: EN-394. Available at: www.efsa.europa.eu/publications.
- [3] Nihtila A, West N, Lussi A, Bouchard P, Ottolenghi L, Senekola E, Llodra JC, Viennot S, Bourgeois D. Oral health behavior and lifestyle factors among overweight and non-overweight young adults in europe: a cross-sectional questionnaire study. Health-care Basel 2016;4(2):21. doi: 10.3390/healthcare4020021.
- [4] Miles-Chan JL, Charrière N, Grasser EK, Montani JP, Dulloo AG. The thermic effect of sugar-free Red Bull: do the non-caffeine bioactive ingredients in energy drink play a role? Obesity. 2015;23(1):16-9. doi: 10.1002/oby.20905.
- [5] European Commission. Directive 2002/67/eC of 18 July 2002 on the labeling of foodstuffs containing quinine, and of foodstuffs containing caffeine. Official Journal of the European Communities. L 191/20; 19.7.2002.
- [6] D.Lg 23 giugno 2003, n. 181. Attuazione della direttiva 2000/13/ CE concernente l'etichettatura e la presentazione dei prodotti alimentari, nonché la relativa pubblicità. Gazzetta Ufficiale n. 167 del 21/07/2003.
- [7] Cocchioni M, Grappasonni I, Petrelli F, Troiani P, Pellegrini MG. Consumption, attitudes and knowledge on compared alcoholic beverages among high school and university students. Ann Ig 1997;9(1):89-97. doi.org/10.1590/S0104-42302011000500009.
- [8] Kračmarová L, Klusoňová H, Petrelli F, Grappasonni I. Tobacco, alcohol and illegal substances: Experiences and attitudes among Italian university students. Revista da Associacao Medica Brasileira 2011;57(5):523-28. doi.org/10.1590/S0104-42302011000500009.
- [9] Attila S, Çakir B. Energy drink consumption in college students and associated factors. Nutrition 2011;27(3):316-22. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2010.02.008.
- [10] Zeidan-Chulia F, Gelain D P, Kolling ED, Rybarczyc-Filho JL, Ambrosi P, Resende Terra S. Major components of energy drinks (caffeine, taurine and guarana) exert cytoxic effects on human neuronal SH-SY5Y cells by decreasing reactive oxygen species production. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2013;2013:791795. doi: 10.1155/2013/791795.
- [11] Shohet KL, Landrum RE. Caffeine consumption questionnaire: a standardized measure for caffeine consumption in undergraduate students. Psychol Rep 2001;89(3):521-6. doi: 10.2466/ pr0.2001.89.3.521.
- [12] Rueger SY, King AC. Validation of the brief Biphasic Alcohol Effects Scale (B-BAES). Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2013;37(3): 470-6. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2012.01941.
- [13] Petrelli F, Pellegrini MG, Grappasonni I, Cocchioni M. Young people and smoking knowledge and habits of middle and high school students. Igiene Moderna 2000;113(5):425-37.
- [14] Spáčilová L, Klusoňová H, Petrelli F, Signorelli C, Visnovsky P, Grappasonni I. Substance use and knowledge among Italian
- Received on December 2, 2017. Accepted on February 22, 2018.

high school students. Biomedical Papers 2009;153(2):163-8. doi: 10.5507/bp.2009.028.

- [15] Spáčilová L, Málková E, Hajská M, Klusoňová H, Grappasonni I, Petrelli F, Višňovský P. Epidemiology of addictive substances: Comparison of Czech and Italian university students' experiencies. Chemicke Listy 2007;101(14):147-50.
- [16] Grappasonni I, Petrelli F, Nacciarriti L, Cocchioni M. Young people and drug: distress or new style? Epidemiological survey among an Italian student population. Annali di Igiene: Medicina Preventiva e di Comunità 2003;15(6):1027-35.
- [17] Petrelli F, Grappasonni I, Bernardini C, Nacciarriti L, Cocchioni M. Knowledge and consumption of psychoactive substances in middle-school, high-school and university students. Igiene Moderna 1998;109(2):207-21.
- [18] [18] Petrelli F, Grappasonni I, Peroni A, Kračmarová L, Scuri S. Impact of the economic downturn on alcohol consumption, smoking and quality of life in a sample population of Central Italy. Acta Biomedica 2018;89(1):1-5.
- [19] Alford C, Cox H, Wescott R. The effects of red bull energy drink on human performance and mood. Amino Acids 2001; 21(2):139-50. doi.org/10.1007/s007260170021.
- [20] Miller KE. Energy Drinks, Race, and Problem Behaviors Among College Students. Journal of Adolescent Health 2008; 43:490-7. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2008.03.003.
- [21] Ferreira SE, De Mello MT, Pompéia S, De Souza-Formigoni MLO. Effects of energy drink ingestion on alcohol intoxication. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2006;30:598-605. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2006.00070.
- [22] Oteri A, Salvo F, Caputi AP, Calapai G. Intake of energy drinks in association with alcoholic beverages in a cohort of students of the School of Medicine of the University of Messina. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2007;31:1677-80. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2007.00464.
- [23] Bigard AX. Risks of Energy drinks in youths. Arch Pediatr 2010 Nov;17(11):1625-31. doi: 10.1016/j.arcped.2010.08.001.
- [24] Seifert SM, BS, Schaechter JL, Hershorin ER, Lipshultz SE. Health effects of energy drinks on children, adolescents, and young adults. Pediatrics 2011;127(3):511-28. doi:10.1542/ peds.2009-3592.
- [25] Clauson KA, Shields KM, McQueen CE, Persad N. Safety issues associated with commercially available energy drinks. J Am Pharm Assoc 2008;48:e55-63. doi.org/10.1331/ JAPhA.2008.07055.
- [26] Davis MM, Gance Cleveland B, Hassink S, Johnson R, Paradis G, Resnicow K. Recommendations for prevention of childhood obesity. Pediatrics 2007;120:S229-53. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-2329E.
- [27] Malisova O, Bountziouka V, Zampelas A, Kapsokefalou M. Evaluation of drinks contribution to energy intake in summer and winter. Nutrients 2015;7:3724-38. doi: 10.3390/nu7053724.
- [28] Spáčilová L, Petrelli F, Grappasonni I, Scuri S. Health care system in the Czech Republic. Annali di Igiene: Medicina Preventiva e di Comunità 2007;19(6):573-81.
- [29] Signorelli C, Odone A, Gozzini A, Petrelli F, Tirani M, Zangrandi A, Zoni R, Florindo N. The missed constitutional reform and its possible impact on the sustainability of the italian national health service. Acta Biomedica 2017;(88)(1):91-4.
- [30] Siracusa M, Grappasonni I, Petrelli F. The pharmaceutical care and the rejected constitutional reform: what might have been and what is. Acta Biomedica 2017;88(3):352-9.

.....

Correspondence: Fabio Petrelli, School of Medicinal and Health Products Sciences, University of Camerino, Italy. Tel. +39 0737402417 - E-mail: fabio.petrelli@unicam.it

E79

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Mental and physical effects of energy drinks consumption in an Italian young people group: a pilot study

F. PETRELLI¹, I. GRAPPASONNI¹, D. EVANGELISTA¹, P. POMPEI¹, G. BROGLIA¹, P. CIOFFI², L. KRACMAROVA³, S. SCURI¹

¹ School of Medicinal and Health Products Sciences, University of Camerino, Italy; ² Internal Pharmacy Service of Pescara Hospital, Italy; ³ Regional Hospital of T. Bata in Zlin, Hospital Pharmacy, Czech Republic

Keywords

Energy Drinks • Young • Physical Stress • Mental Stress

Summary

Introduction. The primary consumers of energy drinks were athletes, to combat fatigue, but in reality, thanks to their fast expansion and economic growth, young adults and teenagers represent the new target market. Consumption of energy drinks by both recreational and competitive athletes has increased dramatically in recent years, though they are often unaware of what is being ingested, believing to improve their physical and psychological performance. The literature shows contradictions about the capacity of energy drinks to enhance psychophysical results. In relation to probable adverse effects induced by the irregular consumption of energy drinks, which in several cases are not so clear, we decided to investigate the possible relationship between the intake of energy drinks and the presence of mental and physical stress in young people and athletes.

Methods. Two experimental sessions, separated at least by 1 week, according to a randomized cross-over design, following this protocol were conducted: in the first session a mental and

Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines energy drinks (EDs) as beverages able to offer users an energy boost related to their ingredients (caffeine, amino acids, herbal extracts, carbohydrates and vitamins) all of which are marketed as energizing and stimulating [1].

Furthermore the same category of energy drinks also includes sport drinks, soft drinks, nutraceutical drinks, and supplement foods which have lower percentages of consumption. But it is very important not to confuse them as they are used for different purposes, and regulate them with specific law [2]. Sports drinks are hydro-saline beverages with a low-carbohydrate content, without caffeine, for postworkout rehydration purposes to compensate the loss of water and electrolytes. Soft drinks are characterized by the addition of flavorings and sweeteners; nutraceuticals are expressly ingested to enhance the health state and usually contain bioactive compounds such as concentrated extracts from teas, fruits, vegetables or herbs and antioxidants [3]. Numerous debates have been raised in relation to the reduction caused by energy drinks in the proper nutri-

physical stress was conducted without the consumption of energy drinks, the second after energy drinks consumption. BAI (Beck Anxiety Inventory) and BDI (Beck Depression Inventory II) test have been used to test the mental stress, and a "cycle ergometer test" to test the physical stress.

Results. BAI and BDI tests results showed that before the consumption of energy drinks, subjects are considered in the range of "minimal level of anxiety", (10 and 60 percentiles) and do not report a level of depression. After the energy drinks consumption, a "mild level of anxiety" has been recorded, and the BDI showed a case with a pathological profile. The physical test recorded a small increase in the maximum heart rate was verified with the intake of an energetic beverage.

Conclusions. The stimulating effect of Energy Drinks EDs on nervous system and cardiovascular system, must be checked and studied in deeper detail, because it may represent a risk for the health of young athletes.

tional intake within food standards code. Several countries have drafted various limitations in order to regulate and control the labeling, distribution and sale of energy drinks for their argued caffeine content [4].

The primary consumers of energy drinks were athletes, to combat fatigue, but in reality, thanks to their fast expansion and economic growth, young adults and teenagers represent the new target market. Consumption of energy drinks by both recreational and competitive athletes has increased dramatically in recent years, though they are often unaware of what is being ingested, believing to improve their physical and psychological performance [5]. Furthermore, among athletes, the popularity of caffeine and caffeine-containing products has also increased because this substance has been removed from the World Anti-Doping Agency list of banned substances [6]. The literature shows contradictions about the capacity of energy drinks to enhance physical results, and there are several possible mechanisms that could explain improvements, suggesting the high energy compound effect on the central nervous system is most likely responsible [7]. It is well known that the combination of more sugars (glucose with fructose or maltodextrin and fructose) seems to increase the quantity of energy provided during exercise [8]. Energy drinks, in fact, contain high quantity of carbohydrates (25-30 grams in 240 ml) and this amount does not conformity to the recommended content of 6-8% (6-8 grams in 100 ml) suggested by the International Society of Sport Nutrition (ISSN), the American College of Sports Medicine [9, 10], and the Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies of European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) [11].

These doubts about health problems arising from the use of energy drinks represent a health problem still to be explored, not only from a physical but also psychological point of view.

Since the initial diffusion of caffeinated drinks, their regulatory aspect has always shown some deficiencies due to the lack of knowledge about the physiological effects produced by the substances used in manufacturing, compromising the level of security in their composition. In fact, exacerbation and increase of anxiety, acutemania, seizures, and mood and behavior problems have been correlated to the use of energy drinks [12]. Furthermore, in young people, high levels of soft drink consumption are related to psychological problems, with emotional symptoms including mental distress, hyperactivity, behavioural problems, and suicidal behaviors [13, 14].

In relation to probable adverse effects induced by the irregular consumption of energy drinks, which in several cases are not so clear, we decided to investigate the possible relationship between the intake of energy drinks and the presence of mental and physical stress in young people and athletes.

Methods

STUDY POPULATION

Ten healthy young adults, five females and five males, aged 18 to 27 years, were recruited for a mental and physical stress test. The study was carried out in healthy, non-obese, non medicated individuals who were taking any medication affecting cardiovascular or autonomic regulation, non-medicated individuals who were free from any somatic or mental condition. The study criteria were met by 20 individuals, 10 females and 10 males, and the experimental protocol has been described.

Only 10 individuals accepted to participate. The sample selected was invited not to take drinks with caffeine (as energy drinks) and substances of abuse in the week before the test, and in the hours before the physical and mental test.

The mean height of the participants was 167.7 ± 1.0 cm, their body weight was 59.8 ± 2.4 kg, and the medium BMI (Body Mass Index) was 21.5. Some participants were trained (subjects with regular physical activity); in particular inside the female group only the participant 1 and 2 were trained. Inside the male group only the number 6 was untrained. Three of participants, inside the untrained group, reported to smoke regularly.

STUDY DESIGN

The adherence to the protocol including the mental and physical tests was made by each subject who completed and signed the informed consent. This form was valid for all tests performed. In particular, the informed consent was important for the physical test. In fact, during the exam to raise the heart rate, it is possible, to perceive some complications like chest pain or on the electrocardiogram, and this was generally followed by the spontaneous interruption of the exercise. In some cases, it is possible to verify cardiac arrhythmias with early stoppage of the test.

PSYCHOLOGICAL AND PHYSICAL TESTS

All experiments took place in a quiet, temperaturecontrolled (22°C) laboratory and started between 08.00 a.m. and 09.00 a.m. Every subject attended 2 separate experimental sessions (each session separated at least by 1 week) according to a randomized cross-over design. The first week, on arrival at the laboratory subjects were asked to sit in a comfortable armchair; subjects were called one at a time to the cardiologist's surgery, and were given their ECG under physical stress. A baseline recording was made for 20 minutes. Then, a mental arithmetic stress test was performed for 5 minutes: subjects subtracted the number 6 or 7 (chosen at random) continuously from a random 3 or 2 digit number and were instructed to give a written response. Each mental stress task was presented to the subjects on a monitor and comprised 60 unique calculations, with a 5-second interval between each calculation. Immediately after the mental task, subjects were asked to rate their perceived stress using BAI (Beck Anxiety Inventory) [15] and BDI (Beck Depression Inventory II) [16] tests.

The BAI and BDI-II tests in young adults were validated [17, 18].

The BAI is a self-report instrument that allows to measure the severity of anxiety symptoms in adults; it was designed to include anxiety symptoms only minimally overlapping with those of a depressive nature. The test consists of 21 items (descriptions of somatic symptoms of anxiety, subjective or related to phobias), to be evaluated on a four-point scale (0 to 3). The clinical study can then continue assessment using DSM (Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders) criteria to arrive at a specific diagnostic category and plan interventions targeting the underlying cause of the respondent's anxious symptomatology and/or diagnosis.

The BDI-II is a self-report instrument that allows you to assess the severity of depression in adults and adolescents (including a psychiatric diagnosis). The test consists of 21 items and gives a total score and scores on two areas: Somatic-Affective and Cognitive.

After the BAI and BDI tests, physical stress was evaluated using a "cycle ergometer test" with the purpose of estimating maximal oxygen consumption (VO2max). It is an instrumental examination which consists in the recording of an electrocardiogram before, during and after the execution of a physical effort, increasing blood pressure and blood flow to the coronary arteries thus

ensuring the influx of blood to the cardiac muscle. Our performance was executed with a cycle ergometer, regularly calibrated, a particular exercise bike with regulators and electronic controllers of the effort that is made by the patient. In this way it was possible to evaluate the cardiovascular reaction to physical exercise, particularly concentrating on heart rate, pressor response and variation of the ECG to achieve the maximum heart rate (MHR) expected for the age of the subject. The calculation of the MHR was performed by using the Karvonen formula that keeps the difference between the theoretical maximum heart rate (220) and the age of the subject in correlation, ensuring the most accurate method for making the measurements in percentages: prediction of HR_{max} (220 bpm - age). The preparation test included a recommendation for the subject to have a light breakfast, avoiding alcohol consumption, in the hour before the test was administered. Before starting the cycling exercise, all procedures were briefly explained to all the patients. Exercise testing protocols were assisted by supervising laboratory staff. It was recommended that selected protocol be based on the limitations of each individual. The electrode pads of the ECG were placed on the thorax of the patient in order to record a basal electrocardiogram. In this manner it was possible to extrapolate an overview of the cardiovascular profile characterized by the load (Watt), the maximum heart rate (bpm), percentage on the theoretical heart rate, the maximum systolic and diastolic pressure. Analysis is divided into three phases: 1) pre-exercise; 2) exercise; 3) post-exercise. For each period time, number of heartbeats, blood pressure and potency were monitored as collection data. In the first phase, physical effort started at 0 Watts by pedaling on the exercise bike and becomes progressive during the exercise period, through gradual increments (steps) given by resistance from the bicycle ergometer pedals, until reaching the point of highest fatigue. This increase of strength was provided by additing 25 Watts every minute (25Wx1) until reaching exhaustion. When the subject was no longer able to stand a further increase, they were told to finish with a final sprint which allowed to measure maximum heart rate. In the final stage, postexercise, the patient continued to pedal without workload. The collection data included the measurement of blood pressure taken at rest, in both a supine (at the end of the exercise period) and standing position (prior to cycling), necessary to determine the presence of any ECG abnormalities that might interfere with test results. The desired testing endpoint was researched within 8 to 12 minutes of testing. The second week, the same protocol was repeated. On arriving at the laboratory, the test subjects, not wearing blindfolds, ingested either 250 ml of an energy drink containing caffeine (114 mg), taurine (1420 mg), and glucuronolactone (84.2 mg), sucrose, and glucose (39.1 g). Subjects were asked to ingest their drink at a convenient pace over a 4 minute period. After 15/20 minutes, the ECG was carried out again under physical stress, followed by the mental stress task and participants were then asked to rate their perceived stress using BAI and BDI tests. The study was conducted in

accordance with the latest version of the Declaration of Helsinki.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The data were processed using an Excel Workbook (Microsoft Office), and analyzed using XLSTAT Software [19]. The Student t-test was used to analyze possible relationship between the data recorded before and after the Energy drinks consumption, and statistical significance was established at p<0.05. The t-Student test was chosen, among other non-parametric tests such as Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney (WMW), which are frequently applied in medical statistics to compare the outcomes of a treatment, because the WMW has a very high probability of rejection of the null hypothesis. This happens when the means or medians are equal [20, 21].

Results

PSYCHOLOGICAL TESTS

After a mental task, subjects were asked to rate their perceived stress rate using BAI and BDI tests.

BAI test. Before the consumption of energy drinks, subjects with a raw score between 0 (10 percentiles) and 7 (60 percentiles) were considered in the range of "minimal level of anxiety", they were considered on average and do not represent a particular clinical significance.

Only two cases presented a raw score between 8 (70 percentiles) and 15 (80 percentiles), meaning that they were in the range showing a "mild level of anxiety"; it is significant that these two cases were women, who usually have higher anxiety levels than men.

After drinking the energy drink, scores remained the same or decreased; only one measured 11 (80 percentiles), meaning a "mild level of anxiety" (Fig. 1).

BDI test. Before drinking energy drinks, the total scores in percentiles were less than 85, were considered on average and without a particular clinical significance: the subjects did not report a level of depression with a clinical significance (Fig. 2).

Percentiles related to somatic-affective factors all come under 85, so the subjects did not present significant symptoms of depression.

Cognitive factors were all under 85 percent (no clinical significance) except in four cases: three were 90, meaning the subject presents cognitive manifestations bordering on pathological aspects; the other was 97, indicating a particular difficult situation with cognitive symptoms of depression (that only in some cases can be considered serious).

Furthermore, in the test after drinking EDs, the total scores in percentiles were under 85%, so they not play a clinical significance.

For the somatic-affective factors, we found only one case measuring 90% (so the score was higher than before). This case has to be considered bordering on pathological.





The comparison between the BDI-II of somatic-affective sphere, before and after the EDs intake, showed a t-Student value (t(18) = 1.77, p = 0.09) that, even if not statistically significant, represents a medical relevance. Scores for the cognitive factors decreased significantly and only one of the subjects presented values greater than 85 percentiles (the cut-off point) (Fig. 3).

Statistical analysis (t Student), applied to the psychological test, showed a statistically significant by comparing the BDI-II values of the cognitive sphere before and after the intake of EDs (t(18) = 2.1, p = 0.05).

PHYSICAL TESTS

The physical test was conducted only with 8 participants because two were ill. The effects of energy drinks appear to be largely on cardiac parameters (Tab. I); in fact in the conditions compared, a small increase in the maximum heart rate was verified with the intake of an energetic beverage. In the post-workout phase, an efficient background is demonstrated by evaluating recovery at the third minute, which is a critical time, of the heart rate. A rapid drop in the heart rate is seen when it drops below 120 bpm, as index of an high vagal tone and therefore associated with good physical performance and health status.

For trained subjects, recovery time is good because is achieved in a short time after exercise, after which the heart rate returns near the baseline; instead, untrained subjects reached maximal heart rate during the exercise period and leading to a slow recovery.

As is possible to appreciate in Table I, our results show the second and fifth female and the last male showed a fast recovery phase, while other participants displayed no great discrepancy between both conditions.

For resting subjects, HRR (Hearth Rate Recovery) was lower, meaning that their performance corresponds to an untrained physical state. For each individual, a parallel observation about cardiovascular changes procured with or without ingesting energy drinks is reported below. In the following results, which have been listed progressively, females are shown first, followed by males.





Females.

- Pre-exercise: different heart rate was noted, slightly higher after energy drink ingestion. Exercise: stable condition in both states (with and without energy drink). Post-exercise: weak recovery period, a little stronger after ingesting the energy drink, highlighted by a slow achievement of baseline blood pressure.
- Pre-exercise: a stable setting for both conditions. Exercise: prominent increase of heart rate after ingesting the energy drink, during the lead-up period. Post-exercise: fast recovery for both, but more marked with the energy drink.
- Pre-exercise: equilibrium between the two conditions. Exercise: no divergence, only slight anomalies observed. Post-exercise: very slow recovery.
- Pre-exercise: no differences were observed for both conditions because an identical heart rate was maintained. Exercise: in the first phase we observed an increase in heart rate after the energy drink was ingested, which then remained unchanged. Post-exercise: recovery is moderate.

Pre-exercise: flattening of the heart rate for both states. Exercise: energy drink ingestion initially produces an increase of the heart rate, compared to when EDs were not consumed. Post-exercise: faster recovery is noted without the intake of energy drinks, through a strong reduction of heart beat noted near the baseline at the third minute.

Males.

- Pre-exercise: a higher heart rate is observed on ingestion of the energy drink. Exercise: a higher heart rate remains constant for the whole period thanks to the energy drink. Post-exercise: a quick drop with energy drink and modest recovery compared to the other state, in which the heart rate is higher. Basically, the overall recovery phase was weak.
- Pre-exercise: a small increase in heart rate is observed without the ingestion of energy drinks. Exercise: the entire phase is characterized by a flattening of heart activity. Post-exercise: in the energy drink state, the recovery phase was faster than in the other condition, because the heart rate decreased, but being

Tab.	I. The	e maximum	n heart rat	e before a	and after	EDs	drinking	and th	ne Heart	rate I	recovery	(25 \	watts)	before	and a	after	EDs	drinking,	at the
third	minu	ute.																	

Participants	MHB* before EDs (heart beats)	MHB* after EDs (heart beats)	HRR** before EDs (heart beats)	HRR** after EDs (heart beats)
Females				
1 (trained)	185	187	125	129
2 (trained)	166	164	107	94
3 (no trained)	185	187	129	142
4 (no trained)	178	176	109	112
5 (no trained)	174	174	87	89
Males				
6 (no trained)	176	168	137	129
7 (no trained)	200	194	144	133
8 (trained)	174	185	111	115

* = MHB maximum heart rate; ** = Hearth Rate Recovery.

higher compared to the baseline, the entire recovery was sluggish.

• Pre-exercise: phase of equilibrium in which the maximum heart rate is kept stable during both states. Exercise: there was a brief increase of the heart rate in the first time period. Post-exercise: moderate recovery without any changes in heart rate at the third minute.

Discussion

Physical stress. Judging from outcomes obtained in this study, energy drinks are able to provide an additional burst of energy in a short-time period, more noticeable in trained subjects than untrained. For this reason, to achieve benefits from the intake of an energy drink, short and low-intensity activities are most favored. On the basis of the full results obtained from this investigation we can appreciate how energy drinks are able to stimulate the cardiovascular system for a short time after their intake [22], leading to an initial increase in heart rate, which then drops and remains constant the second time around. This has been observed in particular for physically trained subjects; in fact, the beverage provides a larger energy boost in the first instant of exercise because metabolic processes occur in a brief stretch of time. The sports activities most suited to exploiting the effects energy drinks claim to give are short term and high intensity strength activities. In many cases, before an event or during training, serious adverse effects can arise such as restlessness and irritability, an excessive increase of blood pressure and dehydration problems. Medical illnesses, especially underlying heart problems, have to be checked with physicians before using energy beverages, because their ingestion may exacerbate these conditions.

Psychological stress. Regarding the BAI test, as in a previous study, during our experimental phase we found that the energy drinks gives significant improvements in mental performance including choice reaction time, concentration (number cancellation) and memory (immediate recall), which reflected increased subjective alertness. These consistent and wide-ranging improvements in performance are interpreted as reflecting the effects of the combination of ingredients [23]. However, there are also articles that contradict this thesis [22], so this hypothesis needs to be further investigated with studies and research. Considering BDI test, after taking the energy drinks, anxiety levels decreased or remained unchanged; only in two cases did they increase and this might depend on the tolerance that individuals develop to caffeine. The intake of energy drinks has also caused an increase in somatic-affective factors, decreasing cognitive ones and the perception of depression. Probably this kind of "tolerance" is due to the fact that, nowadays, modern society is accustomed to "fast, excited" states, and a small dose (1 can) of an energy drink no longer affects the psyche of our subjects. The fact that in some cases

anxiety and depression decrease after drinking EDs makes us also think that those feelings of mild dysphoria, mood-swings and anxiety were due to not knowing what would happen in the experiment; in fact, in the second phase of the experiment, they returned to normal levels. Energy drinks are known to improve mental performance, for example concentration and memory. Three studies published in two articles by Kennedy and Scholey demonstrate the positive effects of energy drinks on cognitive performance [25, 26]. In our case, anxiety and depression decreased after the ingestion of energy drinks, but they are the most common psychological side effects of energy drink abuse: probably it is an initial effect that will then change; for example, alcohol, cannabis, and other substances people abuse also initially give an illusion of wellness, and when doses are increased, these effects take a turn for the worse (drowsiness, stomach pain, nausea, vomiting etc.) [27, 28]. Precisely this apparently positive effect, may lead the user to increase doses of these substances, with the risk of incurring negative effects and posing a risk to health. Our result seems to agree with what is written in literature [25, 26, 29, 30].

Conclusions

Energy drinks are emerging as a public health threat and, increasingly consumed by youth internationally, are often marketed through youth-oriented media and venues [31-33]. Another crucial issue is the communication of health benefits to consumers in order to provide the knowledge necessary for them to make an informed choice. On this question, a strong policy that contrasts the excessive consumption of energy drinks among young people does not yet exist. Furthermore, alterations in mood, such as stress, anxiety and depression, are factors that have to be seen as if they were an alarm bell. The stimulating effect of EDs on the cardiovascular system in relation with physical activity must be checked and studied in deeper detail, because it may represent a risk for the health of young athletes, at times exacerbating congenital heart diseases. In accordance with other pilot studies, the authors aim to verify the results of this pilot study applying the same experimental protocol to a larger group of young people [34, 35].

Acknowledgments

The authors express their gratitude to all participants. A particular thanks to Dr. Danilo Compagnucci, Director of Sports Medicine Centre in Santa Lucia Terme of Tolentino City, for the support and supervision during the physical test, and to Dr. Paolo Soru, Psychologist and Psychotherapist for the support and supervision during the psychological test.

All the authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

FP: conceived and coordinate the study, evaluated the results and wrote the manuscript. IG: coordinated and contributed to the manuscript writing. DE: contributed to the recruitment of the participants, the acquisition of epidemiological data. PP: contributed to the recruitment of the participants. GB: contributed to the recruitment of the participants, supervision during the physical test. PC: contributed to critically revised the manuscript. LK: contributed to critically revised the manuscript. SS: conceived and contributed to the supervision of the study, evaluated the results.

References

- WHO/Europe. Energy drinks cause concern for health of young people. Available at: http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/ disease.
- [2] Siracusa M, Petrelli F. Trade of food supplement: food or drug supplement? Recenti Prog Med 2016;107(9):465-71. doi: 10.1701/2354.25224.
- [3] Heckman MA, Sherry K, Gonzalez De Mejia E. Energy drinks: an assessment of their market size, consumer demographics, ingredient profile, functionality and regulations in the United States. Comprehensive reviews in Food Science and Food Safety 2010;(9):303-17. doi: 10.1111/j.1541-4337.2010.00111.x.
- [4] Breda JJ, HughWhiting S, Encarnação R, Norberg S, Jones R, Reinap M, Jewell J. Energy drink consumption in Europe: a review of the risks, adverse health effects, and policy options to respond. Front Public Health. 2014. Available at: https://doi. org/10.3389/fpubh.2014.00134.
- [5] Beatriz L, Ruiz-Vicente D, Areces F, Abián-Vicén J, Salinero JJ, Gonzalez-Millán C, Gallo-Salazar C, Del Coso J. Acute consumption of a caffeinated energy drink enhances aspects of performance in sprint swimmers. Br J Nutr 2015;114:908-14. doi:10.1017/S0007114515002573.
- [6] Del Coso J, Munoz G, Munoz-Guerra J. Prevalence of caffeine use in elite athletes following its removal from the World Anti-Doping Agency list of banned substances. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2011;36:555-61. doi: 10.1139/h11-052.
- [7] Marko D. Stojanovic M, Stojanovic V, Kanostrevac K, Veljovic D, Medjedovic B, Ostojic SM. The effects of pre-exercise high energy drink on exercise performance in physically active men and women. Advances in Physical Education 2011;1(1):1-5. doi: 10.4236/ape.2011.11001.
- [8] Currell K, Jeukendrup AE. Superior endurance performance with ingestion of multiple transportable carbohydrates. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2008;40(2):275-81. doi: 10.1249/ mss.0b013e31815adf19.
- [9] Campbell B, Wilborn C, La Bounty P, Taylor L, Nelson MT, Greenwood M, Ziegenfuss TN, Lopez HL, Hoffman JR, Stout JR, Schmitz S, Collins R, Kalman DS, Antonio J, Kreider RB. International Society of Sports Nutrition. J Int Soc Sports Nutr 2013:3;10(1):1. doi: 10.1186/1550-2783-10-1.
- [10] Rodriguez NR, Di Marco NM, Langley S. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Nutrition and athletic performance. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2009:41:709-31. doi: 10.1249/ MSS.0b013e31890eb86.
- [11] Agostoni C, Berni Canani R, Fairweather-Tait S, Heinone M, Korhonen H, La Veille S, Marchelli R, Martin A, Naska A, Neuhäuser-Berthold M, Nowicka G, Sanz Y, Siani A, Sjödin A, Stern M, Strain SJJ, Tetens I, Tomé D, Turck D, Verhagen H. Scientific Opinion on the safety of caffeine. EFSA Journal 2015;13(5):4102.
- [12] Georgina S.A. Trapp, Karina Allen, Therese A. O'Sullivan,

.....

Monique Robinson, Peter Jacoby, M.Sc., and Wendy H. Oddy. Energy drink consumption is associated with anxiety in australian young adult males. Depression and Anxiety 2014;31:420-8. Doi: 10.1002/da.22175.

[13] Lien L, Lien N, Heyerdahl S, Thoresen M, Bjertness E. Consumption of soft drinks and hyperactivity, mental distress, and conduct problems among adolescents in Oslo, Norway. AmJ Public Health 2006;96(10):1815-20. doi: 10.2105/ AJPH.2004.059477.

- [14] Pan X, Zhang C, Shi Z. Soft drink and sweet food consumption and suicidal behaviours among Chinese adolescents. Acta Paediatr 2011;100(11):e215-e222.
- [15] Aaron T. Beck. Beck Anxiety Inventory. Giunti O.S. 2013.
- [16] Aaron T. Beck, Robert A. Steer, Gregory K. Brown. "BDI" Beck Depressive Inventory". Giunti OS. 2013.
- [17] Addinsoft SARL: XLstat 2006. Loading Data Analysis and Statistical Solution for Microsoft Excel. Addinsoft SRL, 2006.
- [18] Keith JR, Blackwood ME, Mathew RT, Lecci LB. Self-Reported mindful attention and awareness, go/no-go response-time variability, and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. mindfulness (N Y). 2017 Jun;8(3):765-774. doi: 10.1007/s12671-016-0655-0.
- [19] Deumic E, Butcher BD, Clayton AD, Dindo LN, Burns TL, Calarge CA. Sexual functioning in adolescents with major depressive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 2016 Jul;77(7):957-62. doi: 10.4088/JCP.15m09840.
- [20] Fagerland MW, Sandvik L. The Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test under scrutiny. Statist Med 2009;28:1487-97. Doi: 10.1002/ sim.3561.
- [21] Hart A. Mann-Whitney test is not just a test of medians: difference in spread can be important. BMJ 2001:323:391-3. doi. org/10.1136/bmj.323.7309.391].
- [22] Walsh AL, Gonzalez AM, Ratamess NA, Kang J, Hoffman JR: Improved time to exhaustion following ingestion of the energy drink Amino Impact. J Int Soc Sports Nutr 2010 Apr 15;7:14. doi: 10.1186/1550-2783-7-14.
- [23] Reissig C, Strain E, Griffiths R: Caffeinated energy drinks a growing problem. Drug Alcohol Depend 2009;1;99(1-3):1-10. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2008.08.001.
- [24] Rotstein J, Barber J, Strowbridge C, Hayward S, Huang R, Benrejeb Godefroy S. Energy drinks: an assessment of the potential health risks in the Canadian context. Int Food Risk Anal J 2013; 3:1-29. doi: 10.5772/56723.
- [25] Yu Rueger S, King AC. Validation of the Brief Biphasic Alcohol Effects Scale (B-BAES). Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2013;37(3): 470-6. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2012.01941.x.
- [26] Attila S, Çakir B. Energy drink consumption in college students and associated factors. Nutrition 2011;27(3):316-22. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2010.02.008.
- [27] Kračmarová L, Klusoňová H, Petrelli F, Grappasonni I. Tobacco, alcohol and illegal substances: Experiences and attitudes among Italian university students. Revista da Associacao Medica Brasileira 2011;57(5):523-28. doi.org/10.1590/S0104-42302011000500009.
- [28] Spáčilová L, Klusoňová H, Petrelli F, Signorelli C, Visnovsky P, Grappasonni I. Substance use and knowledge among Italian high school students. Biomedical Papers 2009;153(2):163-8. doi: 10.5507/bp.2009.028.
- [29] Vaz S, Falkmer T, Passmore AE, Parsons R, Andreou P. The case for using the repeatability coefficient when calculating test–retest reliability. PLoS ONE 2013;8(9):e73990. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0073990.
- [30] Pinto SCS, Bandeca MC, Silva CN, Cavassim R, Borges AH, Sampaio JEC. Erosive potential of energy drinks on the dentine surface. BMC Res Notes. 2013 Feb 19;6:67. doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-6-67.
- [31] Cocchioni M, Grappasonni I, Petrelli F, Troiani P, Pellegrini MG.

.....

MENTAL AND PHYSICAL EFFECTS OF ENERGY DRINKS CONSUMPTION IN AN ITALIAN YOUNG PEOPLE GROUP: A PILOT STUDY

Consumption, attitudes and knowledge on compared alcoholic beverages among high school and university students. Ann Ig 1997;9(1):89-97. doi.org/10.1590/S0104-42302011000500009.

- [32] Signorelli C, Odone A, Gozzini A, Petrelli F, Tirani M, Zangrandi A, Zoni R, Florindo N. The missed constitutional reform and its possible impact on the sustainability of the italian national health service. Acta Biomedica 2017;88(1):91-4.
- [33] Siracusa M, Grappasonni I, Petrelli F. The pharmaceutical care and the rejected constitutional reform: what might have been and what is. Acta Biomedica 2017;88(3):352-9.
- [34] Lackner HK(1), Goswami N, Papousek I, Roessler A, Grasser EK, Montani JP, Jezova D, Hinghofer-Szalkay H. Time course of cardiovascular responses induced by mental and orthostatic challenges. Int J Psychophysiol 2010 Jan;75(1):48-53. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2009.11.003.
- [35] Grasser EK, Dulloo AG, Montani JP. Cardiovascular and cerebrovascular effects in response to red bull consumption combined with mental stress. Am J Cardiol 2015 Jan 15;115(2):183-9. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.10.017.

Received on December 6, 2017. Accepted on February 20, 2018.

Correspondence: Iolanda Grappasonni, School of Medicinal and Health Products Sciences, University of Camerino, Italy. Tel. +39 0737402411 - E-mail: iolanda.grappasonni@unicam.it

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Effects of anticoagulation therapy with vitamin K antagonists on hospitalizations and emergency room accesses in Grosseto (Italy)

F. NISTICÒ¹, G. TROIANO², N. NANTE³, S. DEI⁴, P. PIACENTINI⁵

¹ Demographic and Epidemiological System, AUSL Toscana Sud Est, Arezzo, Italy; ² Post Graduate School of Public Health, University of Siena, Italy; ³ Post Graduate School of Public Health, University of Siena, Italy; ⁴ AUSL Toscana Sud Est, Arezzo, Italy; ⁵ Demographic and Epidemiological System, AUSL Toscana Sud Est, Arezzo, Italy

Keywords

Warfarin • Hospitalization • Italy

Summary

Introduction. A lot of drug groups are associated with preventable drug-related admissions. Coumarin derivatives, prescribed for the treatment and prevention of deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism or prevention of systemic embolism or stroke in patients with prosthetic heart valves or atrial fibrillation, are often associated with bleeding. The aim of our study was to analyze how the anticoagulant therapy with VKAs could affects the hospitalizations and the visits to emergency room in the elderly population (> 65 years old).

Methods. In 2013 we conducted a cross sectional study analyzing the database of all pharmaceutical prescriptions, selecting patients living in Grosseto (Italy), which received at least two prescriptions of coumarin derivatives in 2012. We analyzed the admissions to hospital and the accesses to the emergency rooms (ERs) made by each patient, focusing especially on those related to bleeding. For each access to ER we recorded the date, time of stay, diagnosis

Introduction

The World Health Organization has defined pharmacovigilance as "the science and activities relating to the detection, assessment, understanding, and prevention of adverse effects or any other drug-related problems" [1]. Such "drug-related problems" include adverse drug reactions (ADRs), unintended injuries or complications that arise from iatrogenic drug related causes and which cause or prolong hospital admission and result in disability or death [2-4]. The risk of ADRs is necessarily an inherent risk of all drug therapy and is modulated by several factors, including dose and frequency of administration, genotype, and pharmacokinetic characteristics of special populations, such as pediatric and geriatric patients and those with hepatic or renal impairment. Due to the high frequency and potentially serious consequences, ADRs may have a dramatic impact in clinical practice both from a clinical and economic perspective [5]. As described by Formenti et al. in their study [6] the onset of adverse reactions (ADRs) represents a sentinel event and, in addition to diminishing the quality of life of the patient increases the number of medical visits, hospi-

and outcome. For each hospitalization the information we recorded were the date of admission and discharge diagnosis. **Results**. 3684 patients were included in our study. 261 (7.1%) patients visited the emergency room for bleeding; 37 (1%) for intracranial bleeding. The accesses made by men were higher than those made by women. The average time of stay in ER was 349 minutes. The admissions to hospital were 96 (2.6%); 42 (1.1%) were admitted to hospital with a diagnosis of major vascular event. 53 patients (20.3%), accessed to the ER more than one time. The 11.5% was admitted to the hospital more than one time. Conclusions. Our study showed that VKAs are responsible of an increase of the accesses to ER and of the admissions to hospital. However, it would be interesting to enlarge the sample size including patients living in other provinces or in other regions, with a lower age and treated also with TSOACs, in order to evaluate the real cost-effectiveness of anticoagulant therapy.

talizations and even the deaths, resulting in an overall increase in health care costs. Containing the number of ADRs, therefore, would result in a cost reduction for the ADRs treatment, diagnostic examinations and differential diagnosis analysis [7-9].

Estimates from France suggest that up to 123,000 patients a year present to their general practitioner with an ADRs [10]. ADRs account for 4.2-30% of hospital admissions in the USA and Canada, 5.7-18.8% of admissions in Australia, and 2.5-10.6% of admissions in Europe [8].

A national study from the USA estimated that 11.4-35.5% of emergency department visits in older adults are due to drug-related causes [5, 11].

Howard et al. [8] showed in their systematic review that the drug groups most frequently associated with all types of preventable drug-related admissions were antiplatelets, diuretics, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and anticoagulants.

Coumarin derivatives, such as warfarin, acenocoumarol and phenprocoumon are prescribed for different indications such as treatment and prevention of deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism or prevention of systemic embolism or stroke in patients with prosthetic heart valves or atrial fibrillation [12]. Because warfarin and other coumarin derivatives inhibit the vitamin K dependent synthesis of biologically active clotting factors, they are also called vitamin K antagonists (VKAs). The main adverse effect associated with coumarin derivatives is bleeding. Several studies have shown that the incidence of major bleeding in patients on warfarin ranges from 0.4%-7.2% per year [13]. Minor bleeding rates can be as high as 15.4% per year [14]. Fatal bleeding events occur at rates of 1.3 per 100 patient-years, according to a meta-analysis of 33 studies [15].

However in different studies is not always used the same definitions, methods, and consequently, the results vary a lot; moreover the follow-up time is variable and often the studies focus only on a category of patients. The aim of our study was to analyze the impact of the anticoagulant therapy with VKAs in the elderly population - over 65 years old, defined according to the World Health Organization definition of "elderly person" [16, 17] –, through the hospitalizations and the visits to emergency room, using only current data flows. This kind of analysis let us to analyze this phenomenon in a "real setting", in order to quantify the impact of the side effects in a not selected sample, with co-morbidities, with advanced age and with possible problems of compliance with therapy. This is particularly interesting for anticoagulants which are often used in old people with a lot of pathologies, and often living in not adequate domestic environments.

Methods

In 2013 we conducted a cross sectional study in the Demographic and Epidemiological System of the AUSL Toscana Sud Est. We analyzed the database of all pharmaceutical prescriptions: this is a database containing all the information about the loanable pharmaceutical prescriptions, derived from the flows directed to the National Health System.

We selected patients living in Grosseto – Italy, total resident population: 223,652 [18] -, which received at least two prescriptions of VKAs in 2012. This selection was chosen in order to identify patients subjected to long term therapy with anticoagulants. We collected information about age, gender, type of medication, city of residence. Then, through a unique identification code, we identified and analyzed the admissions to hospital (we considered the admissions to all Italian hospitals) and the accesses to the emergency rooms (ER - we considered the ERs of Grosseto, Castel del Piano, Orbetello, Pitigliano, Massa Marittima -) made by each patient. These data derived from the archives containing the flows of the hospital discharge records and accesses to ER, sent to the Region and then to the National Health System. We focused especially on the group of accesses to ER and hospitalizations related to bleeding, occurred within 4 months after the prescription of the anticoagulant. In fact, the daily dose of this kind of therapy varies

a lot and could be interrupted for surgery (even for minor surgery). So we estimated, by default, the maximum time between two prescriptions (sometimes 2 packs for each prescription) in 4 months: so considered the time span was from January 2012 to April 2013.

For each hospitalization the information we recorded were the date of admission and discharge diagnosis. In the hospital discharge records all the diagnoses are codified with the code ICD IX, so we considered all the diagnoses containing the words "hemorrhage" and its derivatives and "anemia" and its derivatives.

For each access to ER we recorded the date, time of stay, diagnosis and outcome. Diagnoses related to the accesses to the ER are not codified using ICD IX, so we considered all the diagnoses related to bleedings in progress, previous or chronic.

The results were organized in a database and then exported for statistical analysis. The collected data were processed using the software Stata[®] SE, version 12.1 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas, USA). The level of significance was set at p < 0.05.

Results

From the pharmaceutical prescriptions database we extracted 4368 patients who received at least two prescriptions of VKAs in 2012; 2304 (52.74%) were men.

3684 patients (84.34% of the entire sample) were > 65 years old, 1889 were men (51.3%). The average age was 78.2 years (79.2 for women CI 95% 78.9-79.5; and 77.2 for men CI 95% 76.9-77.5).

Accesses to Emergency Rooms

261 (7.1%) patients visited the emergency room for bleeding; 37 (1%) for intracranial bleeding. Patients who accessed to ER were represented especially by men (7.9%): women were the 6.2%, and this difference was statistically different (p < 0.05). The average time of stay in ER was 349 minutes (CI 95% 296.1-402.2); for women 385 minutes (CI 95% 295.0-476.4); for men 325 minutes (CI 95% 260.5-389.8).

Table I shows the principal diagnoses recorded during the visits to ER.

ADMISSIONS TO HOSPITAL

The admissions to hospital were 96 (2.6%); 42 (1.1%) were admitted to hospital with a diagnosis of major vas-

Tab. I. Accesses to	ER.
---------------------	-----

Diagnosis	Percentage (%)
Epistaxis	24
Cerebral hemorrhage	11
Anemia	14
Conjunctival hemorrhage	9
Hematuria	11
Rectorragy	6
Other bleeding	25

cular event. There is not any statistically significant difference in the admission to hospital or in the accesses to ER due to the prescribed medication (warfarin or aceno-

coumarol). 53 patients (20.3%), accessed to the ER more than one time. The 11.5% was admitted to the hospital more than one time.

Figure 1 shows the principal diagnoses recorded during the admissions to hospital in the considered time-span.

Discussion and conclusions

The 84.34% of the sample analyzed in our study was > 65 years old, and was represented especially by men (51.3%) with an average age of 78.2 years. These data are partially in line with those found by Kim et al. in 2010: of the 2346 subjects enrolled in their study to evaluate the hospitalization costs associated with warfarin-related bleeding events, 1804 were females (77%) and about two-thirds of the subjects were over the age of 75 years (< 70 years: 12%, 71-75 years: 23%, 76-80 years: 28%, 81-85 years: 25%, ≥ 86 years: 12%) [19].

In our study the accesses to the emergency room for bleeding (7.1%) were higher than the admissions to hospital (2.6%). In a meta analysis conducted in 2012 [15] it was showed that during the initial 3 months of anticoagulation, the rate of major bleeding was 2.06% (CI 2.04% to 2.08%) and the rate of fatal bleeding was 0.37% (CI 0.36% to 0.38%). The rate of intracranial bleeding was 1.48% (CI 1.40% to 1.56%). Chai-Adisaksopha et al. in 2014 showed in their study that total bleeding occurred in 30.42% patients treated with vitamin K antagonists (VKAs), a lower percentage compared to the 24.86% of patients treated with Target-Specific Oral Anticoagulants (TSOACs); however, major gastrointestinal bleeding occurred in 2.09% of patients treated with TSOACs and 1.70% of patients treated with VKAs [20]. Dale et al. in fact showed that warfarin is associated with greater thrombin suppression in the brain and pathological thrombosis at sites of atherosclerotic plaque disruption [21].

The problem of bleeding after the therapy with VKAs is important for the costs that this phenomenon creates in the National Health System. Sameer R. Ghate et al. [22] showed that during the 12 months after the treatment there was a significantly higher increase of major gastrointestinal or intracranial bleeding event and consequently of hospitalizations, hospital days, and ER visits. In the 12 months after the warfarin start date, the mean adjusted annual costs obtained from the regression model were \$42,574, \$36,571, \$22,824, and \$22,507 for subjects with intracranial bleeding, major gastrointestinal bleeding, minor gastrointestinal bleeding, and no bleeding, respectively [22]. The mean length of stay was 7.8 days (SD: 7.1). For the entire cohort, warfarinrelated bleeding resulted in an average increased cost of hospitalization of \$508.30 per warfarin user [19].

The most important limit of our study is that the study sample is not representative of the Italian population: in

......



fact our sample is composed by patients older than 65 years and treated with VKAs; furthermore, our sample is composed only by patients living in Grosseto Province. Our study is limited to 2013 because the organizational changes in the Local Health Units, led to the fusion of three Local Health Unit (Grosseto, Siena and Arezzo) in a unique Unit, with the following fusion of the databases, which is not totally finished yet. So the previous databases have not been implemented in the same way, therefore it is impossible to repeat the analysis with updated data, although we think that significant differences would not be found.

It could be interesting to complete our study enlarging the sample size, and enrolling patients living in other provinces or in other regions in Italy, with a lower age and treated also with TSOACs. We encourage other colleagues to conduct with us a multicentre study in order to identify significant differences that could influence the costs for the National Health System and evaluate the real cost-effectiveness of anticoagulant therapy. Moreover, it would be interesting to investigate the quality of life [23-25] of patients treated with the two classes of drugs and to evaluate the impact of these therapies on this non-economic aspect of healthcare.

Acknowledgments

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

FN had the idea for the article, collaborated in performing the study, carried out the data analysis and collaborate in writing the article.

GT collaborated in writing the article and helped to conceptualize ideas.

NN collaborated in writing the article and helped to conceptualize ideas.

SD helped to conceptualize ideas.

PP collaborated in writing the article and helped to conceptualize ideas.

References

 Organization WH. The safety of medicines in public health programmes: Pharmacovigilance an essential tool. 2006 [cited 2013 25 June]; Available from: http://www.who.int/medicines/ areas/quality_safety/safety_efficacy/Pharmacovigilance_B.pdf.

.....

- [2] Olsen S, Neale G, Schwab K, Psaila B, Patel T, Chapman EJ, Vincent C. Hospital staff should use more than one method to detect adverse events and potential adverse events: incident reporting, pharmacist surveillance and local real-time record review may all have a place. Quality & Safety in Health Care 2007;16(1):40-4. Epub 2007/02/16.
- [3] Laws MB. Adverse drug reactions as cause of admission to hospital: definition of adverse drug reactions needs to include overdose. BMJ 2004;329(7463):459-60; Author reply 60. Epub 2004/08/24.
- [4] Aronson JK. Distinguishing hazards and harms, adverse drug effects and adverse drug reactions : implications for drug development, clinical trials, pharmacovigilance, biomarkers, and monitoring. Drug Safety 2013;36(3):147-53. Epub 2013/02/19.
- [5] Sultana J, Cutroneo P, Trifiro G. Clinical and economic burden of adverse drug reactions. J Pharmacol Pharmacother 2013;4(Suppl 1):S73-7. Epub 2013/12/19.
- [6] Formenti EMP, Magro L. The Facilitating Monitor: an active role in clinical governance for improving pharmacovigilance culture as a tool for protecting public health and reducing healthcare expenditure. Giornale Italiano di Farmacoeconomia e Farmacoutilizzazione 2014;6(1):23-56.
- [7] Kalisch LM CG, Roughead RE, Gilbert AL. The prescribing cascade. Aust Prescr 2011;34:162-6.
- [8] Howard RL, Avery AJ, Slavenburg S, Royal S, Pipe G, Lucassen P, Pirmohamed M. Which drugs cause preventable admissions to hospital? A systematic review. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2007;63(2):136-47. Epub 2006/06/29.
- [9] Dormann H, Sonst A, Müller F, Vogler R, Patapovas A, Pfistermeister B. Adverse drug events in older patients admitted as an emergency: the role of potentially inappropriate medication in elderly people (PRISCUS). Deutsches Arzteblatt International 2013;110(13):213-9. Epub 2013/04/19.
- [10] Lacoste-Roussillon C, Pouyanne P, Haramburu F, Miremont G, Begaud B. Incidence of serious adverse drug reactions in general practice: a prospective study. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2001;69(6):458-62. Epub 2001/06/15.
- [11] Budnitz DS, Shehab N, Kegler SR, Richards CL. Medication use leading to emergency department visits for adverse drug events in older adults. Ann Intern Med 2007;147(11):755-65. Epub 2007/12/07.
- [12] Verhoef TI, Redekop WK, Daly AK, van Schie RM, de Boer A, Maitland-van der Zee AH. Pharmacogenetic-guided dosing of coumarin anticoagulants: algorithms for warfarin, acenocoumarol and phenprocoumon. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2014;77(4):626-41. Epub 2013/08/08.
- [13] Snipelisky D, Kusumoto F. Current strategies to minimize the

bleeding risk of warfarin. J Blood Med 2013;4:89-99. Epub 2013/09/11.

- [14] DiMarco JP, Flaker G, Waldo AL, Corley SD, Greene HL,Safford RE, Rosenfeld LE, Mitrani G, Nemeth M; AFFIRM Investigators. Factors affecting bleeding risk during anticoagulant therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation: observations from the Atrial Fibrillation Follow-up Investigation of Rhythm Management (AFFIRM) study. Am Heart J 2005;149(4):650-6. Epub 2005/07/02.
- [15] Linkins LA, Choi PT, Douketis JD. Clinical impact of bleeding in patients taking oral anticoagulant therapy for venous thromboembolism: a meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 2003;139(11):893-900. Epub 2003/12/04.
- [16] Singh S, Bajorek B. Defining 'elderly' in clinical practice guidelines for pharmacotherapy. Pharm Pract (Granada) 2014;12(4):489. Epub 2015/01/13.
- [17] WHO. Definition of an older or elderly person. Geneva: Switzerland2010 [12/11/2013]; Available from: http://www.who.int/ healthinfo/survey/ageingdefnolder/en/index.html.
- [18] ISTAT. Popolazione residente al 1° gennaio. 2017 [12/5/2017]; Available from: http://dati.istat.it/Index. aspx?DataSetCode=DCIS_POPRES1#.
- [19] Kim MM, Metlay J, Cohen A, Feldman H, Hennessy S, Kimmel S, Strom B, Doshi JA. Hospitalization costs associated with warfarin-related bleeding events among older communitydwelling adults. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2010;19(7):731-6. Epub 2010/06/29.
- [20] Chai-Adisaksopha C, Crowther M, Isayama T, Lim W. The impact of bleeding complications in patients receiving target-specific oral anticoagulants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Blood 2014;124(15):2450-8. Epub 2014/08/26.
- [21] Dale B, Eikelboom JW, Weitz JI, Young E, Paikin JS, Coppens M, Whitlock RP, Connolly SJ, Ginsberg JS, Hirsh J. Dabigatran attenuates thrombin generation to a lesser extent than warfarin: could this explain their differential effects on intracranial hemorrhage and myocardial infarction? J Thromb Thrombolysis 2013;35(2):295-301. Epub 2012/12/18.
- [22] Ghate SR, Biskupiak J, Ye WJKaDIB X. All-cause and bleeding-related health care costs in warfarin-treated patients with atrial fibrillation. J Manag Care Pharm 2011;17(9):672-84.
- [23] Levorato S, Bocci G, Troiano G, Messina G, Nante N. Health status of homeless persons: a pilot study in the Padua municipal dorm. Annali di Igiene: Medicina Preventiva e di Comunità 2017;29(1):54-62. Epub 2017/01/10.
- [24] Messina G, Quercioli C, Troiano G, Russo C, Barbini E, Nisticò F, Nante N. Italian medical students quality of life: years 2005-2015. Annali di Igiene: Medicina Preventiva e di Comunità 2016;28(4):245-51. Epub 2016/08/02.
- [25] Nante N, Gialluca L, De Corso M, Troiano G, Verzuri A, Messina G. Quality of life in refugees and asylum seekers in Italy: a pilot study. Annali dell'Istituto Superiore di Sanità. 2016;52(3):424-7. Epub 2016/10/05.

- Received on January 24, 2017. Accepted on February 23, 2018.
- Correspondence: Gianmarco Troiano, University of Siena, Department of Molecular and Developmental Medicine, Area of Public Health, via A. Moro 2, 53100 Siena, Italy Fax +39 0577-234090 E-mail: gianmarco.troiano@student.unisi.it or gianmarco-89@hotmail.it

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Knowledge, attitude and practice about leptospirosis prevention among town service workers in northeastern Malaysia: a cross sectional study

Z. MOHAMAD AZFAR¹, S. MOHD NAZRI¹, A. MOHAMED RUSLI¹, O. MAIZURAH², W.M. ZAHIRUDDIN¹, Y.N. AZWANY ¹, I. NABILAH³, H. SITI ASMA³, B.D. AZIAH¹

¹ Department of Community Medicine, Universiti Sains Malaysia; ² Informatics for Community Health, Universiti Sains Malaysia; ³ Department of Medical Microbiology and Parasitology, Universiti Sains Malaysia

Keywords

Town Service Workers • Leptospirosis • Knowledge • Attitude • Practice

Summary

Introduction. Many efforts have been done to reduce leptospirosis infections in Malaysia especially among high risk groups including town service workers. Town service workers are more likely to be exposed to the leptospiral infection resulting from their occupational activities.

Methods. A cross sectional study was conducted in northeastern Malaysia involving 321 town service workers who were subjected to answer an interviewer-guided validated questionnaire which consists of sociodemographic, knowledge, attitude and practice information. Data were entered and analyzed using SPSS Version 20.

Results. All of the respondents were Malay with mean (SD) age of 40.6 (10.28) years old. The mean (SD) duration of employment was 12.1 (9.62) years. Fifty four respondents (16.8%) had never heard of leptospirosis. Among the respondents, 215 (67.0%)

Introduction

Leptospirosis is known to be the most widespread reemerging zoonotic disease of global distribution affecting humans in tropical, subtropical and temperate zones. It was reported that Seychelles has the highest incidence of leptospirosis in the world with annual incidence of 432.1 per million population while the United States of America reported the lowest annual incidence of 0.1 per million population [1]. However, due to lack of surveillance, the exact number of human cases worldwide is not known [2].

Additionally, most countries in South East Asia region are endemic to the disease. Despite this, leptospirosis is still under-reported due to wide range of clinical presentations associated with acute leptospiral infection [3, 4]. In Malaysia, the data from the Ministry of Health showed that the prevalence of leptospirosis increased dramatically from 2004 to 2009 with the case fatality rates over the period varied from 1.8% to 7.6% with an average of 4.44% [5, 6].

Town service workers are more likely to be exposed to the leptospiral infection resulting from their occupational activities in solid waste management in every step of the process, from the point where residents handle wastes

of them had poor knowledge on leptospirosis. Meanwhile, 167 (52.0%) and only 128 (39.9%) of them had satisfactory attitude and practice respectively. It was found that knowledge on risk factors for leptospirosis was lacking. There were high risk attitudes such as drinking habit and protective equipment used during working with the favourable answers ranged from 67.3% to 89.1%. The weakest area identified in their practice was also on the use of protective equipment.

Conclusions. The workers' level of knowledge and practice were relatively poor despite an overall good practice on leptospirosis. This finding might expose them to an increased risk of contracting leptospirosis. Identified weak areas in their knowledge, attitude and practice will assist the policy makers to develop a focused and well-directed intervention program on leptospirosis infection.

in the home for collection or recycling, to the point of ultimate disposal [7-11]. The seroprevalence of leptospirosis among town service workers in Malaysia was reported as ranging from 17.9% to 24.7% [11, 12]. A recent study by Azfar et al. (2017) reported a slight higher seroprevalence of leptospirosis among town service workers in Kelantan, Malaysia which was 25.5% [13].

In humans, leptospirosis can cause a wide range of symptoms ranging from mild (influenza like illness symptoms) to severe (Weils' syndrome) clinical manifestations. If it is not treated, progression of the disease will lead to complications such as renal failure, meningitis, liver damage, respiratory distress and widespread haemorrhage [14].

Humans may be exposed to leptospirosis through occupational, recreational, or environmental factors [4]. Occupations such as town service workers, paddy planters, army and health care workers impose higher risk of leptospiral infection due to presence of occupational and environmental determinants for human leptospirosis [12, 15, 16]. Town service workers are more likely to be exposed to the leptospiral infection resulting from their occupational activities in solid waste management in every step of the waste management process. Hence, this study was conducted to determine the knowledge, attitude and practice levels towards leptospirosis among town service workers in northeastern Malaysia.

Methods

A cross sectional study involving 321 town service workers was carried out in northeastern Malaysia. Town service workers from four job categories namely garbage collector, town cleaner, landscaper and lorry driver or mechanic were selected for this study. Garbage collector collects garbage from residential, commercial and industrial area and dumps garbage from containers onto the designated truck for disposal at landfills. Town cleaner duties concerned with sweeping, collection and removal of litter, detritus and leaves from public spaces including roads, pavements, drains, wet market and public precincts. Meanwhile, landscaper performs a range of duties such as transporting and planting new vegetation, mulching, fertilizing, watering, as well as cut and trim grass using either manual hand tools or power-operated equipment. Lorry driver who drives lorry for garbage collection to the landfill may also assist garbage collectors to perform their job. On the other hand, lorry mechanics repair and do maintenance jobs including washing the lorries used for garbage collection.

Sample size was calculated based on 35% of satisfactory attitude on leptospirosis among town service workers [12] at 95% CI and considering the non-response rate of 10%, the estimated sample size required was 385. The sampling frame was the list of town service workers who work as any of the four job categories for more than six months to ensure that they were really engaged with the working activities. Those who did not work during the study period were excluded from the study. A simple random sampling was applied to select the respondents. The respondents were subjected to answer an interviewer guided questionnaire which consisted of sociodemographic, knowledge, attitude and practice information. The validated questionnaire revealed a Cronbach alpha for knowledge, attitude and practice domain as 0.96, 0.71 and 0.74 respectively. It was designed to be completed within 15 minutes for an average respondent. The language used was Bahasa Malaysia which is the mother tongue of the workers. Only one researcher conducted the interview to prevent the problem of inter-interviewer variations. The interviewer would explain any technical terms that were unclear to respondents.

Knowledge section started with the question of whether the respondents had ever heard about leptospirosis and the source that they heard the information from. Only those who had heard of the disease would proceed to answer the rest of the knowledge questions. They were designed to be answered as "correct", "incorrect" and "do not know". For scoring, "2" marks were given for correct response, "1" mark for "do not know" and "0" mark for "incorrect" response. There were 24 knowledge questions which covered causes, signs, symptoms, complications, treatment, prevention and risk factors of leptospirosis. For attitude section, there were 12 questions which covered safe work practices, personal protective equipment (PPE) and general practices. Questions on attitude are designed to be answered using a Likert scale of "strongly agree", "agree", "not sure", "not agree" and "strongly not agree". For positive attitude items, scores of "4", "3", "2", "1", and "0" for "strongly agree", "agree", "not sure", "not agree", and "strongly not agree" were given respectively. Meanwhile, the above scoring system was reversed for negative attitude items.

The questions on practice domain were also designed to be answered using a Likert scale of "never", "seldom", "sometimes", "often" and "always". For good practice items, scores of "4", "3", "2", "1", and "0" for "always", "often", "sometimes", "seldom", and "never", were given respectively. For bad practice items, the above scoring system was reversed. A total of 14 questions on practices were asked containing questions on safe work practice, the use of PPE during work and off work general practices.

Ethical clearance was obtained from Research and Ethic Committee (Human), Universiti Sains Malaysia, Health Campus (Reference No: USMKK / PPSP / JEPeM [261.3(7)]). All respondents were explained about the study and consent were obtained before conducting the study. Confidentiality of the data were kept throughout the study. Data were entered and analyzed using SPSS Version 20.0 [17]. All continuous variables were described using mean (SD) whereas for categorical variables, frequencies and percentages were presented. The mean (SD) for each item of the KAP was also analyzed. The proportion of respondents who gave the correct answer for each item in the knowledge domain was expressed as a correct percentage. The proportions for positive attitude and good practice for each item of the KAP were also displayed. Those who answered "strongly agree" or "agree" for the attitude that they should have and "disagree" or "strongly disagree" for the attitude that they should not have are considered as having positive attitude. The proportions for good practice include those who answered "always" or "often" for the practice that they should adopt and "never" or "seldom" for the practice that they should avoid.

The scores for knowledge, attitude and practice were transformed into percentage scores by dividing the scores obtained by the respondents with the possible maximum scores and multiplied by 100. The categories of knowledge, attitude and practice scores were decided by consensus among the researchers. For knowledge category, the respondents who had never heard of leptospirosis were considered to have "poor knowledge". Those who scored less than 72% were considered to have "moderate knowledge" and those who scored 72% or more were considered to have "good knowledge". The difference between "moderate" and "good" knowledge depended on the mean percentage of total knowledge score among those who had "ever heard of the disease".

Considering the maximum possible score of four points for each item in the attitude and practice domains, the total maximum scores for attitude and practice domain

were 48 and 56 respectively. Allowing the minimum average of three points for each item, a total score of less than 36 (3 points x 12 items) out of 48 indicates unsatisfactory attitude while a total score of less than 42 (3 points x 14 items) out of 56 indicates unsatisfactory practice. Hence, those with a score of less than 75% were considered unsatisfactory whereas a score of 75% or more were considered as satisfactory for both attitude and practice domains.

Results

A total of 321 out of 385 workers who were eligible for this study were recruited giving a response rate of 83.4%. All respondents were Malay with mean (SD) age of 40.6 (10.28) years old and it ranged from 20 to 68 years old. Majority of the respondents were married (83.5%) with mean (SD) number of children was 3.7 (2.49). For level of education, a slightly higher proportion (51.4%) of the respondents who had undergone at least upper secondary school level as compared to those who had undergone up to lower secondary school (48.6%). The mean (SD) duration of employment was 12.1 (9.62) years and it ranged from 1-37 years.

Table I displays the descriptive statistics of domains and sub domains of the KAP on leptospirosis. Only data from 267 workers who had ever heard about leptospirosis were analyzed for knowledge domain. Whereas for attitude and practice domain, they were analyzed for all recruited respondents. Total mean (SD) percentage score for knowledge, attitude and practice were 69.3 (9.95), 73.3 (13.61) and 70.4 (14.81) respectively. In knowledge sub domain, the lowest mean percentage score was on "risk factors for leptospirosis" whereas the mean percentage score for attitude domain was relatively similar. For practice domain, the mean (SD) percentage score on "PPE" was low [55.9 (30.11)] as compared to "safe work practice" and "general practice" sub domains.

Table II shows the category of knowledge, attitude and practice on leptospirosis prevention among the respondents. There were 54 workers (16.8%) had never heard about leptospirosis. For those who ever heard about leptospirosis, 116 (43.4%) of them had heard about lepto-

.....

spirosis through television or radio, 85 (31.8%) heard through newspaper or magazine, 50 (18.7%) heard through health education, doctor's consultation or poster/pamphlet about leptospirosis and 16 (6.0%) of them heard from other source such as neighbour's experience. Tables III, IV and V show the mean score for each item and percentage of workers who were able to "answer correctly" for knowledge questions, had "positive attitude" and practiced "good practice" on leptospirosis prevention.

Discussion

Knowledge, attitude and practice (KAP) questionnaires have been used widely in public health studies as a tool to gather information on knowledge and attitude on certain subjects and to assess the practice on the matter among those at risk. Exploration of KAP in population of interest will facilitate health professionals in understanding the workers' barrier to action and enabling factors that helps the target population to adopt recommended preventive actions [18-21].

In the present study, there was a high percentage of respondents who ever heard about leptospirosis (83.2%). This finding was almost similar to a study in Brazil among urban slum residents whereby only less than 10% of the respondents had never heard of leptospirosis [22]. Similarly, in a study among the butchers and their assistant in slaughterhouses, about 78% of them had heard of the disease [23]. In an earlier study among canoeist in North Wales also reported a very high percentage (95%) of respondents who had heard of leptospirosis and it was largely due to British Canoe Union active roles in conducting health promotion program in the high risk group [24]. Conversely, a study among town service workers in 2008 found that only about 13% of the respondents had heard about leptospirosis [20].

Most of the respondents who had heard about leptospirosis, heard it through television or radio while about a third of them heard about it from newspaper or magazine. This findings was similar to other studies on leptospirosis in Malaysia and the probable reason were due to the continuous effort by the Malaysian government

Domain	Min	Мах	Mean (SD)
Sub domain	% score	% score	% score
Total knowledge score among ever heard ($n = 267$)	37.5	91.7	69.3 (9.95)
Causes	25.0	100.0	73.8 (15.08)
Signs, symptoms and complication	18.8	100.0	59.9 (13.02)
Treatment and Prevention	33.3	100.0	88.5 (14.94)
Risk factors	0	100.0	52.8 (30.02)
Total attitude (n = 321)	31.3	100.0	73.3 (13.61)
Safe work practice and PPE	25.0	100.0	73.5 (17.88)
General practices (off work)	20.0	100.0	73.0 (15.50)
Total practice (n = 321)	30.4	100.0	70.4 (14.81)
Safe work practice	0	100.0	71.7 (19.64)
Personal protective equipment	0	100.0	55.9 (30.11)
General practices (off work)	35.0	100.0	84 0 (15 39)

Tab. I. Descriptive statistics of domain and sub domain percentage KAP scores among respondents.

E94

 $\ensuremath{\text{Tab. II.}}$ Category of knowledge, attitude and practice score among town service workers.

Category	Frequency	%
Knowledge		
Good (score \geq 72%)	106	33.0
Moderate (score < 72%)	161	50.2
Poor (never heard)	54	16.8
Attitude		
Satisfactory (score \geq 75%)	167	52.0
Unsatisfactory (score < 75%)	154	48.0
Practice		
Satisfactory (score \geq 75%)	128	39.9
Unsatisfactory (score < 75%)	193	60.1

through its Ministry of Health as well by the active roles of printed or electronic media in public health promotion and education [20, 21]. In addition, when there was an outbreak of leptospirosis, reports in local news and media will be more extensive. Since leptospirosis was included as notifiable disease in 2011, there was a better surveillance of the disease and specific health promotion program for leptospirosis being carried out [5, 6]. These factors might contribute to a higher percentage of respondents who ever heard of leptospirosis in the present study. Consistently, those who had heard about leptospirosis got the information mostly from the media and public health inspectors [23]. In addition, a study among 460 Sri Lankan government school students aged from 12 to 16 years old reported that 100% of the them had heard of leptospirosis. It was found that the most common source of information regarding leptospirosis were television followed by school, newspapers, the medical officer of health or public health inspector, banners and posters and lastly from educational programs [25].

In the present study, 161 from 267 respondents who had heard of leptospirosis were categorized as having moderate knowledge (about 50% of the total 321 respondents) and 33% (106 of 321 respondents) had good knowledge on leptospirosis. In contrast, a study in 2008 among similar target group found that only about 13% of 296 respondents had heard of leptospirosis [26]. In a study among 300 villagers in highly endemic area in Thailand also found that majority of respondents had poor knowledge (80%) meanwhile those with moderate and good knowledge were 11% and 9% respectively [27].

In the present study, sub domain for "risk factors" was identified as the weakest area in which few of the respondents scored zero percent. Knowledge on risk factors for leptospirosis is very crucial as it will increase awareness which will encourage themselves to apply

.....

Tab. III. Knowledge items with mean (SD) score and percentage (%) of correct answers (N = 267).

Knowledge items	Mean (SD)	Correct
		N (%)
Causes	1	
"Leptospirosis is a disease caused by microorganism"	1.8 (0.48)	208 (77.9)
"It is a zoonotic disease"	1.8 (0.54)	214 (80.1)
"Leptospirosis can enter our body through cuts"	1.4 (0.75)	139 (52.1)
"Leptospirosis can enter our body through contaminated food"	1.7 (0.61)	209 (78.3)
"Leptospirosis can be transmitted through mosquito bites"	1.0 (0.85)	93 (34.8)
"Human can be infected by shaking hands with infected persons"	1.3 (0.74)	127 (47.6)
Signs, symptoms and complications		
"Infected person may have myalgia"	1.5 (0.65)	151 (56.6)
"Infected person may have jaundice"	1.1 (0.76)	93 (34.8)
"Infected person may free from any symptom"	0.8 (0.71)	43 (16.1)
"It can cause death"	1.8 (0.45)	228 (85.4)
"It can cause lung cancer"	0.7 (0.65)	29 (10.9)
"It can cause kidney failure"	1.3 (0.68)	110 (41.2)
"It can cause liver damage"	1.3 (0.68)	107 (40.1)
"It can cause diabetes"	1.1 (0.73)	91 (34.1)
Risk factors		
"Eat while working is a risk to get leptospirosis"	1.1 (0.87)	115 (43.1)
"Drink while working is a risk to get leptospirosis"	1.1 (0.86)	114 (42.7)
"Smoke while working is a risk to get leptospirosis"	0.9 (0.85)	81 (30.3)
"Town service workers is not considered as a risk group"	1.1 (0.85)	117 (43.8)
Treatment and prevention		
"The disease is treatable"	1.7 (0.52)	197 (73.8)
"The disease can be detected by blood investigation"	1.8 (0.44)	222 (83.1)
"The disease can be prevented by taking bath after working"	1.8 (0.56)	225 (84.3)
"The disease can be prevented by maintaining house compound cleanliness"	1.9 (0.31)	252 (94.4)
"The disease can be prevented by avoiding walking through flood"	1.6 (0.66)	194 (72.7)
"Wearing rubber gloves during work can prevent leptospirosis"	1.8 (0.52)	219 (82.0)

Tab. IV. Attitude items with mean score (SD) and percentage (%) for positive attitude (N = 321).

Attitude items	Mean (SD)	Positive attitude N (%) ª
Safe work practice and PPE		
"Drink while working is not a problem"	2.17 (1.44)	143 (44.6)
"I need a "safe work practice" course in order to prevent from getting the disease"	3.24 (0.76)	291 (90.6)
"Rubber gloves is important equipment during working"	3.23 (0.97)	286 (89.1)
"Wearing gloves during working is troublesome"	2.96 (1.32)	228 (71.0)
"Wearing gloves during working make our work slower"	3.02 (1.323)	229 (71.4)
"Wearing gloves during working make me feel discomfort"	2.84 (1.37)	216 (67.3)
"Wearing boots make our work slower"	3.12 (1.24)	237 (73.9)
General practice (off work)		
"I must know about leptospirosis"	3.14 (1.01)	281 (87.6)
"I don't mind to wear any type of shoe"	1.89 (1.43)	115 (35.8)
"I should make sure that my house is free from rats"	3.31 (0.88)	297 (92.5)
"I don't mind if the dustbin in my house had no cover"	3.37 (1.18)	271 (84.4)
"I don't feel worry walking through flood"	2.90 (1.35)	219 (68.2)

a = proportion positive attitude who answered "strongly agree" or "agree" for attitude that they should have and "strongly disagree" or "disagree" for attitude that they should not have.

Tab. V. Practice items with mean (SD) score and percentage (%) for good practice (n = 321).

Practice items	Mean (SD)	Good practice n (%) ^a
Safe work practice		·
"I eat while working"	3.02 (1.13)	219 (68.2)
"I drink while working"	2.75 (1.25)	201 (62.6)
"I smoke while working"	3.17 (1.21)	237 (73.8)
"Reminding my colleague to follow the working procedure"	2.52 (1.43)	170 (52.9)
Personal protective equipment		
"I'm wearing rubber gloves during working"	2.10 (1.69)	139 (43.3)
"I'm wearing boots during working"	2.37 (1.66)	164 (51.1)
"I'm wearing long sleeves shirt during working"	3.05 (1.46)	228 (71.0)
"I'm wearing mask during working"	1.12 (1.54)	63 (19.7)
"I will make sure the glove is in good condition before use it"	2.55 (1.66)	191 (59.5)
General practice (off work)		
"I'll make sure my house is free from rats"	3.05 (1.28)	222 (69.1)
"I walk through flood"	2.91 (1.16)	220 (68.6)
"I cover the food"	3.73 (0.77)	300 (93.4)
"I'm looking after the goat after working hour"	3.57 (1.16)	283 (88.2)
"I'm looking after the cattle after working hour"	3.54 (1.20)	282 (87.8)

^a = proportion good practice who answered "always" or "often" for practice that they should adopt and "never" or "seldom" for practice that they should avoid.

good work practices that may protect them from leptospiral infection. Knowledge score on "causes" and "treatment and prevention" subdomains were relatively better compared to the "risk factors". This may suggest that they knew leptospirosis is caused by a microorganism in rat's urine and the disease is treatable but had no or little knowledge on the factors that exposes them to the disease.

About 84% of the respondents did not know that infected person may be asymptomatic. It strengthened the fact that most of the people are not aware of having the disease as infected person may be asymptomatic. A national Sri Lankan household survey in 2009 involving 601 participants also reported lack of knowledge on clin-

.....

ical features of leptospirosis [28]. Knowledge on sign, symptoms and complications are important as treatment at early stage of the disease may prevent the disease progression to severe stage that may result in poorer outcome. These findings were almost similar to study done among town service workers and among army personnel in Kelantan [21, 26].

.....

In the present study, it was found that there was a slightly higher proportion of those with satisfactory (about 52%) than unsatisfactory attitude. The important area that were identified as considering higher risk attitude while respondents were not at work were "wearing any type of shoes" and "walking in flood" as only 35.8% and 68.2% gave favourable answers respectively. For attitude at workplace, it was found that high risk attitude during working like drinking habit and PPE usage were quite alarming. These findings were consistent with the low score in the "risk factors" subdomain in the knowledge domain.

Regarding practice on leptospirosis prevention, most of the respondents were categorized as having unsatisfactory practice. This could be due to their inability to perceive the benefits of safe work practice and compliance to use PPE during working. The weak areas were on "PPE", "safe work practice" and "general practice (off work)" subdomains. Items in the "PPE" subdomain showed that low percentage of them were wearing boots (51%), rubber gloves (43%) and mask (20%) while working. These findings were almost similar to the study among town service workers [26].

In conclusion, the level of knowledge and practice were relatively poor despite an overall good practice on leptospirosis. This finding might expose them to an increased risk of contracting leptospirosis. Identified weak areas in their knowledge, attitude and practice will assist the policy makers to develop a focused and well-directed intervention program on leptospirosis infection.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to express our deepest gratitude and thanks to all respondents of the study who provided their valuable responses. The study was funded by the Universiti Sains Malaysia Research Grant No: 1001/ PPSP/812131.

The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest in the present study.

Authors' contributions

ZMA, SMN and BDA conceived, designed, coordinated and supervised the research project including data collection. AMR, OM, WMZ and YNA performed the data quality control, performed the statistical analyses and evaluated the results. All authors involved in the writing and revising the manuscript, gave their contribution to improve the paper and approved the final manuscript.

References

- Pappas G, Papadimitriou P, Siozopoulou V, Christou L, Akritidis N. The globalization of leptospirosis: worldwide incidence trends. Int J Infect Dis 2008;12(4): 351-357. doi: 10.1016/j. ijid.2007.09.011.
- [2] Hartskeerl RA, Collares-Pereira M, Ellis WA. Emergence, control and re-emerging leptospirosis: dynamics of infection in the changing world. Clin Microbiol Infect 2011;17(4):494-501. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2011.03474.x.
- [3] Victoriano A, Smythe L, Gloriani-Barzaga N, Cavinta L, Kasai T, Limpakarnjanarat K, Ong B, Gongal G, Hall J, Coulombe C, Yanagihara Y, Yoshida S-i, Adler B. Leptospirosis in the Asia Pacific region. BMC Infect Dis 2009;9(1):147. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-9-147.

- [4] Levett PN. Leptospirosis. Clin Microbiol Rev 2001;14(2):296-326. doi: 10.1128/CMR.14.2.296-326.2001.
- [5] Thayaparan S, Robertson I, Fairuz A, Suut L, Abdullah M. Leptospirosis, an emerging zoonotic disease in Malaysia. Malays J Pathol 2013;35(2):123-32.
- [6] Ministry of Health Malaysia. Guidelines for the diagnosis, management, prevention and control of leptospirosis in Malaysia. Kuala Lumpur: 2011.
- [7] Cointreau S. Occupational and environmental health issues of solid waste management: special emphasis on middle- and lowerincome countries. The World Bank Group, Washington DC: 2006.
- [8] Jansen A, Schöneberg I, Frank C, Alpers K, Schneider T, Stark K. Leptospirosis in Germany, 1962-2003. Emerg Infect Dis 2005;11(7).
- [9] Sarkar U, Nascimento SF, Barbosa R, Martins R, Nuevo H, Kalofonos I, Kalafanos I, Grunstein I, Flannery B,Dias J. Population-based case-control investigation of risk factors for leptospirosis during an urban epidemic. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2002;66(5):605-10.
- [10] Katz AR, Ansdell VE, Effler PV, Middleton CR,Sasaki DM. Leptospirosis in Hawaii, 1974-1998: epidemiologic analysis of 353 laboratory-confirmed cases. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2002; 66(1):61-70.
- [11] Tan DS. Leptospirosis in West Malaysia: epidemiology and laboratory diagnosis. Malays J Pathol 1979;2:1-6.
- [12] Sulong MR, Shafei MN, Yaacob NA, Hassan H, Daud A, Mohamad WMZW, Ismail Z, Abdullah MR. Seroprevalence of Leptospirosis among Town Service Workers in Northeastern State of Malaysia. International Journal of Collaborative Research on Internal Medicine & Public Health 2012; 4(4).
- [13] Mohamad Azfar Z, Nabilah I, Siti Asma H, Mohd Nazri S, Mohamed Rusli A, Zahiruddin WM, Azwany YN, Mohd Nikman A, Aziah D, Maizurah O. Seroprevalence of Leptospirosis Among Town Service Workers in Kelantan, Malaysia. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 2017;48(6):1222-9.
- [14] Dircio Montes Sergio A, González Figueroa E, María Saadia VG, Elizabeth SH, Beatriz RS, Altuzar Aguilar Víctor M, Navarrete Espinosa J. Leptospirosis prevalence in patients with initial diagnosis of dengue. J Trop Med 2012; 2012. doi: 10.1155/2012/519701.
- [15] Hadad E, Pirogovsky A, Bartal C, Gilad J, Barnea A, Yitzhaki S, Grotto I, Balicer R, Schwartz E. An outbreak of leptospirosis among Israeli troops near the Jordan River. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2006;74(1):127-31.
- [16] Tiwari RR. Occupational health hazards in sewage and sanitary workers. Indian J Occup Environ Med 2008;12(3):112. doi: 10.4103/0019-5278.44691.
- [17] IBM Corp. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 20.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp. 2011.
- [18] Nwafor-Okoli C, Kularatne S, Gamage C, Rajapaske R, Obayashi Y, Tamashiro H. Knowledge of Leptospirosis among community-based rural residents in Kandy, Sri Lanka: Implications for intervention. Int J Infect Dis 2010;14, Supplement 1:e390. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2010.02.488.
- [19] Ruslan R. Knowledge Retention and Practices among Automotive Workers in Malaysia: Results of a Follow-up Evaluation of Health Promotion Program. Proceedings The 2nd International Conference On Global Optimization and Its Applications 2013, p 189-195. 2013.
- [20] Sulong MR, Shafei MN, Yaacob NA, Hassan H, Daud A, Mohamad WMZW, Ismail Z, Abdullah MR. Risk factors associated with leptospirosis among town service workers. Int Med J 2011; 18(2).
- [21] Yaacob SS, Daud A, Abdullah MR. An interventive study on leptospirosis among army personnel in Kelantan: Seroprevalence and effect of health education on knowledge, attitude and practice. (Dissertation). Doctor of Public Health, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Kelantan, 2013.

- [22] de Araújo WN, Finkmoore B, Ribeiro GS, Reis RB, Felzemburgh RD, Hagan JE, Reis MG, Ko AI, Costa F. Knowledge, attitudes, and practices related to leptospirosis among urban slum residents in Brazil. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2013;88(2):359-63. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.2012.12-0245.
- [23] Brown P, McKenzie M, Pinnock M,McGrowder D. Environmental risk factors associated with leptospirosis among butchers and their associates in Jamaica. Int J Occup Environ Med 2011;2(1).
- [24] Philipp R, King C, Hughes A. Understanding of Weil's disease among canoeists. Br J Sports Med 1992; 26(4):223-7.
- [25] Samarakoon Y,Gunawardena N. Knowledge and self-reported practices regarding leptospirosis among adolescent school children in a highly endemic rural area in Sri Lanka. Rural and

Remote Health: 2013. Available at: http://www.rrh.org.au/articles/subviewnew.asp? ArticleID = 2360. Accessed on January 5, 2016.

[26] Sulong MR, Shafei MN, Yaacob NA, Hassan H, Daud A, Mohamad WMZW, Ismail Z, Abdullah MR. Town Service workers' knowledge, attitude and practice towards leptospirosis. Brunei Darussalam Journal of Health 2011;(5):1-12.

- [27] Wiwanitkit V. A note from a survey of some knowledge aspects of leptospirosis among a sample of rural villagers in the highly endemic area, Thailand. Rural Remote Health 2006;6(1):526.
- [28] Agampodi SB, Agampodi TC, Thalagala E, Perera S, Chandraratne S,Fernando S. Do people know adequately about leptospirosis? A knowledge assessment survey in post-outbreak situation in Sri Lanka. Int J Prev Med 2010;1(3):158.

Received on January 17, 2018. Accepted on February 13, 2018.

Correspondence: Dr. Mohd Nazri Shafei, Department of Community Medicine, Universiti Sains Malaysia Health Campus, 16150 Kota Bharu, Kelantan, Malaysia - Tel. +6019 9396949 - Fax +609 7676654 - E-mail: drnazri@usm.my

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Overview of Japanese encephalitis disease and its prevention. Focus on IC51 vaccine (IXIARO[®])

D. AMICIZIA, F. ZANGRILLO, P.L. LAI, M. IOVINE, D. PANATTO Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy

Keywords

Japanese encephalitis disease • Japanese encephalitis virus • IC51 vaccine (IXIARO®) • Travel medicine

Summary

Japanese encephalitis (JE) is a vector-borne disease caused by the Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV). JEV is transmitted by mosquitoes to a wide range of vertebrate hosts, including birds and mammals. Domestic animals, especially pigs, are generally implicated as reservoirs of the virus, while humans are not part of the natural transmission cycle and cannot pass the virus to other hosts. Although JEV infection is very common in endemic areas (many countries in Asia), less than 1% of people affected develop clinical disease, and severe disease affects about 1 case per 250 JEV infections. Although rare, severe disease can be devastating; among the 30,000-50,000 global cases per year, approximately 20-30% of patients die and 30-50% of survivors develop significant neurological sequelae. JE is a significant public health problem for residents in endemic areas and may constitute a substantial risk for travelers to these areas. The epidemiology of JE and its risk to travelers have changed, and continue to evolve. The rapid economic growth of Asian countries has led to a surge in both inbound and outbound travel, making Asia the second

Introduction

Japanese encephalitis (JE) is a vector-borne disease caused by the Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV), which is a single-stranded RNA virus belonging to the genus *Flavivirus* (*Flaviviridae* family) and is closely related to the West Nile encephalitis virus [1].

There are five JEV genotypes in the world, but genotype 1 circulates much more than the others [2, 3]. JEV is transmitted by mosquitoes to a wide range of vertebrate hosts, including birds and mammals. With regard to human infection, domestic animals, especially pigs, are generally implicated as reservoirs of the virus. As humans are not part of the natural transmission cycle, they cannot pass the virus to other hosts [4].

While JEV infection is very common in endemic areas (many countries in Asia), less than 1% of people affected develop clinical disease [2], and severe disease affects about 1 case per 250 JEV infections. Although rare, severe disease can be devastating; among the 30,000-50,000 global cases per year, approximately 20-30% of patients die and 30-50% of survivors develop significant neurological sequelae [5].

JE is a significant public health problem for residents in endemic areas and may constitute a substantial risk for travelers to endemic areas. Because of the lack of

most-visited region in the world after Europe, with 279 million international travelers in 2015. The top destination is China, followed by Thailand, Hong Kong, Malaysia and Japan, and the number of travelers is forecast to reach 535 million by 2030 (+ 4.9% per year). Because of the lack of treatment and the infeasibility of eliminating the vector, vaccination is recognized as the most efficacious means of preventing JE. The IC51 vaccine (IXIARO®) is a purified, inactivated, whole virus vaccine against JE. It is safe, well tolerated, efficacious and can be administered to children, adults and the elderly. The vaccination schedule involves administering 2 doses four weeks apart. For adults, a rapid schedule (0-7 days) is available, which could greatly enhance the feasibility of its use. Healthcare workers should inform both short- and long-term travelers of the risk of JE in each period of the year and recommend vaccination. Indeed, it has been shown that short-term travelers are also at risk, not only in rural environments, but also in cities and coastal towns, especially in tourist localities where excursions to country areas are organized.

treatment and the infeasibility of eliminating the vector, vaccination is recognized as the most efficacious means of preventing JE [4].

This overview focuses on the epidemiology and clinical features of JE and describes the use of the IC51 vaccine (IXIARO[®]) in travel medicine.

Epidemiology of japanese encephalitis

The vector of the JEV is the *Culex* mosquito, specifically *Culex tritaeniorhyncus*, which lives and breeds in water pools and flooded rice fields. This type of mosquito bites during night, with two peaks in biting time: a few hours after sunset and around midnight [6].

Humans and some kinds of animals, such as cattle or horses, are dead-end hosts of JEV, as they cannot develop a sufficient level of viremia to re-infect other mosquitoes. Transmission among humans is not possible, although transfusion-related JEV transmission was reported in two immunocompromised lung transplant recipients in Hong Kong, resulting in one case of severe encephalitis and one case of asymptomatic infection with seroconversion [7].

Culex tritaeniorhyncus lives throughout South-East Asia and tropical areas. However, its presence also extends

to the Middle East and Africa, and has recently been reported even in Europe. Within endemic areas, transmission varies according to climatic conditions: in temperate areas of Asia, transmission is seasonal, especially during summer and fall; in subtropical and tropical areas, transmission occurs during the monsoon season, but can be prolonged throughout the year [2].

The global incidence of JE is unknown, as the intensity and quality of JE surveillance systems and the availability of diagnostic laboratory testing vary throughout the world [8]. JE surveillance was not well established until 2012 and a 2011 systematic review of JE disease burden [8] estimated that approximately 68,000 cases occurred globally each year, and that only about 10% of these cases were reported to the WHO [9]. In 2011, Campbell et al. [8] reported that, owing to the lack of efficacious surveillance systems, it was difficult obtain a precise estimate of the incidence of JE. Nevertheless, it was estimated that 3 billion people living in 24 countries in the WHO's South-East Asian and Western Pacific regions are at risk of JE [8, 3]. The authors estimated that about 67,900 cases per year occurred in JE-endemic countries, with half of these cases in China alone. They also classified countries in terms of their incidence (high, medium and low) and the availability of vaccination (vaccination implemented, vaccination program expanding, and no vaccination) (Figure 1). Although Japan, the Republic of Korea and Taiwan are "high-incidence" countries, their routine vaccination programs have enabled them to limit JE incidence to 0.003 per 100,000 in the overall population. Vaccination began in Japan in 1954, in Taiwan in 1968, and in Korea in 1970. In Japan, however, following the withdrawal of the recommendation in 2005, vaccination coverage declined; although the recommendation was reinstated in 2009, coverage remains low. By contrast, China, which is also a high-incidence country, does not have a quality vaccination program (vaccination was implemented from 1981 to 2007, but non-uniformly in children; a routine vaccination program was started in 2008). Consequently, the incidence of JE is 3.3 overall, 12.7 in children aged 0-14 years and 1.0 in subjects aged > 15 years. Some countries where JE incidence is high do not implement any, or are only now developing, vaccination programs: Cambodia, Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines and East Timor. Moreover, countries such as India and Nepal are improving their routine vaccination programs.

Medium-incidence countries (such as Indonesia and Papua New Guinea) have a total incidence rate of 1.7 per 100,000, while those with low incidence have a rate of 1.0 per 100,000 (Fig. 1).

Annual incidence varies by age-group, with children being the most affected [8]. Most adults are immune to infection, as natural infection with JEV (or other *Flaviviruses* that share antigens inducing cross-protection) is probably able to confer lifelong immunity. This explains why children are the most susceptible subjects [3, 4]. It is noteworthy that, where childhood vaccination programs are implemented, there is a shift to a greater proportion of cases in other unvaccinated age-groups [3].

In 2016, 22 of 24 (92%) countries at risk of JE ran surveillance systems, compared with 75% in 2012; some of these systems are national, some are sub-national and others use sentinel surveillance. In 12 of the 24 countries (50%), an immunization program was in place in 2016. Some of these immunization programs are national, others are sub-national in all risk areas, and several are sub-national but do not include all risk areas [9].

.....

Recently, several factors have changed the geographical distribution of JE. First of all, international travel, especially for reasons of work, has increased. Indeed, the growth of US-based multinational corporations in Asia in the last twenty years has led to a significant rise in the number of business travelers. The business travelers frequently have to spend short or long periods in Asia, where they acquire the same risk of JE as the local population. Furthermore, changes have taken place in agriculture; in many areas of Asia, both rice production and pig farming have been intensified, which could lead to the development of a high risk of JE even in suburban areas, which were not at risk some years ago. The epidemiology of JE is also influenced by ecological and climatic factors. The appearance of JEV in Tibet (a cold, highaltitude region) and the emergence of two new serotypes of JEV in Australia provide confirmation that the spread of JEV is unpredictable. Moreover, global warming may lead to a change in the peak and duration of JEV transmission [5].

Clinical features and treatment

Most infections are asymptomatic or cause non-specific febrile symptoms [4]. Incubation time ranges from 5 to 15 days; the non-specific febrile illness that frequently constitutes the clinical presentation of JE may be the only manifestation in some patients [10]. Other symptoms can occur: coryza, diarrhea and rigor, followed by the onset of altered consciousness and seizures (convulsions occur in 75% of children) [3] or vomiting after several days [11]. When the disease is severe, affecting the central nervous system, the clinical features are mental status changes, focal neurological deficits, weakness and, after a few days, even movement disorders. Moreover, classical symptoms associated with severe JE are Parkinsonian syndrome, with mask-like face, tremor, cogwheel rigidity and choreoathetoid movements. Rarely, the clinical presentation can include acute facial paralyses (similar to poliomyelitis paralyses) [2]. Blood tests reveal neutrophilia, hyponatremia, elevated liver enzymes and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) pleocytosis, with lymphocytic predominance [12, 2]. JE is most commonly diagnosed by testing for JEV IgM in the CSF, which is reliably positive if the CSF sample is taken at least one week into illness [13]. Other laboratory tests are molecular methods [14].

The treatment of JE usually consists of supportive care, as there are no specific antiviral therapies. The case fatality rate is high, and it is estimated that, in endemic areas, approximately one third of patients admitted to hospital



die [11]. JE-related deaths are due to raised intracranial pressure, hypoglycemia and seizures [2, 3]. JE disease also causes serious brain damage in about 25-50% of survivors, the highest rate of sequelae being reported in children [3, 15]. Moreover, in pregnant women, the infection can cause harm to the fetus.

Even though JE is rare, it is potentially a severe lifechanging illness and requires prevention. Vaccination is the cornerstone of JE control.

International travelers

The epidemiology of JE and its risk to travelers have changed, and continue to evolve. Estimates of JE incidence among Western travelers to tropical and subtropical destinations show that the usual itineraries followed by tourists or businesspeople are considered at low risk of infection (< 1 per 1,000,000 travelers per month) [16]. The risk of travelers contracting JE varies according to their travel itinerary. The overall risk of about 1/400,000 visits [17] may, however, increase for certain high-risk groups, such as those who stay for long periods in rural areas, approaching the risk of 1/50,000 per week seen in the local population [18, 19]. From 1973 to 2008, 55 cases were reported in travelers, most of whom were "high-risk travelers" who had spent a month or more in endemic regions (especially rural areas) and had acquired the same risk of JE as the local population. The case-fatality rate was 18% and 24 survivors developed sequelae. Even though long stays have always been considered a risk factor, the authors found that 13 of the 55 cases occurred in travelers who had stayed for less than 1 month: 10 for 2-4 weeks and 3 for 10-12 days trip [20]. This demonstrates that short-term travelers also have a JE disease risk.

Kollaritsch H. et al. [21] also reported JE cases in travelers, and from 1973 to 2015 the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention reported 79 cases among travelers or expatriates from non-endemic countries [2]. Some of these cases could have been avoided if travelers had been vaccinated in accordance with current recommendations.

More recently, a fatal case of JEV infection following short-term travel to Thailand was reported. In this case, JE viral RNA was detected in urine and whole blood 26 and 28 days, respectively, after the onset of symptoms. Furthermore, live virus was isolated from a urine specimen taken on day 14. This suggests that testing whole blood and urine could offer additional diagnostic information in certain situations [22].

It is well known that most cases of JE are asymptomatic. Consequently, a large number of infections may go unrecognized. Moreover, in the near future, JE could become a major public health issue even in non-endemic countries, as a result of cultural, economic and climatic changes [16].

Travel is changing; the increased speed and availability of transport (especially by air) encourages inter-regional and international tourism and business trips. In terms of population, Asia and the Pacific are the world's largest regions, with 4.1 billion inhabitants in 2015, about 56% of the world's total population [23]. The rapid economic growth of Asian countries has led to a surge in both inbound and outbound travel, making Asia the second most-visited region in the world after Europe, with 279 million international travelers in 2015. The top destination is China, followed by Thailand, Hong Kong, Malaysia and Japan, and the number of travelers is forecast to reach 535 million by 2030 (+4.9% per year). According to the United Nations Word Tourism Organization (UNWTO), this unprecedented growth in travel is the consequence of the Asian economic boom. Further,

a large and growing number of "free and independent travelers", identifiable as a "consumer class", especially young Asian travelers aged 15-34 years ("millennials"), use online travel agencies and mobile technology. Their destinations are often secondary and tertiary cities, which could be potentially at risk of JE [24]. Furthermore, if they travel alone or simply organize their travel on their own, they are unlikely to be informed about JE, its symptoms and prevention. These changes in travel habits should prompt different information strategies, e.g. the use of social media, and collaboration between public health organizations and the most widely used travel websites.

Prevention of japanese encephalitis

Travelers to JE-endemic areas can reduce their exposure to vectors by adopting personal protective measures: using mosquito-repellent agents, wearing appropriate clothing, avoiding outdoor activities in the evening, using permethrin-impregnated mosquito nets and staying in rooms with air conditioning. In combination with these protective measures, vaccination against JEV infection can provide travelers with safe and effective protection [21, 25].

Different vaccines against JE have been available since the 1950s [14]. First-generation JE vaccines were of various types; mouse brain-derived inactivated vaccines, inactivated vaccines cultivated on primary hamster kidney cells, live attenuated vaccines based on strain SA 14-14-2 and cultivated on primary hamster kidney cells have been widely used for the past few decades [26]. Although mouse brain-derived vaccine was used for several decades in the US and Europe, its production has been discontinued, owing to its unsatisfactory safety profile [24, 25]. A formalin-inactivated vaccine developed in China in 1968 was cultivated in Vero cells and used the P-3 strain; this was widely used and displayed a good safety and effectiveness profile [25, 26]. A liveattenuated SA14-14-2 vaccine authorized in 1988 is currently used in Nepal, India, Sri Lanka, Thailand and South Korea, and has proved to be a valid tool in terms of effectiveness and safety [25].

More interestingly, second-generation JE vaccines are available, which use a lower dosage scheme and exhibit a better safety profile; these constitute a noteworthy option for the protection of residents of endemic areas and travelers. They are the IC51 Japanese encephalitis vaccine (IXIARO[®]) and the chimeric Japanese encephalitis vaccine.

Overall, vaccination has dramatically reduced the number of JE cases in several Asian countries [8]. However, as the virus is maintained in animal reservoirs, non-immune travelers remain at risk of infection in all endemic areas of South-East Asia.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE IC51 VACCINE (IXIARO®)

The IC51 vaccine (IXIARO[®]) is a purified, inactivated, whole virus vaccine against JE. Developed at the Walter

Reed Army Institute of Research, it is based on an SA14-14-2 virus strain cultivated in Vero cells and formulated with 0.1% aluminum hydroxide [27]. Each 0.5 ml dose of IC51 vaccine comes in a ready-to-use liquid format that contains 0.1% aluminum hydroxide as an adjuvant; it does not contain stabilizers such as porcine gelatin or preservatives such as thimerosal.

Several clinical trials have positively evaluated the immunogenicity and safety of the IC51 vaccine. The first studies were carried out to evaluate its immunogenicity and safety in comparison with placebo or mousebrain JE vaccines. The encouraging results, in terms of immune response and low reactogenicity, of a phase I study [21] that evaluated different doses of vaccine (0.4 micrograms and 2.0 micrograms following a 0 and 28, or a 0, 7 and 28 schedule) in 25 adult subjects prompted subsequent studies.

Lyons et al. reported the results of a phase II study, conducted from 2001 to 2003, which enrolled a total of 94 subjects. The vaccine was administered in two or three intramuscular doses (6.0 or 12.0 micrograms each) with observation over 8 weeks. No serious adverse reactions were observed. The vaccine was well tolerated and conferred high seroconversion rates [day 56 (primary endpoint): 95-100%] and induced persisting immune responses up to 2 years after vaccination [28].

Subsequent phase III trials were conducted. In a multicenter, observer-blinded, randomized controlled phase III trial, 867 adult volunteers received either two intramuscular doses the JEV test vaccine (on days 0 and 28; n = 430) or the licensed vaccine (JE-VAX[®]) subcutaneously according to its recommended three-dose schedule (on days 0.7, and 28; n = 437). The safety profile of the test vaccine was good, and its local tolerability profile was more favorable than that of the licensed vaccine. The frequency of adverse events was similar in both treatment groups and adverse events were generally mild. The seroconversion rate of the test vaccine was 98%, compared with 95% for the licensed vaccine, on day 56. The geometric mean titer in recipients of the test vaccine was 244, compared with 102 for the licensed vaccine [ratio 2.3 (95% CI 1.967-2.75)] [29].

Later, the same research group published the results of a randomized multi-center phase III trial. Healthy subjects were randomized to receive 2 doses of IC51 vaccine (n = 2012) or placebo (n = 663) four weeks apart. Adverse events were documented over a period of 2 months. The rate of severe events was similar in both the IC51 group (0.5%) and the placebo group (0.9%) demonstrating a good safety profile of IC51 vaccine. These data, together with the immunogenicity data from the previous phase III clinical trial, were the basis for the authorization of the IC51 vaccine [29, 30].

In another study, adult subjects were followed up in order to compare the immunogenicity of the IC51 vaccine and the vaccine JE-VAX[®]. At 6 months, immunogenicity was higher with the IC51 vaccine (seroconversion rate [SCR]: 95%; geometric mean titer [GMT]: 84) than with JE-VAX[®] (SCR: 74%; GMT: 34). With regard to IC51, the SCR at 12 months was 83% and the GMT remained above the protective titer of 1:10. This phase III follow-up study confirmed that the immune response following IC51 vaccination was more robust than the immune response following JE-VAX[®] [31].

The standard administration of IC51 is of 2 doses of 6 micrograms 28 days apart. However, one study investigated the immunogenicity of a single-shot, high-dose regimen (1 x 12 micrograms) in comparison with the 2-injection, standard regimen. The single-shot, high-dose regimen resulted in about 60% SCR 10 days after administration, but did not reach the almost 100% SCR achieved by the 2-dose standard administration on day 35. The standard regimen conferred essentially 100% seroconversion 7 days after the second injection [32].

On December 18, 2008, the European Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP) recommended granting marketing authorization for the IC51 vaccine (IXIARO[®]) in the 27 countries of the European Union and in Norway and Iceland. In the US, IXIARO[®] was authorized and recommended for use in persons aged \geq 17 years in 2009 [33]. The product is also approved and available in Canada, Switzerland and Australia.

In the first 12 months after licensing, the safety profile of IXIARO[®] was reviewed on the basis of clinical trial results and post-marketing safety data. The clinical safety profile was derived from a pooled analysis that included safety data from 10 phase III trials carried out in 4,043 subjects who had received at least one dose of IXIARO[®] and were followed up for 3 years after the primary immunization. The local and systemic tolerability of IXIARO[®] was similar to that seen in the previous evaluation at the time of licensure of the vaccine. On post-marketing surveillance, no serious allergic reactions were observed. This comprehensive safety review confirmed the good safety profile of IXIARO[®] in clinical and post-marketing use [34].

A phase III study investigated the immunogenicity and safety of IC51 and HAVRIX1440 (hepatitis A vaccine) when administered alone or concomitantly to healthy subjects. The immune response elicited by single administration was compared with that of concomitant vaccination in terms of GMT and SCR on days 28 and 56. The results indicated that the immunogenicity of the two vaccines was comparable, whether they were administered together or separately. On the basis of these data, the authors affirmed that travelers to endemic regions could receive both vaccines concomitantly [35].

Eder S. et al. assessed the effect of a booster dose on neutralizing JE antibody titers up to 12 months after boosting. The booster dose of IXIARO[®] was administered 15 months after the primary immunization to 198 subjects who had previously been immunized in a randomized trial [36]. Neutralizing antibody titers were assessed by means of the plaque-reduction neutralization test (PRNT). Prior to the booster dose, 69.2% (137/198) of subjects had PRNT50 titers \geq 1:10. One month after the booster, the rate of subjects with PRNT50 \geq 1:10 (recognized as a protective titer) had increased to 100%. The evaluation of PRNT50 showed a high rate (98.5%) at 6 and 12 months. GMTs were 22.5 before the booster and 900, 487 and 361 at 1, 6 and 12 months, respectively, after the booster. The booster dose of IXIARO[®] 15 months after primary immunization proved highly immunogenic; GMTs were > 5-fold higher than those seen immediately after primary immunization, and remained at high levels for at least 12 months after the booster [37].

IXIARO® IN CHILDREN

In 2009, phase III studies to evaluate the immunogenicity and safety of administering the IC51 vaccine to children began. A study involving 60 healthy Indian children aged between 1 and 3 years evaluated the immunogenicity and safety of 3 and 6 micrograms of IXIARO® in comparison with the licensed vaccine JenceVac. Immunogenicity was assessed by measuring antibodies at the baseline and 28 days after the first and second administrations. On day 56, SCRs in the 3- and 6-microgram IXIARO[®] groups and the JenceVac group were 95.7%, 95.2% and 90.9%, respectively, and GMTs were 201, 218 and 230, respectively. Local and systemic tolerability was registered in a diary 7 days post-vaccination. No apparent difference was seen in the safety profiles of the two vaccines. These first immunogenicity and safety data in children supported the use of a 3-microgram dose in children under 3 years of age [38].

A very recent uncontrolled, open-label, phase III trial was carried out in order to assess the safety and immunogenicity of IXIARO® in a population of previously JEV-unexposed travelers to JE-endemic regions [39]. The vaccine was administered to 100 travelers aged ≥ 2 months to < 18 years. Solicited adverse events were observed for 7 days after each injection, and unsolicited adverse events for a total of 7 months. Furthermore, JE neutralizing antibodies were investigated in 64 subjects. Two different vaccine doses were studied: 0.25 and 0.50 ml IXIARO®. The most common solicited local adverse events were redness, induration and tenderness with 0.25 ml IXIARO®, and tenderness and pain with 0.5 ml IXIARO[®]. Common solicited systemic adverse events were diarrhea and loss of appetite with 0.25 ml IXIARO® and muscle pain and excessive fatigue with 0.5 ml IXIARO[®]. In total, up to day 56, adverse events were reported by 83.3% of subjects who had received the 0.25 ml dose and 76.1% of those vaccinated with the 0.5 ml dose. All subjects had developed protective levels of JE neutralizing antibodies by day 56, and 91.2% retained protective titers at month 7. IXIARO[®] was generally well tolerated in children, with an overall safety profile similar to that seen in adults. Moreover, it was highly immunogenic in both dose-groups.

Another recent study [40] monitored the safety profile of IXIARO[®] in a pediatric population of 1869 children aged between 2 months and 17 years, who were recruited and randomized in an age-stratified manner to receive IXIARO[®] or one of the control vaccines: Prevenar[®] and HAVRIX[®]. Adverse events, serious adverse events and medically attended adverse events were assessed up to day 56 and month 7 after the first dose. This study showed

that incidences of adverse events, serious adverse events or medically attended adverse events did not differ significantly between the groups. Adverse events were most frequent in children < 1 year of age and decreased with age. Adverse events of special interest, such as hypersensitivity/allergy or neurological disorders up to day 56, were reported in 4.6% (IXIARO[®]) versus 6.3% (Prevenar[®]) in the ≥ 2 months to < 1 year age-group and in 3.4% (IXIARO[®]) versus 3.3% (HAVRIX[®]) in the ≥ 1 to < 18 years age-group. Fever, the most frequent systemic reaction, was observed in 23.7% of infants and 3.8% of adolescents, and decreased with age. The authors concluded that the safety profile of IXIARO[®] was comparable to that of the control vaccines.

Another study also evaluated the immunogenicity of IXIARO®. Age-stratified cohorts of children between 2 months and 17 years of age received 2 doses of IXIARO® administered 28 days apart [< 3 years, 0.25 mL (half adult dose); \geq 3 years, 0.5 mL (full adult dose)]. The endpoints were seroconversion rate, 4-fold increase in JE neutralizing antibody titer and geometric mean titer assessed 56 days and 7 months after the first administration. A total of 496 subjects were enrolled and the immune response to JE virus at both time-points was also analyzed according to pre-vaccination JE virus and dengue virus serostatus. On day 56, seroconversion had been obtained in $\geq 99.2\%$ of subjects, 4-fold increases in titer were reported in 77.4-100% in various age-groups, and geometric mean titers ranged from 176 to 687, with younger children displaying the greatest immune response. At month 7, seroconversion was maintained in 85.5-100% of subjects. Pre-existing JE virus immunity did not impact on the immune response at day 56; however, it yielded better persistence of protective antibody titers at month 7 [41]. The above findings revealed that IXIARO® was highly immunogenic in the pediatric population at both doses tested, eliciting protective antibody titers by day 56 in > 99% of subjects who received the age-appropriate dose.

In May 2013, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) licensed IXIARO[®] for use in children aged 2 months through 16 years [42], and in the same year the vaccine was also indicated for children by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) [43].

IXIARO[®] IN THE ELDERLY

The safety and immunogenicity of IXIARO[®] were also evaluated in a clinical trial involving elderly subjects. An open-label, single-arm, multi-center study was conducted in 200 healthy subjects aged 64-83 years, including those with adequately controlled chronic conditions, who received two doses of IXIARO[®] 28 days apart. Antibody levels were tested 42 days after the second dose. Systemic and local adverse events were monitored for 7 days after each dose, and unsolicited adverse events were recorded up to day 70 and subsequently at month 7. Although 19% of subjects had serious or medically attended adverse events up to day 70 (primary endpoint), none of these was associated with the vaccine. Solicited local adverse events were reported by 33.5% of participants, the most common being local tender-

ness; solicited systemic adverse events were reported by 27% of participants, the most common being headache. A seroprotection rate of 65%, with a GMT of 37, was found. Subjects who had received a tick-borne encephalitis (TBE) vaccine in the previous 5 years had an SCR of 90% and GMT of 65. The authors concluded that IXIARO® was generally well tolerated in the elderly, and that its safety profile was largely comparable to that seen in younger adults. While SCR and GMT were lower than in younger adults, SCR was in the range reported in the elderly for other vaccines, such as TBE, hepatitis-A virus (HAV)/hepatitis-B virus (HBV), and influenza vaccines. Another aspect to be taken into account was the duration of protection, which is uncertain in the elderly. The authors therefore suggested that a booster dose (third dose) should be considered before any further exposure to JEV [44].

DOSAGE, ADMINISTRATION AND SCHEDULE OF IXIARO[®]

IXIARO[®] is injected into a muscle, preferably the shoulder muscle, or, in young children, into the thigh muscle. In adults, including those aged over 65 years, and children aged three years and older, a full dose of IXIARO® (0.5 ml) should be administered, and an additional 0.5 ml dose should be given four weeks later. In adults aged 18-65 years, a rapid vaccination course may also be implemented, in which the second dose is given seven days after the first. In children aged between two months and three years, half the adult dose of IXIARO[®] (0.25 ml) should be given, and an additional 0.25 ml dose should be given four weeks later. It is recommended that individuals who receive the first dose of IXIARO® should receive both doses, and that the second dose be given at least one week before potential exposure to the virus. In adults, the second dose can be given up to 11 months after the first. Adults aged 18-65 years who are likely to be exposed to the JEV again, or who are at continuous risk of the disease, should receive a booster dose of IXIARO® one to two years later and a second booster dose 10 years after the first booster. Children and adolescents may also receive a booster dose one to two years after the initial vaccination. A booster dose should also be considered for adults aged over 65 years before any further exposure to JEV. IXIARO® can be injected under the skin in people who have a bleeding disorder, such as low blood platelet counts or hemophilia [43].

A randomized, observer-blind, phase 3 study evaluated the immunogenicity of IXIARO[®] administered according to a rapid schedule [43]. Two cohorts were recruited: 217 subjects aged 18-65 years received IXIARO[®] together with rabies vaccine in a rapid immunization schedule (0-7 days); 56 subjects received IXIARO[®] according to the common immunization schedule (0-28 days). Seroconversion was similar in both cohorts and seroconversion rates and antibody titers remained high in both groups up to 12 months after immunization. With the rapid schedule, seroconversion rates on days 14 and 21 and after one year were 99%, 100% and 94%, respectively; at the same time-points, GMT values were 715, 1255
OVERVIEW OF JAPANESE ENCEPHALITIS DISEASE AND ITS PREVENTION. FOCUS ON IC51 VACCINE (IXIARO®)

and 117, respectively. A third dose (first booster dose) was given within the second year (12-24 months) after the primary vaccination course. Long-term seroprotection data following a first booster dose suggested that a second booster should be given 10 years after the first, prior to potential exposure to JEV.

Subsequently, antibody persistence after booster immunization in adults was assessed in an uncontrolled, openlabel extension, in which 67 subjects were followed up to determine JEV neutralizing antibody titers approximately 6 years after a booster dose. In 96% of subjects (64/67), protective antibody levels (PRNT50 \ge 1:10) persisted, with a GMT of 148 (95% CI:107-207). Mathematical modeling was applied to evaluate the average duration of protection. On the basis of this model, it was estimated that the average duration of protection would be 14 years and that 75% of vaccinees would retain protective antibody levels (PRNT50 \ge 1:10) for 10 years. A second booster should therefore be given 10 years after the first, prior to potential exposure to JEV [43]. Some authors have speculated that the protection conferred by the booster dose could last for a lifetime.

Conclusions

JE is the main cause of viral encephalitis in many Asian countries, and causes significant morbidity and mortality in autochthonous populations. Survivors often suffer permanent severe neurological sequelae that require lifelong support and care. The burden of the disease is heavy not only in terms of its clinical impact, but also on account of its socio-economic consequences in endemic areas. JE epidemics have also been documented, such as the outbreaks in India, which caused about 400 cases in 2014 and 1700 deaths in 2005 [45, 46].

As mentioned above, JE virus transmission is seasonal. However, climate changes and increasingly extreme weather conditions could lengthen the infective period of the JE virus. Moreover, the areas affected by JE have gradually expanded; indeed, growing numbers of JE cases have been observed further north in Asia, owing to the rise in global temperatures. For example, cases have spread to Nepal from Northern India, and the disease has now become widespread in hill and mountain districts [47]. JE cases have also been associated with increasingly frequent floods in China [48].

Travelers to endemic areas are exposed to the risk of acquiring a serious JE infection, and the rise in international travel to Southeast Asia has exacerbated this risk. Published recommendations for travelers underscore the importance of considering the travel destination, the high morbidity and mortality rates of JE, the lack of available treatment, travel-related factors (itinerary, duration, season and activity) and the benefits of JE vaccination [26, 33]. With regard to the risk of JE infection, the activity of the traveler is more significant than the length of the stay. Indeed, activities such as camping, trekking, biking, fishing and hunting increase the risk of exposure to the mosquitoes that transmit the JE virus.

The fact that holiday-makers are now more inclined to engage in outdoor activities and to stay in unconventional tourist lodgings may have contributed to the recent increase in cases among travelers [49].

Travelers should be aware of the risk of contracting JE and how it can be prevented by vaccination, as this disease can have devastating effects. IXIARO[®] can be administered to children, adults and the elderly. It is safe, well tolerated and efficacious. The vaccination schedule involves 2 administering doses four weeks apart. For adults, a rapid schedule (0-7 days) is available, which could greatly enhance the feasibility of its use.

Healthcare workers should inform both short- and longterm travelers of the risk of JE in each period of the year and recommend vaccination. Indeed, it has been shown that short-term travelers are also at risk, not only in rural environments, but also in cities and coastal towns, especially in tourist localities where excursions to country areas are organized. In rural areas, the risk is linked to potential contact with poultry.

Acknowledgments

The University of Genoa received a grant by PaxVax Italy to conduct this overview. The authors declare no conflict of interest. The authors thank Dr. Bernard Patrick for revising the manuscript.

Author contributions

DA and DP conceived and designed the overview. FZ, PLL and MI performed a search of the literature on epidemiology of Japanese encephalitis. DA carried out a search of literature on the immunogenicity, efficacy and safety of the IC51 vaccine (IXIARO[®]). All authors contributed to the draft of the article. DA, PLL and DP revised critically the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

References

- Solomon T, Ni H, Beasley DW, Ekkelenkamp M, Cardosa MJ, Barrett AD. Origin and evolution of Japanese encephalitis virus in southeast Asia. J Virol 2003;77:3091-8.
- [2] Hills S, Rabe I, Fischer M. Japanese Encephalitis. CDC Yellow Book, 2016. Available at: https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/travel/yellowbook/2018/infectious-diseases-related-to-travel/japaneseencephalitis. [Accessed on 10 October 2017].
- [3] WHO Report. Japanese encephalitis vaccines: WHO position paper, February 2015- Recommendations. Vaccines 2016;34:302-3.
- [4] Schiøler KL, Samuel M, Wai KL. Vaccines for preventing Japanese encephalitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007;(3):CD004263.
- [5] Connor B, Bunn WB. The changing epidemiology of Japanese encephalitis and New data: the implications for New recommendations for Japanese encephalitis vaccine. Trop Dis Travel Med Vaccines 2017;3:14.
- [6] Longbottom J, Browne AJ, Pigott DM, Sinka ME, Golding N, Hay SI, Moyes CL, Shearer FM. Mapping the spatial distribu-

.....

tion of the Japanese encephalitis vector, Culex tritaeniorhynchus Giles, 1901 (Diptera: Culicidae) within areas of Japanese encephalitis risk. Parasit Vectors 2017;10:148.

- [7] Cheng V, Sridhar S, Wong S, Wong S. C. Y, Chan J. F. V, Yip C, Chau C, Au T.W.K, Hwang Y, Yau C, Lo J, Lee C, Yuen K. Japanese encephalitis virus transmitted via blood transfusion, Hong Kong, China. Emerging Infectious Diseases 2018;24(1). doi: 10.3201/eid2401.171297.
- [8] Campbell GL, Hills SL, Fischer M, Jacobson JA, Hoke CH, Hombach JM, Marfin AA, Solomon T, Tsai TF, Tsu VD, Ginsburg AS. Estimated global incidence of Japanese encephalitis: a systematic review. Bull World Health Organ 2011;89:766-74, 774A-774E.
- [9] Heffelfinger JD, Li X, Batmunkh N, Grabovac V, Diorditsa S, Liyanage JB, Pattamadilok S, Bahl S, Vannice KS, Hyde TB, Chu SY, Fox KK, Hills SL, Marfin AA. Japanese Encephalitis Surveillance and Immunization - Asia and Western Pacific Regions, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2017;66:579-83.
- [10] Watt G, Jongsakul K. Acute undifferentiated fever caused by infection with Japanese encephalitis virus. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2003;68:704-6.
- [11] Griffiths MJ, Turtle L, Solomon, T. Japanese encephalitis virus infection. Handb Clin Neurol. 2014;123:561-76.
- [12] Kumar R, Tripathi P, Singh S, Bannerji G. Clinical features in children hospitalized during the 2005 epidemic of Japanese encephalitis in Uttar Pradesh, India. Clin Infect Dis 2006;43:123-31.
- [13] Burke DS, Nisalak A, Ussery MA, Laorakpongse T, Chantavibul S. Kinetics of IgM and IgG responses to Japanese encephalitis virus in human serum and cerebrospinal fluid. J Infect Dis 1985;151:1093-9.
- [14] Halstead SB, Jacobson J. Japanese Encephalitis Vaccines. In: Plotkin SA, Orenstein WA, Offit P, (eds). Vaccines. 4th edn. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier 2008.
- [15] Halstead SB, Thomas SJ. Japanese encephalitis: new options for active immunization. Clin Infect Dis 2010;50:1155-64.
- [16] Steffen R, Behrens RH, Hill DR, Greenaway C, Leder K. Vaccine-preventable travel health risks: what is the evidence - what are the gaps? J Travel Med 2015;22:1-12.
- [17] Buhl MR, Lindquist L. Japanese encephalitis in travelers: review of cases and seasonal risk. J Travel Med 2009;16:217-9.
- [18] Halstead SB, Jacobson J, Dubischar-Kastner K. Japanese encephalitis vaccines. In: Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P (eds). Vaccines. 6th edn. Amsterdam: Elsevier 2012, pp. 201-205.
- [19] Lindquist L. Recent and historical trends in the epidemiology of Japanese encephalitis and its implication for risk assessment in travellers. J Travel Med 2018;25(suppl 1):S3-S9.
- [20] Hills S, Griggs A, Fischer M. Japanese encephalitis in travelers from non-endemic countries, 1973-2008. Am J Tro Med Hyg 2010;82:930-6.
- [21] Kollaritsch H, Paulke-Korinek M, Dubischar-Kastner K. IC51 Japanese encephalitis vaccine. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2009;9:921-31.
- [22] Huang GKL, Tio SY, Caly L, Nicholson S, Thevarajan I, Papadakis G, Catton M, Tong SYC, Druce J. Prolonged detection of japanese encephalitis virus in urine and whole blood in a returned short-term traveler. Open Forum Infectious Disease. 2017;4:ofx203. doi.org/10.1093/ofid
- [23] World Tourism Organization and Global Tourism Economy Research Centre (2016), UNWTO/GTERC Annual Report on Tourism Trends - 2016 Edition, Executive Summary, UNWTO, Madrid.
- [24] Pavli A, Maltezou HC. Travel-acquired Japanese encephalitis and vaccination considerations. J Infect Dev Ctries 2015;9:917-24.
- [25] Halstead SB, Thomas SJ. New Japanese encephalitis vaccines:

......

alternatives to production in mouse brain. Expert Rev Vaccines 2011;10:355-64.

[26] Wilder-Smith A, Halstead SB. Japanese encephalitis: update on vaccines and vaccine recommendations. Curr Opin Infect Dis 2010; 23:426-431.

- [27] Eckels KH, Yu YX, Dubois DR, Marchette NJ, Trent DW, Johnson AJ. Japanese encephalitis virus live-attenuated vaccine, Chinese strain SA14-14-2; adaptation to primary canine kidney cell cultures and preparation of a vaccine for human use. Vaccine 1988;6:513-8.
- [28] Lyons A, Kanesa-thasan N, Kuschner RA, Eckels KH, Putnak R, Sun W, Burge R, Towle AC, Wilson P, Tauber E, Vaughn DW. A Phase 2 study of a purified, inactivated virus vaccine to prevent Japanese encephalitis. Vaccine 2007;25:3445-53.
- [29] Tauber E, Kollaritsch H, Korinek M, Rendi-Wagner P, Jilma B, Firbas C, Schranz S, Jong E, Klingler A, Dewasthaly S, Klade CS. Safety and immunogenicity of a Vero cell-derived, inactivated Japanese encephalitis vaccine: a non-inferiority, phase III, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2007;370:1847-53.
- [30] Tauber E, Kollaritsch H, von Sonnenburg F, Lademann M, Jilma B, Firbas C, Jelinek T, Beckett C, Knobloch J, McBride WJ, Schuller E, Kaltenböck A, Sun W, Lyons A. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial of the safety and tolerability of IC51, an inactivated Japanese encephalitis vaccine. J Infect Dis 2008;198:493-9. doi: 10.1086/590116. Erratum in: J Infect Dis. 2010;201:1278.
- [31] Schuller E, Jilma B, Voicu V, Golor G, Kollaritsch H, Kaltenböck A, Klade C, Tauber E. Long-term immunogenicity of the new Vero cell-derived, inactivated Japanese encephalitis virus vaccine IC51 Six and 12 month results of a multicenter followup phase 3 study. Vaccine 2008;26:4382-6.
- [32] Schuller E, Klade CS, Wölfl G, Kaltenböck A, Dewasthaly S, Tauber E. Comparison of a single, high-dose vaccination regimen to the standard regimen for the investigational Japanese encephalitis vaccine, IC51: a randomized, observer-blind, controlled Phase 3 study. Vaccine 2009;27:2188-93.
- [33] CDC. Japanese encephalitis vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR 2010;59(No. RR-1).
- [34] Schuller E, Klingler A, Dubischar-Kastner K, Dewasthaly S, Müller Z. Safety profile of the Vero cell-derived Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) vaccine IXIARO[®]. Vaccine 2011;29:8669-76.
- [35] Kaltenböck A, Dubischar-Kastner K, Eder G, Jilg W, Klade C, Kollaritsch H, Paulke-Korinek M, von Sonnenburg F, Spruth M, Tauber E, Wiedermann U, Schuller E. Safety and immunogenicity of concomitant vaccination with the cell culture-based Japanese Encephalitis vaccine IC51 and the hepatitis A vaccine HAVRIX1440 in healthy subjects: a single-blind, randomized, controlled Phase 3 study. Vaccine 2009;27:4483-9.
- [36] Dubischar-Kastner K, Eder S, Buerger V, Gartner-Woelfl G, Kaltenboeck A, Schuller E, Tauber E, Klade C. Long-term immunity and immune response to a booster dose following vaccination with the inactivated Japanese encephalitis vaccine IXI-ARO[®], IC51. Vaccine 2010;28:5197-202.
- [37] Eder S, Dubischar-Kastner K, Firbas C, Jelinek T, Jilma B, Kaltenboeck A, Knappik M, Kollaritsch H, Kundi M, Paulke-Korinek M, Schuller E, Klade CS. Long-term immunity following a booster dose of the inactivated Japanese Encephalitis vaccine IXIARO[®], IC51. Vaccine 2011;29:2607-12. doi: 10.1016/j. vaccine.2011.01.058.
- [38] Kaltenböck A, Dubischar-Kastner K, Schuller E, Datla M, Klade CS, Kishore TS. Immunogenicity and safety of IXIARO[®] (IC51) in a Phase II study in healthy Indian children between 1 and 3 years of age. Vaccine 2010;28:834-9.
- [39] Jelinek T, Cromer MA, Cramer JP, Mills DJ, Lessans K, Gherardin AW, Barnett ED, Hagmann SHF, Askling HH, Kiermayr S, Kadlecek V, Eder-Lingelbach S, Taucher C, Dubischar KL. Safety and immunogenicity of an inactivated Vero cell-derived

OVERVIEW OF JAPANESE ENCEPHALITIS DISEASE AND ITS PREVENTION. FOCUS ON IC51 VACCINE (IXIARO®)

Japanese encephalitis vaccine (IXIARO[®], JESPECT[®]) in a pediatric population in JE non-endemic countries: an uncontrolled, open-label phase 3 study. Travel Med Infect Dis 2018. pii: S1477-8939(18)30046-2. doi: 10.1016/j.tmaid.2018.03.003*

- [40] Dubischar KL, Kadlecek V, Sablan B Jr, Borja-Tabora CF, Gatchalian S, Eder-Lingelbach S, Mueller Z, Westritschnig K. Safety of the inactivated japanese encephalitis virus vaccine IXIARO[®] in children: an open-label, randomized, active-controlled, phase 3 study. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2017;36:889-97.
- [41] Dubischar KL, Kadlecek V, Sablan JB, Borja-Tabora CF, Gatchalian S, Eder-Lingelbach S, Kiermayr S, Spruth M, Westritschnig K. Immunogenicity of the inactivated japanese encephalitis virus vaccine IXIARO[®] in children from a japanese encephalitis virus-endemic region. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2017;36:898-904.
- [42] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Use of Japanese encephalitis vaccine in children: recommendations of the advisory committee on immunization practices, 2013. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2013;62(:898-900.
- [43] European Medicine Agency (EMA). EMA/18321/2013 EMEA/ H/C/963. Available at: http://www.eespof.gr/sites/default/files/ EPAR_IXIARO_ENG.pdf [Accessed on 10 December 2017].
- [44] Cramer JP, Dubischar K, Eder S, Burchard GD, Jelinek T, Jilma

B, Kollaritsch H, Reisinger E, Westritschnig K. Immunogenicity and safety of the inactivated Japanese encephalitis vaccine IXIARO[®] in elderly subjects: open-label, uncontrolled, multicenter, phase 4 study. Vaccine 2016;34:4579-85.

- [45] Gurav YK, Bondre VP, Tandale BV, Damle RG, Mallick S, Ghosh US, Nag SS. A large outbreak of Japanese encephalitis predominantly among adults in northern region of West Bengal, India. J Med Virol 2016;88:2004-11.
- [46] Lawrence J. Japanese encephalitis outbreak in India and Nepal. Euro Surveill 2005;10:E050922.4
- [47] Dhimal M, Ahrens B, Kuch U. Climate change and spatiotemporal distributions of vector-borne diseases in nepal - a systematic synthesis of literature. PLoS One 2015;10:e0129869. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0129869.
- [48] Zhang F, Liu Z, Zhang C, Jiang B. Short-term effects of floods on Japanese encephalitis in Nanchong, China, 2007-2012: a time-stratified case-crossover study. Sci Total Environ 2016;563-564:1105-10. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.162.
- [49] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Japanese encephalitis in two children - United States, Morbidity Mortality Weekly Report. 2011; 60(9):276-8. https://www.cdc.gov/ mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6009a3.htm [Accessed 10 November 2017].

.....

Received on January 4, 2018. Accepted on February 24, 2018.

Correspondence: Daniela Amicizia, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy - Tel. +39 010 353 8394 - E-mail: daniela.amicizia@unige.it





PaxVax Italy





SANOFI PASTEUR 🎝

